Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers

A Guide to Treatment Preparation and Clinical Concepts Richard D. Trushkowsky *Editor* Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers

Richard D. Trushkowsky Editor

Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers

A Guide to Treatment Preparation and Clinical Concepts



Editor Richard D. Trushkowsky College of Dentistry New York University College of Dentistry New York, NY USA

ISBN 978-3-030-41090-2 ISBN 978-3-030-41091-9 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

1	Update to Preparation Design and Clinical ConceptsUsing the LeSage Veneer Classification System1Brian P. LeSage1
2	Orthodontics for Esthetic Dental Treatment: Symbiotic Efforts for Optimal Results
3	Periodontal Considerations in Esthetic Dentistry
4	Material Options for the Esthetic Dental Team93Peter Pizzi
5	Shade Evaluation for Porcelain Laminate Veneers (PLV) 121 Irfan Ahmad
6	Photographic Communication in Esthetic Dentistry 157 Sivan Finkel
7	Adhesion to Glass-Ceramics: Concepts and Clinical Implications.189Andressa Borin Venturini, Catina Prochnow, and Luiz Felipe Valandro189
8	New Materials for CAD/CAM Systems: Resin-Based Composites, Polymer-Infiltrated Ceramic Network, Zirconia-Reinforced Lithium Silicate, and High Translucent Zirconia 211 Gabriel Kalil Rocha Pereira, Marília Pivetta Rippe, and Luiz Felipe Valandro
9	The Artificial Intelligence-Based 3D Smile Design:REBEL235Galip Gurel
10	Contact Lens Veneers with Pressed Ceramic

11	Minimally Invasive CAD/CAM Veneers	285
12	Aesthetic and Functional Rehabilitation of Worn Teeth with Veneer Materials. Mutlu Özcan, Claudia Angela Maziero Volpato, and Luis Gustavo D' Altoé Garbelotto	335
13	Transforming Discolored Anterior Teeth Richard D. Trushkowsky, Ylva Khatau, Abdullah Alnahdi, and Prachi Shah	361
14	Occlusal Considerations for Esthetic Rehabilitation Mary Kang and Farhad Vahidi	389

vi



1

Update to Preparation Design and Clinical Concepts Using the LeSage Veneer Classification System

Brian P. LeSage

Contents

1.1	Introduction	1
1.2	Orthodontics as an Interdisciplinary Approach	3
1.3	Prototypes, Digital Smile Design, and a Try in One Veneer Technique	4
1.4	Veneer Preparation.	5
1.5	Proper Adhesion.	6
1.6	Classifications of Veneer Preparations.	7
	1.6.1 CL-I	9
	1.6.2 CL-II	0
	1.6.3 CL-III. 1	0
	1.6.4 CL-IV 1	1
1.7	Case Studies. 1	2
	1.7.1 Case I Demonstrating the LeSage CL-II Veneer Preparation Design 1	2
	1.7.2 Case II Demonstrating the LeSage CL-IV Veneer Preparation Design 1	9
1.8	Conclusion. 2	23
Refe	erences	23

1.1 Introduction

Porcelain veneers had long been considered to be only an esthetic solution. However, their range of indications has been steadily increasing, making ceramic veneers a highly viable alternative to classic, far more invasive forms of restorative treatment. Today, veneers can be used to handle esthetics (discolored teeth, fractured and worn teeth, diastemas, dental defects, etc.) and to restore the biomechanics of the dentition, as well as many other indications.

B. P. LeSage (⊠)

UCLA School of Dentistry, Los Angeles, CA, USA

Beverly Hills Institute of Dental Esthetics, Beverly Hills, CA, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_1

Historically, preparations for ceramic veneers have varied from extremely aggressive to a minimal reduction or a lack of preparation. The concept of nopreparation or minimal-preparation veneers is nearly 40 years old, but for decades there was no classification system categorizing the extent of preparation for different veneer treatments [1]. This lack of clear-cut guidelines for technical procedures and for case selection led to confusion and misunderstandings. The author proposed such a classification system in 2013, and in this chapter, the LeSage veneer classification system is expanded on and explained, and examples for implementing the system are presented. The author's veneer classification system published in 2013 is based on an assessment of the amount of enamel available and the amount of dentin exposed. This system benefits dentists, lab technicians, and patients, by assisting in diagnosis of various clinical scenarios and guiding conservative veneer preparation and placement [1].

Today, we are moving toward minimally invasive dentistry with the philosophy that less is more. Treating esthetic demands with noninvasive or minimally invasive techniques can preserve the natural tissues [2]. Less tooth reduction means better adhesion and clinical longevity. It is no longer acceptable to over-prepare teeth for convenience or lack of understanding of alternative treatments. In recent years, laboratory techniques have evolved to produce ultrathin ceramic veneers, which has increased the popularity of "no-prep" veneers [3]. This so-called "no-prep" approach has been described for more than 10 years in the literature [4–6] and ideologically reiterates the methodologies of when veneers were first introduced as conservative, additive restorative procedures for which slight or no preparations were required [7, 8]. When properly selected and managed, "no-prep" veneers can have biologically healthy and optically beautiful margins and emergence profiles, all supporting the biomimetic dental philosophy of tooth preservation and less amputation of tooth structure [9] (Figs. 1.1 and 1.2).

However, these days, it is no longer acceptable to limit veneer descriptions to no-prep or conventional all-ceramic designs. Explained in this chapter are two additional, distinct classifications that should aid dentists, lab technicians, and patients in their ability to provide better communication, consent, diagnosis, treatment planning, material selection, education, and tooth structure preservation.



Fig. 1.1 Normal tooth contours from facial and occlusal views



Fig. 1.2 "No-prep" veneer shown when indicated. In many clinical scenarios, adding volume will move line angles to the interproximal zone and make the tooth appear wider

It is important to consider veneers as part of the multidisciplinary field of restorative dentistry. In addition to the LeSage veneer classification system, this chapter also includes tips for ensuring the long-term success of veneers and patient satisfaction. These include the usage of prototypes, digital smile design, a try in one veneer technique, as well as proper preparation and adhesion protocol. Ultimately, clinician experience is the most important tool for determining appropriate treatment plans to address clinical concerns and patients' esthetic demands [1, 10].

1.2 Orthodontics as an Interdisciplinary Approach

There are a variety of treatments and solutions that can be applied to move, straighten, and ultimately align your teeth. One of our goals is to limit the amount of tooth structure removal when placing veneers. Often, we can employ a minimally invasive interdisciplinary ortho-restorative treatment plan. Frequently, far less tooth structure is lost if orthodontic treatments are used to fix tooth alignment prior to placing veneers. Orthodontic treatment is a noninvasive modality for achieving desired results and/or ensuring teeth are properly positioned for long-term predictable function and esthetics.

For example, prominent gaps may require orthodontic treatment before the placement of veneers. Without orthodontic treatment, closing the gaps with veneers will result in creating the look of abnormally large teeth. Moderate to severe crowding may also require orthodontic treatment to align the teeth. If veneer treatment is carried out without orthodontic treatment, the rotated teeth will need to be heavily ground down to accommodate the veneers, weakening the teeth in the process and in some cases exposing the nerve. Similarly, a patient who presents with a narrow arch form may require orthodontics before the placement of veneers. The author uses Invisalign® approximately 50% of the time as a pre-prosthetic modality to prevent preparing beyond the dentinoenamel junction in the teeth. Providing esthetics, while accommodating for anterior guidance and eliminating working and nonworking interferences, is a key component of long-term orthodontic occlusal stability.

Interdisciplinary modalities may also include the following: perio-plastics, tooth bleaching, direct composite restorations, and porcelain veneers, which are options providing predictability and longevity in carefully selected esthetic cases [1, 11].

1.3 Prototypes, Digital Smile Design, and a Try in One Veneer Technique

Veneers have to be esthetically pleasing. There are multiple opportunities within the veneer placement process that we affirm, and reaffirm, the veneers are pleasing to the patient before solidifying the final treatment outcome. The patient likely has specific expectations, and there should be a test drive with provisional restorations to ensure proper esthetics and function prior to fabrication of the final veneers [12].

It is common to create mock-ups, or temporary trial veneers, by taking impressions or by using CAD/CAM technology to make a mock-up digitally. The author prefers to make prototypes, which can be used for a significant amount of time, simulating the final outcome, allowing the patient to test esthetics, phonetics, and function. Bis-acryl resin temporary materials have become the material of choice for *esthetically driven* veneer prototypes due to excellent mechanical and optical properties, marginal adaptation, polishability, and favorable add-on properties [13].

Similarly, a digital smile design (DSD) can be used to increase the emotional commitment and consequently the rate of acceptance of your dental treatments through an emotional mock-up [14]. The DSD is a digital planning tool for esthetic dentistry, in which the evaluation of the esthetic relationship among the teeth, gingiva, smile, and face is obtained through lines and digital drawings that are inserted on the facial and intraoral photographs of the patient [15–18]. A bis-acryl temporary material is dispensed into the putty matrix to fill the facial surface. The filled matrix is inserted into the patient's mouth, the matrix is removed, and excess material is removed. It is common to then take photos or a short video of the patient for them to see the transformation. This full-face picture of them will increase satisfaction and emotional commitment to the final treatment plan.

While DSD presents some advantages, the author regards prototypes as an objective and efficient tool in treatment planning communication. They can be used to confirm the treatment plan before and/or after the final preparation, thereby evaluating the final restorations within the limitations of biological and functional considerations [5, 19].

The author now introduces into the literature the practice of the "try in one" (TIO) veneer technique. At the delivery appointment, one central incisor prototype is cut out and the definitive veneer is tried in. This single veneer should fit to place confirming the midline and the length of the definitive restorations (Fig. 1.3). Thus, the author's TIO technique confirms fit, length, contacts, and color. Trying in one veneer provides a reference point to prove that the length, shape, and shade are appropriate prior to cementing all the final restorations. This TIO technique is a useful process for reassuring the patient that all their esthetic parameters and expectations have been met and holding the dentist and ceramist accountable.

Fig. 1.3 (a, b) "TIO technique" (a) Close-up of patient's approved esthetically driven bis-acrylic prototypes demonstrating uniformity with variety (b) Definitive veneer #8 placed within existing prototypes to confirm length, width, and midline and hold all team members accountable



All of these processes build trust between the patient and dentist. They allow the patient to request changes throughout the process, so that they feel in control and satisfied with the final outcome.

1.4 Veneer Preparation

Expected veneer longevity depends on tooth preparation, which should ideally be confined to enamel and minimally involve proximal contact areas and functional considerations, such as occlusion [20]. It is also necessary to maintain the cervical enamel margin and incorporate the incisal edge to increase fracture resistance and enable proper placement [20]. To increase functional and esthetic properties of these restorations, proximal extensions should be created just beyond contact areas [20]. The clinical success of porcelain veneers depends upon many factors. Although dental and gingival structures play important roles in optical response and withstanding masticatory forces, dentists must consider and recreate many anatomical components while providing functional integrity [20].

One critical step in the preparation technique is the achievement of sufficient ceramic thickness [13]. While conducting their studies, researchers Shillingburg and Grace found that as patients age, the enamel thickness on the facial surfaces of anterior teeth decreases [21–23]. On the cervicofacial surface of the central incisor, 1 mm above the cementoenamel junction, enamel thickness ranges from 0.17 mm to 0.52 mm, with a mean thickness of 0.31 mm [21–23]. The thickness on the midfacial surface, 5 mm from the cementoenamel junction, ranges from 0.45 mm to 0.93 mm, with a mean thickness of 0.75 mm [21–23]. The author used these tooth structure parameters as a framework for the LeSage veneer classification system and the author's preferred Class I or Class II veneer preparation techniques. The

guidance provided in the LeSage classification system, informed by enamel thickness, allows for conservation of tooth structure and predictable minimally invasive veneer preparations.

The typical veneer preparation model is technique-sensitive and incorporates guidelines for achieving functional and esthetic results. When reducing the labial and proximal surfaces, there must be no less than 0.3–0.5 mm of room, and it should be uniform whenever possible [21, 24–29]. When going from thick to thin—as in a large Class IV incisal fracture or large Class III composite removal—a smooth transition must be incorporated. Extending the preparation interproximally to the midpoint of the papilla, parallel to the crown's original form, is necessary to improve adhesion, conceal the margin, allow an accurate impression, and increase the overall veneer strength [21, 26, 29]. The decision to reduce the incisal edge should be based on whether there is a need to increase the tooth length and the labiolingual width of the incisal edge [21, 26, 29]. Since line angles are involved, rounded corners and edges must be established.

Veneers with an incisal butt margin usually demonstrate fracture loads similar to those of unprepared teeth [21, 30]. In these cases, the incisal edge may be reduced by up to 2 mm [21, 28, 31]. However, the preparation's facial margin should ideally be chamfered and in enamel [21, 26, 28, 29, 32]. The interproximal and gingival margins of porcelain veneer restorations also must end in enamel at or above the free gingival margin or barely within the gingival sulcus when possible [21, 26, 29].

Techniques exist that allow for consistent tooth surface reduction while minimizing it [12, 33, 34]. Because traditional veneering approaches can lead to significant dentin exposure, strategies should be taken to limit preparations to the enamel [12, 13, 34]. Using an additive diagnostic procedure and silicone indexes avoids unnecessary dentin exposure, improves biomechanics and esthetics, and allows more predictable bonding [13].

Gürel et al. recently showed a 98.7% success rate of porcelain laminate veneers when the preparation depth is kept within the limits of enamel [35]. For misaligned teeth, a transparent silicon index can be used to prepare esthetic pre-evaluative temporaries to be used as a guideline to prepare the tooth structure. They resemble the exact final contours of the final outcome, such as the incisal edge position and the facial contours of the teeth; we can start by preparing the teeth 0.5 mm through the mock-up as if we were dealing with a simple case in which the teeth are aligned properly [36]. Once teeth are prepped according to their limitations, adhesion protocols can commence.

1.5 Proper Adhesion

The enamel bond is beyond reproach and is the strongest, least invasive, most conservative, and most predictable bond available. Enamel bonding mimics the dentoenamel junction or the natural bond between enamel and dentin [37]. The same cannot be said about bonding to the dentin. However, even bonding to dentin is favored over nonadhesive approaches [38]. The "gold standard" remains total-etch three-step systems or three-step etch and rinse [38–40]. There remain many issues to consider before bonding to dentin [21]. For example, adhesion more often fails at the dentin–cement interface [21, 41]. Also, micro-leakage typically occurs between the dentin and cement, leaving underlying dentin unprotected [21, 41]. Studies show that the bond strength of resin cements to dentin is much lower than bonds to enamel, which is why maintaining an enamel periphery is essential [21, 41–45].

The ideal scenario is to keep the bond completely in enamel. Of utmost importance and when properly prepared, enamel substrates provide the most predictable surface to bond porcelain [1, 46–49]. The micro-retentive adhesion of porcelain to enamel has been well-documented for more than 20 years [1, 30, 46]. In a longitudinal study with a 12-year follow-up, ceramic veneers cemented on enamel showed significantly higher clinical longevity than those cemented on dentin, with success rates of 98.7% and 68.1%, respectively [50].

Unaffected by lingual preparation design, porcelain veneers adhesively bonded to enamel demonstrate the greatest long-term success rates, making no-preparation veneers the treatment of choice when indicated [1, 46-49]. When dentin is involved, an enamel periphery is preferable for predictability [1, 30, 46]. When less than 50% of enamel periphery and less than 50% enamel remain, discussion with the patient about limitations and predictability of the outcome is necessary [1, 10, 46]. Given these conditions—50% or more enamel on the tooth is required and 50% or more of the bonded substrate is on the enamel—70% or more of the margin must be enamel. The condition or integrity of the substrate to which veneers will be bonded is also important for success [51-53].

Veneer cementation is fundamental; it should be done with extreme care. It is important to remember that, unlike conventional crowns, which use dual-cured resin cements, ceramic laminates should use a purely light-cured luting agent to prevent the color shifts that can occur due to chemical changes in the curing process [54]. Absolute isolation during cementation procedures is essential for bond maintenance, which ultimately protects the internal surface of the restoration and is necessary for longevity [52, 53].

1.6 Classifications of Veneer Preparations

Referred to as no, minimal, or conventional preparation, veneer classifications—or lack thereof—create a large gray zone of misunderstanding and miscommunication with patients and within the dental profession. Left unanswered, questions regarding tooth structure removal, finish lines and margins, and other aspects can cause confusion in practice.

Flaws and inaccuracies in previously proposed preparation guidelines make those guidelines irrelevant [55]. To dissolve uncertainty, this veneer classification system was proposed to aid with diagnosis, treatment planning, patient education, consent and understanding, and communication among dental team members, and to provide viable solutions to public requests for elective procedures.

Defined as the way something is categorized, labeled, organized, distinguished, arranged, or sorted, classification adds clarity. Dentistry has distinguished Class I through Class V classifications in operative dentistry; there are inlays, onlays (3/4 and 7/8), and full-coverage crowns in prosthodontics. Classifications exist for furcations in periodontics; lip lines; bone quality; LeForte's CL-I, CL-II, and CL-III in orthodontics; removable prosthesis cantilevers; and bone/crest levels. In 1974, Talim and Gohil classified tooth cracks and fractures in endodontics, and Misch classified implant prostheses for patients; in 2009, McLaren classified ceramics [52]. Since classification systems have infiltrated so many aspects of life, veneers should be no different.

In the absence of widely advocated porcelain veneer tooth preparation guidelines, Tables 1.1 and 1.2 show the basis for the LeSage veneer classification system. The system was introduced to clarify the aforementioned gray zone between classic conventional veneer preparation and no- or minimal-preparation veneers. This metric provides an accurate measurement system for quantifying tooth structure removal on a case-by-case basis [56]. Studies show that when a conservative approach is taken and significant tooth structure remains, dentists can provide patients with a better prognosis for the restored teeth [56].

The LeSage veneer classification system divides preparation and veneering into reduction (referred to as space requirement, working thickness, or material room), volume of enamel remaining, and percentage of dentin exposed. Notably, classifications I, II—both of which incorporate addition veneers—and III require 70% to 100% enamel periphery.

		Dentin
Reduction	Facial	exposed
CL-I No-prep or practically	Detectable with magnification, with or	$0^{\rm a}$
prep-less	without gingival finish lines	
CL-II Modified prep-less or	Up to 0.5 mm	10–20%ª
minimally invasive		
CL-III Conservative design	0.5–1 mm	20–50%ª
CL-IV Conventional all-ceramic	1+ mm	50%
design		

 Table 1.1
 Basis for the LeSage veneer classification system (dentin exposed)

^aEnamel periphery of at least 70%

 Table 1.2
 Basis for the LeSage veneer classification system (enamel remaining)

		Enamel
Reduction	Facial	remaining
CL-I No-prep or practically	Detectable with magnification, with or	95-100%
prep-less	without gingival finish lines	
CL-II Modified prep-less or	Up to 0.5 mm	80–95%
minimally invasive		
CL-III Conservative design	0.5–1 mm	50-80%
CL-IV Conventional all-ceramic	1+ mm	<50%
design		

1.6.1 CL-I

CL-I is the purest form of *no-preparation* or *practically prep-less* veneers but can include a discreet finish line or only a loupe-detectable margin (Fig. 1.4). The term *addition veneers* frequently describes this preparation design today. In this classification, 95–100% of enamel volume remains after preparation, and no dentin is exposed. Ideal whenever possible, preparation must be completely and only in enamel.

This preparation type can be easily achieved using a bis-acrylic preparation guide created from a putty or silicone matrix of the diagnostic wax-up, which can be applied to the teeth [55]. Depth cuts of 0.5 mm for CL-I are placed into the incisal and facial aspects of the bis-acrylic preparation guide, which should result in the depth-cutting bur not touching the tooth, and the clinician should consider removing the aprismatic enamel and placing a practically undetectable finish line to aid ceramists in determining margin placement. These depth-cutting grooves minimize potential for over-preparation.

Many times considered the best option because of their tooth structure preservation qualities, prep-less veneers have limitations, including esthetic outcomes. Calamia found that veneers placed with no preparation resulted in periodontal problems as a result of over-contoured teeth that changed the emergence profile [1, 46, 57]. It was concluded, however, that the veneer treatment modality would function long term [1, 46, 49]. To correct the emergence issue, a 0.5-mm reduction restored by 0.5 mm of porcelain provided nearly the original tooth profile with the veneer in place [1, 46]. Additionally, it was discovered that wrapping the incisal edge enhances strength and that preparations limited to the facial surface only were not as strong as those with a wrapped incisal edge [1, 31, 46]. This latter veneer preparation type is described below as CL-II.

Some indications for no-prep veneers include peg laterals, genetic anomalies producing smaller teeth, short and worn teeth, orthodontics leading to a narrow arch, and patients with larger lips. Disadvantages may include limited shade alteration capability, difficulty developing the correct axial inclination, proportional errors, and trouble forming the proper gingival symmetry [1, 46, 58].

Veneer Restorations-Class I



1.6.2 CL-II

CL-II deals with *minimally invasive* or *modified prep-less* veneers (Fig. 1.5). Addition veneers also may fall in this classification. This category should exhibit 80–95% volume of remaining enamel, 10–20% exposed dentin, and up to 0.5 mm of reduction. Ideally, CL-II veneers would have complete enamel periphery but may involve a small zone on the gingival margin consisting of dentin to clearly establish the restoration margins [59]. Additionally, 5–15% of dentin may be exposed on any facial surface (i.e., mesial, distal, or gingival), depending on veneer rotation. To complete a CL-II preparation, a bis-acrylic preparation guide, as previously described, can be used. An example of a CL-II prep will be discussed in the following section.

1.6.3 CL-III

CL-III is a *conservative preparation* classification (Fig. 1.6) and described as 60–80% enamel volume remaining, 20–40% dentin exposed, and 0.5–1 mm of

Veneer Restorations-Class II



Fig. 1.5 Illustration demonstrating LeSage Class II veneer preparations requiring a modified design. Facial reduction should be less than 0.5 mm, 80–95% of the enamel should remain, and 10–20% of the dentin can be exposed. (Brown in illustration is exposed dentin)

Veneer Restorations-Class III

Fig. 1.6 Illustration demonstrating LeSage Class III veneer preparation design requiring some "conservative" reduction. Facial reduction is 0.5-1 mm, the enamel remaining should be 50-80%, and dentin exposure is maximized at 50%

reduction. With more room for restorative material, the gingival margin will typically involve more dentin [59]. However, greater than 70–80% of the finish line must still be in enamel.

1.6.4 CL-IV

CL-IV is a *full veneer* or *conventional all-ceramic* design (Fig. 1.7) and is best described as approximately 50% of enamel volume remaining, greater than 40% of exposed dentin, and 1 mm or more of reduction. The peripheral margin may consist of only 50–70% enamel. Although this veneer preparation type has become an almost universally accepted technique for placing full veneers, functional and esthetic limitations remain—including lower fracture loads and decreased marginal integrity that ultimately lead to restorative failure [60, 61]. Preparation design and fatigue influence the marginal accuracy of veneers bonded to maxillary central incisors, with significantly higher marginal gap formations developing in complete veneer preparations [60, 61]. Therefore, all limits of restorative options should be considered before undertaking this procedure. A case study of a CL-IV prep will be discussed in the following section.

Any given patient could exhibit any combination of classifications due to acidic erosion, genetics, restorative material requirements, occlusion, or tooth- and archsize discrepancies. As in periodontics, one tooth can be a CL-I furcation and a CL-III in the same dentition, and each has differing treatment approaches, prognosis, and varying care. Again, this veneer classification system was designed to help clarify professional communication and allow patients to better understand how much tooth structure will need to be removed. Such information will enable better informed consent, with patients making the choices they see fit.

When preparations fall outside these parameters, a crown should be *considered* for predictability and longevity.

It is well established that when a tooth has greater than 50% of enamel missing, moderate sclerotic dentin, and greater than 3 mm of unsupported porcelain, a crown must be considered. Magne found that 65% of a tooth's integrity comes from the

Veneer Restorations-Class IV



Fig. 1.7 Illustrations demonstrating LeSage Class IV veneer preparations, considering conventional preparations. Facial reduction is typically greater than 1 mm, with less than 50% of enamel remaining and greater than 50% of dentin exposed

cingulum and approximately 27% from lingual marginal ridges [62, 63]. These anatomical landmarks must be preserved at all costs [64]. No significant differences in crown flexure were found between natural and veneered incisors when the cingulum is presevered [64].

However, clinical decisions must be based on the dentist's clinical experience, scientific data, evidence-based literature, the clinical scenario, the patient's desires (i.e., time and money considerations), and full consent based on knowledge of advantages, disadvantages, risks, benefits, and prognosis. These factors are significant in treatment selection. CL-I veneer preparation with its 100% enamel substrate is more predictable than CL-IV with its significant dentin exposure.

1.7 Case Studies

1.7.1 Case I Demonstrating the LeSage CL-II Veneer Preparation Design

Patient is a 62-year-old male who wanted a better color to his teeth and to show more teeth by adding length and width to his smile. The pre-op images show the dark color, deficient vestibular reveal, chipped incisal edges, and damage to his dentition due to parafunctional habits (Figs. 1.8 and 1.9). The goal was to create a pleasing smile with minimal tooth reduction, while maintaining good health.

A full mouth series of X-rays showed minor tooth decay indicating replacement of an existing crown and several simple composites prior to analyzing his dentition for



Fig. 1.8 Full-face pre-op of patient before orthodontic care and all-ceramic restorations on maxillary and mandibular teeth in the esthetic zone Fig. 1.9 Smile view pre-op showing patient's chief complaint, "I would like a better color to my teeth and want to show more teeth when I smile"







veneers. A diagnostic workup was performed with facebow transfer and centric relation mounted study models on a semi-adjustable articulator (SAM-3, Great Lakes, Tonawanda, NY) and diagnostic photographs. It revealed the need for orthodontic treatment to widen the arch and reposition the maxillary and mandibular teeth into more ideal anterior relationship to create a more protective occlusal scheme and not prepare past the dento-enamel junction. The incisal edges in both arches had exposed dentin which needed to be covered for long-term stability (Fig. 1.10).

After approximately a 1-year course of Invisalign (Figs. 1.11 and 1.12), a new series of diagnostic models were mounted on the SAM-3 articulator, diagnostic photos retaken, and a diagnostic wax-up completed (Fig. 1.13). Minor occlusal equilibration to eliminate any CO-MIP slide and gain immediate anterior disclusion was performed prior to starting the smile makeover.

Luxatemp (DMG, Ridgefield Park, NJ) bis-acryl, using the preparation guide introduced by Drs. Magne and Gürel, was applied to the teeth using a putty matrix fabricated from the diagnostic mock-up (Fig. 1.14) [13, 36]. Depth-cutting grooves of 0.5 mm were placed in the bis-acrylic material minimizing the depth and thus also minimizing the amount of enamel removal on each tooth (Figs. 1.15 and 1.16).



Fig. 1.11 Full face of patient after Invisalign treatment. Notice fuller buccal corridor

Fig. 1.12 Retracted frontal view showing wider arch and better alignment of teeth after Invisalign



Fig. 1.13 Wax-up of maxillary teeth #4–13 on articulator working out esthetics and function



Fig. 1.14 Custom preparatory guide placing bis-acrylic on teeth to be restored





Fig. 1.15 0.5 mm grooves placed into bis-acrylic. On patient's right the bis-acrylic has been removed, and visible is the less than 0.5 mm groove remaining to guide a minimal preparation of the final restorations. Note the incisal edges of the teeth #6–8 and the facial of tooth #7 were not even touched with the depth-cutting bur guides

Fig. 1.16 Preparation of teeth #4–8 showing minimal dentin exposure— LeSage Class II veneer preparation design. Minor troughing visible after electrosurgery unit as a means for retraction



This modified prep-less veneer preparation technique will almost guarantee the authors preferred LeSage veneer CL-II preparation design: maintaining the preparation in 95% enamel and a 0.1 mm interproximal separation of the prepared teeth at its narrowest point (Fig. 1.17). To aid with shade communication including the ceramist, properly exposed images with the appropriate shade tabs are taken (Fig. 1.18).

An easy and effective way for patient visualization of their new smile design and final outcome is in fabricating prototypes, also known as temporaries or provisionals. These prototypes are created to the specifications of the anticipated definitive restorations, used to test and verify that the desired esthetic and functional outcomes are met.

Fig. 1.17 Minimal preparation to teeth #4–13, confined primarily in enamel



Fig. 1.18 Shade tab photo taken prior to dehydration of dentition. This is one of the multiple images taken to communicate chroma and value of the teeth and final restorations to the ceramist



Fig. 1.19 Prototypes immediately finished and polished in the mouth



Prototypes were fabricated using the "shrink wrap" technique; bis-acrylic was placed in the putty matrix and allowed to self-cure set in the mouth. This allows the prototypes to shrink and lock between the teeth and onto the teeth (Fig. 1.19). Prototypes are worn until the patient expresses complete satisfaction with their smile makeover (Figs. 1.20 and 1.21). Patient's approval of the prototypes is essential prior to the ceramist fabricating the veneers.

The Geller model poured from a PVS impression shows the removable dies and the stone papilla form and gingival tissues (Fig. 1.22). An incisal putty matrix from the model of the approved prototype aids the ceramist in fabricating predictable definitive restorations. Shown are the definitive feldspathic restorations on the Geller model (Fig. 1.23) and a mirror (Fig. 1.24).

The first step at the delivery appointment is the TIO technique; one central incisor prototype is cut out and the definitive veneer is tried in. This single

Fig. 1.20 Smile view showing prototypes/ temporaries to trial esthetics and function



Fig. 1.21 Full face with prototypes trialing midline, smile line, incisal edge position, arrangement, and composition



Fig. 1.22 Geller models showing removable dyes and stone papilla. Putty matrix from approved prototype to aid ceramist with length, midline, and incisal edge effects







Fig. 1.24 Minimal thickness veneers showing polychromicity



veneer should fit to place confirming the midline and the length of the definitive restorations. Once fit and esthetics are confirmed by the clinician and approved by the patient in the authors' TIO technique, the remaining prototypes are removed. The tooth preparations were cleaned and all final veneers were tried in for approval by the patient. Once approved, the cementation process began.

Following the proper adhesion protocol is essential to the long-term success of the restoration. With proper isolation, the preparations were cleaned, etched, rinsed, and partially dried. The strong adhesion of porcelain to enamel is one of the primary reasons that no-prep (LeSage CL-I) and minimally prep veneers (LeSage CL-II) are the treatment option of choice when indicated. The primer was then applied and agitated for 30 s, air-dried, and light cured. Resin adhesive was placed on tooth and light-cured resin cement on the intaglio surface of the veneer. Bonding the definitive feldspathic restorations to an enamel substrate allows for the most predictable bond strengths, which directly correlate to clinical longevity [65]. The veneers were seated, light pressure was applied, and excess cement was wiped from the margins. The shade of the veneer and thickness of the porcelain material help to guide the curing time.

Fig. 1.25 Retracted view of final layered feldspathic restorations showing natural progression of shades, perfect imperfections in size, axial inclination, and arrangement







The same technique was used on the mandibular veneers. A dual "E" appliance was fabricated to maintain and protect the patients bite and restorations. The restorations in the retracted view (Fig. 1.25), relaxed lip position (Fig. 1.26), and full face (Fig. 1.27) show the reestablishment of canine guidance, the protection of the exposed dentin, and the patients pleasing smile makeover.

1.7.2 Case II Demonstrating the LeSage CL-IV Veneer Preparation Design

This case involves a 31-year-old patient who wanted a better match in translucency and color in replacing the veneers on teeth numbers 8 and 9, placed approximately 10 years ago. Existing veneers were too opaque and thus appear lifeless in the mouth. The patient wanted to whiten the remaining dentition and create veneers with esthetically pleasing color and translucency.

Visual tension was present (Figs. 1.28 and 1.29). The restored central incisors had a very rectangular shape, long connector, and gingival health issues. In the full-face relaxed lip position view (Fig. 1.30), the facial and dental midline coincides, and nearly 4 mm of tooth reveal was present. The patient had a mild case of bruxism



Fig. 1.27 Full face with minimally preparation all-ceramic restorations

Fig. 1.28 Smile view showing visual tension in her smile. Veneers on teeth #8 and 9

but expressed a commitment to avoiding any unnecessary function or load on the restorations. Using the patient's signs and symptoms, and the patient's preferences, will assist with the new smile design to create the appropriate length, midline, outline form, color, and translucency.

Treatment started in a periodontist's office by performing scaling and root planning of the maxillary sextant. The veneers were then carefully cut off using a coarse diamond (# 6466–020, Brasseler, Savannah, GA). Besides ensuring a definitive margin and removing all cement for maximum bond strength, no additional tooth





Fig. 1.30 Relaxed lip position—preoperative



prep was performed. The preparation was a LeSage CL-IV, the least-predictable bond, as seen many times in replacement veneers, with greater than 50% dentin exposed and at best 50% of margin in enamel. CL-IV is the least-predictable bond. Therefore, patients should be properly informed and given all treatment options. The stump shade, even after internal bleaching with sodium perborate, affects the restorative material selection and porcelain layering technique (Fig. 1.31).

Lab-fabricated prototypes made with acrylic were used to guide the gingival healing and papilla formation. The prototypes' goal is to mimic the natural esthetics of color, translucency, contour, embrasures, composition, and arrangements (Fig. 1.32). These prototypes were worn for 4 months prior to approval by the patient (Fig. 1.33).

The definitive feldspathic veneers were delivered using a total-etch, three-step system adhesive and resin cement. The relaxed lip position smile (Fig. 1.34) shows the translucency, harmony, and balance the patient desired.

Fig. 1.31 Remove veneers on teeth #8 and 9 and refine preparations. Typical LeSage Class IV veneer preparation design as seen in most re-treatment cases



Fig. 1.32 Smile view with prototypes. Notice gingival health, pleasing translucency, and outline form



Fig. 1.33 Retracted view of prototypes. Gingival embrasure properly contoured to allow for gingival ingrowth



Fig. 1.34 Definitive all-ceramic restorations showing natural harmony and balance to patient's smile



1.8 Conclusion

Dentistry has sound, indisputable evidence affirming adhesive dentistry as the most conservative, least invasive, and most predictable way to restore teeth to normal form, function, strength, and optical properties when tooth-colored materials are used. Additionally, adhesive dentistry preserves the greatest amount of tooth structure, while satisfying patients' restorative and esthetic needs [1, 11, 66]. Clinicians must stay abreast of material selection, adhesive protocol, and scientific advances.

Before considering available smile-enhancing options, patients should undergo comprehensive clinical examinations, including an esthetic and functional evaluation [1, 11]. Ultimately, success is measured using the functional and esthetic parameters desired by the patient and required by the dentist.

More clinical evidence is needed to provide the standard of care required to comply with and support nonmaleficence [1, 67]. From Latin *praedicius* or *praedicere*, meaning to know beforehand, the term "predictability" suggests that dentistry should develop models that dentists can follow to provide predictable comprehensive esthetic outcomes. The LeSage veneer classification system enables dentists to improve the quality of their dental treatment and give patients the best in function, longevity, and esthetics.

The author would like to acknowledge the ceramic work of Michel Magne MDT of Beverly Hills Dental Laboratory, Inc. Oral Design Los Angeles.

References

- 1. LeSage BP. Establishing a classification system and criteria for veneer preparations. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2013;34(2):104–12.
- Bahadir HS, Karadağ G, Bayraktar Y. Minimally invasive approach for improving anterior dental aesthetics: case report with 1-year follow-up. Case Rep Dent. 2018;2018:4601795. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/4601795.
- Farias-Neto A, Dantas de Medeiros FC, Vilanova L, Chaves MS, de Araújo JFF B. Tooth preparation for ceramic veneers: why less is more. Int J Esthet Dent. 2019;14:156–64.
- 4. Mizrachi M, Lowe RA. A new and economical concept no-prep veneers. Dent Today. 2011;30:138–43.
- 5. Gürel G, Wells D. Low-risk dentistry using additive-only ("no-prep") porcelain veneers. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2011;32(5):50.
- 6. Freydberg BK. No-prep veneers: the myths. Dent Today. 2011;30(6):70-1.
- Calamia JR. Etched porcelain facial veneers: a new treatment modality based on scientific and clinical evidence. N Y J Dent. 1983;53:255–9.
- 8. Calamia JR. Etched porcelain veneers: the current state of the art. Quintessence Int. 1985;16(1):5–12.
- D'Arcangelo C, Vadini M, D'Amario M, Chiavaroli Z, De Angelis F. Protocol for a new concept of no-prep ultrathin ceramic veneers. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2018;30:173–9.
- 10. Calamia JR. Clinical evaluation of etched porcelain veneer. Am J Dent. 1989;2(1):9-15.
- Strassler HE. Minimally invasive porcelain veneers: indications for a conservative esthetic dentistry treatment modality. Gen Dent. 2007;55(7):686–96.
- 12. Magne P, Magne M. Use of additive waxup and direct intraoral mock-up for enamel preservation with porcelain laminate veneers. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2006;1(1):10–9.
- 13. Magne P, Belser UC. Novel porcelain laminate preparation approach driven by a diagnostic mock-up. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2004;16(1):7–16.

- Coachman C, Calamita M. Digital smile design: a tool for treatment planning and communication in esthetic dentistry. Quintessence Dent. Technol. 2012;35:103–111.
- Meereis CT, de Souza GB, Albino LG, Ogliari FA, Piva E, Lima GS, et al. Digital smile design for computer-assisted esthetic rehabilitation: two-year follow-up. Oper Dent. 2016;41:E13–22.
- Miranda ME, Olivieri KA, Rigolin FJ, de Vasconcellos AA. Esthetic challenges in rehabilitating the anterior maxilla: a case report. Oper Dent. 2016;41:2–7.
- Lin WS, Zandinejad A, Metz MJ, Harris BT, Morton D. Predictable restorative work flow for computer-aided design/computer-aided manufacture-fabricated ceramic veneers utilizing a virtual smile design principle. Oper Dent. 2015;40:357–63.
- Cooper LF, Culp L, Luedin N. A digital approach to improved overdentures for the adolescent oligodontia patient. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2016;28:144–56.
- Reshad M, Cascione D, Magne P. Diagnostic mock-ups as an objective tool for predictable outcomes with porcelain laminate veneers in esthetically demanding patients: a clinical report. J Prosthet Dent. 2008;99:333–9.
- Mangini F, Cerutti A, Putignano A, et al. Clinical approach to anterior adhesive restorations using resin composite veneers. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2007;2(2):188–209.
- Jacobson N, Frank CA. The myth of instant orthodontics: an ethical quandary. J Am Dent Assoc. 2008;139(4):424–34.
- 22. Shillingburg HT Jr, Grace CS. Thickness of enamel and dentin. J South Calif Dent Assoc. 1973;41(1):33–6.
- Atsu SS, Aka PS, Kucukesmen HC, et al. Age-related changes in tooth enamel as measured by electron microscopy: implications for porcelain laminate veneers. J Prosthet Dent. 2005;94(4):336–41.
- 24. Magne P, Douglas WH. Additive contour of porcelain veneers: a key element in enamel preservation, adhesion, and esthetics for aging dentition. J Adhes Dent. 1999;1(1):81–92.
- Ferrari M, Patroni S, Balleri P. Measurement of enamel thickness in relation to reduction for etched laminate veneers. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1992;12(5):407–13.
- 26. Garber DA. Rational tooth preparation for porcelain veneers. Compendium. 1991;12(5):316-20.
- Kois JC, McGowan S. Diagnostically generated anterior tooth preparation for adhesively retained porcelain restorations: rationale and technique. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2004;32(2):161–6.
- Friedman MJ. Porcelain veneer restorations: a clinician's opinion about a disturbing trend. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2001;13(5):318–27.
- 29. Garber DA. Porcelain laminate veneers: ten years later. Part i: tooth preparation. J Esthet Dent. 1993;5(2):56–62.
- De Munck J, Van Landuyt K, Peumans M, et al. A critical review of the durability of adhesion to tooth tissue: methods and results. J Dent Res. 2005;84(2):118–32.
- Castelnuovo J, Tjan AH, Phillips K, et al. Fracture load and mode of failure of ceramic veneers with different preparations. J Prosthet Dent. 2000;83(2):171–80.
- Brunton PA, Aminian A, Wilson NH. Tooth preparation techniques for porcelain laminate veneers. Br Dent J. 2000;189(5):260–2.
- Cherukara GP, Davis GR, Seymour KG, et al. Dentin exposure in tooth preparations for porcelain veneers: a pilot study. J Prosthet Dent. 2005;94(5):414–20.
- Gürel G. Porcelain laminate veneers: minimal tooth preparation by design. Dent Clin N Am. 2007;51(2):419–31.
- 35. Gürel G, Morimoto S, Calamita MA, et al. Clinical performance of porcelain laminate veneers: outcomes of the aesthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2012;32:625–35.
- 36. Gurel G. The science and art of porcelain laminate veneers. Quintessence. 2003;7:246.
- 37. Magne P. Composite resins and bonded porcelain: the Postamalgam era? Resins Porcelain. 2006;34(2):135–47.
- Van Meerbeek B, De Munck J, Yoshida Y, et al. Buonocore memorial lecture. Adhesion to enamel and dentin: current status and future challenges. Oper Dent. 2003;28(3):215–35.
- Swift EJ Jr, Perdigão J. Heymann Ho. Bonding to enamel and dentin: a brief history and state of the art, 1995. Quintessence Int. 1995;26(2):95–110.
- 40. Swift EJ Jr. Dentin bonding: what is the state of the art? Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2001;22(12s):4–7.

- Lafuente JD, Chaves A, Carmiol R. Bond strength of dual-cured resin cements to human teeth. J Esthet Dent. 2000;12(2):105–10.
- 42. Peumans M, De Munck J, Fieuws S, et al. A prospective ten-year clinical trial of porcelain veneers. J Adhes Dent. 2004;6(1):65–76.
- 43. Christensen GJ. Veneer mania. J Am Dent Assoc. 2006;137(8):1161-3.
- 44. Hikita K, Van Meerbeek B, De Munck J, et al. Bonding effectiveness of adhesive luting agents to enamel and dentin. Dent Mater. 2007;23(1):71–80.
- 45. Ibarra G, Johnson GH, Geurtsen W, Vargas MA. Microleakage of porcelain veneer restorations bonded to enamel and dentin with a new self- adhesive resin-based dental cement. Dent Mater. 2007;23(2):218–25.
- LeSage BP. Revisiting the design of minimal and no-preparation veneers: a step-by-step technique. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2010;38(8):561–9.
- 47. LeSage BP. Minimally invasive dentistry: paradigm shifts in preparation design. Pract Proced Aesthet Dent. 2009;21(2):97–101.
- 48. Magne P, Douglas WH. Porcelain veneers: dentin bonding optimization and biomimetic recovery of the crown. Int J Prosthodont. 1999;12(2):111–21.
- 49. DiMatteo AM. Prep vs no-prep: the evolution of veneers. Inside Dent. 2009;5(6):72–9.
- Gurel G, Sesma N, Calamita MA, Coachman C, Morimoto S. Influence of enamel preservation on failure rates of porcelain laminate veneers. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2013;33:31–9.
- 51. Giordano R. A comparison of all ceramic systems. J Mass Dent Soc. 2002;50(4):16-20.
- 52. McLaren EA, Cao PT. Ceramics in dentistry part 1: classes of materials. Inside Dent. 2009;5(9):94–103.
- 53. McLaren EA, LeSage BP. Feldspathic veneers: what are their indications. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2011;32(2):44–9.
- Morita RK, et al. Minimally invasive laminate veneers: clinical aspects in treatment planning and cementation procedures. Case Rep Dent. 2016;2016:1839793. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1839793.
- 55. Gürel G. Predictable, precise, and repeatable tooth preparation for porcelain laminate veneers. Pract Proced Aesthet Dent. 2003;15(1):17–26.
- 56. Edelhoff D, Sorensen JA. Tooth structure removal associated with various preparation designs for anterior teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;87(5):503–9.
- 57. Calamia JR, Calamia CS. Porcelain laminate veneers: reasons for 25 years of success. Dent Clin N Am. 2007;51(2):399–417.
- Javaheri D. Considerations for planning esthetic treatment with veneers involving no or minimal preparation. J Am Dent Assoc. 2007;138(3):331–7.
- Brunton PA, Wilson NH. Preparations for porcelain laminate veneers in general dental practice. Br Dent J. 1998;184(11):553–6.
- 60. Rouse JS. Full veneer versus traditional veneer preparation: a discussion of interproximal extension. J Prosthet Dent. 1997;78(6):545–9.
- 61. Chun YH, Raffelt C, Pfeiffer H, et al. Restoring strength of incisors with veneers and full ceramic crowns. J Adhes Dent. 2010;12(1):45–54.
- 62. Stappert CF, Ozden U, Att W, et al. Marginal accuracy of press-ceramic veneers influenced by preparation design and fatigue. Am J Dent. 2007;20(6):380–4.
- 63. Magne P, Belser U. Bonded porcelain restorations in the anterior dentition: a biomimetic approach. Chicago: Quintessence Pub. Co; 2002.
- 64. Magne P, Douglas WH. Cumulative effects of successive restorative procedures on anterior crown flexure: intact versus veneered incisors. Quintessence Int. 2000;31(1):5–18.
- 65. Peumans M, Van Meerbeek B, Lambrechts P, Vanherle G. Porcelain veneers: a review of the literature. J Dent. 2000;28:163–77.
- 66. McLaren EA, Whiteman YY. Ceramics: rationale for material selection. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2010;31(9):666–80.
- 67. Andersson GB, Chapman JR, Dekutoski MB, et al. Do no harm: the balance of "beneficence" and "non-maleficence.". Spine. 2010;35(9s):s2–8.



2

Orthodontics for Esthetic Dental Treatment: Symbiotic Efforts for Optimal Results

Olivier F. Nicolay and Asma Almaidhan

Contents

2.1	Introduction	27
2.2	Diagnosis	28
2.3	Facial Analysis	29
2.4	Function Evaluation	34
2.5	Dental Analysis.	34
	2.5.1 Vertical	34
	2.5.2 Transverse.	39
	2.5.3 Anterior–Posterior Positions.	40
2.6	Skeletal Analysis	44
	2.6.1 Cephalometric Analysis	44
	2.6.2 Moorrees Mesh Analysis.	46
2.7	Space Analysis.	47
	2.7.1 Methods of Space Analysis.	51
2.8	Conclusions	63
Refe	rences	63

2.1 Introduction

The concept of beauty has captivated scholars since ancient times. Many researchers have attempted to analyze human beauty and objectify it by suggesting some underlying foundations such as symmetry and proportions. This beauty notion extends across many disciplines including evolutionary biology, sociology, and developmental psychology [1-5].

Human fascination with beauty and esthetic trends is continuously evolving; moreover, public awareness and desire to improve facial appearances are at the

O. F. Nicolay (🖂) · A. Almaidhan

Department of Orthodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: olivier.nicolay@nyu.edu, ofn1@nyu.edu; asma.almaidhan@nyu.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_2

highest level [6]. This trend of heightened public awareness and expectation is paving a new way of dentistry toward a more comprehensive approach with esthetic principles at its core. The oral health of the patient and his or her dentition are fundamental in dental treatment. However, the final esthetic outcome should be among the first steps in treatment planning [7]. The ideal esthetic approach in dental treatment planning often requires a multidisciplinary approach engaging various dental professionals. This process requires thorough communication among dental practitioners and a basic understanding of what each discipline can provide.

It has become more prevalent to include orthodontic treatment in planning comprehensive multidisciplinary cases. This trend could be attributed to the role of pioneers such as Vincent Kokich [8–14], who brought to the forefront a significant opportunity to improve the outcomes that orthodontics offers to practitioners. Moreover, the advent of digitized clear aligner therapy as a treatment modality has broadened the base of the patients accepting adjunct orthodontics therapy to enhance esthetic treatment results.

The intent for this chapter is to emphasize certain aspects pertinent to diagnosis and treatment planning that are usually overlooked when one considers prerestorative orthodontic alignment of teeth, which could then avoid patient and practitioner disappointment at completion.

Accordingly, this chapter will cover facial evaluation; optimal anteroposterior, transverse, and vertical positioning of the maxillary incisors; skeletal diagnosis; and space management. Moreover, it will illustrate some of these points using the management of multidisciplinary treatment planning.

2.2 Diagnosis

A majority of dentists nowadays design their dental treatment plan with the objective of maximizing esthetics. As such, many dental practitioners are working collaboratively to achieve higher esthetic outcomes [15]. Historically, esthetic outcomes were opted as less significant than function and emerged in a later stage of dental treatment planning. This approach resulted in a compromised treatment outcome and, possibly, patient frustration.

A case example is an adult male patient seeking a solution to "reduce the too forward-placed prominent front teeth." Oral and dental examinations revealed that he had severe overjet and overly proclined incisors. The patient was told he would need extraction of the upper premolars to reduce the overjet and incisor proclination. The patient became upset because he had implants to replace the missing maxillary teeth. Thus, the restorative treatment plan for this patient aimed to restore function over esthetic consideration. For that reason, it is recommended that every patient have a comprehensive examination to consider the face and dental esthetics. Treatment options that include addressing facial and dental esthetics should be explained to the patient, even if the patient is not aware of any appearance issue, as this may change with time. The patient can then make an informed decision after discussing his/her expectations and treatment outcome goals.

The primary objectives of treatment should consider biology, function, stability, and esthetics all at the same time when formulating a problem list and treatment outcomes. The dental practitioner ought to formulate treatment objectives after a comprehensive assessment of a patient's face, smile, and dental structure. The objectives should not be solely based on restoring dentition.

The teamwork approach among dental professionals is well established [8, 15–18]. It promotes a higher level of dental care. Moreover, this collaboration should extend not only among dental specialists but also to medical professionals in order to provide the best treatment outcome [19, 20]. An example is excessive gingival display upon smiling. The treatment approach should be chosen based on diagnostic findings and treatment objectives. If the resultant gummy smile is due to hypermobility of the facial muscles even though there are good facial and skeletal proportions, then the treatment objective should aim to reduce the excessive muscle elevation during smiling by injecting *C. botulinum* toxin. However, in cases of excessive gingival display that is associated with a long face and vertical maxillary excess (VME), orthodontic treatment alone or combined with orthognathic surgery should be selected based on the severity [21, 22]. Furthermore, a gummy smile due to short clinical crowns requires treatment with crown lengthening and restoration [23].

There are various treatment options among the disciplines. Selecting the appropriate treatment depends on the evaluation of facial proportions, occlusion, and the patient's desire and expectation. The treatment, therefore, begins with a proper and thorough diagnosis of the patient, not just the dentition.

Evaluation of facial esthetics, profile, lip position, and smile should be part of every patient's examination. This comprehensive approach yields the most successful treatment outcomes.

2.3 Facial Analysis

A systemic approach to evaluate facial proportions and esthetics in dentistry has long been established [24]. In orthodontics, the paradigm has shifted from the twentieth-century Angle paradigm that focused on establishing perfectly aligned teeth with an ideal relationship to their opposing arch, assuming the face will then be harmonious. This is not necessarily true; facial attractiveness is judged by the soft tissue, which is the prime focus of the orthodontic treatment [25].

As discussed earlier, a dental treatment plan should not be solely based on dentition. Dental practitioners ought to provide a comprehensive treatment plan that addresses the esthetic aspects of the entire face, including the smile. The dentist has an obligation to educate the patient about the various treatment modalities and to address his/her desires and expectations from the beginning to avoid disappointment and a compromised outcome.

Facial evaluation is an integral part of patient examination. It starts with evaluating facial symmetry, as symmetric faces are considered more beautiful than those that are not [26, 27]. The facial midline is the reference used to assess facial symmetry (Fig. 2.1). Facial examinations begin with symmetry evaluation and then establish the interpupillary line and determine whether it's normal (perpendicular to the facial midline) or slanted. Both jaws should be assessed in reference to the facial midline to determine any canting. The position of the chin should also be marked for any deviation.

The next step is to evaluate facial proportions; the face is divided into horizontal fifths and vertical thirds (Figs. 2.2 and 2.3). A proportionate face is considered more attractive than those that are disproportionate. However, these proportions may vary among different ethnic groups [9, 28–30]. The shape of the face can be described as mesofacial, which is a face that is proportionate in height and width; dolichofacial, which is a face that is greater in height than in width; or brachyfacial, which is when the face's width exceeds the length proportion. Evaluating the vertical lower facial height determines whether it is normal or if there was an excess or deficit in the lower facial height.

After that, the patient's profile is assessed to determine whether it is straight, convex, or concave by tracing an imaginary line from the forehead to the chin (Fig. 2.4). Note that convex profiles are usually associated with a skeletal class II pattern, while concave profiles are associated with a class III skeletal pattern.



Fig. 2.1 Facial midline, interpupillary line









The mandibular plane angle can be observed from the patient's profile and measured in the lateral cephalometric radiograph (discussed under skeletal diagnosis later in the chapter). This will provide the vertical skeletal pattern as to whether it is normal, hyperdivergent (high angle), or hypodivergent (low angle) (Fig. 2.5).

Next is an evaluation of the upper and lower lip position to determine if they are normal, protrusive, or retrusive.


Fig. 2.5 Mandibular plane angles

The principle behind the relationship of the lip position in relation to the nose and chin projection from the profile view is dated to the 1950s and the effort of orthodontist Robert Ricketts in establishing the esthetic plane (E-plane or line), Fig. 2.6. Ricketts' conclusion was based on the sample he studied: for the average Caucasian face, it is more esthetic for the lower lip to be 2 mm behind the E-plane and the upper lip 4 mm behind it. This obviously has variation among different ethnic backgrounds. Moreover, public perception on the ideal lip position and fullness can vary with time as more people nowadays regard fully defined lips as more attractive.



Fig. 2.6 E-plane relationship with the lips. E-plane: virtual line drawn from tip of nose (pronasale) to tip of chin (soft tissue pogonion)





The lips receive special attention in facial evaluation; fuller lips are considered more youthful, and the loss of lip volume is regarded as a sign of aging [31]. The position of the lips depends largely on the underlying dental structures. Planning to move the teeth in order to improve the patient's appearance should be vigilantly studied. Excessive proclination of the maxillary incisors results in a compromised look. On the other hand, excessive retraction of the maxillary incisors compromises the projection of the lips and gives more of an aged look.

Next, the nasal-labial angle (Fig. 2.7) is examined to determine whether the angle is normal, acute, or obtuse. This determination is also important when planning the final position of the maxillary incisors. It is not recommended to retract the maxillary incisors when the nasal-labial angle is obtuse as this will increase the angle, while the maxillary incisors should not be brought more anteriorly when the nasal-labial angle is acute.

After that, mentolabial sulcus is examined to decide if it has normal depth, is flat, or is deep (Fig. 2.7). If the mentolabial sulcus is flat, the lips' competence should be evaluated, while if the mentolabial sulcus is deep with an everted lower lip, one should assess whether an excessive overjet is associated with it.

Finally, lip competency should be evaluated to determine if they are competent, competent with muscle strain, or incompetent.

2.4 Function Evaluation

The presence of oral habits like clenching, grinding, and tongue thrusting should be examined. Furthermore, the breathing pattern (nose or mouth) should be assessed. Also, temporomandibular joints, mouth opening, and mastication must be evaluated.

2.5 Dental Analysis

The incisor positions are very critical components in planning the dentofacial esthetics. The incisor spatial orientation—vertical, transverse, and anterior—posterior positions in interdisciplinary treatment planning with orthodontics will be discussed in detail.

2.5.1 Vertical

2.5.1.1 The Vertical Position of Maxillary Incisors

Smile Line and Incisal Edge Display

The smile line or smile arc is defined as the relationship between the maxillary incisal edge and the superior border of the lower lip. The vertical position of the incisal edge is determined by their parallelism to the lower lip upon smiling [32, 33]. However, in the case of an asymmetric lower lip, the interpupillary line may be used as reference [34].

The smile line can be parallel to the lip curvature, which is known as a consonant or convex smile line. This style is perceived as the most attractive and youthful smile line. A non-consonant smile line or straight smile line is when the maxillary incisal edge is flatter than the lower lip curvature. This gives an older look as teeth tend to naturally wear off through time. A reverse smile line (concave) is the least esthetic [10, 35] (Fig. 2.8).

The presence of canting in the smile should be recorded (Fig. 2.9). Also, the source of canting should be investigated, whether it was skeletal or dental base.

Teeth and Gingival Display

Determining the appropriate amount of incisal and gingival display is age dependent as studies have shown that the amount of incisal and gingival display decreases with aging [11, 12]. These changes are attributed to decreased elasticity and tone of the orofacial muscles.



Fig. 2.8 Incisal edge in relation to smile line. On the right, convex smile line (the incisal line) is parallel to the lip curvature. The middle picture shows straight smile line. The left picture is reverse smile line which is the least attractive smile



Fig. 2.9 The presence of dental and skeletal canting should be noted in the diagnostic stage

This display principle is essential when planning the ideal incisor position in young patients versus the elderly. A 2–3 mm of gingival display in a younger person is considered normal and youthful [13, 14].

It is also worth noting that the lip line is at different levels when the lip is at rest or is smiling. The lip line is also different in a posed social smile versus in a spontaneous smile. The lip line is progressively higher in the latter. The diagnostic smile evaluation should be assessed in various situations. An underestimation of the lip line can result when the practitioner only documents the posed social smile (Fig. 2.10).

The incisal and gingival display can be classified as excessive, average, or deficient (Fig. 2.11).

Excessive gingival display is considered unattractive to both the professional and the public, while an inadequate display is not desired as it is considered a sign of aging [32, 33].

The ideal gingival level is designed based on the appropriate crown width-tolength ratio of the maxillary anterior teeth [36-38], the amount of gingival display upon smiling, [36] and the symmetry of the gingival level between the right and left dentition. Treatment is based on the tooth proportion and the planned final position of the gingival level. If the gingival level is too incisal, a periodontal surgical procedure [39, 40], orthodontic intrusion [8], or orthodontic intrusion and restoration are considered [41-43].

Treatment of inadequate gingival display involves lengthening the maxillary incisal edges. This could be achieved by restorative dentistry [44], orthodontic extrusion [45], or orthognathic surgery [46–48] (Fig. 2.12). The clinical management decision is determined by the patient's facial proportions, muscle tone, crown length, and occlusion.





Fig. 2.11 Varying amount of gingival display upon smiling



Fig. 2.12 (a) Inadequate gingival display due to skeletal discrepancy. (b) The patient incisal and gingival display has improved after receiving orthodontic treatment combined with orthognathic surgery

In case of asymmetric gingival level, orthodontic treatment is indicated to level the gingival heights prior to restoration. In Fig. 2.13, one can note the apical and lateral displacement of the maxillary right central incisor as a result of trauma.

2.5.1.2 The Vertical Position of Mandibular Incisors

After planning the final position of the maxillary incisors, the position of the mandibular incisors needs to be designed accordingly.

The vertical position of mandibular anterior teeth should be evaluated. If they were over-erupted, occlusal adjustment, orthodontic intrusion, or both can be used [14]. If they were under-erupted, orthodontic extrusion, or restoration could be planned [49, 50].

Mandibular incisor vertical position should be evaluated in reference to posterior teeth (depth of curve of Spee). Correcting a deep curve of Spee may require intrusion of anterior teeth, extrusion of posterior teeth, restoration, or a combination of all modalities (Fig. 2.14). It is worth noting that leveling the curve of Spee requires additional arch space that should be accounted when planning to move the teeth.

The gingival level would be changed if orthodontic intrusion or extrusion of the anterior teeth is planned [51].

Deep Overbite Correction

Evaluating the vertical position of the maxillary incisors is fundamental in setting treatment objectives and designing a treatment plan for cases of severe overbite. Deep overbite correction can present a challenge. Depending on the diagnosis, the correction may require intrusion of anterior teeth (upper, lower, or both), extrusion of posterior teeth, or relative intrusion by proclination of the anterior teeth. In most instances, it becomes impossible to resolve lower incisor crowding when the patient presents a deep overbite without first correcting the latter.



Fig. 2.13 Orthodontic treatment is indicated in this case to align the teeth and level gingival heights prior to restorative treatment



The treatment approach for severe overbite cases is dictated by the amount of the incisal display and the smile esthetic. The feasibility of these movements is determined by the mechanical efficacy of the selected appliances and determined by the vertical skeletal pattern.

Planning to intrude the over-erupted maxillary incisors is desired in cases with excessive incisal and gingival display (Fig. 2.15).

However, intrusion of the maxillary incisors should not be attempted in severe overbite cases with inadequate incisal display as it would compromise the esthetic outcome (Fig. 2.16). It is advisable to start by leveling the curve of Spee, to intrude the mandibular incisors, extrude the posterior teeth, or a combination of both methods.

Evaluating the position of the incisors is also critical when planning to restore asymmetric gingival level in anterior teeth (Fig. 2.17a, b). The final position of the incisors and their relation to the opposing arch should be thoroughly studied. Any desired change in the position of the incisors should be addressed before planning the restorative part (Fig. 2.17c, d).

A word of caution is warranted in that instance: resolving lower anterior crowding with IPR in the presence of deep overbite is counterproductive. Orthodontists are very familiar with the concept of Bolton discrepancy. When a patient presents a mandibular deficiency of tooth substance in the lower six anterior teeth compared to the maxillary teeth, there is usually a deep overbite and/or overjet. Intuitively, one should recognize that reducing the width of the six lower anterior teeth will exacerbate the deep overbite. The same should be considered contraindication for extracting a lower incisor. A better strategy is to correct or reduce the overbite before attempting any mandibular tooth mass reduction.

is more accentuated in cases with increased overbite. Leveling the curve may be done by

combination of both



Fig. 2.15 (a) The patient is at the beginning of orthodontic treatment; she has increased overbite that was treated with maxillary incisor intrusion. This approach was opted due to the increased incisal and gingival display the patient had initially. (b) The patient's smile during the orthodontic treatment. Note the improved gingival display following intrusion of the maxillary incisors. (c) The patient's smile at the end of the orthodontic treatment. (d) The patient's occlusion before receiving orthodontic treatment. The patient had deep impinging bite in addition to the incisor retroclination. (e) The patient's occlusion after receiving orthodontic treatment, the treatment included intrusion of the maxillary incisors, proclination of the incisors (relative intrusion), and leveling the curve of Spee

2.5.2 Transverse

The symmetry of the right and left dentition should be evaluated as part of the patient examination. This includes tooth size, alignment, and position.

2.5.2.1 Relationship of Central Incisors to Facial Midline

Coincident maxillary dental midline with the facial midline is considered as attractive and ideal [52]. It is worth noting that a midline shift of up to 3–4 mm may not be noticeable by laypeople [53, 54]. However, discrepancies in the inclination of the incisors by 2 mm are regarded as unesthetic [20, 55]. Note in Fig. 2.18, a patient seeking orthodontic treatment with a chief complaint of "crooked midline." In agreement with the Kokich study result, the public has lower tolerance toward canted midlines than midline shift without canting. Correcting cants in midline can be done conservatively with orthodontics [56] or with restorative dentistry if the incisors need to be restored [57].

2.5.2.2 Smile Width and Buccal Corridor

A proportionate broad smile is desired. However, care should be taken not to exaggerate the arch layout to produce a wider smile as this will result in an unnatural look. On the other hand, excessive buccal corridors are considered unpleasant to both the orthodontist and laypeople [58, 59] (Fig. 2.19).



Fig. 2.16 (a) The patient's smile before receiving orthodontic treatment. (b) The patient's smile after receiving orthodontic treatment. (c) The patient's occlusion before receiving orthodontic treatment. (d) The patient's occlusion after receiving orthodontic treatment. A case with increased overbite and limited display of incisors is contraindicated for maxillary incisor intrusion, as this would compromise the smile appearance. Patient's orthodontic treatment was aimed to level the curve of Spee and to extrude the posterior teeth

2.5.3 Anterior–Posterior Positions

2.5.3.1 Maxillary Incisor Inclination (Proclination/Retroclination)

Evaluating the incisors' labiolingual inclination is critical in esthetic treatment planning. Maxillary incisors can be at a normal inclination, proclined, or retroclined. Lateral cephalometric radiographs provide angular measurements of the incisors' inclination [60].

Another way to examine the inclination of the incisors is to look at the facial surface anterior teeth in relation to the occlusal plane. When the facial surface is perpendicular to the occlusal plane, it allows for higher light reflection, which improves their appearance [61].

Alternately, one can also assess the position of the incisor when observing the profile of a patient when smiling. One of the authors uses a vertical line, parallel to the *true* vertical line and tangent to the soft tissue glabella point, to judge the position of the maxillary incisors and their inclinations (Fig. 2.20). This is a crude application of the Andrews Goal Anterior Limit Line (GALL), whereby the maxillary incisors are tangent to the line; however, more forward can be acceptable for women, while slightly behind might be acceptable for men.



Fig. 2.17 (a) Apically positioned upper tight central incisor and uneven bone and gingival level of the upper right central incisor, which compromise the restorative treatment, patient had orthodontic treatment to improve the bone and gingival level prior to tooth restoration. (b) Periapical radiograph at earlier stage of treatment. (c) The photograph was taken after one month of orthodontic treatment. The treatment included extrusion and lingual root torque. The treatment will continue to extrude the tooth till the gingival level is even. (d) Periapical radiograph taken 1 month after the radiograph in (b). Note in (d) the level of the distal crestal bone and the distance between the root tip and the orthodontic appliance (transpalatal arch)

Correcting the inclination of the proclined or retroclined teeth with orthodontics would save the teeth from extensive preparation for restoration or even endodontic treatment to reach an ideal inclination [23].

2.5.3.2 Mandibular Incisors

Designing the appropriate mandibular incisor position is determined by the maxillary incisor position, the jaws skeletal relationship, the alveolar bone structure, and the lip position. Orthodontic treatment can be used to correct or improve the inclination of the mandibular incisors within the biological range [62].

The ideal inclination should not be taken as absolute angular values. Several factors should be considered in treatment planning for the incisor position and



Fig. 2.18 (a) Coincident maxillary and mandibular midlines with the facial midlines are considered ideal. (b) Patient seeking orthodontic treatment after restorative treatment to fix "crooked midline." This is in agreement with Kokich findings that showed public has lower tolerance to canting in midline than parallel midline shift. (c) Closer view of pretreatment. (d) Post-orthodontic treatment



Fig. 2.19 Smile width evaluation, broad smile shown on the right, normal smile in the middle, and narrow smile with visible buccal corridor

Fig. 2.20 Andrews' Goal Anterior Limit Line (GALL) application to determine the anterior–posterior position of the maxillary incisor



coordination. Cases of increased overjet that result from skeletal discrepancy (skeletal cl II) can be reduced by dentoalveolar compensation, which reduces the inclination of the maxillary incisors (retrocline) and increases the inclination (procline) of the mandibular incisors. The opposite is true for negative overjet. Soft tissue analysis plays an essential role in designing the final position of the maxillary and mandibular incisors. The anterior–posterior position of the lips in relation to the nose (NLA) and to the E-plane (Figs. 2.6 and 2.7) should be considered in planning the position of the incisors. Vigilant planning for cases of prominent protruded lips (acute NLA) should be designed not to increase the inclination or protrusion of the incisors, which may result in compromised facial esthetics. While planning cases with obtuse nasolabial angle and recessive lips, incisors should not be retracted, which is unesthetic and gives an older looking profile.

Note in the Fig. 2.21 case, patient's treatment plan was not based on the cephalometric values of incisor inclination but rather based on the facial appearance. At the end of the treatment, the incisors were more proclined than ideal. This was done in order to improve the patient profile and lip position by giving her a fuller look. This is especially critical in growing patients. Any retraction of the maxillary teeth would result in lips that are further back, which emphasizes the nose and chin prominence and gives an aging appearance to the face that only gets worse with age.



Fig. 2.21 (a) Patient present with retrusive lips, deep mentolabial sulcus, and dental crowding. (b) Patient received orthodontic treatment that resolved dental crowding by expanding her arch in transverse and A–P. The treatment outcome on patient face showed improved lip support, improved depth of nasolabial folds, and mentolabial sulcus. Despite the increased inclination of the incisors posttreatment, the facial esthetics is improved, which is an important principle to prioritize the facial appearance in treatment planning



Fig. 2.21 (continued)

Correction of Excessive Overjet

Knowing the etiology of an overjet is essential for appropriate treatment. The practitioner will determine whether the root cause of this condition is of skeletal or dental origin and what division of the class II malocclusion (Figs. 2.22, 2.23, and 2.24). A better approach is to consider whether a class II molar relationship exists. In such instance, a patient will present with crowding, cl II molars, and without increased overjet. Failing to recognize the skeletal cl II pattern that underlies the malocclusion in cases without severe overjet is crucial. In such cases, the mere alignment of anterior teeth in a class II division 2 malocclusion will expose a severe overjet (Fig. 2.25).

In any case, the treatment plan should consider the ideal position of the maxillary incisors, determine how complex the required dental movements are, and decide whether they would require comprehensive treatment. Considering that a simple approximation indicates that 2 mm of space must be created to retract the incisal edges by about 1 mm, usually 1 mm per side to maintain midline alignment, an astute practitioner will decide whether a combination of IPR and proclination of the lower incisors would achieve esthetic placement of the teeth and facilitate placement of well-proportioned anterior teeth.

2.6 Skeletal Analysis

2.6.1 Cephalometric Analysis

Orthodontists frequently use cephalometric radiographs to diagnose the skeletal pattern by assessing the position of the maxilla and the mandible in relation to the





cranial base and in relation to each other. Cephalometric radiographs are also used to evaluate the angular inclination and the position of the incisors. There are many reported analyses that use different references. For example, Steiner's analysis uses the nasion to A point (Na-A) line as a reference to measure the incisal angulation of the maxillary incisors and to determine the anterior–posterior position (Fig. 2.26). The Na-A line forms an angle by intersecting with the maxillary incisor long axis,





which will determine the amount of proclination or retroclination of the maxillary incisor. The Na-A line is also used to measure the distance from the incisal edge to the same line to assess the anterior-posterior position, which is how much protrusion or retrusion the maxillary incisors have.

The optimal positioning and angulation of the maxillary incisors as described previously depend upon optimal facial skeletal relationships. Protrusion or retrusion of the maxilla and/or mandible compared to each other leads to different angulations to accommodate the skeletal pattern.

For example, in a so-called class II relationship, the patient will exhibit various degrees of maxillary incisor retroclination and mandibular incisor proclination. The opposite is true for skeletal cl III (Fig. 2.27); the maxillary incisors are proclined, while the mandibular incisors are retroclined. It is not unusual to find this pattern of dental adaptation in skeletal cl II and cl III patterns, which is known as dental compensation for skeletal discrepancy.

2.6.2 Moorrees Mesh Analysis

Cephalometric measurements, however, can be misleading if interpreted in absolute terms. Some have found that proportion analyses, such as the mesh diagram suggested by Moorrees using the "natural head position," better reflect the facial morphology. It is a reproducible orientation of the head in space when an individual is focusing on a distant point at eye level, for example, the horizon line. One then considers a hypothetical plumb line in front of the face as the "true vertical" line and a line perpendicular to it as the "true horizontal." Moorrees elaborated on the work by de Coster to conceive the mesh analysis which is based on proportions and graphically displays the results (Fig. 2.28). **Fig. 2.24** Class II division 1 malocclusion with crowding in the maxillary arch. Note that unraveling the crowding will create a significant overjet or significant tooth substance will have to be removed



2.7 Space Analysis

Space analysis is an integral part of a patient's comprehensive diagnosis. Space analysis provides a numeric estimate of whether the available space is deficient or excessive. Most common teeth alignment problems result from crowding due to



Fig. 2.25 Attempting to align the teeth in cl II div 2, without addressing the skeletal discrepancy or the malocclusion, will unravel severe overjet

Fig. 2.26 Measuring maxillary incisor inclination using Steiner analysis of the lateral cephalometric radiograph. Incisor inclination is measured by the intersection of the Na-A line with the incisor's long axis (both lines marked in red). Maxillary incisor inclination can also be measured in reference to S–N line



space deficiency. About 29% of White Americans have an ideal alignment scored on the mandibular irregularity index [63]. The rest have varying degree of irregularity from mild to severe.

To align crowded teeth, space analysis is required (Fig. 2.29). Managing the space and aligning the teeth could be complex when there is a skeletal discrepancy, missing teeth, or tooth-size discrepancy [64, 65]. These cases require collaborative work among dental professionals [66]. In cases with space issues without tooth-size discrepancy, orthodontic alignment might be sufficient to resolve the issue [67].

Ever since the dawn of specialty, orthodontic practitioners have usually chosen their therapeutic appliances carefully and focused on their perceived functional Fig. 2.27 Determining ideal inclination of maxillary and mandibular incisors depends on the skeletal pattern. In this untreated skeletal cl III case, we notice the increased proclination of the maxillary incisors and the retroclination of the mandibular incisors. This phenomenon is known as dental compensation for skeletal discrepancy



49

Fig. 2.28 Moorrees mesh analysis that uses the individual's proportions as reference. In this example, the mesh indicates that the patient has protruded maxillary incisors, retrognathic mandible, and protrusive lips





Fig. 2.29 (a) Alignment of crowded teeth requires space analysis. (b) Based on the analysis and facial appearance, crowding can be resolved by expansion or reducing tooth mass by extraction or interproximal reduction

outcomes and side effects intrinsic within their design to achieve optimal occlusal and esthetic results. Moreover, the therapeutic reliability and predictability of fixed labial orthodontic appliances have evolved to become the standard for assessing the efficacy of treating malocclusions whenever any other treatment modalities might be considered. However, in recent decades, the rapid demand and preference for esthetic, or "minimally visible," orthodontic appliances by the patient may have inadvertently led to alternative treatment plans that ignore previously tested and accepted optimal treatment objectives.

Esthetic orthodontic appliances, most notably lingual appliances and clear aligners, were initially used to treat malocclusions in a limited fashion, i.e., anterior crowding in adult patients. In time, such appliances evolved and improved so that comprehensive management of more involved malocclusion became possible, so much so that esthetic appliances are now being used to treat malocclusions in adolescents as well. The relative newness of these esthetic appliances has created a dearth of literature substantiating their effectiveness and therapeutic outcomes, as much of the claims lack objectivity.

Reports available document that both types of appliances, lingual and aligners, rely heavily on expansion of the dental arches and on the use of interproximal reduction (IPR) of the dental enamel to solve dental crowding.

While these appliances arguably may have esthetic advantages that certainly may enhance patient compliance and, in the case of clear aligners, may actually reduce the hygienic/periodontal risk factors common to fixed appliances, what compromises are accepted in using such appliances? In essence, should therapeutic standards be lowered when patients request specific appliances?

Among most prevalent types of malocclusions, dental practitioner will focus on the treatment of dental crowding, class II malocclusions, and deep overbite. One will assume that proper diagnosis was drawn using comprehensive clinical examination in conjunction with obtaining appropriate records.

2.7.1 Methods of Space Analysis

2.7.1.1 Space Analysis

Space analysis is accomplished by comparing the available space in the arch and the space needed to ideally align the teeth (Fig. 2.30). Space available is calculated by drawing a virtual line where the teeth will be. The space needed is calculated by summing the total width of the teeth. The difference between the available space and the needed space will determine arch space discrepancies. Space deficiency is determined when the available space is less than the total teeth mass, as seen in crowding cases. On the other hand, space excess occurs when the available space is larger than the teeth mass, as seen in spacing cases.

2.7.1.2 Bolton Analysis

Evaluation of size discrepancy between maxillary and mandibular teeth should be routinely conducted to achieve an ideal relationship between maxillary and mandibular teeth. Unaddressed tooth-size discrepancy can prevent achieving an ideal overbite, overjet, and perfect interdigitation. According to Bolton, approximately 30% of the cases overall had tooth-size discrepancy of more than 1.5 mm.

Bolton analysis is performed to predict size discrepancy between maxillary and mandibular teeth [68]. Overall, a Bolton analysis is calculated by comparing the summation mesiodistal widths of all 12 mandibular and 12 maxillary teeth (first molar-first molar) (Fig. 2.31). The anterior Bolton ratio is calculated by measuring the width of anterior teeth (canine–canine).

 $Overall Bolton ratio = \frac{The sum widths of all 12 mandibular teeth}{The sum widths of all 12 maxillary teeth} \times 100$

Anterior Bolton ratio = $\frac{\text{The sum widths of all 6 anterior mandibular teeth}}{\text{The sum widths of all 6 anterior maxillary teeth}} \times 100$



Fig. 2.30 Space analysis is the different between space available (in red) in figure (**a**) and space required; the sum of teeth widths (in blue) (**b**)



Fig. 2.31 Bolton analysis is calculated by the sum widths of the mandibular teeth (a), divided by the sum widths of the maxillary teeth (b)

The overall ratio is considered normal when it is 91.3%. An overall ratio that is bigger than 91.3% indicates that there is either an excess in mandibular teeth mass or a deficiency in maxillary teeth mass. An overall ratio that is smaller than 91.3% indicates maxillary teeth excess or mandibular deficiency.

The ideal anterior Bolton ratio is 77.2%. When the ratio is higher, it is expected to have an excess in mandibular anterior teeth or a deficiency in maxillary anterior teeth. The most common example of tooth-size discrepancy occurs in cases with peg laterals. The opposite is also true: when the anterior ratio is lower than 77.2%, it indicates that there is an excess in maxillary anterior teeth or a deficiency in mandibular anterior teeth.

With the technological advancement of the available tools, virtual orthodontic movement simulation enables visualization of space distribution and dental inclination (Fig. 2.32). This is very effective visual tool to be used among the dental professional communications in managing multidisciplinary cases.

Crowding

Two major treatment strategies can be considered to achieve the alignment of teeth in the dental arches:

- 1. Reduction of dental units, whether by enamel reduction or extraction of dental units when the space requirement is excessive.
- 2. Expansion of the dental arches (anteroposteriorly and transversely) (Fig. 2.33).

Without entering the extraction–non-extraction debate, it appears that practitioners using clear aligners or lingual appliances tend to avoid prescribing extractions, thereby resorting to using expansion and/or interproximal reduction of teeth, often in combination. This has partially occurred due to the perception that one of the advantages in using these appliances is that they lend themselves readily to the expansion of the dental arches—perhaps as it may be easier to do—than to do otherwise (extract), but where is the evidence? And how stable are the results in performing this expansion? As will be demonstrated later, the practitioner should measure



Fig. 2.32 Virtual treatment planning of space distribution can be done with various options available in the market. This facilitates communications among the dental professional. In this example it was done with ClinCheck software from Align Tech. (a) The teeth position at the start. (b) The desired teeth position after space redistribution

the amount of crowding in the dental arches before resorting to either enamel reduction, arch expansion, or a combination of both.

Enamel Reduction

Since Sheridan [69] first advocated for systematic proximal enamel reduction as a way of creating space for treating crowding teeth, practitioners have frequently embraced this approach in lieu of prescribing extractions. However, several publications have confirmed that teeth with enamel reductions were not more likely to exhibit caries compared to intact teeth [70–72]. One may question this systematic approach for the patients' dental health in the long run. One major concern with regard to IPR is its irreversibility. Although the first practitioner may perform IPR safely and conservatively to treat crowding, the same patient may seek re-treatment in the future if the initial correction did not lead to stable results. More than likely, astute clinicians will be able to detect evidence of previous IPR; however,

the previous enamel thickness will ultimately never be known. Re-treatment using the same protocol may now become iatrogenic if the layer of remaining enamel becomes even more compromised—leading to more sensitivity and further increasing the risk for decay.

Previous investigations (Stroud, English, and Buschang, 1998) [73] (Table 2.1) revealed that the total enamel thickness from the mesial surface of the first mandibular premolar to the distal surface of the second molar is on average less than 9.0 mm (± 1 mm) per side if one does not consider the distal surface of the second molar. Therefore, one could conclude that removing 50% of enamel on these surfaces could create about 10 mm of space in the lower arch. However, one should notice that the minimal enamel thickness recorded was substantially less than the mean measurements and patients with thin enamel would thereby be at risk.



Fig. 2.33 Resolution of crowding through expansion. (a) An example of crowded case with space deficiency. (b) This can be solved by expansion in anterior-posterior as in this example or transverse dimension (widening the arch)

Tooth	Aspect	Mean	SD	Min	Max
First premolar	М	0.99	0.21	0.49	1.65
	D	1.07	0.23	0.54	1.49
Second premolar	М	1.19	0.21	0.61	1.63
	D	1.22	0.22	0.60	1.78
First molar	М	1.28	0.23	0.74	1.87
	D	1.40	0.25	0.70	2.17
Second molar	М	1.29	0.20	0.94	1.84
	D	1.48	0.26	0.95	2.33
Total	М	4.67	0.59	3.64	6.56
	D	5.11	0.70	3.74	6.41

 Table 2.1
 Mesial (M) and distal (D) enamel thickness (mm) of the mandibular dentition (sexes combined)

From: Enamel thickness of the posterior dentition: Its implications for nonextraction treatment. JL Stroud, J English, PH Buschang, Angle Orthod 1998. Note the variations in enamel thickness from tooth to tooth

Therefore, one should consider IPR as a strategy only for space creation in true borderline cases and only after having checked enamel thickness of the teeth with intraoral radiographs—preferably bitewings [74]. In such instances where IPR is possible, it should be kept at an absolute minimum [75, 76]. If IPR is not advisable, practitioners should consider extraction of dental unit(s) to resolve crowding without excessive dental arch expansion and should suggest patients use lingual appliances instead of clear aligners for enhanced control of dental movements.

Dental Arch Expansion

A dental arch can be expanded both laterally and anteroposteriorly. The usual target is the maxillary arch, mostly because the mandibular teeth fit within the maxillary teeth and any attempt to expand the mandibular arch is limited by the occlusion with the maxillary teeth to avoid the creation of a crossbite. Stability of the dental expansion should be a consideration when expanding dental arches, and the patient should be advised to use retainers to maintain the corrections.

Lateral expansion in the maxillary arch has gained popularity, mainly for the perceived favorable effect on the width of the buccal corridors.

In the absence of crossbite, dental expansion will create space, but somewhat limited. According to Adkins, Nanda, and Currier (1990), expansion with a fixed rapid palatal expander creates about 0.7 mm of space for every millimeter of net expansion at the premolar area, a little bit more when expanding the canines, but only about 0.25 mm of space for every millimeter of expansion at the level of the molars (Fig. 2.34). One should, therefore, expect a more limited space creation by lateral expansion, although there might still be some benefit in reducing the perceived width of the buccal corridors by exposing more of the premolars.

When considering expansion in the mandibular arch, the practitioner should consider the following principles:



Fig. 2.34 Expansion should be taken with caution as it has limitations. In this case, (**a**) before expansion and (**b**) after expansion, note that inter-canine distance was increased 1.7 mm, interpremolar distance was increased 4 mm, and intermolar distance was increased 4 mm. Compare the crowding in both arches, you can observe that despite the resultant expansion, the present crowding did not significantly improve

- 1. More than 2 mm of mandibular canine expansion is considered unstable and prone to relapse.
- 2. There is less expansion in the molar area, usually leading to very little space gain.

Anterior–posterior expansion can add space gain, e.g., by proclination of the incisors. A reasonable estimation is the creation of about 2 mm of space for each millimeter of incisor proclination. In that instance, esthetic considerations are important. How much proclination of the maxillary incisors is tolerable for smile esthetics? Finally, one could count on some space gain when distalizing maxillary molars, although it might be advisable not to seek full class II correction on adult patients.

Crowding and Gingival Black Triangles

Black triangles compromise the smile appearance. Kokich et al. reported that dentists and laypeople find that black triangles that exceed 3 mm to be unattractive [77].

The formation of black triangles is multifactorial in nature [78, 79]. Some of these factors are related to the dental morphology like the interproximal space, the gap between the interproximal contact point and the alveolar bone, and the crown shape. Some factors are related to the patient age, gingival biotype, and existence of periodontal disease [72].

A study predicts that 15% of patients who had orthodontic treatment for crowding in maxillary incisors could develop black triangles after aligning their teeth [80]. Fig. 2.35 demonstrates a case that started with mild crowding and incisor overlap.

After orthodontic alignment of the teeth, the patient developed black triangles.

This was resolved by recontouring the teeth by interproximal reduction; this creates broader contact area. This is followed by moving the teeth closer. It is worth noting that the alignment of crowded teeth does not cause papilla loss. It is rather that papilla was lost between the overlapped teeth and it is only noticeable after straightening the teeth.

There are various methods to manage gingival black triangles, based on the etiology: can be treated with surgery [81], injecting the gingival tissue with hyaluronic acid (HA) [82], and reshaping the tooth to have broader contact with restoration [83] or orthodontically [74].

Spacing

Occasionally, one must reduce excessive spacing in the dental arches. A differential diagnosis will reveal the etiology of such condition. One should consider tooth size, protrusion of the teeth, and, of course, the presence of an excessive arch perimeter.

Depending on the severity, one may elect to retrocline the anterior teeth and/ or distribute spaces to optimize the esthetic outcome regarding tooth size and proportion.

Closing spaces necessitates reversing the thinking applied to space creation. Retroclination of the anterior teeth may be flawed both esthetically—teeth are too upright—and physically when the dental arches are too constricted and interfere with tongue space.



Fig. 2.35 (a) Pretreatment, patient presented with mild crowding and incisor overlap. (b) Patient developed black triangles after aligning her teeth with orthodontic treatment. It is worth noting that the papilla between the maxillary incisors did not shrink; the papilla preexisting shape was unraveled after eliminating the dental overlap and crowding. (c) Black triangles in this case were managed by recontouring the interproximal surfaces to create broader interproximal contact, followed by orthodontic movement that brought the teeth closer. Black triangle development and management



Fig. 2.36 Patient had wide arches with generalized excessive spacing. Due to patient facial appearance and the inclination of her teeth, the case was treated with space consolidation into one space in each quadrant, followed by additional premolar implants

Occasionally, excessive spacing can lead to space consolidation and creation of space for an additional premolar in each quadrant (Fig. 2.36).

Managing the dental spaces should only be attempted after conducting space analysis, Bolton analysis, and skeletal diagnosis (Fig. 2.37). Patient had spacings in maxillary and mandibular arches. Bolton analysis revealed an estimated 4 mm of mandibular excess; this is critical in space management; to completely close the spaces without affecting the occlusion, patient can either get a restorative treatment to increase the width of maxillary incisors or reduce the mandibular space by interproximal reduction, which is what was done in this case.



Fig. 2.37 (a) Patient present with maxillary and mandibular spacing. (b) The digital model of the case. (c-i and c-ii) Bolton analysis reveals overall mandibular excess that is estimated to be 4 mm. (d) Despite having spaces in the mandibular arch, interproximal reduction (IPR) was planned to address the Bolton discrepancy. (e) The planned final position of the teeth. (f) The patient after space closure and (IPR) performance on the mandibular anterior teeth. Space analysis and dental ratio of upper and lower teeth should be done on every case, even in cases with spacing. This example demonstrates that despite having extra spaces, IPR was planned and performed to address the Bolton discrepancy. Not addressing this discrepancy results in compromised occlusion or incomplete space closure of the upper teeth



Fig. 2.37 (continued)

Treatment of cases with dental spacing and small or peg maxillary lateral incisors is done collaboratively between the restorative dentist and the orthodontist. The restorative dentist will plan the final position of the teeth for maximum esthetics, while conserving tooth structure. The orthodontist will plan the teeth movement accordingly; Fig. 2.38 is an example of a case that had orthodontic space



Fig. 2.38 (a) Case with maxillary spacing and peg lateral incisors. (b) The case was orthodontically treated to distribute spaces and with esthetics for veneers

distribution according to the restorative dentist plan and then received veneers at the end of the treatment.

The management of maxillary peg lateral incisors in cases with crowding and skeletal discrepancy should be planned by a team of dental professionals that include restorative dentist, orthodontist, and surgeon. Patient in Fig. 2.39 has skeletal cl III, anterior and posterior crossbite, crowding, missing lower incisor, and peg maxillary lateral incisors. Planning this case was a collective effort from various dental specialists. The restorative dentist planned the appropriate space for the lateral incisor buildup. The final position of both jaws and the teeth and the inclination of the incisors were designed by the orthodontist and the surgeon.

Treatment options for cases with missing maxillary lateral incisors include creating a space to replace the missing teeth or close the space and substitute the canines for the missing lateral incisors. Some of the determining factors include facial appearance, occlusion, skeletal pattern, and tooth and root morphology. Fig. 2.40 is an example of a missing maxillary lateral and a peg lateral. The patient has cl II div 2 malocclusion; this warrants that the attempts to replace the missing tooth would worsen the cl II occlusion (increases OJ, procline upper incisors). These cases are indicated for canine substitution for better looking smile and occlusion. In this case, the patient was treated by extracting the peg lateral incisor, correcting the midline shift and the end-on occlusion, and improving overbite and overjet.

Facial appearance and smile are another important consideration in deciding the appropriate treatment for missing lateral incisors. Figure 2.41 is a case with congenitally missing lateral incisors. The lips are in retrusive position compared to the E-plane. Also, the nasal-labial angle is obtuse. This shifts the treatment decision toward opening the space and replacing the missing teeth. Closing the space for



Fig. 2.39 (a) Comprehensive case before treatment. (b) Following orthodontic and orthognathic surgery. (c) Lateral cephalometric radiograph before treatment. (d) Lateral cephalometric radiograph following orthodontic treatment and orthognathic surgery. Multidisciplinary case management of adult patient presented with cl III skeletal pattern, anterior and posterior crossbite, crowding, and missing lower incisor and peg maxillary lateral incisors. Patient received orthodontic treatment and orthognathic surgery. The patient is ready to receive restorative treatment to the maxillary peg lateral incisors; the space is designed based on the restorative dentist plan







Fig. 2.40 (a) A case with missing maxillary right lateral incisor, peg left lateral incisors, and deviated midline as a result. The patient has skeletal cl II pattern and cl II div 2 malocclusion. (b) The patient after receiving treatment with extraction of the peg lateral incisor and bilateral canine substitution. Management of missing and peg lateral incisors depends on the patient skeletal pattern. Treatment with substitution of maxillary lateral incisor was chosen based on the occlusion (cl II). Opening space to replace the missing maxillary right lateral incisor would result in compromised occlusion, with worsening of cl II appearance



Fig. 2.41 Management of missing lateral incisors depends on patient soft tissue (smile, lip position, and profile). The patient's lips were retrusive in relation to the E-plane. The nasolabial angle is obtuse. For this, patient was treated with opening the space of the missing maxillary lateral incisors for implants. Lateral substitution would have resulted in compromised facial and smile appearance

canine substitution without addressing the appearance of the soft tissue results in unattractive compromised result.

2.8 Conclusions

Orthodontic treatment in preparation for esthetic dental treatment requires accurate diagnosis and effective communication, if needed, between practitioners to determine and agree upon the final position of the maxillary incisors and space management within the dental arches. Analysis of the face, skeletal pattern, and arch space is critical in managing comprehensive cases. One should also keep in mind that IPR is an irreversible procedure that limits enamel in cases of future treatment.

References

- 1. Bzdok D, et al. ALE meta-analysis on facial judgments of trustworthiness and attractiveness. Brain Struct Funct. 2011;215:209–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-010-0287-4.
- Hahn AC, Perrett DI. Neural and behavioral responses to attractiveness in adult and infant faces. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2014;46:591–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.08.015.
- Laurentini A, Bottino A. Computer analysis of face beauty: a survey. Comput Vis Image Underst. 2014;125:184–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cviu.2014.04.006.
- Little AC. Facial attractiveness. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci. 2014;5:621–34. https://doi. org/10.1002/wcs.1316.
- Thornhill R, Gangestad SW. Facial attractiveness. Trends Cogn Sci. 1999;3:452–60. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(99)01403-5.

- 6. "Annual plastic surgery procedural statistics" by American Society of Plastic surgeon, 2017.
- Spear FM, Kokich VG, Mathews DP. Interdisciplinary management of anterior dental esthetics. JADA. 2006;137. http://jada.ada.org
- Kokich VG, Spear FM. Guidelines for managing the orthodontic-restorative patient. Semin Orthod. 1997;3:3–20.
- 9. Karaca Saygili O, Cinar S, Gulcen B, Ozcan E, Kus I. The validity of eight neoclassical facial canons in the Turkish adults. Folia Morphol (Warsz). 2016;75(4):512–7.
- 10. Hulsey CM. An esthetic evaluation of tooth-lip relationships present in smile. Am J Orthod. 1970;57:132–44.
- 11. Vig RG, Brundo GC. The kinetics of anterior tooth display. J Prosthet Dent. 1978;39:502-4.
- Ackerman MB, Brensinger C, Landis JR. An evaluation of dynamic lip-tooth characteristics during speech and smile in adolescents. Angle Orthod. 2004;74(1):43–50.
- Ker AJ, Chan R, Fields HW, Beck M, Rosenstiel S. Esthetics and smile characteristics from the layperson's perspective: a computer-based survey study. J Am Dent Assoc. 2008;139(10):1318–27.
- 14. Springer NC, Chang C, Fields HW, Beck FM, Firestone AR, Rosenstiel S, Christensen JC. Smile esthetics from the layperson's perspective. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2011;139(1):e91–e101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2010.06.019.
- O'Connor RV. The exciting world of interdisciplinary dentistry. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2000;20:334–5.
- Spear FM, Kokich VG. A multidisciplinary approach to esthetic dentistry. Dent Clin N Am. 2007;51:487–505.
- 17. Keim RG. The art of interdisciplinary teamwork. J Clin Orthod. 2013;74:513-4.
- Salama H, Salama MA, Li TF, Garber DA, Adar P. Treatment planning 2000: an esthetically oriented revision of the original implant protocol. J Esthet Dent. 1997;9:55–67.
- Genco RJ, Genco FD. Common risk factors in the management of periodontal and associated systemic diseases: the dental setting and interprofessional collaboration. J Evid Based Dent Pract. 2014;14(Suppl):4–16.
- Klasser GD, Gremillion HA. Past, present, and future of predoctoral dental education in orofacial pain and TMDs: a call for interprofessional education. J Dent Educ. 2013;77:395–400.
- Kokich V. Esthetics and anterior tooth position: an orthodontic perspective, part II: vertical position. J Esthet Dent. 1993;5(4):174–8.
- Kokich VG, Spear FM, Kokich VO. Maximizing anterior esthetics: an interdisciplinary approach. In: JA Jr MN, editor. Frontiers in dental and facial esthetics. Ann Arbor, MI: Needham Press; 2001. p. 1–18.
- 23. Spear F. Construction and use of a surgical guide for anterior periodontal surgery. Contemp Esthet Restor Pract. 1999:12–20.
- 24. Mack MR. Perspective of facial esthetics in dental treatment planning. J Prosth Dent. 1996;75:169–76.
- 25. Proffit WR. The soft tissue paradigm in orthodontic diagnosis and treatment planning: a new view for a new century. J Esthet Dent. 2000;12:46–9.
- Perrett DI, May KA, Yoshikawa S. Facial shape and judgments of female attractiveness. Nature. 1994;368:239–242.
- 27. Rhodes G, Carey S, Byatt G, Proffitt F. Coding spatial variations in faces and simple shapes: a test of two models. Vision Res. 1998;38(15–16):2307–21.
- 28. Burusapat C, Lekdaeng P. What is the Most beautiful facial proportion in the 21st century? Comparative study among miss universe, Miss Universe Thailand, Neoclassical Canons, and facial Golden ratios. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2019;7(2):e2044.
- Anand S, Tripathi S, Chopra A, Khaneja K, Agarwal S. Vertical and horizontal proportions of the face and their correlation to phi among Indians in Moradabad population: a survey. J Indian Prosthodont Soc. 2015;15(2):125–30.
- Porter JP, Olson KL. Anthropometric facial analysis of the African American woman. Arch Facial Plast Surg. 2001;3(3):191–7.
- 31. Klein AW. In search of the perfect lip: 2005. Dermatol Surg. 2005;31:1599-603.
- 32. Naylor CK. Esthetic treatment planning: the grid analysis system. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2002;14(2):76–84.

- Van der Geld PA, van Waas MA. The smile line: a literature search [in Dutch]. Ned Tijdschr Tandheelkd. 2003;110:350–4.
- Chiche G, Kokich V, Caudill R. Diagnosis and treatment planning of esthetic problems. In: Pinault A, Chiche G, editors. Esthetics in fixed prosthodontics. Chicago: Quintessence; 1994.
- 35. Frush JO, Fisher RD. The dysesthetic interpretation of the dentogenic concept. J Prosthet Dent. 1958;8:558.
- Gillen RJ, Schwartz RS, Hilton TJ, Evans DB. An analysis of selected normative tooth proportions. Int J Prosthodont. 1994;7:410–7.
- Sterrett JD, Oliver T, Robinson F, Fortson W, Knaak B, Russell CM. Width/length rations of normal clinical crowns of the maxillary anterior dentition in man. J Clin Periodontol. 1999;26(3):153–7.
- Wolfart S, Thormann H, Freitag S, Kern M. Assessment of dental appearance following changes in incisor proportions. Eur J Oral Sci. 2005;113(3):159–65.
- 39. Kokich VG. Esthetics: the ortho-perio-restorative connection. Semin Orthod. 1996;2(1):21-30.
- Kokich VG, Kokich VO. Orthodontic therapy for the periodontal restorative patient. In: Rose L, Mealey B, Genco R, Cohen D, editors. Periodontics: medicine, surgery, and implants. St. Louis: Mosby-Elsevier; 2004. p. 718–44.
- Kokich VG. Anterior dental esthetics: an orthodontic perspective I: crown length. J Esthet Dent. 1993;5:19–23.
- 42. Kokich VG. Esthetics and vertical tooth position: the orthodontic possibilities. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 1997;18:1225–31.
- 43. Kokich VG. Managing orthodontic-restorative treatment for the adolescent patient. In: McNamara Jr JA, editor. Orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics. Ann Arbor, MI: Needham Press; 2001. p. 395–422.
- 44. Spear F, Kokich VG, Mathews D. An interdisciplinary case report. Esthet Interdisc Dent. 2005;1(2):12–8.
- Lopez-Gavito G, Wallen TR, Little RM, Joondeph DR. Anterior open-bite malocclusion: a longitudinal 10-year postretention evaluation of orthodontically treated patients. Am J Orthod. 1985;87(3):175–86.
- 46. de Mol van Otterloo JJ, Tuinzing DB, Kostense P. Inferior positioning of the maxilla by a Le fort I osteotomy: a review of 25 patients with vertical maxillary deficiency. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 1996;24(2):69–77.
- Major PW, Phillippson GE, Glover KE, Grace MG. Stability of maxilla downgrafting after rigid or wire fixation. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1996;54:1287–91.
- Costa F, Robiony M, Zerman N, Zorzan E, Politi M. Bone biological plate for stabilization of maxillary inferior repositioning. Minerva Stomatol. 2005;54:227–36.
- 49. Emerich-Poplatek K, Sawicki L, Bodal M, Adamowicz-Klepalska B. Forced eruption after crown/root fracture with a simple and aesthetic method using the fractured crown. Dent Traumatol. 2005;21(3):165–9.
- Koyuturk AE, Malkoc S. Orthodontic extrusion of subgingivally fractured incisor before restoration: a case report—3-years follow-up. Dent Traumatol. 2005;21(3):174–8.
- Spear F. When to restore, when to remove. Insight Innovation. 2001:29–37. www.seattleinstitute.com/content/articles/B%26WWhentoRestoreWhentoRemove.pdf. Accessed Jan. 5, 2006
- 52. Kokich VO, Kiyak AH, Shapiro PA. Comparing the perception of dentists and lay people p altered dental smile esthetics. J Esthet Dent. 1999;11:311–24.
- 53. Beyer JW, Lindauer SJ. Evaluation of dental midline position. Semin Orthod. 1998;4(3):146–52.
- 54. Kokich VO, Kiyak HA, Shapiro PA. Comparing the perception of dentists and lay people to altered dental esthetics. J Esthet Dent. 1999;11:311–24.
- Thomas JL, Hayes C, Zawaideh S. The effect of axial midline angulation on dental esthetics. Angle Orthod. 2003;73:359–64.
- Kokich VG. Esthetics and anterior tooth position: an orthodontic perspective, part III: mediolateral relationships. J Esthet Dent. 1993;5:200–7.
- 57. Spear FM. The esthetic correction of anterior dental malalignment: conventional vs. instant (restorative) orthodontics. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2004;32(2):133–41.
- Springer NC, Chang C, Fields HW, et al. Smile esthetics from the layperson's perspective. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2011;139:e91–e101.

- 59. Springer NC, Chang C, Fields HW, et al. Smile esthetics from the layperson's perspective. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2011;139:e91–e101.
- lination of the incisors Littlefield K. A review of the literature of selected cephalometric analyses. St. Louis: University Press; 1992.
- 61. Rufenacht C. Fundamentals of esthetics. Carol Stream, IL: Quintessence; 1990.
- Kokich VG, Kokich VO. Interrelationship of orthodontics with periodontics and restorative dentistry. In: Nanda R, editor. Biomechanics and esthetic strategies in clinical orthodontics. St. Louis: Elsevier; 2005. p. 348–73.
- 63. Asiri SN, Tadlock LP, Buschang PH. The prevalence of clinically meaningful malocclusion among US adults. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2019;22:321–328.
- 64. Kokich VG, Spear FM. Guidelines for managing the orthodontic-restorative patient. Semin Orthod. 1997;3:3–20.
- Bidra AS, Uribe F. Preprosthetic orthodontic intervention for management of a partially edentulous patient with generalized wear and malocclusion. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2012;24:88–100.
- Janakievski J, Kokich VO, Kinzer G. Interdisciplinary collaboration: an approach to optimize outcomes for patients with compromised dental esthetics. Int J Esthet Dent. 2015;10(2):302–31.
- Bolton WA. Disharmony in tooth size and its relation to the analysis and treatment of malocclusion. Angle Orthod. 1958;28:113–39.
- Bolton W. Disharmony in tooth size and its relation to treatment of malocclusion. Angle Orthod. 1958;28:113.
- 69. Sheridan JJ. Air-rotor stripping. J. Clin. Orthod. 1985;19(1):43-59.
- Jarjoura G. Nieberg caries risk after interproximal enamel reduction. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2006;130:26.
- Zachrisson BU, Nyoygaard L, Mobarak K. Dental health assessed more than 10 years after interproximal enamel reduction of mandibular incisor teeth. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2007;131:162–9.
- Koretsi V, Chatzigianni A, Sidiropoulu. Enamel roughness and incidence of caries after interproximal enamel reduction: a systematic review. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2014;17:1.
- Stroud JL, English J, Buschang PH. Enamel thickness of the posterior dentition: its implications for non extraction treatment. Angle Orthod. 1998;68:141–146.
- 74. Sarig R, Vardimon AD, Sussan C, Benny L, Sarne O, Hershkovitz I, Shpack N. Pattern of maxillary and mandibular proximal enamel thickness at the contact area of the permanent dentition from first molar to first molar. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2015;147(4):435–44.
- Zachrisson BU, Nyøygaard L, Mobarak K. Dental health assessed more than 10 years after interproximal enamel reduction of mandibular anterior teeth. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007;131(2):162–9.
- 76. Koretsi, V, Chatzigianni A, Sidiropoulou S. Enamel roughness and incidence of caries after interproximal enamel reduction: a systematic review Orthod Craniofac Res. 2014;17:1–13
- 77. Kokich V, Kiyak A, Shapiro P. Comparing the perception of dentists and lay people to altered dental aesthetics. J Esthet Dent. 2005;1:311–24.
- Chen MC, Liao YF, Chan CP, Ku YC, Pan WL, Tu YK. Factors influencing the presence of interproximal dental papillae between maxillary anterior teeth. J Periodontol. 2010;81:318–24.
- Zoahosseini P, Hussain F, Millar BJ. Management of gingival black triangles. BDJ. 2014;217:559–63.
- Burke S, Burch J, Tetz J. Incidence and size of pretreatment overlap and post-treatment gingival embrasure space between maxillary central incisors. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 1994;105:506–11.
- Seibert J, Lindhe J. Esthetics and periodontal therapy: textbook of clinical periodontology. 2nd ed. Copenhagen: Munksgaard; 1989.
- 82. Becker W, Gabitov I, Stepanov M, Kois J, Smidt A, Becker B. Minimally invasive treatment for papillae deficiencies in the aesthetic zone: a pilot study. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2010;12:1–8.
- Bichacho N. Papilla regeneration by noninvasive prosthodontic treatment: segmental proximal restorations. Pract Periodontics Aesthet Dent. 1998;10(75):77–8.



3

Periodontal Considerations in Esthetic Dentistry

David Montalvo-Arias

Contents

3.1	Introd	uction	67
3.2	Periodontal Tissues in Health.		
	3.2.1	The Dentogingival Unit and the Biologic Width	69
	3.2.2	Clinical Features of Healthy Gingiva.	71
	3.2.3	Periodontal Biotype.	71
	3.2.4	Esthetic Gingival Disposition	72
3.3	Esthetic Periodontal Problems.		
	3.3.1	Gingival Inflammation and Tissue Loss due to Periodontal Disease	75
	3.3.2	Violation of the Biologic Width	76
	3.3.3	Excessive Gingival Display	78
	3.3.4	Gingival Recessions.	85
3.4	.4 Conclusions.		89
Refe	erences.		90

3.1 Introduction

The final esthetic outcome when designing a smile will be strongly influenced by the appearance of the soft tissues surrounding the teeth or the restorations. Color, shape, texture, and thickness of the gingival tissues are just few examples of the factors that will influence the result of our treatment. In addition, how these tissues are related to other structures like teeth, lips, and face are of a great importance when we talk about the smile as an esthetic composition (Fig. 3.1).

In order to achieve a balanced and predictable esthetically pleasant result, special efforts have to be made by all the components in the diagram: esthetic dentists, technicians, specialists, and patients. Everyone plays an important role that must be guided by proper communication between all the team members (Fig. 3.2).

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

D. Montalvo-Arias (🖂)

Private practice, Apa Aesthetic and Cosmetic Dental Center LLC, Dubai, UAE

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_3


Fig. 3.2 Communication between all the team members, patient included, is a key factor to achieve the desired final result

The final evaluation of the restorative treatment should be judged not only by esthetic and functional criteria but also by anticipating the biologic effect that those restorations will have on the periodontal structures. Knowing the normal anatomy of the dentogingival complex may initially prevent violation of the basic principles. That will help us recognize the point where physiological tolerance may shift to inflammatory reaction. Understanding this has an important role in the long-term prognosis of the proposed treatment.

It is very important to realize how the restoration contributes to the accumulation of plaque and periodontal disease. Poorly designed restorations provide good support for plaque accumulation; therefore, more chances of periodontal problems will be created by the dentist.

Initial periodontal therapy and efficient plaque control have to be addressed before initiating any esthetic restorative procedure; otherwise soft tissue defects may become more apparent as gingival shrinkage occurs after the resolution of the inflammation.

3.2 Periodontal Tissues in Health

3.2.1 The Dentogingival Unit and the Biologic Width

The physiologic dentogingival unit (DGU) has been described as the anatomic and functional complex formed by the gingival margin, the sulcus, the junctional epithelium, and the connective tissue attachment. Its main role is to anatomically attach the gingiva to the tooth. It is composed of an epithelial and a connective tissue compartment.

In the epithelial compartment, three types of anatomically distinct epithelia have been described associated with the dentogingival unit. The first one, gingival epithelium, consists of stratified squamous keratinized epithelium which is continuous at the gingival crest with the second type, stratified nonkeratinized or para-keratinized epithelium. Sulcular epithelium represents the soft tissue wall of the gingival sulcus facing the tooth but not attaching to it and is continuous at the base of the sulcus with the junctional epithelium or the epithelial attachment. Junctional epithelium forms a collar around the tooth, and the surface cells provide the actual attachment of gingiva to the tooth surface.

In the connective tissue compartment of the dentogingival unit, we find the fibrous attachment of the gingiva to the hard tissue wall that also gives support to the epithelium of the dentogingival junction. Gingival collagen fibers will provide fibrous connective tissue attachment to the root surface, maintaining the functional integrity of the teeth and its gingival collar. The most important groups of fiber bundles that compose this gingival unit are dento-gingival, alveolo-gingival, dento-periosteal, trans-septal, circular/semicircular, and inter-papillary fiber bundles.

These components have been described with specific constant numbers in the scientific literature. The autopsy material reported in a study done by Gargiulo et al. showed that the average sulcus depth was 0.69 mm, the average length of the junctional epithelium was 0.97 mm, and for the connective tissue compartment was 1.07 mm. Of these three tissue components, the supracrestal connective fibrous attachment seems to exhibit the least variability, followed by the junctional epithelium and sulcus depth. The sulcus depth can show more variations between specimens [1] (Fig. 3.3).

In 1962, Cohen defined the "biologic width" of supracrestal gingival tissue as those junctional epithelium and connective tissue elements of the dentogingival unit that occupy the space between the base of the gingival crevice and the alveolar crest. The total dimension would be around 2.04 mm and this number seems to be constant in the literature. That is the non-variable part of the DGU, and it is important to respect it when placing our restorative margins in order to avoid biological complications like chronic pain, inflammation, or recession [2].

Kois, for practical reasons, describes it with a name that would prevent confusion: the "biologic zone." This will refer to the minimum dimension of this space between the most coronal level of the alveolar bone and the most coronal level of gingival margin, and it would be in the vicinity of 3 mm in a healthy and normal gingiva. This is the minimum space required for the tissues to maintain their continuity in a healthy status. This parameter will be important when planning and executing crown-lengthening surgeries. That would be the minimum distance to maintain from the bone margin to the gingival margin [3].



Fig. 3.3 Biologic width is the natural distance between the base of the gingival sulcus and the height of the alveolar bone. This distance is important to consider when fabricating dental restorations, because they must respect the natural architecture of the gingival attachment if harmful consequences are to be avoided

3.2.2 Clinical Features of Healthy Gingiva

Healthy gingiva could be described as the soft tissue surrounding and protecting the teeth from several bacterial and traumatic aggressions, which presents when healthy with a coral pink-colored appearance with multiple degrees of pigmentation. The marginal gingiva follows a scalloped outline on the facial and lingual surfaces in a firm and resilient consistency that does not bleed on gentle probing.

The contour of the gingiva varies considerably, and it is influenced by the shape of the teeth and their alignment in the arch, the location and the size of the area of proximal contact, and the thickness of the underlying alveolar bone. It forms a straight line along the teeth with relatively flat surfaces. On teeth with pronounced mesiodistal convexity or teeth in labial version, the scalloped contour is increased, and the margin is thinned, and the gingiva is located farther apically. On teeth in lingual version, the gingiva is horizontal and thickened.

The level of gingival tissue normally mimics or follows the architecture of the underlying osseous crest, but it is also shaped by the surface anatomy of the teeth. In normal conditions, a parallel arrangement between gingival margins and the underlying bone crest will be assumed, even in the interproximal areas, where peeks of bone are found to achieve a more coronal position [4] (Fig. 3.4).

Lang and Löe proposed that at least 2 mm of keratinized tissue (KT) is necessary around the teeth to maintain periodontal health of the average patient [5]. Later reports also supported this assertion. The current consensus is that at least 2 mm of KT and 1 mm of attached gingiva are necessary around the teeth in order to avoid mucogingival problems [6–9] (Fig. 3.5a, b).

3.2.3 Periodontal Biotype

The identification of the periodontal biotype may be important in clinical practice since differences in gingival and osseous architecture are related to the outcome of different dental procedures including periodontal treatment. Periodontal biotype or morphotype can be classified according to the thickness of the gingiva and the underlying osseous component in three different categories: thin scalloped, thick flat, and thick scalloped as described by De Rouck et al. [10]. He quantified this by placing the probe into the buccal sulcus of the central incisor, hereby terming the gingiva either thick, medium, or thin based on the transparency of the gingiva. This

Fig. 3.4 A healthy gingiva appears pink colored and firm, with an orange peel texture, following the underlying anatomy of the alveolar bone and teeth





Fig. 3.5 (a) Not enough width of keratinized tissue can lead to inflammation of the gingival tissues that will evolve into a recession if the mucogingival problem is not addressed. (b) Increasing the amount of keratinized tissues will improve the long-term prognosis of the tooth and the oral health of the patient



Fig. 3.6 (a) Thin, scalloped biotype. (b) Thick, flat biotype

method was also used by Kan et al. where he quantified the gingival thickness by classifying thin as ≤ 1.0 mm and thick as > 1.0 mm [11].

The periodontal biotype will be determined by several factors such as alveolar bone and gingival thickness and the width of the tooth in the facial lingual plane. Every group will respond differently to subgingival preparations, and we have to consider that before defining the finishing line of our restorations. The gingiva with scalloped contour is usually thinner and prone to recession with minor trauma, like finishing line preparation or retraction cord packing. Thick gingival tissues display straight gingival contour and are more resistant to trauma [12, 13].

Pontoriero and Carnevale showed in a study on crown lengthening that more soft tissue is regained in patients with thick periodontal biotypes than in thin periodontal biotypes [14]. This will be an important factor to be considered when doing crown-lengthening surgeries. In case of mucogingival surgery, the initial thickness (GT) is associated with complete root coverage when using coronally advanced flap. A critical threshold thickness of >1.1 mm for complete root coverage was found [15]. Recent evidence seems to indicate stability of tissue after surgery when the thickness is >1.44 mm [16]. This suggests that in the cuspid region a connective tissue graft (or a substitute) would improve the outcome of root coverage procedures, since this area tends to show thinner thickness constantly [16] (Fig. 3.6a, b).

3.2.4 Esthetic Gingival Disposition

An ideal smile is an esthetic composition that becomes stronger the more parallelism we find between its reference horizontal facial lines. The gingival line is the tangential line drawn between the facial gingival margin of the central incisors and the canines. It should be parallel to the other horizontal reference lines, corresponding with the vermillion border of the upper lip at full smile. The gingival margin of the lateral incisors is usually located 0.5–1 mm more incisal, or at the same height of central incisor and cuspids, but never positioned in a more apical position than the gingival junction between central incisor and canine (Fig. 3.7).

The height of the gingival contour, also known as the gingival zenith, is located closer to the distal line angle of the central incisors, in average 1 mm distal of the vertical bisected midline (VBM) of the tooth. That line follows the longitudinal axis of the tooth. For lateral incisors, that distance becomes smaller, in average 0.4 mm. Regarding the cuspids, they present almost no deviation from the VBM. This will be very important in cases of diastema closure where we will need to correct the position of the zenith either by surgical or orthodontic means [17] (Fig. 3.8).

The length of the teeth and the position of the incisal edge at rest will determine the levels of the gingiva. At times, the gingival plane may not be parallel to the interpupillary line, and therefore natural asymmetry is often exhibited. This is especially relevant if there is a case of high or medium smile, and so their alignment must be incorporated into the treatment planning. If the gingiva is visible when in full smile or during speech, the incisal and gingival planes must be harmonized with the rest of horizontal facial references [18] (Fig. 3.9).

The interdental gingiva or papillae occupies the space delineated within the area of tooth contact, interdental tip of the alveolar bone, and tooth surfaces. A triangle can be drawn where the base would be the line that connects both zeniths of the teeth, where this triangle occupies constantly the 40% of the clinical crown length of the neighboring teeth [19] (Fig. 3.10).

Fig. 3.7 The gingival margin of the lateral incisors should always be positioned either at the same level of the central incisors or 0.5–1 mm coronally



Fig. 3.8 The green dots show the ideal position of the zenith in relation with the long axis of the tooth



Fig. 3.9 Notice how much of the central incisors are exposed at rest. That will determine the position of the incisal edge, and as a consequence, after measuring the height of the teeth, it will tell us whether the position of the gingival margin needs to be modified or not



Fig. 3.10 The tips of the papilla gradually follow a pattern in the apical direction, when proceeding from the anterior toward the posterior dentition. However, it will always occupy around 40% of the height of the neighboring teeth



The morphology of interdental gingiva is governed by the size, shape, and position of contact area between adjacent teeth and the level of underlying bone crest. The interdental embrasure and the gingiva filling the space are narrow, mesiodistally, when the proximal surfaces of the teeth are relatively flat; buccolingually, the roots are close together, and the interdental bone is thin mesiodistally. Conversely, with proximal surfaces that flare away from the area of contact, the mesiodistal diameter of the interdental gingiva is broad. The presence and the space occupied by the soft tissue are observed to be relevant to the distance from the contact to the crest of the alveolar bone. Tarnow et al. reported that the papilla was present in all cases when the distance from the contact point to the crest of bone was 5 mm or less. A 1 mm increase in the distance from the contact point to the bone reduces the possibility of an intact papilla almost by half, in which papilla was present in 56% of the cases where the distance was 6 mm and only 27% or less of the cases when this distance was 7 mm or more [20].

When teeth are very close, papillae can look very long and narrow. However, if that distance is lower than 0.3 mm (root proximity), it usually disappears, due to the lack of interproximal bone tip [21].



Fig. 3.11 (a) Due to the absence of a contact point, the tip of the papilla remains flat. (b) When closing a diastema restoratively, a subgingival position of the finishing line should be created for a natural emergence profile. (c) The shape of the papilla will be modified by the pressure applied by the restorations and the presence of a contact point

The interdental space is not filled with papilla also in cases of diastemas, where that tissue appears to be flat since there is no contact point. That will be important to keep in mind when closing a diastema restoratively, where the finishing line of our restorations will need to be positioned subgingivally, in order to be able to push the tissues creating an ideal emergence profile. Positioning adequately the contact point in relation to the interproximal bone tip will be critical to guarantee the complete closure of the papillary area [19] (Fig. 3.11a–c).

3.3 Esthetic Periodontal Problems

3.3.1 Gingival Inflammation and Tissue Loss due to Periodontal Disease

Periodontal disease is the result of the accumulation of dental plaque at the gingival margin leading to inflammation of the periodontal tissues. The early stage of this problem is called gingivitis and proper oral hygiene combined with initial periodontal therapy will bring back those tissues to the original healthy and unaffected situation. However, if that inflammation lasts enough, it can lead to the destruction of the supporting tissues of the teeth, meaning gums and alveolar bone loss. This situation is known as periodontitis. Once it reaches that level, the sequelae of the disease are not reversible, and this will jeopardize an ideal esthetic outcome.

The objective of the periodontal treatment can be summarized as the prevention of tooth loss, maintenance of periodontal support, repair, and regeneration of damaged tissues and their function. Special attention to the modification of patient habits and the oral condition has to be taken, in order to constitute an oral hygiene level that would prevent inflammation of periodontal tissues owing to plaque accumulation, especially if restorative treatments are considered.

Initial periodontal therapy consists of oral hygiene instructions, scaling and root planing, and where present, the elimination of plaque retentive factors, like overhanging restorative margins. This will result in the resolution of the inflammation, something that is mandatory before initiating any restorative treatment. Establishing definitive restorations when inflammatory periodontal problems are present can jeopardize the esthetic outcome, and it can accelerate the rate of periodontal destruction. It is very important to allow the tissues to have enough healing time to express the real marginal position. The initial therapy can create recessions on the gingival tissues that will be shown only after the inflammation has disappeared completely. Not respecting this can create visible margins that will be shown in the smile, especially when the tooth is discolored due to a previous root canal treatment or when using metal ceramic restorations (Fig. 3.12a–d).

3.3.2 Violation of the Biologic Width

Preservation of the healthy status of periodontal tissues is a very significant factor in the long-term prognosis of a restored tooth. There are five major causes of plaque-related inflammatory periodontal disease associated with restorative procedures:

- Severe damage to the periodontal tissues during tooth preparation and impression making.
- Failure to maintain emergence profile.
- Inability to adequately finish and/or seal subgingival margins.
- Placement of subgingival margins at sites with minimum to no attached gingiva.
- Violation of the biologic width.



Fig. 3.12 (a) Initial situation where a narrow arch and a slight cant and crowding can be observed in her smile. (b) Intraoral view where the inflammation of the gingival tissues can be better appreciated. (c) Close-up smile after periodontal treatment that included SRP (scaling and root planing), OHI (oral hygiene instructions), gingivectomy, and orthodontic treatment. (d) Notice the improvement on the gingival condition and the changes in margin positions as a consequence of the treatment Tooth preparations for restorative procedures should be done atraumatically, avoiding any irreversible damage to the supracrestal connective tissue fibers. That could create gingival recessions, exposing the underlying root surface that in cases of discolored teeth could create an unacceptable esthetic result [22, 23].

The cervical one-third of the clinical crown is also referred to as the emergence profile of the tooth. This is the region where the crown emerges from the periodontium, and its supra- and sub-gingival contours should have a flat emergence profile, recreating the profile of the alveolar bone, in order to maintain an area that is cleanable with oral hygiene instruments and provide with a good marginal seal of the restoration. Poor adaptation and roughness of the restoration margin result in mechanical irritation of the sulcular epithelium and can harbor microbial flora. Overhanging margins not only accumulate more plaque than properly finished margins, but also the plaque undergoes a shift in composition to that seen in association with destructive periodontitis [24–26].

An adequate band of keratinized tissue is fundamental to successful restorative dentistry if the margins of the restorations are extended under free gingival margin. Although no solid investigation is present to confirm this observation, augmentation of keratinized gingiva provides stability of the free gingival margin and surrounding gingival tissues so that the gingival health around the restoration can be maintained. Besides vertical dimension of the keratinized gingiva, the thickness of the tissue should be enough to tolerate intracrevicular restorations [27].

The gingival sulcus extends from the free gingival margin to the epithelial attachment. In health, its depth is in the vicinity of 0–3 mm, and it is lined with thin sulcular epithelium. The depth of this sulcus may vary from tooth to tooth and from surface to surface on the same tooth. Invading the apico-coronal width of the connective tissue attachment by placing the restorative margins in to the sulcus creates persistent and irreversible gingival inflammation owing to violation of the biologic width. Apical migration of the junctional epithelium encourages development of periodontal pockets and alveolar bone loss [1].

The finishing line of restorations should follow the contour of the cementoenamel junction and be always kept at least 2.5 mm away from the bone crest. A greater distance between the bone crest and finish line of the restoration is needed to ensure that margin of the restoration could be well reached by the plaque control instruments. The golden standard today is to prepare the finishing line of the restorations 0.5 mm below the marginal gingiva if the sulcus depth is 1 mm and 0.5–1 mm if the sulcus depth is exceeding 1.5 mm. This leaves enough distance for the junctional epithelium and supracrestal fibers and is also close enough to the gingival margin to be reached by oral hygiene procedures. When the healthy sulcus depth is less than 1 mm, placement of the margin 0.5 mm subgingival could result in impinging upon the junctional epithelium. The margin in such cases should be terminated just at or above the gingival margin. In low smile cases, where the restorative margins of the restorations will not be exposed while smiling, equigingival margins can be chosen for better hygiene purposes [28] (Fig. 3.13a, b).



Fig. 3.13 (a) Initial situation. Notice the inflammation of the gingival tissues that can be observed due to the invasion of the biologic width by these overcontoured restorations and cement left behind after crown cementation. (b) Final situation. Healthy gingival tissues after crownlengthening surgery to reposition the biologic width and replacement of the previous restorations

3.3.3 Excessive Gingival Display

There are three types of smile depending on the amount of tooth structure and gingival display. A low smile will be showing 75% or less of the tooth structure and none of the gingival tissues. A medium smile will show between 75% and 100% of the tooth structure and some of the interproximal gingival tissues. A high smile will expose 100% of the tooth structure and a band of gingival tissue above the teeth [29] (Fig. 3.14a–c).

The amount of gingival display also plays an important role in a smile's attractiveness [30]. Excessive gingival display (EGD), also known as gummy smile, is defined as a high smile that shows an excessive band of tissue above the upper central incisors when smiling. It is generally considered unattractive, and while a discrepancy exists in the range defined as excessive, 3 mm is agreed upon across different populations. Some authors will consider 2 mm the excessive number, whereas orthodontists will consider it excessive when more than 4 mm are shown [31, 32].

EGD may be caused broadly by dentoalveolar discrepancies or non-dentoalveolar discrepancies. Dentoalveolar discrepancies include short clinical crowns, altered passive eruption, gingival hypertrophy/hyperplasia, and dentoalveolar extrusion. Non-dentoalveolar discrepancies include hyperactive upper lip, short or incompetent upper lip, and vertical maxillary excess. It is extremely important to determine the etiology of the gummy smile before deciding on the treatment plan, in order to establish realistic treatment expectations for the patient [33].

Different treatment methods have been developed to decrease gingival display depending on the cause. While most dentoalveolar causes of EGD can be improved by restorative and periodontal approaches, non-dentoalveolar discrepancies require different approaches. EGD may be treated both surgically and nonsurgically.

Skeletal deformities that involve maxillary overgrowth can be diagnosed by evaluation of the proportions of the face and cephalometric analysis. The ideally proportioned face is divided into three equal parts from the hairline to the eyebrow, from the eyebrow to the base of nasal process, and from the base of the nose to the chin. When the lower third of the face is longer than the other two, a skeletal origin for a "gummy smile" can be expected, due to a maxillary overgrowth. This results in the teeth being positioned farther away from the skeletal maxillary base and a display of gingiva below the inferior border of the upper lip. Orthognathic surgery



Fig. 3.14 (a) Low smile. (b) Medium smile. (c) High smile

Vertical Maxillary Excess Classification					
Degree	Gingival display	Treatment modalities			
I	2–4 mm	Orthodontic Intrusion only Orthodontics and Periodontics Periodontics and restorative theraphy			
Ш	4–8 mm	Periodontics and Restorative therapy Orthognathic Surgery			
III	>8 mm	Othognathic surgery with or without adjunctive periodontal and restorative therapy			

Fig. 3.15 Vertical maxillary excess classification

has to be considered when a vertical maxillary excess (VME) has been diagnosed, especially when the silhouette of the teeth follows the ideal width/length ratio of around 80%. However, in cases with minor vertical discrepancy, the cost, invasiveness, and postoperative morbidity from the procedure cannot always be justified for the outcome achieved. Garber and Salama described a classification for gummy smile patients where a VME was present, and several alternative treatment options were described for patients that even though they present an excess of maxillary bone as an etiologic factor, they can be treated by periodontal, orthodontic, and/or restorative means. Only in severe cases where more than 8 mm from the gingival margin to lower border of the upper lip is found would orthognathic surgery be strongly encouraged if complete dentofacial harmony wants to be achieved [34] (Figs. 3.15 and 3.16a–c).

Muscular origin of the gummy smile can be treated by different means. It is important to dismiss the option of an anatomical problem by evaluating the length of the upper lip. The distance from the base of the nose to the lower border of the vermilion of the upper lip will give us the length of the upper lip. In average, it will measure between 18 and 22 mm. A shorter measurement indicates the presence of an anatomical condition. The lip dynamic should be also evaluated. Normal lip dynamic will show an average displacement of 6–8 mm, measured from rest position to maximum smile. A higher number indicates a hyperactive upper lip [35].

Several authors have described preventing the muscles responsible for gingival display from contracting by injecting botulinum toxin. This will be used as a temporary treatment for gummy smile when it is caused by mostly muscular hyperfunction. Botox type I inhibits acetylcholine release into the synapse by bonding to the



Fig. 3.16 (a) Initial situation. Skeletal and dentogingival origin was diagnosed in this case as the cause of the gummy smile. Six millimeters of gingival display. (b) After gingivectomy and veneers to correct the proportions of the teeth and to improve the parallelism of the gingival line with the facial references, the gingival display has been decreased to 3 mm. (c) A lip reposition procedure was performed in addition to the previous treatments to improve the excessive gingival display

nerve at the neuromuscular ending, causing the acetylcholine protein located on the cell membrane to be inhibited. In turn, muscle contraction is inhibited, leading to reversible muscle atrophy. The effect of Botox will appear after 2 weeks and persists between 4 and 6 months depending on the muscle thickness and anatomy. It shows an average improvement of the gummy smile of around 99% [36–38].

Removing a strip from the upper labial mucosa (i.e., "lip repositioning"), which diminishes the upper lip mobility, has also been suggested as an alternative treatment, referring a gummy smile improvement of 3 mm in average. The surgery aims to limit smile muscle pull, (i.e., zygomaticus minor, levator anguli, orbicularis oris, and levator labii superioris) by reducing the depth of the upper vestibule. The lower incision is placed at the mucogingival margin, and from there, a distance between 10 and 12 mm apically has to be measured to position the upper incision. This technique has been gaining popularity recently, owing to its simplicity and its potential for eliminating EGD. However, the published literature does not seem to address any point beyond a short-term improved outcome with no regard to etiology technique or long-term stability. In addition, an array of modifications has been introduced to the technique over time, and as studies show the technique and its modifications to be successful, there is little standardized information for clinicians to make informed decisions when choosing this technique for the treatment of patients with excessive gingival display [39–41] (Fig. 3.17a-d).

A very common approach to decrease the gingival display is to increase the crown length [42–44]. The most common reason for using this approach is when an altered passive eruption (APE) is the source of the problem. This is by definition an alteration during the process where the dentogingival union has to migrate apically after the active eruption. When that does not happen adequately, the gingival margin stays in a more coronal position, giving a shorter appearance to the teeth affected by this condition. By exposing the tooth structure that remains covered by the excess of gum/bone, the gingival display during smile will be decreased, improving the gummy smile problem. The APE classification will help us decide what surgical technique will be used to correct the problem [45] (Fig. 3.18).



Fig. 3.17 (a) Initial situation. Patient complains of the amount of gingival display when smiling. A skeletal origin of the gummy smile was diagnosed and orthognathic surgery was explained to the patient. However, patient refused that option of treatment and asked for alternatives. Therefore, a lip reposition technique was chosen as the best option for him. (b) When doing a lip reposition or stabilization technique, a thin layer of mucosa needs to be removed from the vestibule to expose a wounded area. (c) The apical and coronal margins of the wound are brought closer in order to decrease the range of movement of the upper lip. (d) Final situation 1 month after the surgery

Altered Passive Eruption Classification						
Type I	Wider band of keratinized tissue	Type A	Distance from alveolar crest to CEJ normal ± 2m			
Type II	Normal band of keratinized tissue	Туре В	Distance from alveolar crest to CEJ ± 0 mm			

Fig. 3.18 Altered passive eruption classification

In many cases, an excessive amount of gum will be found covering the enamel with the bone crest located 2 mm away from the cementoenamel junction (CEJ). In those situations, just a gingivectomy will be enough to expose the hidden enamel, improving the teeth proportions and, consequently, decreasing the amount of gum display. If the bone crest is closer to the CEJ, bone recontouring will be necessary in addition to the gingivectomy, in order to avoid a possible relapse. Ideally, when reshaping the excessive bone, around 2 mm of root surface from the CEJ to the bone crest should be exposed, allowing enough room for the biologic width components to create a proper attachment without creating a recession. One millimeter of free gingiva is expected to heal over the enamel.

The osteoplasty will be usually performed raising a full-thickness flap to allow us not only to remove the excess of bone over the root surface but also to create a proper bone contour and thickness; one of the factors that can create a relapse of the tissues is if the remaining bone is kept too thick. Flapless bone contouring can be performed in cases where minimal corrections need to be achieved, like 1–2 mm vertical corrections, zenith point displacement, or gingival asymmetries. In those situations, a microsurgical back action scalpel, hard tissue laser, or ultrasonic devices can be applied. Special attention needs to be taken when using a flapless approach. Due to the blind access to the work area, it will be difficult to control the direction and depth of the effect of the instruments used to reshape the osseous morphology, which could end up creating small cavitation on the root surface. In full arch cases where we need to correct not only the bone levels but also the thickness of those tissues, a full-thickness flap is advised. Otherwise, infrabony defects can be created jatrogenically, due to the difficulty on addressing the thickness of the bone. Another important aspect to control the possibility of a relapse will be removing the attachment fibers by scaling the tooth surface after the gingivectomy [46] (Figs. 3.19, 3.20a-c, and 3.21a-f, h, i).

However, treating the APE may not be enough to correct completely the gummy smile since we can only expose up to the CEJ level to avoid root exposure. In some

Fig. 3.19 Flapless approach can be used for specific situations as minor vertical corrections (like 1–2 mm), zenith point displacement, or gingival asymmetries. In this case a Hu-Friedy Fedi periodontal chisel was used (CPF1) (Hu-Friedy MFG. Co. LLC, Chicago, USA) for bone recontouring





Fig. 3.20 (a) Initial situation. Patient presents an APE from tooth #4–13 that creates a gummy smile. (b) Notice how after a gingivectomy the proportions of the teeth have been improved. The amount of gingival collar removed in this case will be guided by the CEJ. Only the premolars required bone recontouring to assure the stability of the result. Therefore, a full-thickness flap was elevated only in the premolar area. (c) Gummy smile corrected by treating the etiology of the problem



Fig. 3.21 (a) Initial situation. Patient presents an APE from tooth #3-14 that creates a gummy smile. Some teeth show incisal wear and they are not in an ideal position. However, patient does not complain about that. (b) Notice how the proportions of the teeth are far from ideal, and the extra volume of the gingival tissue helps the lip remain in a more apical position when smiling. (c) After the gingivectomy, the proportions of the teeth have been improved. (d) A diode-laser gingivoplasty was also performed in the papilla area in order to create a more harmonious gingival profile. (e) When a full-thickness flap is raised, we can evaluate the proximity of the bone crest to the CEJ and the bulkiness of the buccal bone. (f) Right side after bone recontouring around 2 mm away from the CEJ of the teeth versus left side with the bone crest untreated. (g) Bone recontouring finished and buccal osteoplasty performed to improve the architecture of the tissues. (h) Vertical mattress suture with esthetic palatal knot using polypropylene 5/0. (i) Gummy smile corrected by treating the etiology of the problem (2 weeks after surgery)

situations, where a complete correction of the gummy smile is required, combining restorative and periodontal techniques will be necessary. In cases where restorations are going to be involved, visualizing the possible outcome is mandatory prior to starting the treatment. Digital smile design (DSD) has been proven as a very helpful tool to visualize the final outcome prior to the beginning of the treatment, helping the clinicians planning the posterior steps in the process and choosing appropriate techniques necessary to achieve the ideal esthetic outcome [47]. Once the ideal position of the teeth has been decided in the computer, by using a calibrated digital ruler, the exact measurements can be transferred to fabricate an accurate wax-up that will be the blueprint for our future treatment, either periodontal or restorative. Silicon indexes will be created to transfer the information from the wax-up to the patient's mouth. Self-curing bis-acryl material will be used to create an indirect mock-up that will guide us in performing the gingivectomy but also will be used as the provisional restorations that will tell us the future restorative margin position. A full-thickness flap can be raised once the temporaries have been placed, adjusted, and polished, using them as a surgical stent for the osteoplasty, too. An average 3 mm distance from the new restorative margins to the bone should be kept in order to respect the necessary space for the new dentogingival complex that will be created, making sure biologic width is not violated by the restorations. The traditional approach for cases that require restorations and crown lengthening is to perform the surgical procedure 3–6 months prior to the final impressions, the main reason being possible postoperative position changes of the gingival margins [14]. By following this method, very predictable results can be achieved to correct not only the excessive gingival display but also the overall look of the smile [48] (Fig. 3.22a–o).



Fig. 3.22 (a) Initial situation. Patient complains about the amount of gingival display and wants to achieve a more natural looking smile. (b) Image calibrated using a digital ruler following the DSD concept. (c) Smile design with calibrated measurements. (d) Digital preview of the desired outcome. (e) Calibrated digital measurements transferred from the digital design to the cast. (f) Final wax-up based on the digital design. It will allow us to fabricate silicon indexes for preparation, temporization, and surgical guidance. (g) Intraoral view of the initial situation. Notice the bulkiness of the prefabricated veneers and the overeruption of the anterior segment. (h) Old veneer removal to create enough space for the surgical guide. (i) Mock-up used a surgical stent for gingivectomy. (i) Mock-up removal for soft tissue collar remotion. (k) Bleeding controlled and provisional veneers inserted. Spot-etch technique with Luxatemp and Luxaflow B1 (DMG. Hamburg, Germany) was used for that purpose. (I) Full-thickness flap elevated for bone contouring. Notice that bone has been positioned 3 mm away from the prosthetic margin, creating space for the dentogingival complex avoiding the violation of the biologic width. (m) Vertical mattress suture with polypropylene 5/0. Two months after final preparation and final impressions were taken. (n) Intraoral view of the case 1 year after insertion of the veneers. (o) Final situation with correction of the gummy smile showing stability of the results 1 year after

Cases with multiple etiologies require more than one technique to achieve desirable outcomes. For example, some studies have reported using the lip-repositioning method associated with gingivectomy to treat excessive gingival display [49, 50].

3.3.4 Gingival Recessions

Esthetics, dental hypersensitivity, and the prevention of caries and non-carious cervical lesions (NCCLs) are considered the main indications for periodontal plastic root coverage procedures reported in the literature [51–54].

Chronic trauma, caused by vigorous toothbrushing, and plaque-induced periodontal inflammation or occlusal factors are the major causative factors in the development of soft tissue recessions. Beyond those two major causes, dehiscence in vestibular alveolar plate, high frenum, and iatrogenic factors contribute significantly in the etiology of recessions. Elimination of those factors is crucial in both prevention and treatment of recessions in a predictable long-term outcome [55–60].

A classic classification for recessions has been helping us to establish the outcome predictability for full coverage after surgical treatment. Total root coverage is expected in class I and II, whereas full coverage decreases when interproximal bone loss is present, as it happens in class III and IV. This is very helpful to establish realistic expectations for the patients [61].

Class I	Marginal tissue recession that does not extend to the mucogingival junction. There is no periodontal loss (bone or soft tissue) in the interdental area, and 100% root coverage can be anticipated
Class II	Marginal tissue recession that extends to or beyond the mucogingival junction. There is no periodontal loss (bone or soft tissue) in the interdental area, and 100% root coverage can be anticipated
Class III	Marginal tissue recession that extends to or beyond the mucogingival junction. Bone or soft tissue loss in the interdental area is present, or there is malpositioning of the teeth that prevents the attempt of 100% root coverage. Partial root coverage can be anticipated
Class IV	Marginal tissue recession that extends to or beyond the mucogingival junction. The bone or soft tissue loss in the interdental area and/or the malpositioning of the teeth is so severe that root coverage cannot be attempted

Several techniques have been described to attempt full coverage of the gingival recessions, including free gingival grafts, pedicle flaps, tunneling techniques, and combinations of the previous. However, in the esthetic area, specific considerations must be taken in order to achieve the most esthetic result. That is the main reason why using a fully epithelized free gingival graft is not considered as a first option anymore due to the fact that they heal with a lighter and more opaque color compared to the surrounding tissues [62].



Fig. 3.23 (a) Initial situation. (b) Final outcome 1 year after surgery. (c) Incision design for a coronal advanced flap with no releasing incisions (Zucchelli technique) and no CTG (tissue thickness was considered sufficient). (d) Flap elevation (partial-full-partial thickness). (e) Papillary epithelium removal. (f) Vertical mattress suture with polypropylene 5/0

Subepithelial connective tissue graft (SCTG)-based procedures provided the best outcomes for clinical practice because of their superior percentages of mean and complete root coverage, as well as significant increase of keratinized tissue [54] (Figs. 3.23a–f and 3.24a–f).

However, when multiple recessions are present in the same case, insufficient autologous tissue can lead us to select a different approach. Zucchelli et al. described a modified coronal advanced flap without releasing incisions that demonstrates stable long-term results with high coverage scores. They propose the idea of including a very thin SCTG wherever the keratinized tissue thickness is not enough for long-term stability [63, 64].

The use of enamel derivative matrix (EDM) combined with CAF have shown some benefits compared with that approach alone [65].

Another alternative when there is insufficient donor tissue is the use of allografts like acellular dermal matrix (ADM), a very good alternative when



Fig. 3.24 (a) Initial situation. (b) Final outcome 1 year after surgery. (c) Notice the proper thickness of the tissue besides the premolar area. (d) Incision design and flap elevation (Zucchelli technique) for a coronal advanced flap with no releasing incisions (Zucchelli technique) and CTG in the premolar area to increase volume of the tissue. (e) Vertical mattress suture with polypropylene 5/0 and suspensory suture around #8 and 9 for coronal advancement on the tunneling area. (f) Intraoral view 1 year after surgery

used in combination with tunneling techniques reporting not only stable results but also very esthetic results for both the dentists and the patients [66-68] (Fig. 3.25a-f).

In esthetic cases where restorations are going to be needed, visualizing the final outcome is mandatory before attempting the surgical procedure. It has been described in the literature the concept of restoring the case before performing the actual root coverage procedure. Positioning the final margins of the restorations based on an ideal esthetic disposition will help the surgeon choose the best technique and also will help positioning the flaps in the right position in order to avoid overcorrection and the need of a possible gingival recontouring after the surgery to ideally position the gingival margin for the future restorations [69] (Fig. 3.26a–g).



Fig. 3.25 (a) Initial situation with multiple recessions. (b) The thickness of the tissue was considered insufficient for long-term stability. Due to the size of the defect, it was decided to use a graft substitute, in this case acellular dermal matrix (ADM) (Alloderm Tissue Matrix, Biohorizons, Birmingham AL, USA). (c) A tunnel approach was chosen for this case, due to the correct amount of interproximal tissue and minimal invasiveness of this technique, improving the healing of the surgery. (d) Suspensory suture technique for coronal advancement of the tissue with polypropylene 5/0. (e) Surgical outcome 3 months after surgery (ready for the restorative phase). (f) Final result 3 months after restorative treatment with feldspathic veneers. Notice that gingivectomy was performed on #8 and 9 to harmonize the gingival margin position after the root coverage procedure



Fig. 3.26 (a) Initial situation. Patient complains about misalignment of her teeth and gingival recessions. She had orthodontic treatment before and refuses that option. (b) Intraoral view. Notice the thin biotype of the patient. (c) Restorative phase performed before the surgery. The esthetic concerns of the patient have been addressed. The position of the restorative margins will guide the surgeon during the advancement and reposition of the flap. (d) Notice that the restorative margins have been positioned based on the ideal esthetics for this case, leaving radicular surfaces exposed. (e) Surgical initial situation. (f) Incision design for a tunnel approach with coronal advancement and no releasing incisions. Notice the ADM already positioned inside the pouch. (g) Coronal advancement of the tissue and suspensory suture with polypropylene 5/0. (h) 1 year after surgery



Fig. 3.26 (continued)

3.4 Conclusions

As the society gets more interested with looking younger and healthy, our profession becomes more relevant. Due to that, esthetic considerations will become increasingly more relevant in dental treatment planning, extending the vision beyond simply creating pretty teeth to a concept of "dentofacial harmony."

Esthetics is not simply a matter for restorative dentists, it is just one of the disciplines to achieve beauty. Even though the primary objective of periodontal therapy is to restore and maintain the health and integrity of the attachment apparatus, from an esthetic perspective that is often not enough. An irregular gingival arrangement, despite being healthy, may distract the eye, and it will become desirable to establish a certain harmony and continuity of form to the gingival margins. That becomes even more important in cases where an excessive amount of gingival display creates an esthetically unpleasant result.

Therefore, proper knowledge of the anatomy and biology of the gingival tissues, in combination with adequate use of periodontal plastic surgery techniques, will help us in creating balance and harmony to the final esthetics of the smile.

References

- 1. Gargiulo AW, Wentz FM, Orban B. Dimensions and relations of the dento-gingival junction in humans. J Periodontol. 1961;32:261–7.
- Cohen DW. Periodontal preparation of the mouth for restorative dentistry. Presented at the Walter Reed Army Medical Center, Washington, DC, 1962.
- Kois JO. New paradigms for anterior tooth preparation: rationale and technique. Contemp Esth Dent. 1996;2:1–8.
- 4. Smukler H, Chaibi M. Periodontal and dental considerations in clinical crown extension: a rational basis for treatment. Int J Periodont Rest Dent. 1997;17:465–77.
- 5. Lang NP, Löe H. The relationship between the width of the keratinized gingiva and gingival health. J Periodontol. 1972;43:623–7.
- Wennström J, Lindhe J, Nyman S. Role of keratinized gingiva for gingival health. Clinical and histologic study of normal and regenerated gingival tissue in dogs. J Clin Periodontol. 1981;8:311–28.
- 7. Wennström JL. Mucogingival therapy. Ann Periodontol. 1996;1:671-701.
- Wilson RD. Marginal tissue recession in general dental practice: a preliminary study. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1983;3(1):40–53.
- Agudio G, Nieri M, Rotundo R, Cortellini P, Pini PG. Free gingival grafts to increase keratinized tissue: a retrospective long-term evaluation (10 to 25 years) of outcomes. J Periodontol. 2008;79:587–94.
- De Rouck T, Eghbali R, Collys K, De Bruyn H, Cosyn J. The gingival biotype revisited: transparency of the periodontal probe through the gingival margin as a method to discriminate thin from thick gingiva. J Clin Periodontol. 2009;36(5):428–33.
- Kan JY, Morimoto T, Rungcharassaeng K, Roe P, Smith DH. Gingival biotype assessment in the esthetic zone: visual versus direct measurement. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2010;30(3):237–43.
- 12. Weisgold AS. Contours of the full crown restoration. Alpha Omegan. 1977;70(3):77-89.
- Sanavi F, Weisgold AS, Rose LF. Biologic width and its relation to periodontal biotypes. J Esthet Dent. 1998;10(3):157–63.
- 14. Pontoriero R, Carnevale G. Surgical crown lengthening: a 12-month clinical wound healing study. J Periodontol. 2001;72(7):841–8.
- Hwang D, Wang HL. Flap thickness as a predictor of root coverage: a systematic review. J Periodontol. 2006;77(10):1625–34.
- Zuhr O, Baümer D, Hürzeler M. The addition of soft tissue replacement grafts in plastic periodontal and implant surgery: critical elements in design and execution. J Clin Periodontol. 2014;41(Suppl 15):S123–42.
- Chu S. Gingival zenith positions and levels of the maxillary anterior dentition. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2009;21:113–21.
- 18. Vig RG, Brundo GO. The kinetics of anterior tooth display. J Prosthet Dent. 1978;39:502-4.
- Chu S. Papilla proportions in the maxillary anterior dentition. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2009;29:385–93.
- Tarnow DP, Magner AW, Fletcher P. The effect of the distance from the contact point to the crest of bone on the presence or absence of the interproximal dental papilla. J Periodontol. 1992;63(12):995–6.
- 21. Heins PJ, Wieder SM. A histologic study of the width and nature of interradicular spaces in human adult premolars and molars. J Dent Res. 1986;65:948–51.
- Dragoo MR, Williams GB. Periodontal tissue reactions to restorative procedures. Part 1. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1982;2:8–29.
- Dragoo MR, Williams GB. Periodontal tissue reactions to restorative procedures. Part 2. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1982;2:34–42.
- Martignoni M, Schbnenberger A. Precision fixed prosthodontics: clinical and laboratory aspects. Chicago: Quintessence; 1990. p. 255–8.

- Maynard JG, Wilson RD. Physiologic dimensions of the periodontium significant to the restorative dentist. J Periodontol. 1979;50:170–4.
- Lang NP, Kiel RA, Anderhalden K. Clinical and microbiological effects of subgingival restorations with overhanging or clinically perfect margins. J Clin Periodontol. 1983;10:563–78.
- Zweers J, Thomas RZ, Slot DE, Weisgold AS, Van der Weijden GA. Characteristics of periodontal biotype, its dimensions, associations and prevalence: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol. 2014;41(10):958–71.
- 28. Gurel G. The science and art of porcelain laminate veneers. Chicago: Quintessence Publishing; 2003.
- 29. Tjan AHL, Miller GD, The JGP. Some esthetic factors in a smile. J Prosthet Dent. 1984;51:24-8.
- Kaya B, Uyar R. Influence on smile attractiveness of the smile arc in conjunction with gingival display. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2013;144(4):541–7.
- Cracel-Nogueira F, Pinho T. Assessment of the perception of smile esthetics by laypersons, dental students and dental practitioners. Int Orthod. 2013;11(4):432–44.
- Kokich VO, Kokich VG, Kiyak HA. Perceptions of dental professionals and laypersons to altered dental esthetics: asymmetric and symmetric situations. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2006;130(2):141–51.
- Silberberg N, Goldstein M, Smidt A. Excessive gingival display-etiology, diagnosis and treatment modalities. Quintessence Int. 2009;40:809–18.
- 34. Garber DA, Salama MA. The aesthetic smile: diagnosis and treatment. Periodontol. 1996;11:18–28.
- Mclaren EA, Rifkin R. Macroesthetics: facial and dentofacial analysis. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2002;30(11):839–46.
- Polo M. Botulinum toxin type a in the treatment of excessive gingival display. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2005;127(2):214–8.
- Mazzuco R, Hexsel D. Gummy smile and botulinum toxin: a new approach based on the gingival exposure area. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2010;63(6):1042–51.
- Al-Fouzan AF. Botulinum toxin for the treatment of gummy smile. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2017;18(6):474–8.
- 39. Rubinstein A, Kostianovsky A. Cosmetic surgery for the malformation of the laugh: original technique. Prensa Med Argent. 1973;60:952.
- 40. Rosenblatt A, Simon Z. Lip repositioning for reduction of excessive gingival display: a clinical report. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2006;26(5):433–7.
- Tawfik OK, El-Nahass HE, Shipman P, Looney SW, Cutler CW, Brunner M. Lip repositioning for the treatment of excess gingival display: a systematic review. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2018;30(2):101–12.
- 42. Cairo F, Graziani F, Franchi L, Defraia E, Pini Prato GP. Periodontal plastic surgery to improve aesthetics in patients with altered passive eruption/gummy smile: a case series study. Int J Dent. 2012;2012:837658.
- Batista EL Jr, Moreira CC, Batista FC, de Oliveira RR, Pereira KK. Altered passive eruption diagnosis and treatment: a cone beam computed tomography-based reappraisal of the condition. J Clin Periodontol. 2012;39(11):1089–96.
- 44. Ribeiro FV, Hirata DY, Reis AF, Santos VR, Miranda TS, Faveri M, Duarte PM. Open-flap versus flapless esthetic crown lengthening: 12-month clinical outcomes of a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Periodontol. 2014;85(4):536–44.
- 45. Coslet JG, Vanarsdall R, Weisgold A. Diagnosis and classification of delayed passive eruption of the dentogingival junction in the adult. Alpha Omegan. 1977;70(3):24–8.
- McGuire MK, Scheyer ET. Laser-assisted flapless crown lengthening: a case series. J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2011;31:357–64.
- Coachman C, Calamita M. Digital smile design: a tool for treatment planning and communication in Esthetic dentistry. QDT. 2012:1–8.
- Trushkowsky R, Montalvo-Arias D, David S. Digital smile design concept delineates the final potential result of crown lengthening and porcelain veneers to correct a gummy smile. Int J Esthet Dent. 2016;11:338–54.

- Ribeiro-Júnior NV, Campos TV, Rodrigues JG, Martins TM, Silva CO. Treatment of excessive gingival display using a modified lip repositioning technique. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2013;33(3):309–14.
- 50. Gabric Panduric D, Blaskovic M, Brozovic J, Susic M. Surgical treatment of excessive gingival display using lip repositioning technique and laser gingivectomy as an alternative to orthognathic surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014;72(2):404.e1-11
- 51. Chambrone L, Chambrone D, Pustiglioni FE, Chambrone LA, Lima LA. Can subepithelial connective tissue grafts be considered the gold standard procedure in the treat- ment of Miller class I and II recession-type defects? J Dent. 2008;36:659–71.
- Chambrone L, Pannuti CM, Tu YK, Chambrone LA. Evidence-based periodontal plastic surgery. II. An individual data meta-analysis for evaluating factors in achieving complete root coverage. J Periodontol. 2012;83:477–90.
- Cairo F, Pagliaro U, Nieri M. Treatment of gingival recession with coronally advanced flap procedures: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol. 2008;35(Suppl. 8):136–62.
- 54. Chambrone L, Tatakis DN. Periodontal soft tissue root coverage procedures: a systematic review from the AAP regeneration workshop. J Periodontol. 2015;86(Suppl):S8–S51.
- Loe H, Anerud A, Boysen H. The natural history of periodontal disease in man: prevalence, severity, and extent of gingival recession. J Periodontol. 1992;63:489–95.
- Khocht A, Simon G, Person P, Denepitiya JL. Gingival recession in relation to history of hard toothbrush use. J Periodontol. 1993;64:900–5.
- 57. Kallestal C, Uhlin S. Buccal attachment loss in Swedish adolescents. J Clin Periodont. 1992;19:485–91.
- Lost C. Depth of alveolar bone dehiscences in relation to gingival recessions. J Clin Periodont. 1984;11:583–9.
- Mirko P, Miroslav S, Lubor M. Significance of the labial frenum attachment in periodontal disease in man. Part 1. Classification and epidemiology of the labial frenum attachment. J Periodontol. 1974;45:891–4.
- 60. Stetler KJ, Bissada NF. Significance of the width of keratinized gingiva on the periodontal status of teeth with submarginal restorations. J Periodontol. 1987;58:696–700.
- 61. Miller PD. A classification of marginal tissue recession. Int J Periodont Rest Dent. 1985;5:8-13.
- 62. Miller PD. Root coverage using the free soft tissue autograft following citric acid application. III. A successful and predictable procedure in areas of deep-wide recession. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1985;5:14–37.
- Zucchelli G, Amore C, Sforza NM, Montebugnoli L, De Sanctis M. Bilaminar techniques for the treatment of recession-type defects. A comparative clinical study. J Clin Periodontol. 2003;30:862–70.
- 64. Zucchelli G, Mele M, Mazzotti C, Marzadori M, Montebugnoli L, De Sanctis M. Coronally advanced flap with and without vertical releasing incisions for the treatment of multiple gingival recessions: a comparative controlled randomized clinical trial. J Periodontol. 2009;80:1083–94.
- 65. Cueva MA, Boltchi FE, Hallmon WW, Nunn ME, Rivera-Hidalgo F, Rees T. A comparative study of coronally advanced flaps with and without the addition of enamel matrix derivative in the treatment of marginal tissue recession. J Periodontol. 2004;75:949–56.
- 66. Barker TS, Cueva MA, Rivera-Hidalgo F, et al. A comparative study of root coverage using two different acellular dermal matrix products. J Periodontol. 2010;81:1596–603.
- Aichelmann-Reidy M, Yukna R, Evans G, Nasr H, Mayer E. Clinical evaluation of acellular allograft dermis for the treatment of human gingival recession. J Periodontol. 2001;72:998–1005.
- Novaes AB Jr, de Barros RR. Acellular dermal matrix allograft. The results of controlled randomized clinical studies. J Int Acad Periodontol. 2008;10(4):123–9.
- Martiniello N, Stefanini M, Zucchelli G. Full-mouth treatment of gingival recessions and noncarious cervical lesions with coronally advanced flap and xenogeneic collagen matrix: a 2-year case report. Int J Esthet Dent. 2016;11(4):506–18.



Material Options for the Esthetic Dental Team

Peter Pizzi

Contents

4.1	Tooth Preparation	94
4.2	Veneer Materials	95
4.3	Zirconia Monolithic or Layered.	97
4.4	Lithium Disilicate or Silicate Substructures.	100
4.5	Hybrid Veneers.	100
4.6	Feldspathic Ceramic Veneers.	104
4.7	Cast Fabrication.	107
4.8	Conclusion	120

Establishing the ideal restorative case and its appropriate materials is often times difficult to attain and sustain, and we as dental professionals are undoubtedly confronted with multiple challenges along the way. As we have probably learned by now, there is no wizard hiding behind the curtain who will solve all of the many challenges we face in this ever-evolving field of dentistry. Nor is there one product or instrument that will be the end-all answer to everything either. It is important to realize that our toolbox needs to be developed and expanded and so must our knowl-edge of how to properly utilize this ever-expanding toolbox.

When considering matters of both tooth color and the offered restorative space, our ability to properly select materials is essentially one of the most critical components that we need to understand. All of the ceramic systems on the market have their own strengths and weaknesses; however our keen knowledge of these systems and how to best utilize them properly must be further developed and thereby become our strength. When mimicking nature, the restorative dental team needs to be knowledgeable, not only in factors of nature, morphology, and esthetic parameters but

P. Pizzi (🖂)

NYU College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_4

also in material optical properties and how they interact with their surroundings and space relationships. The dentists' and technicians' ability to recreate a tooth, similarly to how nature did, relies on several processes. Each of these processes has an esthetic, biologic, and technologic component.

4.1 Tooth Preparation

Although tooth preparation does not really seem to belong in a materials chapter, there are factors within the preparation process that require an understanding for material choices. The goal of the restorative process is to properly manage the functional and esthetic parameters. In the esthetic realm, tooth preparation dictates the support of the tissue and the ability to use restorative materials in order to recreate proper depth and light transmission. The amount of reduction, angulation of the axial walls, incisal/occlusal reduction, and the amount of enamel left behind play a crucial role in the esthetic and functional success of the restoration. To control our outcomes, we must first understand that the role of tooth preparation has several factors. Preparing a tooth because of damage, caries, or esthetic purposes must always be done as conservatively as possible to save its biomechanical structure. Preserving healthy tooth structure must ultimately always be our goal.

The thought process should be focused around four key factors:

- 1. Biomechanical preservation.
- Restorative space needed for material options and their ability to protect and balance esthetic outcomes.
- 3. Margin placement and design.
- 4. Adhesive or cohesive considerations.

When it comes to material selection, the space required to achieve maximum results can vary. Part of the clinician's role is to provide space for the dental technician to be able to utilize appropriate materials, both esthetically and functionally. Each material option is dependent on the space provided and the ability to adhesively or cohesively place the restorative material. In the past, all full coverage materials required minimal reduction of 1.2–1.5 mm. This reduction is still commonly observed today and influences most substructure-related full coverage restorations. The evolution of dental materials allows us to work in reduced restorative spaces, with some additional advantages and disadvantages (Fig. 4.1).

Veneer restorative cases both save tooth structure and simultaneously challenge the ceramist to create depth with minimal thickness.

Preparations for veneers can be broken into three categories:

- 1. No-prep or window-type veneers (Fig. 4.2).
- 2. Minimal facial preparation (Fig. 4.3).
- 3. Facial, incisal preparation (Fig. 4.4).

Fig. 4.1 Full coverage restorations require 1.2–1.5 mm of restorative space. For veneer preparations this can be adjusted from 0 reduction to aggressively 1 mm of reduction





Fig. 4.2 Zero reductive surfaces, ideally used for interproximal closure and slight tooth form modifications

4.2 Veneer Materials

The proper formulation of each veneer contributes largely to the final functional and esthetic outcome of our restorative work. Technology and material advancements have given us many more options to choose from. Similar to every old and new material, each has their own advantages and disadvantages. First generations of veneers were done by means of either the refractory or foil technique with feldspathic porcelain. Today, although that is still the ideal esthetic option, we do have Fig. 4.3 Minimal facial reduction. This is ideal for slight contour changes, closing diastemas, or slightly improved esthetics



Fig. 4.4 Allows for the most esthetic improvements in color, form, and tooth position. A quality impression allows for a repeatable cast and insures the veneer fit [Impression Bernadette Sawa DDS]



the ability to use several thin substructures made to be used as either a monolithic, microlayered, or fully layered veneer materials. All substructures must be designed with support in mind for the layered ceramic overlay, functional nuances, and esthetic parameters of each case. This requires a significant understanding of tooth form and is not as simple as pulling teeth from a digital library or dipping dies into a dipping wax (Figs. 4.5–4.7).

Most dental materials are measured in megapascal (MPa) strengths. One could argue that MPa is not the best way of predicting material viability for intraoral use, as this process of testing materials expresses more about hardness of the material rather than the true strength of the material. True strength is a combination of rigidity and flexibility, and together they create strength (Fig. 4.8). In a digital world, the uses of milled products are also rapidly evolving and are becoming very useful for esthetic options, as either monolithic or layered veneers. When layered, the submaterial, also known as a substructure, will typically be milled or pressed very thin to allow space for fully layered or microlayered ceramics.



Fig. 4.5 Refractory veneers. The authors feel that this is still the best for optics as the ceramist could choose the correct opacity or translucency as needed for the space being filled. Retracted view of maxillary arch restored [Clinical dentistry Bernadette Sawa DDS]



Figs. 4.6 and 4.7 Pressed or milled substructures are best when microlayered. Optically when only stained, the light optics will reflect from the surface appearing dead

4.3 Zirconia Monolithic or Layered

As the base material of zirconia has evolved from yttrium based to cubic stages, zirconia has become more translucent and provided technicians with more options due its esthetic appearance. In the past, the chalky white nature of the material and lack of bond ability deemed it a poor choice as a true "veneer" and therefore was



Fig. 4.8 The author feels that a megapascal test may not be the best resource for understanding our materials

utilized mainly as full coverage restorations. Touted as a very strong material, zirconia has been widely accepted in the dental profession today and has advanced in many areas. The MPa strengths decreased as the translucency became greater with zirconia materials. Today's monolithic materials that are highly translucent and come pre-shaded are certainly abundant. Although there is still much controversy on the bond ability of zirconia, it can be cohesively placed as a veneer. Several challenges remain with milling strategies when utilizing more translucent materials and the more critical the final sintering temperatures has become. The limitations of monolithic materials remain based on managing color and space with only one material, as well as selecting the correct opacity to enhance the existing preparation shade or mask the darkened preparation shade. Staining monolithic materials is applied similarly to metallic oxide stains and alters the reflective light index of the material. This tends to present a "lifeless" appearance and can also wear off over time, because staining materials are only surface stains and will be affected by intraoral chemicals, as well as abrasion over time.

The rigidness of the material has very low flexural rate which can limit the flexural aspects of the natural tooth, which can cause microleakage. As of today, zirconia is still best utilized as a cemented material, and even though there have been many advances in its bond ability, at the point of this writing, bonding zirconia is still not clinically documented over a long-term period (Figs. 4.9 and 4.10). Microlayering of ceramics remains the better process, as different powders provide for more natural coloration and the color remains stable. Creating depth, translucency, and opacity on the zirconia substructure is limited to the space provided and the technician's knowledge of the veneering ceramics.



Figs. 4.9 and 4.10 One advantage of zirconia is its ability to mask prep shades, but the disadvantage is that it is not a bondable material (see Materials section) and requires more preparation reduction to create dowel and ferrule

4.4 Lithium Disilicate or Silicate Substructures

Similar to a zirconia substructure, lithium disilicate or lithium silicate provides many options when it comes to translucencies, and they can be milled or pressed. Pressed LD/S is more observed throughout the dental profession and produces less wear and tear on milling equipment. Milled LD/S is common as a chair-side option and laboratories offer these procedures too.

Pressing LD is the more observed method; however inherited inaccuracies in wax and the investing process can introduce further discrepancies. Several types of LD/S exist today, and as with all materials, they too have both advantages and disadvantages. For the author, the best aspect of using LD/S materials is its ability to be either bond or cement and their ability to be utilized in minimal spaces. This adhesive/cohesive nature allows us to use LD/S in many situations including full coverage, veneers, onlays, and window veneers. For the author, this material is one of the most universal materials with a broad spectrum of indications. The most obvious disadvantage with LD/S materials is their esthetic limitations.

Based on the nature of the material and the process by which manufacturers use to produce a pressable ingot, LD/S tends to have a "low-value" appearance. This is caused mainly due to the ceramic's nature of "glassing out" during repeated firing cycles. To produce a pressed material, the grain size must be manufactured in a much smaller particle size and be repeatedly fired at high temperatures in order to allow the pressing cycle to push the molten ceramic into the vacant mold.

Lithium disilicate/silicate milling tends to have a slightly higher-value appearance, since the process of pressing at high heat rates is eliminated and it can be slightly more color and opacity stable. Like zirconia the options to use LD/S as a monolithic or layered material exist. From the author's perspective, LD/S would be the preferred option over ZR materials at the time of writing this chapter. Like zirconia, LD/S staining on monolithic is surface characterized. Microlayering with lower fusing ceramic materials adds a greater level of esthetics, and it is preferred for higher-level esthetic cases (Figs. 4.11–4.27). Milling lithium silicate is an option that is becoming more supported both chair side and in laboratories. Milled materials have very accurate fits and can but used either microlayered or monolithic (Figs. 4.28–4.30).

4.5 Hybrid Veneers

With the evolution of materials and digital impressions, there are many more options in our dental toolbox, and even more options will follow. When recreating nature, the material choices should closely emulate the natural abilities of what nature has created. As we continue to evolve, our materials will become closer to nature, and we will continue to incorporate them into the oral environment. Composites, either direct or indirect, have some of the closet light interaction and behavior that we see

Fig. 4.11 Pre-op photos of our patient



Fig. 4.12 Acquired smile shows some display but obviously an esthetic liability



Fig. 4.13 Retracted view shows all discrepancies as patient suffers from *fluorosis*







Fig. 4.15 Lingual view shows the preparation type as facial and incisal. Minimal reduction facial and increase of incisal position



in nature, and although there is an art to developing a direct composition veneer, the end results can be outstanding. The challenge is that they encompass a lot of chair time and, like most resin-based products, tend to discolor and wear at a fairly fast rate depending on the nature of the oral environment and how they are treated. Indirect composites can sometimes have a slightly longer intraoral life span, but from the author's point of view, these materials are still best suited for long-term provisional restorations.

Fig. 4.16 Wax-up is adjusted for ceramic layering



Fig. 4.17 Wax-up can be pressed using lithium disilicate or scanned and milled using lithium silicate. The author prefers milling lithium silicate for esthetic results







Fig. 4.19 Light transmission of the incisal edge shows the importance of material selections



As we move into the newer generation of composites or nano-hybrids, newer nanomaterials are composed of silicon dioxide, aluminum oxide, sodium oxide, and potassium oxide suspended in a resin matrix, which helps make them behave more like ceramic materials and zirconia. Calling them simply composites makes them sound as if they are resin-filled materials, which would be


Figs. 4.20–4.22 Final restorations on the cast

inaccurate. These materials are the true definition of strength, as they are both rigid and have flexibility. Materials with similar functional abilities to nature like Enamic [Vita EU] are the future of minimally invasive dentistry (Figs. 4.31 and 4.32).

4.6 Feldspathic Ceramic Veneers

The author's opinion is that feldspathic veneers layered, with the proper knowledge and information, are still the ultimate in esthetic dentistry. Today's evolution of material allows us to mill ceramic and creates an excellent opportunity to use technology and artistry in a combined manner. Milling a ceramic substructure that can be layered with feldspathic ceramic is in the author's belief a large part of the future of esthetic dentistry (Fig. 4.33). When developing anterior form, the use of an alveolar cast is always recommended to manage the emergence profile and create final contour. Although fabrication of the alveolar cast can be quite challenging, the



Figs. 4.23–4.25 Final restoration post-cementation

Fig. 4.26 Close-up of the maxillary restorations



Fig. 4.27 Lip dynamic as the new repose position has age-appropriate display







information provided by the cast creates the optimal esthetic results for managing emergence profile and papilla support and placement. The alveolar cast is mostly used in a refractory veneer technique but has merit in other restorative options. When working with foil veneers, the gingival integrity is disrupted to allow for the position of the foil past the working finish line (Figs. 4.33–4.57).





Fig. 4.30 Sinter time is only 16 minutes and done in a basic ceramic furnace. No color or glaze



4.7 Cast Fabrication

Several versions of the alveolar cast have been used throughout history in the dental profession. Although each version has its challenges, the evolution of the alveolar cast has created an accurate representation of the oral environment.

Steps:

- 1. The cast is masked out to allow a pour of the prepared teeth only.
- 2. Type 4 die stone is poured into the vacant cast filling to the max height of the impression.
- 3. After the stone has cured, it is removed, and the long axis of both the facial and interproximal is marked to align the final position in the removable die.
- 4. Using the facial and interproximal lines, the base of the prepared tooth is trimmed similar to the root formation and notched for future retention in the cast.
- 5. Completed dies are duplicated and poured 2×.
- 6. Duplicated dies are treated with a sealer and spacer (die 1 sealer from gingival down, die 2 sealer and spacer on the coronal surface).
- 7. Die 1 is seated in the impression and coated with a lubricant before the pouring of new stone. Die 2 is the reduped and used to fabricate the final working refractory die material.
- 8. Final cast is verified with the use of a matrix taken from a solid second pour.

Feldspathic veneers require more of a working knowledge of the ceramic materials, as well as the appropriate placement of each. The ceramist's knowledge



regarding opacity, translucency, and space must be at the highest level. This is why the author stresses the importance of preparation design and adhesive ability. A simple approach to these issues begins with the realization that our job is to fill the space provided by our dental teammates. How we fill this space depends on several factors, i.e.: Fig. 4.34 Patient presents for esthetic improvement







- The information provided.
- · The accuracy of the impression and cast.
- The amount of space provided.
- The selection of materials and/or type of restoration.
- The functional ability of what is being replaced.
- Your understanding of natural dentition.

It seems most technicians are comfortable with a two-powder buildup without understanding the ability of other powders or materials. Each opacious dentin, dentin, enamel, marginal, translucent, or modifier has many uses depending on our knowledge of when and where to utilize them. Different colors of the prepared teeth may help or hinder the ability of these powders to look vital. Shade communication and preparation shading must be presented as addressed in other chapters.

Fig. 4.36 Incisal display and lip dynamic can be improved



Fig. 4.37 Retracted view shows all the concerns the patient discussed: color, diastema, and position



Fig. 4.38 After a diagnostic wax-up, teeth are minimally prepared



There are two major challenges within this scenario. Natural dentition, if analyzed, will always show more than one value and/or hue; therefore shade tabs are not a true and accurate representation of natural teeth or our ceramic materials. To verify this, the use of natural teeth and/or photography is essential. Natural teeth can be requested from your local oral surgeons, and although different

Fig. 4.39 Prep shades are indicated







Fig. 4.41 A laboratory fabricated clear matrix is fabricated. This allows for composite materials to be light cured through the matrix



laws apply regarding this transfer, they should be fairly easy to obtain. These teeth must remain hydrated to prevent color loss, since color will be critical to understanding the shape and structure. Each tooth can then be photographed with different light sources and should be modified via bisection, cross section, and enamel removal.

Fig. 4.42 Retracted composite provisionals (Bisco reveal)



Fig. 4.43 New incisal position and plane



Fig. 4.44 A quality impression allows for a repeatable cast and insures the veneer fit



A key in the observation of these teeth is to notice their heights of contour and their marginal boundaries, which would essentially create their embrasure space and emergence profile. An examination of occlusal surfaces of the posterior teeth will reveal many irregular shapes that are critical to reproduce natural-appearing restorations. Subsequently, we must remember that color in ceramic materials is supported





Fig. 4.46 A refractory alveolar cast is fabricated and used for ceramic layering



Figs. 4.47 and 4.48 Fluorescent liner materials are used as a wash bake to seal refractory dies and create internal fluorescent surface



and directly related to its thickness. Most manufacturers tend to colorize their powders based on 1 mm (dentin) and 0.5 mm (enamel) depth. Color pigments are added to emulate the proper chroma saturation based on thickness. Some companies incorporate color pigmentation in each grain of their material, which enables the powder to maintain more accurate color saturation at different thickness. An example of this is evident when matching an A3 shade tab by utilizing 1 mm of A3 dentin powder and 0.5 mm of enamel. A change in dentin thickness would change the chroma saturation, causing a shade that appears either too high or too low in value.

Fig. 4.49 Ceramic materials, base dentin, transparent dentins, effect enamels, mamelons, and effect chromas are applied



Fig. 4.50 Rear light shows effects of opacified materials and translucent materials as light transmits or absorbs



Fig. 4.51 Fired ceramic checked for contour



Fig. 4.52 Rear light transmission after ceramic fire shows the optics of the fired material



Fig. 4.53 Final restorations glazed and polished



Fig. 4.54 Inserted veneers shows new incisal position



Fig. 4.55 Retracted view of maxillary arch restored



Fig. 4.56 Full face shows the esthetic changes and the patients' emotions



Fig. 4.57 Sagittal view exhibits a bright but natural esthetic result



The use of shade guides are common and an important tool, but they are not the ends all for color communication, mainly because they lack certain color pigments and because of their press-molded thickness, which can average well beyond that of the space being filled. Yet they provide a comfort zone for our doctors to communicate color. With the advent of digital photography and shade-taking devices, a new door of communication has been opened, and a step outside our comfort zone is welcoming us in. Similar to our doctors' comfort zone, we as technicians tend to work with two or three powders because this has become our comfort zone. However, a proper understanding of the materials we use and natural dentition allows us to utilize these powders more effectively and enables us to transmit light, thus creating a more natural and esthetic restoration. The key to understanding these systems is to realize that each powder has a different index of refraction which is responsible for the amount of light that can be absorbed, refracted, or reflected from its surface. The more opacious the material, the more reflection occurs. The more translucent a material, the more the material absorbs the light.

Establishing a combination of these materials is what will allow light to dance throughout our restorations and appear more natural in the oral environment. The value and contour of our restorations are the most critical factors of how the restoration blends in the oral environment. The author's feeling on this is that slightest color differentials will only make the restoration appear more natural, whereas an incorrect value or form will make it stand out (Figs. 4.58–4.76).



Figs. 4.58–4.76 Veneer cases with ceramic buildups



Figs. 4.58–4.76 (continued)



Figs. 4.58–4.76 (continued)



Figs. 4.58-4.76 (continued)

4.8 Conclusion

Our understanding of material options, optical properties, and the management of space is what will set the technician/dentist teams apart in the years to come. Patient satisfaction will dominate the growth of practices and the quality the practitioners will be rewarded for their artistic creativity and case management skill set. As the material options keep evolving, it will be our adaptability that will help ease the patient acceptability and confidence in their choosing of the dental team.



Shade Evaluation for Porcelain Laminate Veneers (PLV)

Irfan Ahmad

Contents

5.1	Introduction	121
5.2	Chromatic and Optical Properties of Teeth	122
5.3	Tooth Colour Space.	126
5.4	Perceptible Versus Acceptable	128
5.5	Shade Evaluation Methods.	129
5.6	Visual Shade Evaluation	130
5.7	Factors Affecting Visual Shade Evaluation.	133
5.8	Instrumental (Digital) Shade Evaluation.	143
5.9	Photodocumentation (Digital) Shade Evaluation	145
5.10	3D IOS (Digital) Shade Evaluation.	151
5.11	Synopsis.	152
Refere	ences	152

5.1 Introduction

The ability to blend an artificial restoration with natural teeth is fundamental for a successful aesthetic outcome. The marriage of optically disparate materials is challenging and, at times, frustrating for both the clinician and ceramist. Colour is shrouded in mystery; it can conjure emotions, connotations of appraisal or rejection, yet defining this complex entity involves both scientific disciplines and artistic flair. Furthermore, colour defies absolute definition; communicating a particular colour involves referring to another item for its description. For example, describing 'red' may involve referring to 'a red apple' or 'red as blood'—Fig. 5.1. This inadequacy

I. Ahmad (🖂)

College of Dentistry, Imam Abdulrahman Bin Faisal University, Dammam, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_5



Fig. 5.1 Defining a colour in absolute terms is difficult unless reference is made to another item, e.g. 'as red as ...'

of absolute definition places further burden when trying to objectively analyse or match a particular colour.

Determining a shade for an artificial restoration involves analysis, comprehension and communication. This sequential strategy ensures that what is seen clinically is conveyed, as precisely as possible, to the ceramist so that an artificial restoration chromatically integrates with the adjacent and antagonist teeth [1, 2]. The starting point for achieving this objective is understanding the chromatic and optical properties of natural teeth.

5.2 Chromatic and Optical Properties of Teeth

The appearance of a tooth is determined by the interaction of light with its surface and underlying layers. Surface topography is both visual and tactile, divided into macromorphology, micromorphology (or texture) and lustre. Macromorphology refers to the gross anatomical form, including line angles, surface undulations, concave and convex contours, incisal edge wear and cuspal inclines. Reproducing macromorphology in artificial restorations determines the amount of light that is reflected and hence the way a tooth is perceived. A convex surface encourages reflection, increasing value, altering hue and giving a tooth more prominence in the arch. The opposite is the case for a concave surface that attenuates reflection, reduces value and makes the tooth appear less conspicuous (Fig. 5.2).

Micromorphology encompasses vertical and horizontal surface texture such as developmental lobes, grooves and perikymata (Fig. 5.3). Perikymata are prevalent in youth dentition but gradually diminish over time due to abrasion as the



Fig. 5.2 The morphology of a tooth determines the interaction of light at its surface, conveying depth by highlights and shadows

Fig. 5.3 Perikymata form part of the micromorphology and are prevalent in youthful dentitions



dentition ages. Furthermore, textures, such as perikymata, are extremely challenging to recreate in indirect artificial ceramic restorations and need to be periodically adjusted to match physiological wear of the surrounding natural teeth. Also, texture influences light interactions at the surface by specular reflection off a smooth or polished surface, which conveys a brighter, larger and more prominent tooth, compared to a dull surface with diffuse reflections that conveys a smaller, inconspicuous tooth. This is because more light, and hence more wavelengths, is reflected by a polished surface, which also alters hue and makes the tooth appear whiter, brighter and closer. Conversely, a rough surface texture has diminished reflection and makes the tooth appear darker, duller and distant. The last factor affecting surface light interaction is lustre. Lustre determines not only the amount of light reflected off a surface but also the degree of translucency. Lustre and translucency are inextricably linked but often confused. A highly polished transparent object (e.g. glass) possesses greater translucency but a lower value since more light is transmitted through the object and less reflected off its surface. However, if the surface is roughened, translucency decreases, and value increases as more light is reflected off its surface than transmitted through the object. The interproximal contact areas and mamelons at incisal edges display a high degree of translucency. Also, besides surface texture, enamel translucency is affected by the wavelength, angle of incidence and degree of dehydration (discussed below). If a porcelain veneer has a higher value than the adjacent teeth, the porcelain can be polished to lower its value (by encouraging transmission) and, therefore, increasing its translucency. However, excessively polishing ceramics results in extremely shiny surfaces that encourage glare or specular reflection that is counterproductive to lowering value [3].

The conventional method of improving colour or masking underlying tooth discolouration with indirect restorations is either by using ceramic opaques or by creating more space by deeper tooth preparation, allowing the ceramist to create several porcelain layers for achieving the desired shade. The use of opaques results in a bland, lifeless appearance, while excessive tooth reduction is discouraged in order to keep the preparation within enamel for superior adhesive bonding. From the discussion above, it is obvious that defining the enamel terrain affects light interaction at the surface that affects hue and value and, therefore, the apparent perceived position of a tooth. Hence, this approach offers an alternative for manipulating the shade (or improving colour) and the apparent position of a tooth. By deliberate and judicial changing of macromorphology, micromorphology (texture) and lustre, 'optical orthodontics' is possible by making teeth appear less or more prominent in the arches without physically moving them. This is particularly useful for resolving certain types of imbrications, rotations or misalignment using PLV without resorting to protracted orthodontic treatment.

The interplay of light is not restricted to the tooth surface but also within enamel and dentine and the pulp, which all influence the perceived shade. Incident light can be reflected, refracted, transmitted or absorbed, and it is the proportions in which these occur that influence the ultimate appearance. In addition, translucency, fluorescence, opalescence and iridescence (aka goniochromism) also affect the tooth shade. As previously mentioned, translucency is influenced by the wavelength of the light and its angle of incidence, texture and lustre and the degree of dehydration. Fluorescence confers vitality and is primarily a property of dentine. Adding fluorescent pigments to a porcelain build-up increases value, decreases chroma and is useful for blocking out underlying tooth substrate discolouration. Opalescence is predominantly a property of enamel, usually at the incisal edges, which appear as an orange aura with transmitted light and a bluish glow with reflected light. Opalescence is mimicked in dental ceramics by the addition of opalescent pigments and dyes (Fig. 5.4). Finally, goniochromism is an optical surface phenomenon, akin to 'mother of pearl', peacock feathers or rainbow appearance on soap bubbles (Fig. 5.5).



Fig. 5.4 Optical properties of natural teeth: a 'middle-aged' natural tooth with incisal edge wear viewed with daylight and UV (ultraviolet) illumination. The delineation of enamel and dentine layers and their optical properties such as reflection, transmittance, opalescence and fluorescence are clearly visible: (1) the enamel overly is thickest at the incisal edge and thins towards the cervical margin; (2) the shining band of high luminosity between the enamel and dentine layers is responsible for internal diffusion of light; (3) secondary dentine deposition (deeper chroma) at the incisal edge due to physiological reactionary response to tooth wear; (4) diminishing dentine chroma from the internal (near pulp) to the outer aspects of the dentine layer (towards enamel); (5) fluorescence of both the dentine (predominantly) and enamel layers with UV light; and (6) opalescence bluish appearance of the buccal enamel at the incisal edges with reflected light

Fig. 5.5 Goniochromism or iridescence is an optical surface phenomenon, e.g. a rainbow effect on soap bubbles



Goniochromism is the ability of an object to appear differently depending on the angle of view or the angle of incidence of the illumination. Practically, this means that viewing a tooth from different angles (or varying the position of the light source) may conceal or reveal a restoration or hide or make tooth characterisations more conspicuous. This property is challenging to replicate in synthetic restorations and requires a skilled, artistic and experienced ceramist.

5.3 Tooth Colour Space

The natural tooth colour space is an envelope, or gamut of colour, of the visible electromagnetic spectrum symbolised as a banana shape on the psychometric colour space (Fig. 5.6). It is located between the CIE colour coordinates +a* and +b*, which broadly represent colours in the light-red and light-yellow regions [4]—Fig. 5.7. Therefore, lighter, less intense teeth have a greater proportion of yellow, while darker, more intense teeth have a higher proportion of red. Ideally, any



Fig. 5.6 Tooth colour space of natural teeth is depicted by a banana-shaped colour gamut









comparison method for shade evaluation, e.g. by shade tabs, should represent the full coverage of the natural tooth colour space.

The foremost aspect to realise is that each tooth in a dental arch has a different hue, with unique distribution of value and chroma. Typically, value is lowest at the cervical regions due to a thinner enamel overlay and highest at the incisal edges where the enamel layer is thickest. The thickness of the enamel layer also determines the extent of reflectively and opacity and influences the underlying dentine colour, which is pronounced at the cervical regions with intense chroma. While younger teeth have larger pulps that confer a pinkish glow, aged teeth with secondary and sclerotic dentine display deeper chroma with reduced value (Figs. 5.8 and 5.9). Hence, to mimic natural teeth by artificial restorations and to avoid a lacklustre bland dentition, it is essential to vary hue, value, chroma and translucency within and between individual prosthetic units.

Another important factor is that a natural tooth is in a state of continual chromatic flux, i.e. the shade of a tooth is constantly changing throughout life. This also applies to artificial restorations, which compromise their long-term



Fig. 5.9 Aged teeth have low value with secondary and sclerotic dentine that results in deeper chroma

chromatic stability. Any chromogen that affects the enamel, dentine or pulp causes a colour shift in the tooth. The clinical presentation of colour change is polychromatic and cause related, appearing as bright white, creamy, yellow, orange, red, brown, grey, black or capricious variations such as green, purple, violet or even golden. Therefore, it is essential to elucidate the cause(s) of discolouration before prescribing an aesthetic restoration, which may be ineffective if the cause is unresolved. Tooth discolouration is often multifactorial, with combined aetiology and varied clinical presentation, and is broadly classified as intrinsic, extrinsic and internalised, i.e. post-developmental intrinsic staining [5, 6]. Also, colour fluctuation, and its aetiology, can either be transient, such as dietary pigments, or insidious such as indelible enamel staining due to leaching amalgam restorations.

5.4 Perceptible Versus Acceptable

In order to determine the accuracy of a shade match, the difference between the target or specimen is compared to a reference, and the difference is represented according to the Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage or CIE L*a*b* chromaticity (or colour) coordinates using the following formula:

$$\Delta E *_{ab} = \left(\Delta L^{*2} + \Delta a^{*2} + \Delta b^{*2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where:

 ΔE_{*ab} is total colour change. ΔL is difference in lightness (0 for white, 100 for black). Δa_* and Δb_* are differences in the chromaticity (or colour) coordinates a_* and b_* .

The a* coordinate represents the red-green colours: a positive value is red, while a negative value is green. Similarly, the b* coordinate represents the yellow-blue

colours: a positive value is yellow, while a negative value is blue (see Fig. 5.7). A perfect match between the specimen and a reference equates to $\Delta E = 0$, where ' Δ ' is the difference and 'E' represents 'Empfindung' the German for sensation or perception.

Therefore, to achieve a perfect colour match between two objects, the stimuli from two objects must produce the same cone signal in the retina, i.e. $\Delta E = 0$. Currently, there is no concord in the dental literature about the degree of colour difference that is clinically necessary for a restoration to be classed as a good match [7].

The threshold for clinically perceptible and clinically acceptable shade matches varies from individual to individual. In addition, a perceived colour may be judged differently by the same individual depending on innumerable factors such as temperament, fatigue, time of day, etc. [8]. The literature is ambiguous regarding the values for perceptibility threshold (PT) and acceptability threshold (AT) [9]. The consensus is that a $\Delta E = 1$ for PT for 50% of observers, while the AT is higher, with an average $\Delta E = 3.7$ for 50% of observers [10]. However, there is wide variance, and the quoted values for ΔE for PT and AT should not be regarded as sacrosanct [11]. The reasons for these discrepancies are because the perception colour is both a physiological tangible and psychological intangible process [12]. In addition, the methods for measuring colour depend on experimental set-up that are often sui generis, and therefore comparing results of different studies is problematic and meaningless. However, there is general agreement that the ΔE values between visual and instrumental shade assessment are substantial, but within clinically acceptable parameters [13]. However, the new CIEDE2000 colour difference formula defines the PT limit as 1.275 and the AT limit as 2.24 to compensate for discrepancies in previous assessment criteria [14]. Another factor often omitted in the shade conundrum is the patient knowledge base, which has exponentially increased with access to the internet. Whereas in the past a ΔE of 4–6 may have been tolerated or even accepted, but today the informed and knowledgeable patient demands a ΔE value nearer to visual perception rather than clinical acceptance. Furthermore, technology has also raised the bar for photography, which now offers incredible quality that even minor mismatches are instantly noticeable simply by taking a selfie, placing greater burden on both the clinician and ceramist to deliver promised expectations.

5.5 Shade Evaluation Methods

Shade evaluation presents a formidable challenge since teeth are multilayered, semi-translucent, anisotropic, curvaceous, fluorescent, opalescent and iridescent, which complicate the process for precisely determining or matching a shade to these unique entities. There are two basic methods for shade evaluation: visual and digital. The visual method is a subjective approach comparing or matching shade tabs with target teeth. The digital methods are objective and further subdivided into numerical colour data measurements with colour-measuring devices and/or software analysis of 2D photographic images (photodocumentation) or 3D intra-oral

scans [15]. At present, it is prudent to use for a combination of visual and digital methods for shade analysis, since both are synergistic to a favourable outcome [16]. In addition, it is important to involve the patient (and their family and friends) throughout the shade-matching process; after all, it is they who are the ultimate arbitrators.

5.6 Visual Shade Evaluation

Matching a reference shade tab to a natural tooth is the basis of visual tooth shade evaluation. It is based on the principle of chromatic differentiation by comparison, dating back to the beginning of the last century [17]. Historically, manufacturers have tried, and struggled, to resolve the issue of inconsistency and unpredictability of tooth shade-matching guides. The first shade guide proposed by Clark [18], nearly a century ago, was based on the Munsell colour system. Since then, several scholars have demonstrated that natural tooth colour space is larger than that depicted by the guide, and subsequent newer guides were introduced to compensate for this limited coverage or coverage error [19]. In addition, some shade tabs were located outside the natural tooth colour space [20]. The extent of coverage is further complicated because tooth colour space is unique to a particular race or ethnicity [21]. Therefore, if shade matching is elusive, it may be necessary to use a different or a combination of shade guides to broaden the colour space coverage. Besides coverage error, other issues that complicate the validity of shade guides are disparate materials used for manufacturing guides, the thickness of the individual tabs and inadequate translucency representation, to name a few.

Although objective instrumental methods yield more consistent and predictable results, the visual method is still the most popular and cannot be completely abandoned [22]. There are two types of shade guides, either hue-based or value-based. The former (hue-based) was the first and is the most popular, such as the VITA classical (VITA Zahnfabrik, Bad Säckingen, Germany), Chomascop (Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein), Esthet-X (Dentsply Sirona, Germany), Bioform Porcelain Shade Guide (Dentsply Sirona, Germany), Noritake Shade Guide (Kuraray, Japan) or Vintage Halo (Shofu, Japan). An example of the latter (value-based) is the VITA 3D-Master (VITA Zahnfabrik, Bad Säckingen, Germany). There are several charts and conversion tables for the different shade guides [23].

Although derided as unsystematic, lacking uniform tooth colour space and erratic incremental shade steps (Fig. 5.10), after more than half a century, the VITA classical shade guide still remains the predominant guide for visual shade evaluation [24–27]. The VITA classical guide is empirically based (16 tabs), while its successor, the VITA 3D-Master (26 tabs) is evidence based (Figs. 5.11 and 5.12). The VITA 3D-Master is a step in the right direction to placate the criticism hurled at its predecessor [28]. It represents natural tooth colour space more precisely and performs shade evaluation more systematically (Fig. 5.13) (following the Munsell three-dimensional colour system), using a sequential assessment of value, followed by chroma and, lastly, hue. Several studies have unanimously

Fig. 5.10 VITA classical guide has a haphazard arrangement of shade tabs, some outside the natural tooth colour space







confirmed that identifying value is easier than chroma and hue [29, 30], and hence, the value-based guides have a logical approach that produces more consistent and repeatable results [31]. Therefore, shade matching with the 3D-Master is more reliable, with a superior shade-matching capacity, compared to VITA classical [32]. Also, the supplementary three Bleachguide tabs can be added to the regular 26 tabs to expand the guide to include 'bleached tooth colour space'.









Another useful adjunct is the Linearguide tab receptacle, which facilitates comparisons of closely matching tabs by organising them in a linear fashion adjacent to the target tooth.

There is also a useful training tool for the 3D-Master called the Toothguide Training Box (TTB) system, introduced by VITA, for helping clinicians and technicians understand and learn the principles behind value-based guides [33]. The TTB unit was invented in 2002, by Prof. Dr. H.A. Jakstadt, and manufactured by Norwark

Engineering [34] and is a computer-aided, hands-on training apparatus that is easy to use, enjoyable and informative. However, whether TTB improves shade selection is debatable [35]. A study has reported that the interrater agreement is relatively low at only 30% for both the classical and 3D-Master guides [36]. Also, it is worth remembering that the majority of human dentition, greater than 80%, is located within the VITA classical A shade tabs [37, 38] and 50% within the lightness group 3 of the VITA 3D-Master guide.

If commercially available shade guides are unable to match a target tooth; the only option is fabricating a bespoke shade guide using composites or ceramics. This ensures that the shade guide is made from the same particular composite or ceramic that is used for the definitive restoration. Therefore, it avoids issues of mismatch from different manufacturers or material batches and, in theory, delivers more consistent and accurate shade matching. A personalised shade guide can be produced in the clinic or dental laboratory using accessories such as My Shade Guide Mini or Master Kits (Smile Line, Saint-Imier, Switzerland).

5.7 Factors Affecting Visual Shade Evaluation

Having chosen the appropriate shade guide, the next stage is controlling or standardising factors that affect visual shade evaluation. The list below is not exhaustive, but highlights the major variables, and suggests contingency measures for overcoming these obstacles.

Operator factors-It is a broad category signifying that colour perception is unique to an individual depending on constitution, gender [39], age [40], psychological and emotional make-up, experience, fatigue, systematic ailments, medication (prescribed and recreational), colour blindness or specific ophthalmologic diseases [41]. There is broad agreement that many of these variables influence shade selection, e.g. vision deficiencies or age-related corneal degeneration [42, 43]. In addition, genetically acquired colour vision deficiencies such as X-linked recessive hereditary traits, which are more prevalent in men (8%) than women (2%) [44], impact colour perception. However, colour of the iris [45] or wearing prescription spectacles/contact lenses for correcting ophthalmic refraction issues, such as astigmatism, hypermetropia or myopia, has no influence on the shade-matching ability [46]. But for some variables, there is no unanimous agreement, for example, gender, which is a contentious issue [44]. Some studies state that men are trichromatic and females tetrachromatic, giving females the advantage to 'see' more colour [47], but others have found that gender plays little or no part in shade evaluation. There are several simple and effective online colour blindness tests, such as the Ishihara or Farnsworth-Munsell 100 hue colour vision tests, which are useful for determining the degree of colour blindness and whether these errors can thwart successful shade assessment [48, 49].

Training—There is no unanimous agreement whether or not training is essential for shade matching. Some research emphasises that training is essential for predictable visual shade assessment [50], while other research shows insignificant impact

between seasoned dental professionals [51], dental students [52, 53] and laypersons [54]. As they say, you don't need a weatherman. Nevertheless, familiarity with a specific shade guide or system does increase predictability and consistency [55]. Also, training and knowledge about colour-matching theories are essential for understanding the principles of shade evaluation.

Afterimages and chromatic adaptation—Other terminology to describe this phenomenon is colour fatigue, hue accommodation or colour minuthesis. In order to mitigate complementary colour or negative afterimages, it is essential that the surroundings are neutral, devoid of lurid colours such as bright lipstick or ostentatious clothing. Tooth shade comparison using shade tabs should be assessed for less than 5 s [56] to prevent the influences of colour (chromatic) adaptation, which also causes colour (or negative) afterimages by microsaccades [57]. Also, the operator should periodically take a 'chromatic break' by looking at an 18% neutral density grey card, before resuming the shade evaluation session. Some authorities suggest temporarily gazing at a blue background or card to give the eyes a rest. However, this fatigues the blue cone receptors in the retina, making the yellow/orange receptors more sensitive to complementary yellow/orange, which causes inconsistent and inaccurate shade matches [58]—Fig. 5.14. Also, shade determination should not be performed after using a dental curing light, especially if the operator has



Fig. 5.14 Afterimages: distracting coloured backgrounds cause complementary colour afterimages that result in inaccurate shade determination. For example, a red background causes complementary green afterimages (top) or a blue background causes complementary yellow afterimages (bottom). An 18% neutral grey background (middle) is the ideal surrounding to mitigate afterimages

inadvertently directly stared at the blue light or through an 'orange shied', both of which cause unwanted complementary colour afterimages.

Colour temperature—It is measured in Kelvin (1 K is equivalent to -272.15 °C). Colour temperature is defined as the visible light emitted when a black body is heated to a specific temperature. A low colour temperature confers a warmer glow (e.g. incandescent household lights—3200 K), while a high temperature a cooler ambience (e.g. fluorescent office lights—4500 K). The often quoted daylight temperature of 6500 K (D₆₅) is a combination of sunlight and skylight, while photographic daylight is 5500 K, when all three additive primary colour (red, green and blue) are present in equal proportions. Ideally, shade evaluation should be performed with standardised illumination using both daylight is an option, due to erratic weather conditions and time of day, this can result in an inconsistent environment. A better choice is using portable standardised shade-matching light units, which not only offer the correct colour temperature (often with an option to select different colour temperatures) but also have the correct intensity, brightness and colour rendering index.

Colour rendering index (CRI)—The CIE colour rendering index (CRI) [59] represents the quantitative distribution of wavelengths of the visible spectrum, ranging from blue/violet to red (380–720 nm), at a given correlated colour temperature (CCT) [60]. CRI is independent of the colour temperature and measures the ability



Fig. 5.15 Shade determination at different colour temperatures to avoid metamerism. The background image is 5550 K, the warmer illumination is 3200 K, and the cooler illumination is 6500 K



Fig. 5.16 CRI (colour rendering index) is the ability of a light source to convey realistic or natural colours of objects, which is achieved when the light source has equal proportions of all wavelengths of the visible spectrum

of a light source to show realistic or natural colour of objects compared to a standard reference source, e.g. daylight (Fig. 5.16). If all the visible spectrum wavelengths are not present in equal proportions or certain wavelengths are missing in the light source, the corresponding colour(s) in the object will not be perceived accurately, resulting in surface colour distortion of the missing wavelength(s). The reason for colour distortion is that although the colour temperature of two illuminants may be identical, if they have different spectral power distribution (SPD), the lamps will render object colours differently [61]. This means that inherent colours in an object are only visible if they are illuminated by the corresponding wavelengths in the light source. For example, if wavelengths of red/green are missing in the incident light, the object will appear bluish, and vice versa for other missing wavelengths (Fig. 5.17). Conversely, colour casting refers to a light source that is coloured. For example, a white light covered with a red filter or gel will make all objects, including white objects, appear red. On the other hand, incorrect colour rendering is when an incorrect colour rendering (white) light source illuminates white objects as white, but coloured objects have noticeable distorted colour shifts due to certain missing wavelengths. Also, from a physiological perspective, the distinction between colour temperature and CRI is that the brain adapts to colour tints (such as difference in colour temperatures) by the process of chromatic adaptation, but it is unable to adapt to colour shifts due to poor colour rendering (white) light sources [62].

CIE CRI rating is expressed as R_a (general colour rendering index), which is synonymous with, and simply quoted as, the CRI rating. CRI is measured on a scale of 1–100; the lower the CRI rating, the poorer the colour rendering. A R_a (CRI) 100 indicates that all wavelengths of the entire visible spectrum are present in equal proportions or the light has an equal energy mixture. An incandescent light source has a R_a 100 that is similar to a reference light source (blackbody radiator or daylight). This is the reason that incandescent bulbs have been used for indoor lighting



Fig. 5.17 CRI—the missing wavelengths in the light source will not be represented in the surface colour of the objects, e.g. if green/blue wavelengths are missing, only red will be visible, even though the correlated colour temperature (CCT) is identical (e.g. 5500 K)

for more than a century. CRI has recently become more important since incandescent lights are being replaced by LEDs [62], which do not deliver a broad colour spectrum, resulting in inaccurate colour rendering (Fig. 5.18). For most applications such as residential, office or retail, an R_a of 80 is sufficient. However, for hospital environments or for shade matching, it is beneficial to have a broad-spectrum light source that has a high CRI > R_a 90. Finally, for side-to-side comparisons, a colour shift only becomes apparent if the R_a difference is >5.

Metamerism—It is a phenomenon when the colour of two objects matches with a particular illumination but mismatches when viewed with another light source. In order to overcome this optical nuisance in dentistry, the spectral reflectance curves of restorative materials (e.g. ceramics or composites) should be identical or as close as possible to enamel and dentine. Another prerequisite for mitigating metamerism is that the lighting in the dental laboratory and clinic should have a similar CRI index [63], and shade evaluation is performed with light sources of different colour temperatures, e.g. incandescent, fluorescent and colour-corrected LEDs.

Intensity and brightness—The acceptable luminescence quoted for dental offices ranges from 500 to 1000 lux [64], which ensures that visual shade matching is performed under accepted standardised parameters. Also, the emitted light should be diffuse rather than directional to avoid speculate reflections off shiny surfaces such as enamel. The best option is using commercial standardised shade-matching lights, which deliver illumination at the ideal colour temperature, CRI and intensity.

Standardised shade-matching lights—The dental literature has irrefutable evidence that shade matching is more accurate and repeatable using commercially available standardised shade-matching lights. There are numerous lights on the



Fig. 5.18 A high R_a or CRI rating light source reveals realistic object colours, while a low CRI rating results in colour distortions, even with identical correlated colour temperatures (CCT)

market, catering for different budgets, using either LED or halogen light sources with correct intensity, colour temperature and a CRI > 90 [65–67]. In addition, many of these devices allow selection of different colour temperatures for counteracting metamerism [68]. Some examples of these units include Demetron Shade Light (Kerr, Bioggio, Switzerland), Rite Lite 2 (AdDent, USA), Optilume Trueshade (Optident, UK) or Smile Lite (Smile Line, Saint-Imier, Switzerland). Also, it has been suggested that attaching a polarising filter onto the light avoids unwanted specular reflections. However, a recent study comparing daylight and the Smile Lite, with and without a polarising filter attachment, showed that attaching a polarising filter did not improve the efficacy of shade matching [69].

Dehydration—Although macromorphology, texture and lustre are best assessed when the teeth are dry, excessive desiccation is counterproductive for shade determination. When teeth are dehydrated by an air syringe, saliva ejectors, cotton wool rolls or rubber dam, an incorrect hue and chroma assessment is inevitable. As teeth dehydrate, water is replaced by air, which transiently causes an increase in opacity and value and decrease in chroma and translucency due to reduced transmission and increased reflection. This makes the tooth appear brighter and highlights internal characterisations such as fluorosis, cracks, intrinsic stains and shade nuances and distribution. A simple analogy is dry crushed glass that appears white with a high value, but when water is added, its translucency increases and value decreases (Fig. 5.19). The resulting ephemeral 'chromatic mirages' are counterproductive for



Fig. 5.19 Crushed dry glass appears opaque and bright (high value) because the fragments are surrounded by air and not optically connected with each other. Adding water optically connects the fragments by replacing air with water, which alters refractive index, becoming more translucent and lower value. This is similar to dehydrated teeth that appear opaque and brighter, compared to hydrated teeth that appear translucent and subdued

accurate shade analysis as they 'disappear' after 48 hours when the teeth fully rehydrate [70].

Bleached teeth—Bleached teeth have a similar appearance to dehydrated teeth, i.e. opaque with a higher value. The degree of bleaching can be gauged by using supplementary bleach shade tabs, e.g. VITA Bleachguide 3D-Master [71]. However, shade matching for new restorations should be delayed for at least a month after bleaching to allow shade rebound and stabilisation [72].

Positioning—The angle of viewing and the position of the shade tabs is also important for shade analysis. The shade tabs should be in the same optical axis as the teeth during shade determination or when taking a photograph (Fig. 5.20). The angle of view of the operator is adjusted depending on whether value or hue/chroma is being assessed. For determining value, it is advisable to look slightly to the side of the target tooth/tab/restoration so that peripheral rod vision in the retina is engaged. However, for hue/chroma, the angle of view is head-on to ensure that the foveal axis is perpendicular to the target tooth/tab/restoration [73]—Fig. 5.21. Also, a study has reported better shade assessment accuracy when the shade tabs are located in the shade guide receptacle rather than individually hand-held [74].


Fig. 5.21 Value is assessed by looking to the side to engage peripheral rod (black and white) vision, while hue/chroma is assessed with foveal cone (colour) vision by viewing perpendicular to the foveal axis

Vectoring—It is evaluating tooth shade from different angles or perspectives [75]. This is particularly significant for mapping the distribution of translucency (prevalent at the interproximal and incisal regions), chroma (deepest at the cervical aspect) and value (predominant at the incisal edges or cuspal peaks). In addition, viewing a tooth from different angles, or with different angles of illumination, allows assessment of goniochromism.

Distance of viewing—A substantial amount of literature about dental aesthetics stresses that tooth morphology and alignment take precedence over shade mismatches. While discrepancies in chroma or hue are discernible only at intimate distances (a few centimetres), morphology (form), value, lustre, texture and opacity are noticeable at social distances (approximately 1–2 m). Therefore, matching the actual wavelength (hue) is less important than other aesthetic factors, especially an incorrect value, which makes a restoration appear unduly conspicuous or unemphatic [76]. Hence, the preferable distance for assessing value is around 1 m and hue/chroma at closer distances of about 30 cm or less [77]. The apparent distance (or magnification) is also important when photographing shade analysis: for assessing value the magnification ratio is 1:5 and for hue/chroma a higher magnification of 1:1.

Background colour—The colour of the background for the shade-matching process has been widely investigated. The choices of background are the oral cavity, 18% neutral grey card, blue card (complementary to 'yellow' teeth), or a pink card simulating the oral soft tissues. While background colour influences the simultaneous contrast principle, the data from studies regarding a specific, ideal background for shade matching is lacking and inconclusive. Photographing a natural tooth with adjacent teeth (which creates a light background), and a shade tab held below with the darker oral cavity as the background, has the effect of accentuating simultaneous contrast, i.e. the natural teeth appear darker compared to the shade tab that appears lighter [78]—Fig. 5.22. For this reason, some research indicates that having a single background colour of grey or pink cards for both the teeth and shade tabs produces an egalitarian shade-matching environment [79].

Another form of unintentional background is brightly coloured or highly reflective jewellery, which should ideally be removed beforehand. Similarly, chromatically ostentatious or reflective clothing should be replaced with sombre attire. This also applies to lurid-coloured surgical gowns that cast unwanted coloured shadows onto the teeth.

Preparation (stump) shade—Besides pre-operative shade matching, the shade of the prepared abutment tooth, or stump, is essential. PLV preparations are either

Fig. 5.22 Simultaneous contrast: the natural teeth have a lighter background (surrounded by adjacent teeth), compared to the shade tabs that have a darker background (oral cavity)



within enamel, dentine, composites, glass ionomers or a combination of natural tooth substrate and restorative materials. The shade of the prepared tooth, or core build-up, may be an acceptable colour or discoloured and require masking, which affects ceramic layering for achieving the anticipated aesthetic result. Therefore, an image of the prepared tooth and matching shade tab forms part of the shade prescription for the proposed veneer(s).

Single versus *multiple PLVs*—A shade prescription for multiple adjacent PLV is simple, since the clinician and ceramist have carte blanche to manipulate shades that achieve treatment objectives and satisfy patient wishes. However, shade evaluation is more challenging when matching a single veneer, especially in the aesthetic zone, to surrounding and antagonist teeth or existing restorations. A shade mismatch in this visually sensitive arena is catastrophic, not to mention the accompanying exasperating consequences.

Porcelain factors—Having selected the appropriate shades of porcelain powder according to the clinical shade evaluation, a colour shift can still be encountered during several PLV fabrication stages. These include shade shifts due to repeated firings or varying thickness of the porcelain layers [80]. Another issue is whether or not a [dense] ceramic core is utilised. If no ceramic core is used, the PLV is thinner and significantly influenced by the underlying tooth colour substrate [81]. Conversely, if a ceramic core (lithium disilicate or zirconia) is utilised for masking underlying discolouration, the shade of the core will influence the perceived shade by chromatically interacting with the veneering porcelain.

Cement shade—The usual luting agent for PLV is usually a resin-based cement, available in a selection of hues and values. For the majority of PLVs, the cement colour is insignificant. However, if the PLV has extremely thin cross section (<0.3 mm), the tint or value of the cement will significantly alter its colour [82].

Communication—The methods and media for conveying shade, characterisation, morphology, texture, translucency and other nuances to the ceramist require divine intervention. Despite meticulously following guidelines for accurate tooth shade evaluation, if the message or the sign on the wall cannot be conveyed, all effort is in vain. The more information the ceramist has, the more he/she is able to use his/her artistic skills to emulate nature. With increasing demanding, informed and even petulant patients, the days of *PFM crowns for teeth 11 and 21: shade A2* laboratory prescriptions are historical eulogy.

It is clear from the above that the drawbacks of visual shade evaluation are substantial, tainted by subjectivity, operator factors, materials from which the tabs are fabricated, illumination, ambient environment, training and communication [83]. For example, the same individual may have difficulty repeating a shade selection for the same tooth on different days [84]. Furthermore, the shape, texture and location of the tooth in the mouth all affect shade evaluation. These are a few reasons why digital shade analysis excels, since it eliminates many of the above variables associated with visual assessment by offering an objective alternative.

5.8 Instrumental (Digital) Shade Evaluation

Instrumental shade evaluation is one of the digital methods offering absolute colour measurements without making a comparison with (reference) shade tabs. The measurements with colour-measuring devices record CIE L*a*b* colour coordinates or L*C*h* parameters, which are subsequently analysed by software that converts the readings to equivalent shade tabs of the chosen shade guide, e.g. VITA classical, VITA 3D-Master, Shofu Vintage Halo, etc. [85]. However, the CIE L*a*b* values from one device to another cannot be used for inter-instrumental comparisons [86].

Digital shade-analysing instruments use a variety of technologies including filter colorimeter, reflectance spectrophotometers, spectroradiometers and digital image captures, which can be used alone or in combination. Filter colorimeter measures the tristimulus values for red, green and blue of the visible spectrum, whereas spectrophotometers assess the spectral reflectance of the entire spectrum at 1-25 nm intervals along the object surface. Spectrophotometers measure spectral reflectance curves, which are more precise than the tristimulus method. The digital colourmeasuring devices use integrated standardised illumination, usually with 45/0° geometry configuration for ensuring optimal lighting conditions. The type of geometry is the manner in which the target specimen is illuminated and the angle of view of the detector. If the illumination is 45° and the detector viewing angle is 0°, then the device has a 45/0° geometry. In contrast, a sphere geometry is diffuse spherical illumination with a detection angle of 8°. The 45/0° geometry is a preferred configuration for most colour-measuring devices as it avoids the inaccuracies of edge loss [87]. In addition, most devices are indifferent to ambient light [88], which is advantageous compared to visual shade assessment, where contrived lights in the operatory are a concern [89]. A study using an intra-oral spectrophotometer found no difference in the CIE L*a*b* values under different surrounding lighting conditions [90].

The dental colour-measuring devices are portable 'hair-drier style' units that assess shade by either spot measurement (SM) using a narrow aperture (window or diameter) covering an area of a few millimetres (3–5 mm) or complete tooth surface measurement (CTSM)—Fig. 5.23. The CTSM allows construction of a 'chromatic map' consisting of shade distribution of the entire tooth from the incisal edge to the gingival margin. The SM narrow window devices only assess shade over a small area, and several measurements at different sites are necessary to build up a chromatic map of the tooth.

Several manufacturers use a combination of technologies, for example, digital image analysis combined with a colorimeter or spectrophotometer (Table 5.1). The most accurate devices are the spectrophotometers, but they are slower than colorimeters, which produce less consistent results [91]. However, under standardised conditions, there is no difference in accuracy between spectrophotometers and colorimeters [92]. Also, the reported instrumental shade accuracy is superior to visual assessment, with a spectrophotometer boasting 47% greater consistency compared to the shade tab method [93, 94].



Fig. 5.23 Instrumental shade evaluation is either spot measurement (SM) at several regions, e.g. cervical, middle and incisal, or complete tooth surface measurement (CTSM)

		Measuring	
Device	Technology	area ^a	Manufacturer
ShadeEye-NCC	Colorimeter	SM	Shofu, Japan
Digital Shade Guide	Colorimeter	SM	A Rieth, Schorndorf,
DSG 4 Plus			Germany
ShadeVision	Colorimeter	CTSM	X-Rite, Grandville, MI
ShadeScan	Colorimeter	CTSM	Cynoprod, Montreal, Canada
Easyshade V	Spectrophotometer	SM	VITA Zahnfabrik, Bad
			Säckingen, Germany
ShadePilot	Spectrophotometer	CTSM	DeguDent, Hanau, Germany
Crystaleye	Imaging	CTSM	Olympus, Tokyo, Japan
	spectrophotometer		
SpectroShade Micro	Imaging	CTSM	MHT, Verona, Italy
	spectrophotometer		

Table 5.1	Dental	colour-measi	iring	devices
Table J.T	Duntar	colour-mease	ning	ucvices

^aSM spot measurement, CTSM complete tooth surface measurement

Imaging spectrophotometers take advantage of both direct shade measurements and digital images to analyse the entire surface of the tooth. A paper comparing three colour-measuring devices, ShadeVision, Easyshade and SpectroShade, concluded that SpectroShade produced the most reliable and consistently repeatable results [95]. Another research comparing instrument and visual agreement rate and colour difference ($\Delta E *_{ab}$) concluded that all three devices tested, ShadePilot, Crystaleye and ShadeVision, produced $\Delta E *_{ab}$ that were higher than the threshold for clinical acceptability and ShadePilot delivered the highest agreement rate of 56.3% compared with visual shade determination [96].

However, instrumental measurements also have drawbacks. First, the shade analysis is essentially 2D, devoid of vectoring and lacking information about translucency, texture and detailed analysis of shade transition or gradients. The lack of shade gradient is particularly a disadvantage with SM spectrophotometers that take probe or spot measurements rather than imaging spectrophotometers that analyse the entire tooth surface from gingival margin to incisal edge [97]. This allows a chromatic map to be created with shade gradations that is invaluable for the ceramist for incorporating colour nuances in the artificial restoration. Another contentious issue is the target or type of tooth being evaluated, with different instrumental–instrumental agreement rates for shades of the maxillary central incisors, laterals and canines [98]. Furthermore, the software extrapolates missing areas and, therefore, introduces potential errors and inaccuracies. In addition, the ageing of the filters in the devices over time affects results and periodic calibration is essential.

5.9 Photodocumentation (Digital) Shade Evaluation

The second digital shade evaluation method is dental photography. Probably the best method of clinical communication is photodocumentation, both still photography and video footage. Furthermore, adding annotations to images for emphasising salient features, or highlighting specific areas, is invaluable for a laboratory prescription. Also, visual shade evaluation and photography complement each other and should be used together for enhanced shade determination.

The prerequisite for photodocumentation is standardising equipment and settings. This involves using predefined parameters including appropriate illumination, white balance, depth of field, field of view, magnification ratio and correct positioning of the shade tabs so that they are in the same optical axis as the target teeth. For example, diffuse lighting, or a polarising filter, is ideal for minimising specular reflection for assessing chromatic distribution within dentine, while directional lightning is more conducive for visualising macromorphology, micromorphology, surface texture and lustre. Another important issue is positioning the flashes (ring or lateral flashes) so that the 'red' soft tissues of the oral are not excessively illuminated and reflect back a red glow onto the palatal surfaces of the teeth causing them to have a reddish appearance. This is particularly relevant when taking submental oblique images when the camera (with flashes) is positioned below the incisal edges of the maxillary teeth. In addition, judicial use of contrasters is ideal for visualising areas of translucency, especially at the incisal edges of incisors that have pronounced mamelons. Another important factor for PLV shade assessment is photographing the prepared teeth so that the ceramist can gauge the shade of the stump or abutment. This not only records the extent of remaining enamel for adhesive bonding but also reveals whether the underlying tooth substrate is an acceptable colour. If the abutment is discoloured, a collaborative decision is required between the clinician and ceramist to manipulate the shade during fabrication, by either masking with ceramic opaques/porcelain layering techniques or using resins of different tints and values at the cementation stage or a combination of both methods (Figs. 5.24, 5.25, 5.26, and 5.27).

After taking the clinical photographs, the images are imported into appropriate photo-editing software (e.g. Adobe[®] Photoshop), and the white balance is calibrated with the 18% grey card reference image. Post-processing digital images is invaluable for highlighting certain features for shade analysis. A formidable challenge is assessing the value (brightness and darkness) of a tooth, since the hue and chroma components of colour dominate a composition. To eliminate this influence, an achromatic image is necessary for judging value, especially at the incisal edges where the enamel layer is thickest. The easiest way for creating a black and white image in photo-editing software is moving the saturation tool slider to zero. However, a more

Fig. 5.24 Pre-operative shade evaluation of fluorosed teeth requiring PLV for the maxillary anterior teeth



Fig. 5.25 Tooth preparation for PLV, 3 weeks after home bleaching



Fig. 5.26 Documenting the prepared abutment allows assessment of the degree of discolouration of the underlying tooth (hydrated tooth)







sophisticated approach is individually assessing value and hue/chroma by chromatically isolating certain parts of the image. To assess value, the teeth are isolated to black and white and for hue/value the oral cavity to black and white. For the three dimensions of colour (hue, value and chroma), direct measurements are possible by assessing the percentage of the three additive primary colours (red, green and blue), CIE L*a*b* colour coordinates or numerical readouts for each additive colour on a 0–255 greyscale. The colour swatches in Figs. 5.28 and 5.29 represent four numerical values on a greyscale from 0 to 255: red numbers represent the red channel, green numbers the green channel, blue numbers the blue channel and the white numbers the value or brightness. The readings can be converted by software with a reference shade library (e.g. ClearMatch software-Smart Technology, Hood River, OR) to shade tabs of popular shade guides or used to formulate a porcelain powder shade recipe for the ceramist [99]. However, this approach is limited to shade evaluation, since substantial information about the multilayer tooth is absent including chromatic distribution, translucent regions or characterisations. Finally, it is important to remember that photographic shade evaluation is a relative, rather than absolute, assessment.

Fig. 5.28 Photographic value assessment: comparative colour readouts (red, green, blue and value in white text) of the prepared abutment and VITA classical shade tabs. Notice the exact numerical match of the A2 shade tab and the maxillary right central incisor (blue circle)



Fig. 5.29 Photographic hue/chroma assessment: comparative colour readouts (red, green, blue and value in white text) of the prepared abutment and VITA classical shade tabs. Notice the closest numerical match of the A2 shade tab and the maxillary right central incisor (blue circle)



Besides direct shade measurements, other approaches for photographic shade evaluation have been proposed. These include digitally adding images of reference shade tabs adjacent to target teeth for shade assessment [100, 101]. However, the drawback of selecting a collage of digital tabs from a shade tab library is complicated by varying lighting conditions or different white balance and other photographic equipment and settings [102]. If photographic parameters are standardised, the production of a digital shade guide is feasible, which can be retrieved for shade matching with target teeth that are photographed with identical equipment and settings [103].

Another use of photographic images is visualising the colour distribution within a tooth. Although photographic digital shade analysis is not an absolute method of colour determination, it is, nevertheless, invaluable for analysing the chromatic nuances within teeth. As well as mapping geographical distribution of shades, an image can show characterisations such as areas of translucency, mamelons, incisal halos, fracture lines, intrinsic staining and so on. The starting point for chromatic mapping is taking an image with minimal specular reflections, either with judicial light or using a polarising filter. After importing the image into the photo-editing software, the brightness is reduced and contrast increased, which emphasises not only 'hidden' tooth characterisations but also the gradual colour changes traversing from the cervical regions to the incisal edges [104]—Figs. 5.30 and 5.31. In addition, drawing software can be used to map chromatic distribution and annotate specific characterisations (Fig. 5.32).



Fig. 5.30 Chromatic mapping: unadulterated, virgin image

Fig. 5.31 Chromatic mapping: the brightness is reduced and the contrast increased to better visualise chromatic distribution and characterisations such as translucency, dentine mamelons and incisal halos





Fig. 5.32 Annotations are useful for providing a prescription for shade distribution and characterisations





For complex shade nuances or intricate characterisations that require mimicking in an artificial restoration, the dental laboratory can fabricate bespoke porcelain shade tabs based on photographic and visual/instrumental shade assessment. The tailor-made tabs can then be assessed adjacent to the tooth being matched, photographed and further analysed or adjusted until desired. This method requires a skilled ceramist, perseverance and considerable expenditure [105]. Finally, photographic shade evaluation is also useful for confirming that the outcome of treatment is as anticipated and is an indisputable record for dento-legal documentation (Figs. 5.33 and 5.34). **Fig. 5.34** Post-operative shade evaluation showing that the closest match of PLVs for the central and lateral incisors is the VITA classical A2 shade tab (grey circles), while the canine PLV shade approximates the A3 shade tab (blue circles)





Fig. 5.35 Recording tooth shade concurrently with a digital impression offers convenience and expediency but at present lacks scientific credence

5.10 3D IOS (Digital) Shade Evaluation

The last digital shade evaluation method is analysing 3D scans from intra-oral scanners (IOS), which are becoming increasingly popular for digital impressions. The accompanying in-built IOS software usually incorporates a shade evaluation tool/ function (Fig. 5.35). The opportunity to concurrently record tooth shade and a

digital impression offers expediency and convenience. However, at present, shade evaluation with IOS is at a nascent stage, with few studies validating or comparing the results with other methods of shade evaluation. However, with further developments and research, this form of digital shade analysis may be worth considering.

5.11 Synopsis

This chapter has covered the basics of colour science, chromatic properties of natural teeth, tooth colour space, perceptible versus acceptable shade matches and methods of shade evaluation for indirect PLVs. The two main approaches for shade determination are visual and digital; the former is subjective and creative, while the latter is objective and unquestionable. Since aesthetic dentistry is highly subjective, it is recommended that both methods are combined to complement each other and, most importantly, to involve patients during the shade evaluation process. Finally, it is worth remembering that the overwhelming increase in knowledge base has resulted in a discerning and perhaps fastidious populous, who are unlikely, and unwilling, to entertain compromises or excuses if treatment outcomes fail to deliver satisfaction.

References

- Fondriest J. Shade matching in restorative dentistry; the science and strategies. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2003;23:467–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prosdent.2004.03.015.
- 2. Chu S, Devigus A, Paravina R, Mieleszko A. Fundamentals of color: shade matching in esthetic dentistry. Hanover Park: Quintessence Books; 2010.
- Ancowitz S, Torres T, Rostami H. Texturing and polishing. The final attempt at value control. Dent Clin N Am. 1998;42(4):607–612, viii.
- 4. Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage (CIE). CIE technical report: colorimetry. [CIE Pub No.15.3]. 2004. ISBN: 3 901 906 33 9.
- 5. Watts A, Addy M. Tooth discolouration and staining: a review of the literature. Br Dent J. 2001;190:309–16.
- Hattab FN, Qudeimat MA, Al-Rimawi HS. Dental discolouration: an overview. J Esthet Dent. 1999;11(6):291–310.
- Moodley DS, Patel N, Moodley T, Ranchod H. Comparison of colour differences in visual versus spectrophotometric shade matching. S Afr Dent J. 2015;70(9):402–7.
- 8. Goldstein EB. Sensation and perception. 9th ed. Belmont: Wadsworth; 2013.
- 9. Douglas RD, Steinhauer TJ, Wee AG. Intraoral determination of the tolerance of dentists for perceptibility and acceptability of shade mismatch. J Prosthet Dent. 2007;97:200–8.
- 10. Khashayar G, Bain PA, Salari S, Dozic A, Kleverlaan CJ, Feilzer AJ. Perceptibility and acceptability thresholds for colour differences in dentistry. J Dent. 2014;42(6):637–344.
- Koksal T, Dikbas I. Color stability of different denture teeth materials against various staining agents. Dent Mater J. 2008;27:139–44.
- 12. Ahmad I. Three-dimensional shade analysis: perspectives of color—Part I. Pract Periodontics Aesthet Dent. 1999;11(7):789–96.
- Hugo B, Witzel T, Klaiber B. Comparison of in vivo visual and computer-aided tooth shade determination. Clin Oral Investig. 2005;9:244–50.

- 14. Sharma G, Wu W, Dalal EN. The CIEDE2000 color-difference formula: implementation notes, supplementary test data, and mathematical observations. Color Res Appl. 2005; 30(1):21–30.
- 15. Kim-Pusateri S, Brewer JD, Davis EL, Wee AG. Reliability and accuracy of four dental shade-matching devices. J Prosthet Dent. 2009;101:193–9.
- McLaren EA, Schoenbaum T. Combine conventional and digital methods to maximize shade matching. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2011;32(Spec No 4):30, 32–3.
- 17. Clark EB. The color problem in dentistry. Dent Dig. 1931;37:499.
- 18. Clark EB. An analysis of tooth color. J Am Dent Assoc. 1931;18:2093-103.
- 19. Lemire PA, Burk B. Color in dentistry. Hartford: JM Ney Co; 1975. p. 66-74.
- Ahn JS, Lee YK. Color distribution of a shade guide in the value, chroma, and hue scale. J Prosthet Dent. 2008;100:18–28.
- Xiao J, Zhou XD, Zhu WC, Zhang B, Li JY, Xu X, et al. The prevalence of tooth discolouration and the self-satisfaction with tooth colour in a Chinese urban population. J Oral Rehabil. 2007;34:351–60.
- Igiel C, Lehmann KM, Ghinea R, Weyhrauch M, Hangx Y, Scheller H, Paravina RD. Reliability of visual and instrumental color matching. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2017;29(5):303–8.
- 23. Tooth shade conversion tables. https://www.nobilium.com/teeth-shade-charts.
- 24. Yuan JC, Brewer JD, Monaco EA Jr, Davis EL. Defining a natural tooth color space based on a 3-dimensional shade system. J Prosthet Dent. 2007;98:110–9.
- O'Brien WJ, Boenke KM, Groh CL. Coverage errors of two shade guides. Int J Prosthodont. 1991;4:45–50.
- Yap AU. Color attributes and accuracy of Vita-based manufacturers' shade guides. Oper Dent. 1998;23:266–71.
- Paravina RD, Powers JM, Fay RM. Color comparison of two shade guides. Int J Prosthodont. 2002;15:73–8.
- Ahmad I. Three-dimensional shade analysis: perspectives of color—part II. Pract Periodontics Aesthet Dent. 2000;12(6):557–64.
- Browning WD, Chan DC, Blalock JS, Brackett MG. A comparison of human raters and an intra-oral spectrophotometer. Oper Dent. 2009;34(3):337–43.
- 30. Black GV. A work on operative dentistry. Chicago: Medico-Dental Pub Co; 1908. p. 347.
- Analoui M, Papkosta E, Cochran M, Matis B. Designing visually optimal shade guides. J Prosthet Dent. 2004;92:371–6.
- Hassel AJ, Koke U, Schmitter M, Beck J, Rammelsberg P. Clinical effect of different shade guide systems on the tooth shades of ceramic-veneered restorations. Int J Prosthodont. 2005;18(5):422–6.
- Llena C, Forner L, Ferrari M, Amengual J, Llambes G, Lozano E. Toothguide training box for dental color choice training. J Dent Educ. 2011;75(3):360–4.
- Draghici R, Preoteasa C, Ţâncu A, Preoteasa E. Dental color assessment through TTB exercises. J Med Life. 2016;9(1):61–5.
- 35. Llena C, et al. Toothguide training box for dental color choice training. J Dent Educ. 2010;75(3):360–4.
- 36. Naik AV, Jurel SK, Pai RC. Inter-operator variability in shade matching for restoration with two shade guides. Int J Contemp Dent. 2011;1(2):30–4.
- Touati B, Miara P, Nathanson D. Esthetic dentistry and ceramic restorations. London: Martin Dunitz Ltd.; 1993.
- Hall NR, Kafalias MC. Composite colour matching: the development and evaluation of a restorative colour matching system. Aust Prosthodont J. 1991;5:47–52.
- Haddad HJ, et al. Does gender and experience influence shade matching quality? J Dent. 2009;37(Suppl 1):e40–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2009.05.012. ISSN: 1879-176X.
- Fiorentini A, Porciatti V, Morrone MC, Burr DC. Visual ageing: unspecific decline of the responses to luminance and colour. Vis Res. 1996;36:3557–66.
- 41. Brewer JD, Wee A, Seghi R. Advances in color matching. Dent Clin N Am. 2004;48(2):v, 341–58.

- Borbély J, Varsányi B, Fejérdy P, Hermann P, Jakstat HA. Toothguide trainer tests with color vision deficiency simulation monitor. J Dent. 2010;38(Suppl 2):e41–9.
- Redmond T, Zlatkova MB, Garway-Heath DF, Anderson RS. The effect of age on the area of complete spatial summation for chromatic and achromatic stimuli. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2010;51(12):6533–9.
- Donahue JL, Goodkind RJ, Schwabacher WB, Aeppli DP. Shade color discrimination by men and women. J Prosthet Dent. 1991;65(5):699–703.
- 45. Sturm RA, Frudakis TN. Eye colour: portals into pigmentation genes and ancestry. Trends Genet. 2004;20(8):327–32.
- 46. Capa N, Malkondu O, Kazazoglu E, Calikkocaoglu S. Effects of individual factors and the training process of the shade-matching ability of dental students. J Dent Sci. 2011;6:147–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jds.2011.04.001.
- 47. Mollon JD. Question of sex and colour. Nature. 1986;323:578-9.
- 48. https://www.colour-blindness.com/colour-blindness-tests/ishihara-colour-test-plates/.
- 49. https://www.xrite.com/hue-test.
- Capa N, Malkondu O, Kazazoglu E, Calikkocaoglu S. Evaluating factors that affect the shade-matching ability of dentists, dental staff members and laypeople. J Am Dent Assoc. 2010;141(1):71–6.
- Udiljak Z, Illeš D, Zlatarić DK, Ćelić R. Effect of clinical experience on the shade matching accuracy in different dental occupational groups. Acta Stomatol Croat. 2018;52(2):132–9. https://doi.org/10.15644/asc52/2/6.
- Curd FM, Jasinevicius TR, Graves A, Cox V, Sadan A. Comparison of the shade matching ability of dental students using two light sources. J Prosthet Dent. 2006;96:391–6.
- Alomari M, Chadwick RG. Factors influencing the shade matching performance of dentists and dental technicians when using two different shade guides. Br Dent J. 2011;211(11):E23.
- Pohlen B, Hawlina M, Šober K, Kopač I. Tooth shade-matching ability between groups of students with different color knowledge. Int J Prosthodont. 2016;29(5):487–92.
- Jasinevicius TR, Curd FM, Schilling L, Sadan A. Shade-matching abilities of dental laboratory technicians using a commercial light source. J Prosthodont. 2009;18(1):60–3.
- 56. Miller LL. Esthetic dentistry development program. J Esthet Restor Dent. 1994;6(2):47-60.
- Wu D-A, Cavanagh P. Where are you looking? Pseudogaze in afterimages. J Vis. 2016;16(5):6. https://doi.org/10.1167/16.5.6.
- Glick K. Color and shade selection in cosmetic dentistry: part III establishing the proper environment and technique. J Am Acad Cosmet Dent. 1994;10:14–20.
- Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage. Method of measuring and specifying colour rendering properties of light sources. Paris (France): CIE; 1965. Publication no. CIE 13-1965. 34 p.
- 60. Khoo, Tuo Sheng Joel. A comparison between a photographic shade analysis system and conventional visual shade matching method. MS (Master of Science) thesis, University of Iowa, 2015. https://ir.uiowa.edu/etd/1860.
- Foster DH. Color constancy. Vis Res. 2011;51(7):674–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. visres.2010.09.006.
- Houser K, Mossman M, Smet K, Whitehead L. Tutorial: color rendering and its applications in lighting. LEUKOS. 2016;12(1-2):7–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/15502724.2014.989802.
- Sikri VK. Color: implications in dentistry. J Conserv Dent. 2010;13(4):249–55. https://doi. org/10.4103/0972-0707.73381.
- 64. Wee AG, Meyer A, Wu W, Wichman CS. Lighting conditions used during visual shade matching in private dental offices. J Prosthet Dent. 2016;115:469–74.
- Paravina RD. Evaluation of a newly developed visual; shade-matching apparatus. Int J Prosthodont. 2002;15:528–34.
- 66. Hammad IA. Intrarater repeatability of shade selections with two shade guides. J Prosthet Dent. 2003;89:50–3.
- 67. Roodgarian R, Jafari T, Khafri S, Abolghasemzadeh F. Influence of different light sources on visual shade matching performance. Caspian J Dent Res. 2016;5:30–6.

- 68. Sikri VK. Implications in dentistry. J Conserv Dent. 2010;13:249-55.
- Gasparik C, Grecu AG, Culic B, Badea ME, Dudea D. Shade-matching performance using a new light-correcting device. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2015;27(5):285–92. https://doi. org/10.1111/jerd.12150.
- Cornell D, Winter R. Manipulating light with the refractive index of an all-ceramic material. Prac Proc Aesthet Dent. 1999;11(8):913–7.
- Paravina RD. New shade guide for tooth whitening monitoring: visual assessment. J Prosthet Dent. 2008;99:178–84.
- 72. Kugel G, Ferreira S. The art and science of tooth whitening. J Mass Dent Soc. 2005;53(4):34-7.
- Baharin SA, Dong TY, Jing TW. Anterior tooth shade selection procedure: influence of light sources and patient's position. Sains Malays. 2013;42(1):7–11.
- 74. Xu MM, Xu TK, Liu F, Ren SX, Feng HL. Comparison of shade matching accuracy of tabs of shadeguide and tabs out of shadeguide. Zhonghua Kou Qiang Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2009;44(7):430–2.
- 75. McLaren EA. Provisionalization and the 3-D communication of shape and shade. Contemp Esthet Restor Pract. 2000;5:48–60.
- 76. Ahmad I. Anterior dental aesthetics: dental perspective. Br Dent J. 2005;199(3):135-41.
- 77. Corcodel N, Rammelsberg P, Jakstat H, Moldovan O, Schwarz S, Hassel AJ. The linear shade guide design of Vita 3D-master performs as well as the original design of the Vita 3D-master. J Oral Rehabil. 2010;37(11):860–5.
- 78. Chevreul ME. The principles of harmony and contrast of colours, and their applications to the arts. London: Eyre & Spottiswoode; 1854.
- 79. Najafi-Abrandabadi S, Vahidi F, Janal MN. Effects of a shade-matching light and background colour on reliability in tooth shade selection. Int J Esthet Dent. 2018;13:198–206.
- Celik G, Uludag B, Usumez A, Sahin V, Ozturk O, Goktug G. The effect of repeated firings on the color of an all-ceramic system with two different veneering porcelain shades. J Prosthet Dent. 2008;99:203–8.
- Douglas RD, Przybylska M. Predicting porcelain thickness required for dental shade matches. J Prosthet Dent. 1999;82:143–9.
- Koutayas SO, Charisis D. Influence of the core material and the glass infiltration mode on the color of glass-infiltrated ceramic veneers over discolored backgrounds. A spectrophotometric evaluation. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2008;3:160–73.
- Lagouvardos PE, Diamanti H, Polyzois G. Effect of individual shades on reliability and validity of observers in colour matching. Eur J Prosthodont Restor Dent. 2004;12(2):51–6.
- Culpepper WD. A comparative study shade-matching procedures. J Prosthet Dent. 1970;24:166–73.
- Lagouvardos PE, Fougia AG, Diamantopoulou SA, Polyzois GL. Repeatability and interdevice reliability of two portable color selection devices in matching and measuring tooth color. J Prosthet Dent. 2009;101:40–5.
- Lehmann KM, Igiel C, Schmidtmann I, Scheller H. Four color-measuring devices compared with a spectrophotometric reference system. J Dent. 2010;38(Suppl 2):e65–70.
- Ten Bosch JJ, Coops JC. Tooth colour and reflectance as related to light scattering and enamel hardness. J Dent Res. 1995;74(1):374–80.
- Horn DJ, Bulan-Brady J, Hicks ML. Sphere spectrophotometer versus human evaluation of tooth shade. J Endod. 1998;24:786–90.
- 89. Viohl J. Dental operating lights and illumination of the dental surgery. Int Dent J. 1979;29:148–63.
- Posavec I, Prpić V, Zlatarić DK. Influence of light conditions and light sources on clinical measurement of natural teeth color using VITA easyshade advance 4.0® spectrophotometer. Pilot study. Acta Stomatol Croat. 2016;50(4):337–47. https://doi.org/10.15644/asc50/4/7.
- Dozic A, Kleverlaan CJ, El-Zohairy A, Feilzer AJ, Khashayar G. Performance of five commercial available tooth color-measuring devices. J Prosthodont. 2007;16:93–100.
- Dozic A, Kleverlaan CJ, El-Zohairy A, Feilzer AJ, Khashayar G. Performance of five commercially available tooth color-measuring devices. J Prosthodont. 2007;16:93–100.

- 93. Fani G, Vichi A, Davidson CL. Spectrophotometric and visual shade measurements of human teeth using three shade guides. Am J Dent. 2007;20:142–6.
- Gehrke P, Riekeberg U, Fackler O, Dhom G. Comparison of in vivo visual, spectrophotometric and colorimetric shade determination of teeth and implant-supported crowns. Int J Comput Dent. 2009;12:247–63.
- Khurana R, Tredwin CJ, Weisbloom M, Moles DR. A clinical evaluation of the individual repeatability of three commercially available colour measuring devices. Br Dent J. 2007;203(12):675–80.
- 96. Igiel C, Weyhrauch M, Wentaschek S, Scheller H, Lehmann KM. Dental color matching: a comparison between visual and instrumental methods. Dent Mater J. 2016;35(1):63–9.
- 97. Okubo SR, Kanawati A, Richards MW, Childress S. Evaluation of visual and instrument shade matching. J Prosthet Dent. 1998;80:642–8.
- Hassel AJ, Grossmann AC, Schmitter M, Balke Z, Buzello AM. Interexaminer reliability in clinical measurement of L*C*h* values of anterior teeth using a spectrophotometer. Int J Prosthodont. 2007;20:79–84.
- 99. Ristic I, Paravina RD. Color measuring instruments. Acta Stomatol Naissi. 2009;25:925–32.
- Jarad FD, Russell MD, Moss BW. The use of digital imaging for colour matching and communication in restorative dentistry. Br Dent J. 2005;199:43–9.
- Schropp L. Shade matching assisted by digital photography and computer software. J Prosthodont. 2009;18:235–41.
- 102. Ahmad I. Digital dental photography. Part 6: camera settings. Br Dent J. 2005;207(2):63.
- 103. Tung OH, Lai YL, Ho YC, Chou IC, Lee SY, et al. Development of digital shade guides for color assessment using a digital camera with ring flashes. Clin Oral Investig. 2011;15:49–56.
- 104. Salat A, Deveto W, Manauta J. Achieving a precise color chart with common computer software for excellence in anterior composite restorations. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2011;6:280–96.
- 105. Chu SJ. Clinical steps to predictable color management in aesthetic restorative dentistry. Dent Clin N Am. 2007;51:473–85.



Photographic Communication in Esthetic Dentistry

6

Sivan Finkel



Contents

6.1	Introduction	157
	5.1.1 Why Take Photos?	158
6.2	Basic Equipment.	158
6.3	Basic Settings	161
6.4	Photo Protocols	167
	5.4.1 Diagnostic Photo Series	168
	5.4.2 Prep and Temp Photo Series	178
	5.4.3 Example Case	180
Refe	ences	188

6.1 Introduction

In the world of esthetic dentistry, photography has become an indispensable tool. Thanks to the advent of digital photography and the accompanying technology such as Dropbox, email, and simple photo manipulation software, digital photos can be easily obtained and quickly shared anywhere in the world. It is said that "we cannot

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

S. Finkel (🖂)

Advanced Program for International Dentists in Esthetic Dentistry, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA

The Dental Parlour, New York, NY, USA

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_6

treat what we cannot see," and to address the challenges we are presented with daily, familiarity with high-quality macro photography is a must. To respond to the fact that photography is barely taught in dental schools, in recent years, there has been a surge in the number of dental photography courses available to clinicians, and even dental societies and conferences centered solely around the subject. In the author's opinion, however, there is a large emphasis being placed today on artistic photography, which is exciting but not essential for performing successful esthetic dentistry. To obtain stunning professional quality before and after portraits, certainly, a full sized soft box studio setup is ideal, but it will not improve the laboratory–dentist communication or the outcome of our cases. In fact, artistic photography techniques utilized at the wrong time will actually lessen the quality of dentist–ceramist communication photos.

This chapter is not about artistic photography. The aim of this chapter is to present a practical photographic protocol using just the minimal armamentarium necessary to get the job done—without cutting any corners. As Einstein once said, "Things should be made as simple as possible, but not simpler."

This chapter will first introduce the most basic information about camera equipment and settings, without a full-on explanation of camera physics. Next, a photo protocol will be introduced, split into two sections: diagnostic photos and shade communication photos. These will be what the author considers to be the bare minimum number of photos necessary, and a rationale for each photo's inclusion will be explained. Finally, a challenging clinical case will be used to demonstrate proper shade taking protocol.

6.1.1 Why Take Photos?

Aside from the central focus of this chapter, which is dental photography as it pertains specifically to esthetic cases, there are many good reasons to take high-quality photographs of our patients routinely: treatment planning and diagnosis, laboratory communication, interdisciplinary communication, patient education and motivation, monitoring progress, legal documentation, marketing, and, finally, self-evaluation.

6.2 Basic Equipment

The camera setup is made up of four basic components: a body, a commander, a lens, and a flash system (Fig. 6.1). The camera *body* houses the controls and the image sensor and is the part the user actually holds. For the purposes of esthetic dentistry, at a bare minimum, the body must be able to shoot in manual mode, record at least 10 megapixel images in both RAW and JPEG formats, and must be able to accept an external flash and a macro lens. The sensor of the camera can be either full frame or "cropped." A cropped sensor simply gives a smaller image with less information in it, while a full frame photo includes more detail over a larger image. With the minimum criteria in mind, it is advisable to physically visit a camera store and hold different camera bodies in your hands, to see which feels best. Generally, Nikon and Canon are the two options.

A *macro lens* is a lens designed for close-up photography, with the ability to capture almost a microscopic level of detail. The minimum criteria for a macro lens



are that it has a manual setting (vs. strictly "auto focus"), magnification markings clearly displayed (1:1, 1:5, etc.), and a focal range of 90–105 mm. The focal length of the lens is the distance between the lens and the image sensor when the subject is in focus and is described in millimeters. For our purposes, a lens with a focal range of 90–105 mm is ideal because it allows us to shoot everything from a portrait photo to an extreme close-up of just one tooth. Additionally, a 90–105 mm lens allows a comfortable working distance from the mouth.

The *commander* of the camera is the component that communicates between the body and the flashes, although several newer camera bodies can function without a commander. The commander allows the user to define how many different flash groups will be triggered and the power (1/1, 1/2, etc.) at which each flash group will be firing.

In terms of flash systems, a general rule of thumb is that the best lighting for a photo is lateral, or rather, with the light coming from the sides and not from directly behind the lens. The goal is even, balanced illumination encompassing the subject of the photo, similar to what we would see in real life. A direct flash, such as the built-in flash on the camera body, will tend to wash out our images when we shoot so close up, wiping out the detail we so critically need to capture. A widely popularized solution to obtain balanced lighting is a "ring flash," in which there is light emitted in a circle all around the lens. While the ring flash certainly provides more balanced illumination than a camera's built-in flash, this solution still has its shortcomings, as the light is still coming from immediately adjacent to the lens. As a result, photos taken with a ring flash lack depth and volume. In the author's opinion, for most types of dentistry, a ring flash photo lacking depth and volume is adequate—i.e., orthodontic progress photos, documentation of surgical procedures—but not for esthetic dentistry, where we must concern ourselves with the most minute micro-esthetic details such as line angles, translucency, opalescence, surface texture, and luster. For esthetic dentistry, it is more appropriate to use a dual flash setup, in which the lighting can be more lateralized and thus reveal more depth, details, and lifelike reproduction of what we are capturing. An example of a dual flash system is the Nikon R1C1 kit, which includes two SB-R200 flashes and a mounting ring. This ring will hold the flashes slightly farther away from the lens than a ring flash, which is an improvement, but even better is to mount the dual flashes on extendable *brackets*, which allow much more versatility. This chapter will assume the reader is using this setup, and the next section will begin with a description of the different positions for these brackets' use.

The three main accessories used in esthetic dental photography are retractors, mirrors, and contrastors. *Retractors* (Fig. 6.2) hold the patient's lips and cheeks away, reducing shadows and giving the flashes the ability to reach posterior portions of the mouth. There are many styles on the market, made of different materials such as metal, clear plastic, and black plastic. Generally, the author prefers the metal wide style retractors for all photos, for two reasons. First, the metal retractors are generally wide enough to get the lips out of the frame when taking occlusal photos, and second, the plastic retractors often look unhygienic and dirty after several rounds in the autoclave. It is best to allow the patients to hold these, rather than the assistant, because the patient will not pull on their lips and cheeks to the point of pain or discomfort, whereas an assistant might.

Mirrors (Fig. 6.3) are typically made in two styles: occlusal mirrors and narrower buccal mirrors. The author does not use the buccal mirrors, as usually the patients can self-retract at least to the first molar and let the photo be taken directly.





The occlusal mirror, with one larger side and one smaller side, is essential, however. Intraoral mirrors are made of either highly polished stainless steel or glass; the latter gives sharper images but is much more easily scratched.

Contrastors (Fig. 6.4) are either metallic or rubberized black surfaces that are held behind the teeth to give a clean, uncluttered view of the teeth being studied. More important than creating a clean image, however, placing the contrastor behind the teeth simulates the darkness of the back of the mouth, allowing us to visualize translucencies, craze lines, and other nuances in the enamel. This is especially critical in cases when we are creating a single restoration to match an adjacent natural tooth.

6.3 Basic Settings

- 1. *Flash positions*—As discussed above, the most ideal lighting for our purposes will be lateralized, i.e., not coming from directly behind the lens. A dual flash setup is recommended, along with extendable brackets. The following flash positions are the three minimum positions the clinician should know [1]:
 - (a) The first position, referred to as *next to lens* (Fig. 6.5), approximately simulates the position of a ring flash, with the flashes right up against the lens and facing straight forward. This position is only utilized for mirror shots because a more lateral position would not allow the light to reach the subject. For our purposes, the only time this position will be used is for the maxillary and mandibular occlusal shots. When shooting in this position, to avoid the risk of the light washing out the photo, the flash power should be reduced via the commander.



Fig. 6.5 The "next to lens" flash position, used only for occlusal (mirror) shots





- (b) The 3–2 position (Fig. 6.6) is the flash position used for almost all intraoral photos. The flashes are positioned approximately 3 in. to the side of the lens and 2 in. behind and aimed at 45° to our subject. The exact measurements are not as important as having the left and right sides positioned symmetrically to one another, for the most uniform and accurate lighting.
- (c) Far from lens (Fig. 6.7) positioning is used for our full face photos. Simply stated, here, we are shooting from a much farther distance from our subject, and so we want the light to reach and envelope the entire face. This is also why we shoot portraits at a much lower f-stop than intraoral photos (to be described below). The brackets are extended completely straight out to the sides, with the flashes facing forward. Alternatively, a different flash known as a "speedlight" can be used for the portrait shots [1], but this requires the extra step of removing the commander and mounting the speed light in its place. While it results in slightly more even lighting, the "far from lens" bracket position gives just as much information, and so a speed light is not a



Fig. 6.7 The "far from lens" flash position, used for portrait shots

critical addition to the armamentarium for the beginning dental photographer, or those looking to minimize the amount of equipment needed.

- 2. Magnification, aka reproduction ratio
- Magnification, or reproduction ratio, is the term used to describe the relationship between the size of the subject being projected on the camera's sensor and the size of the subject in real life. For example, if the image is the same size as the subject, then the reproduction ratio is said to be 1:1, or life size. If the image is twice the size, it is a 2:1 ratio. And if the image is half the size, it is a 1:2 ratio. Figure 6.8 shows the magnification markings on a macro lens, which are set by rotating the barrel. Typically, most intraoral shots are taken at a reproduction ratio of 1:2-1:3, depending on the size of the camera sensor. A close-up of just two central incisors would require a ratio of around 1:1, and a portrait would be taken at around 1:10. Different sized camera sensors, and different sized subjects, make these numbers not absolutely set in stone-but what is important is to maintain CONSISTENCY between all shots of the same type. This consistency will allow before and after images to be compared without distortion, and for the purposes of digital planning, the images to be overlaid upon one another (i.e., retracted full face view and smiling full face view) will "stack" upon one another more neatly. To achieve this consistency, when taking our photos, once the magnification has been set, the user has to move his/her head back and forth until the subject comes into focus, rather than rotating the lens.
- 3. Aperture, aka f-stop (depth of field)

The "f-stop" is a phrase used to describe the amount of light reaching the sensor through the "aperture," which is the adjustable metal diaphragm within the lens. The higher this number, the smaller the aperture, and thus, the smaller the amount of light reaching the sensor. Finding the appropriate aperture is a bit of a balancing act, because as the sensor is exposed to more light, our depth of field decreases. In dentistry, we usually want a deep depth of field, i.e., as many teeth to be in focus as possible. Notice Fig. 6.9a, taken at f-stop 20, is brighter ("more exposed") but with only the central incisors in focus ("shallower"), while Fig. 6.9b—taken at f-stop 32—is darker ("less exposed") but with more teeth in



focus ("deeper" depth of field). Generally, an f-stop of around 32 is appropriate for all intraoral photos (the dental–facial and dental views), and an f-stop of 9 is appropriate for portrait shots.

- 4. *Shutter speed* is the length of time, expressed in fractions of a second, that the camera sensor is exposed to light. A longer shutter speed will allow more light in but will also result in a blurry photo if a tripod is not used. In dental photography, a tripod is not used, and our hands—and patients—might move slightly as we shoot, so a photo with a long shutter speed would most likely be blurry. Thus, for dental photography, it is advisable to use a fast shutter speed of 1/125 s, a setting which should be set once and never have to be changed.
- 5. *ISO* is the term used to describe the sensor's sensitivity to light. A higher ISO allows the camera to capture more information in a low light setting, but this comes at the expense of adding "noise" or graininess to the image. Thus, in dental photography where we can control the light and make it very abundant, the idea is to shoot at the lowest ISO possible to obtain the highest quality image.

Fig. 6.9 (a) A photo taken at f-stop 20 will be brighter but with only the central incisors in focus. (b) A photo taken at f-stop 32 is less exposed but has more teeth in focus (a "deeper" depth of field)



Typically, it is recommended to shoot at ISO 100 for Canon and 200 for Nikon. Again, once set, this camera setting is usually never changed.

- 6. White balance or "color temperature" is a critical concept, especially in the domain of esthetic dentistry where communicating shade and color is so important. A photo with a "warmer" look would appear more yellow, while a photo with a "cooler" color temperature would look more blue. The appropriate color temperature for shade taking is generally considered to be 5560 K, which is said to be roughly the color temperature of sunlight on a sunny day at noon. Thus, the "white balance" setting on the camera should be set as close to 5560 K as possible [2]. If the camera is unable to accept a custom white balance setting, the built-in color temperature settings "flash," "daylight," and "cloudy" will give a temperature of the photos to the actual warmth of the subject (i.e., "do the teeth appear as yellow/white in real life as they do in the image?"). Figure 6.10a–c shows the same photo with a warmer color temperature, the appropriate color temperature, and a cooler color temperature.
- 7. Angulation

While not an actual setting of the camera, before the photo protocols are introduced, it is important to discuss angulation. When shooting facial or intraoral photos, it is critical that the barrel of the lens be at 90° to the subject or rather held straight in front of, not below and not above, our subject [3].

Fig. 6.10 (a) A warmer color temperature making the teeth appear yellower than reality. (b) A photo demonstrating the appropriate color temperature. (c) A cooler photo temperature makes the teeth appear bluer than reality



Consider the example of a full smile photo. A photo taken from slightly below (Fig. 6.11a) will give the perception of a reverse smile, i.e., the canine tips positioned lower than the edges of the maxillary centrals. A photo taken from slightly above (Fig. 6.11b) will result in an exaggerated smile curve, where the canines would appear deficient in length relative to the centrals. Positioning the camera at exactly 90° to the smile (Fig. 6.11c) results in an accurate portrayal. Any sort of treatment planning, and especially digital

Fig. 6.11 (a) A photo taken from an angle below the subject, inaccurately portraying these teeth as having a "reverse smile" arrangement. (b) A photo taken from an angle above the subject, inaccurately portraying these teeth as having an extreme incisal curve. (c) A photo taken from the appropriate angle (90° to the subject) allows us to communicate reality to the technician and design the smile accurately



design where we trace lines directly on the image, requires that each photo is taken at the proper angulation, or the entire smile design can be thrown off.

6.4 Photo Protocols

The photo protocols detailed next will be divided into two sections: diagnostic and shade communication. As it pertains to an esthetic case, the diagnostic series are those photos which will allow the clinician-ceramist team to go from the initial consult to the diagnostic wax-up phase of treatment. The shade communication photos are taken later on, on the day of tooth preparation and temporization. Once again,

these series are meant to keep things "as simple as possible, but not simpler," i.e., just the minimum photos needed to get the job done, with no extra or redundant shots.

6.4.1 Diagnostic Photo Series

When analyzing a patient's face and smile, it is useful to envision three distinct type of photos, each moving in closer to our subjects: facial (entire face), dental–facial (teeth and lips), and dental (teeth only) [4]. Each set of photos reveals details and important information not available in the other categories. The facial photo series gives us information pertaining to the smile harmony with the overall facial features as well as the horizon. The dental–facial provides details such as how the lips frame the teeth both in a full smile and at rest, the height of the smile, and the amount of teeth displayed. Dental photos, coming in even closer, allow us to study the "micro-esthetic" elements such as papilla position, gingival zeniths, shade information, incisal translucency, and opalescence. It is advisable that all three diagnostic photo categories be obtained in every esthetic case, even if treating a single tooth.

- 1. *Facial photo series*—For the facial photo series, with the exception of the profile view, the patient is instructed to face the camera straight on, with the hair behind the ears. Both ears should be equally visible, and the head should not be tilted to either the right or the left ("natural head posture"). The camera, as in all the photos, should be held horizontally as possible and at 90° to the subject. For this reason, if the patient is taller than the clinician, it is advisable for both people to be seated so the camera can be positioned at the appropriate angle.
 - (a) Full face lips together (Fig. 6.12)
 - F-stop: 9

Fig. 6.12 Full face, lips together



- Magnification: 1:10
- Flash position: far from lens

The patient is instructed to not smile and keep the lips together. This view allows us to assess the symmetry of the facial features when there is no muscle involvement in the eyes or mouth.

- (b) Full face natural smile with teeth together (Fig. 6.13)
 - F-stop: 9
 - Magnification: 1:10
 - Flash position: far from lens

The purpose of this photo is to capture a natural, unexaggerated smile from the frontal perspective and relate the smile to the horizon and the facial features. This photo shows us how the dental midline relates to the facial midline, the presence of any canting, the number of teeth displayed in the smile, and the degree of negative space in the buccal corridors.

- (c) Full face Duchenne smile (Fig. 6.14)
 - F-stop: 9
 - Magnification: 1:10
 - Flash position: far from lens

The purpose of this photo is to assess lip mobility. By instructing the patient, "show me your gums," we are looking to see how high the lip can go and whether the gingival levels should be considered in this case. Generally, a posed smile will have less gingival display than a truly natural or "Duchenne smile" [5], and so the natural smile photo is not enough to rely on for this.











- (d) Retracted full face (Fig. 6.15)
 - F-stop: 9
 - Magnification: 1:10
 - Flash position: far from lens

Teeth must be slightly apart so the forms of the incisal edges can be read. This is the photo that would be used to perform a "digital facebow" and also is an essential view for Digital Smile Design [6]. It allows us to relate the incisal plane and gingival levels to the true horizon, interpupillary line, and other references. Because in any sort of digital planning, this photo is overlaid with the NON-retracted full face photo, it is imperative that the magnification, angulation, and patient head position remain consistent. This retracted photo should be taken immediately before the next photo, full smile with teeth apart, and the patient should be instructed to remove the retractors smoothly without moving his/her head.

Fig. 6.14 Full face Duchenne smile

- (e) Full face smile with teeth apart (Fig. 6.16)
 - F-stop: 9
 - Magnification: 1:10
 - Flash position: far from lens

The teeth apart smile might feel less natural for the patient, but the separated teeth allow the maxillary and mandibular incisal edges to be read. As discussed above, there is diagnostic and treatment planning value in overlaying this view with the retracted full face photo.

- (f) Relaxed profile (Fig. 6.17)
 - F-stop: 9
 - Magnification: 1:10
 - Flash position: far from lens

Fig. 6.16 Full face smile, teeth apart



Fig. 6.17 Relaxed profile



Keeping hair behind the ear, the patient is instructed to turn their entire body to the side and look straight ahead, lips together. This view helps us assess whether the profile is convex or concave, and basic orthodontic measurements such as the nasolabial angle and Ricketts' E-plane can be obtained [4].

- (g) 12 o'clock view (Fig. 6.18)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:3
 - Flash position: 3–2

This is a crucial photo in treatment planning, as it allows us to visualize where the edges of the anterior maxillary six teeth lie relative to the wet/ dry line of the lip. When fabricating a diagnostic wax-up, this photo shows the ceramist which teeth need to be built facially outward and, alternatively, which teeth do not require much wax on the facial surface.

This is the final photo in the facial series because it requires that we transition the patient to the dental chair, where the remainder of the diagnostic photos will be obtained. The patient is leaned back, and the camera is positioned squarely behind the head at an angle which captures the edges of the maxillary six anterior teeth during a full smile. It is important that the eyes are included in this view, as this will allow us to calibrate this photo to the frontal view if there is any canting of the facial features. Note that this is the only facial view where the f-stop is raised to 32, the magnification is brought in closer (about 1:3), and the flash positions are moved to the "3–2" position. These three settings will be maintained for the next set of photos, which are the dental–facial views.

2. *Dental-facial photo series*—These photos provide details regarding how the lips frame the teeth both in a full smile and at rest, the height of the smile, and the amount of teeth displayed. To obtain these shots, the patient can either be sitting upright or seated in the dental chair. The flash positions should be in the "3–2" position, the magnification at 1:3, and the f-stop at 32.



Fig. 6.18 12 o'clock view





- (a) *Lips at rest* (Fig. 6.19)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:3
 - Flash position: 3–2

This is also known as the "emma" photo. This photo is used to assess the degree of maxillary central incisor edge display at rest, which is a common starting point for esthetic treatment planning [4]. Combined with the information we gain from the Duchenne smile photo, we learn the full range of the patient's lip mobility [7]. To obtain the photo, the patient is instructed to say the word "emma" and freeze the lips with no muscle activity.

- (b) Natural full smile (Fig. 6.20)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification 1:3
 - Flash position: 3-2

This is the classic smile photo which will give us information on the number of teeth displayed, buccal corridor, gingival display, gingival zeniths, gingival and incisal smile lines (aka smile curves), embrasures, contact points, papilla position, and axial inclinations. Additionally, this view provides shade information that cannot be obtained from the full face smile photo. Generally, this photo should be taken with the teeth together, to observe how the incisal curve echoes the lower lip. Another metric we can obtain from this photo, by being consistent with our magnification and overlaying this with the "emma" photo, is the position of the maxillary canine cusp tips in relation to the lip at rest (Fig. 6.20a). This measurement is chosen by some authors as the proper starting point for a smile design, instead of the display of the maxillary central incisor [8].

- (c) Oblique full smile—left and right (Figs. 6.21 and 6.22)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:3
 - Flash position: 3–2







These views are helpful, as they offer the patients a view of their smile they never see themselves, but that the world sees just as much as the direct frontal view. Often, an esthetically conscious patient will think they need to treat only the most anterior teeth in their smile, but these oblique views will demonstrate that the premolars and even molars may need some enhancement as well. The proper angulation of this photo is to capture a slight amount of the contralateral central incisor.

Fig. 6.20 Natural full smile

Fig. 6.22 Right oblique full smile







- 3. *Dental photo series*—Finally, we come to the most "zoomed in" of the diagnostic photos, which are of the teeth and gingiva without the frame of the lips or the face. The retractors are used for this set of photos.
 - (a) Retracted MIP frontal (Fig. 6.23)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:3
 - Flash position: 3–2

This photo, taken with the retractors held by the patient and pulled outward away from the face, helps in occlusal analysis and also gives information on the relative esthetic properties of the maxillary and mandibular anterior teeth.

- (b) *Retracted MIP—left and right* (Figs. 6.24 and 6.25)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:3
 - Flash position: 3–2

Aside from providing esthetic information, these views are used to study the occlusal relationship between the arches, namely, whether the patients' Angle molar classification is class 1, 2, or 3. Thus it is important that this photo captures at least the first molars. The author prefers to forego the cheek-sized mirror for this shot and take the photo directly; with both
Fig. 6.24 Retracted maximum intercuspation, left







retractors in, the patient is instructed to relax one side but keep it in, while pulling the retractor on the other side straight back to the ear.

- (c) Maxillary anterior retracted (Fig. 6.26)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:2
 - Flash position: 3–2

This photo should have at least the anterior six teeth in focus and captures the micro-esthetic elements so critical for matching nature in our restorations: shade information, craze lines, incisal translucency and halo, opalescence, enamel luster, incisal wear, and gingival health [4].

- (d) Maxillary occlusal (Fig. 6.27)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:3
 - Flash position: next to lens

This photo provides information on the patient's maxillary arch form, the structure of the teeth including existing restorations, and the degree of any spacing or crowding. The full arch should be visible from central incisor to second molars, and in terms of the angulation, the facial surfaces of the maxillary centrals should be showing slightly. Ideally, the retractors

Fig. 6.26 Maxillary anterior retracted



Fig. 6.27 Maxillary occlusal







and mirror edges are not visible in the frame. This photo is taken with the patient lying back, with the photographer standing at the 12 o'clock position; the assistant holds the mirror at 45° to the arch, and the camera is held at 90° to the mirror.

- (e) Mandibular occlusal (Fig. 6.28)
 - F-stop: 32
 - Magnification: 1:3
 - Flash position: next to lens

This photo provides information on the patient's mandibular arch form, the structure of the teeth including existing restorations, and the degree of any spacing or crowding.

6.4.2 Prep and Temp Photo Series

A properly taken, complete set of diagnostic photos, as described above, will help move the case from the record taking appointment to the fabrication of a diagnostic wax-up. Once the wax-up and corresponding treatment plan are accepted, the patient is scheduled for the preparation and temporization appointment. The photos taken on this day will provide the lab with shade information, as well as facial, dental–facial, and dental views of the patient in provisionals—crucial information which will help ensure a predictable outcome.

As color was discussed at length in a separate chapter, it will not be discussed in detail here, although a familiarity with the different dimensions of color (value, chroma, hue) is necessary. Generally, it is accepted that value is the most important parameter to match [9]. The author advises the use of the VITA 3D master "language," which is 1M1, 1M2, and so on, rather than the "classic" shade language of A1, B1, and C1. The reason is that the 3D language allows us to describe value, chroma, and hue independently; in 1M2, for example, the "1" denotes value, the "M" is the hue, and the "2" is the level of chroma. Each parameter could be adjusted or discussed without changing the other two. In comparison, saying "A1" or "B1" is somewhat arbitrary, and the classic language is thus a less useful system. The author's shade guide of choice is the VITA 3D linear shade guide (Fig. 6.29a) which includes the same tabs as the 3D master system (Fig. 6.29b), but organized in a less confusing way.

The VITA 3D linear shade guide includes one tab arranging one representative from each value group, 0–5, with the value decreasing as the numbers go up (i.e., the 0 shades are brightest and the 5 group is the darkest). The rest of the kit contains tabs organized by members of the same value group, but with increasing chroma (Fig. 6.30). This allows the clinicians to make a value determination of the tooth/ teeth to be matched first and then narrow it down to the appropriate chroma level within that value group.

In terms of camera position and shade tab position, it is crucial that the tabs are held in the same plane of light as the teeth we are measuring (Fig. 6.31), i.e., not in front of or behind. Figure 6.31 also illustrates that the camera must be positioned at 90° to the teeth and shade tabs, to ensure that the flash illuminates both subjects evenly.

To illustrate the photographic workflow and the use of the 3D linear guide, the example of matching a single central restoration will be presented.



Fig. 6.29 (a) VITA 3D linear shade guide (VITA North America, Yorba Linda, CA); (b) VITA 3D master shade guide (VITA North America, Yorba Linda, CA)



Fig. 6.30 Expanded view of the VITA 3D linear shade guide (VITA North America, Yorba Linda, CA), showing the separation of tabs into value and chroma groups



Fig. 6.31 Proper orientation of the shade tabs to the teeth and proper angulation of the camera lens to the tabs and teeth

6.4.3 Example Case

This patient presented to the author's private practice with a chief complaint of an existing crown on #9 that did not match the surrounding natural dentition (Fig. 6.32). A thorough and complete examination was completed, including the entire set of diagnostic photos detailed in the previous section. These initial records guided the fabrication of the wax-up. After an intraoral evaluation of the wax-up on the second visit, the treatment plan was accepted, and the preparation appointment was scheduled. The sequence of this appointment would be as follows: desired shade photos, anesthesia, removal of the existing crown, gingivectomy, refinement of the preparation, preparation photos, impression, provisionalization, and photos of the provisionals. Note that the *very* first step is photographing the tooth we are matching; it has been shown that local anesthesia, which reduces blood supply to the tooth, could affect the perceived shade of a tooth (making it falsely higher in value) [10]. In addition, it is well known that desiccation occurs when the patient has their mouth open and teeth isolated for an extended period of time [11]. This too would make the tooth/teeth in question appear falsely higher in value. Thus, we begin with

Fig. 6.32 Dental–facial natural smile view of a patient with chief complaint of mismatched crown #9





Fig. 6.33 Value photo

the desired shade photos before any other steps. The series are as follows—in this case, the contralateral tooth (#8) is our subject, but the same photo sequence would be applied to any other case involving any number of teeth. Note that the photos in this case show a white balance card adjacent to the shade tabs, which allows for digital color calibration [12], but the author and his ceramist typically leave this part of the process out. Digital calibration can be a useful tool but was not used in the case shown below or in the vast majority of the author's cases.

- 1. Value (Fig. 6.33)
 - (a) F-stop: 32
 - (b) Magnification: 1:3
 - (c) Flash position: 3-2



Fig. 6.34 Value photo switched to monochrome for easier value determination

The two closest value tabs are chosen from the 3D linear value shade group and photographed directly below tooth #8. In this case, the tooth we are matching to is quite high in value, so the two tabs chosen are from the 0 to 1 value groups.

Next, the *value confirmation* (Fig. 6.34) is obtained by switching the previous photo to monochrome. This can be done either on the camera directly (for instance, Nikon cameras have a "Retouch" menu with a monochrome option) or easily on the computer by decreasing the saturation to zero. A monochrome image discards all color information and lets us see differences in value more clearly. In this case, the monochrome version of this photo confirms that the value of the tooth #8 is, overall, closer to 0 than 1.

- 2. Chroma (Fig. 6.35)
 - (a) F-stop: 32
 - (b) Magnification: 1:3
 - (c) Flash position: 3–2

Once the decision has been made as to which value group is best represented by the tooth in question—in this case, the 0 group, not the 1 group—several representatives from this same value group are photographed. In other words, these shade tabs will all be of the same value, but differing chroma (0M1, 0M2, 0M3). If there is still any uncertainty at this point as to which value group is right, two different value group photos can be taken and assessed later.

- 3. Cross-polarized photos
 - (a) F-stop: 32
 - (b) Magnification: 1:1, 1:2, 1:3
 - (c) Flash position: 3-2

Fig. 6.35 Chroma photo



Fig. 6.36 A Nikon dual flash setup with Polar_ Eyes affixed to the lens and flashes, in 3–2 flash position



A recently introduced tool has become essential for shade communication photography, especially in cases involving esthetically challenging single restorations: the "Polar_Eyes" cross-polarizing filter (Fig. 6.36). Developed by Dr. Panos Bazos, the Polar_Eyes system involves filters affixed to both flashes and the lens, which eliminate all reflections from the photo. This allows the clinician and ceramist to more accurately read the zones of differing shades and the anatomy of the dentin mamelons beneath the enamel surface [12]. A comparison of Figs. 6.37 and 6.38 demonstrates the difference between the regular photo and the cross-polarized version. One is not better than the other. Both are important, as information on tooth luster and texture can only be seen in the non-polarized version. The cross-polarized photos should be taken at different distances to include shots of the teeth with shade tabs (Fig. 6.38) and a close-up photo of the tooth we are matching (Fig. 6.39). A black contrastor behind the teeth is again helpful to visualize the translucencies and nuances of the enamel.

At this point, anesthesia was delivered and the existing crown was removed. The gingivectomy was performed and the crown preparation was cleaned up and

Fig. 6.37 A non-polarized dental view (taken at the initial diagnostic records appointment) demonstrating surface texture and line angles of the tooth to be matched (#8)



Fig. 6.38 A crosspolarized dental view demonstrating the transitioning zones of color and translucency within the tooth



Fig. 6.39 A crosspolarized photo of the tooth to be matched (#8) alongside shade tabs



refined. The next photo in the sequence was then taken: the preparation shade photo.

- 4. Preparation shade (Fig. 6.40)
 - (a) F-stop: 32
 - (b) Magnification: 1:3
 - (c) Flash position: 3–2

After impressioning and provisionalization, a photo sequence echoing the diagnostic series is taken: facial, dental–facial, and dental photos. These photos serve as confirmation that the provisionals fulfill our esthetic objectives on all three levels. A physical model of the provisionals is always provided to the ceramist as well.

- 5. Anterior six retracted (Fig. 6.41)
 - (a) F-stop: 32
 - (b) Magnification: 1:2
 - (c) Flash position: 3–2
- 6. Natural smile (Fig. 6.42)
 - (a) F-stop: 32
 - (b) Magnification: 1:3
 - (c) Flash position: 3–2
- 7. *Lips at rest* (Fig. 6.43)
 - (a) F-stop: 32
 - (b) Magnification: 1:3
 - (c) Flash position: 3–2

Fig. 6.40 The prep shade photo, crucial in any case, but especially when we are utilizing all ceramic restorative materials



Fig. 6.41 Dental view of the provisional





Fig. 6.43 Lips at rest ("emma") view of the provisional

Fig. 6.42 Dental–facial view of the provisional



- 8. Full face smiling (Fig. 6.44)
 - (a) F-stop: 9
 - (b) Magnification: 1:10
 - (c) Flash position: far from lens

One month later, the patient returned for a try-in appointment. Although not perfect, both patient and doctor found the restoration to be esthetically acceptable. After the try-in, a Polar_Eyes photo (Fig. 6.45) was taken for additional confirmation that the shade match was adequate, and cementation was performed. Again, the dental (Fig. 6.46), dental–facial (Fig. 6.47), and facial (Fig. 6.48) photographs were obtained.

Fig. 6.44 Facial view of the provisional



Fig. 6.45 Cross-polarized photo of try-in before cementation



Fig. 6.46 Dental view of cemented restoration



Fig. 6.47 Dental–facial view after cementation





References

- 1. Mclaren E, Schoenbaum T. Digital photography enhances diagnostics, communication, and documentation. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2011;32(Spec No 4):36–8.
- Wee AG, Meyer A, Wu W, Wichman CS. Lighting conditions used during visual shade matching in private dental offices. J Prosthet Dent. 2016;115(4):469–74.
- Kattadiyil MT, Goodacre CJ, Naylor WP, Maveli TC. Esthetic smile preferences and the orientation of the maxillary occlusal plane. J Prosthet Dent. 2012;108(6):354–61.
- Levine JB, Finkel S. Chapter 1—esthetic diagnosis: a three-step analysis. In: Levine JB, editor. Essentials of esthetic dentistry: smile design integrating esthetics and function. New York: Elsevier; 2016. p. 1–42. Print.
- Walter RD, Goodacre BJ, Goodacre CJ, et al. A comparison of gingival display with a requested smile, Duchenne smile, grimace of disgust, and funnel-shaped expression. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;112(2):220–7.
- Coachman C, Calamita MA. Digital smile design: a tool for treatment planning and communication in esthetic dentistry. Quintessence Dent Technol. 2012;35:103–11.
- Walder JF, Freeman K, Lipp MJ, Nicolay OF, Cisneros GJ. Photographic and videographic assessment of the smile: objective and subjective evaluations of posed and spontaneous smiles. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2013;144(6):793–801.
- Misch CE. Guidelines for maxillary incisal edge position—a pilot study: the key is the canine. J Prosthodont. 2008;17(2):130–4.
- 9. Yamamoto M. The value conversion system and a new concept for expressing the shades of natural teeth. Quintessence Dent Technol. 1992;15:9–39.
- Du RX, Li YM, Ma JF. Effect of dehydration time on tooth colour measurement in vitro. Chin J Dent Res. 2012;15(1):37–9.
- 11. Suliman S, Sulaiman TA, Olafsson VG, Delgado AJ, Donovan TE, Heymann HO. Effect of time on tooth dehydration and rehydration. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2019;31(2):118–23.
- 12. McLaren EA, Figueira J, Goldstein RE. A technique using calibrated photography and photoshop for accurate shade analysis and communication. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2017;38(2):106–13.

Fig. 6.48 Facial view after cementation



Adhesion to Glass–Ceramics: Concepts and Clinical Implications 7

Andressa Borin Venturini, Catina Prochnow, and Luiz Felipe Valandro

Contents

7.1	Glass-Ceramic Materials and Their Acid Sensitivity	190		
7.2	Hydrofluoric Acid Etching: Time and Concentration	191		
7.3	Feldspathic Ceramic.	191		
7.4	Leucite-Enhanced Ceramic.	194		
7.5	Lithium Disilicate-Based Ceramic.	194		
7.6	Adhesion and Fatigue Behavior of Bonded Glass-Ceramic Restorations	195		
7.7	Hydrofluoric Acid Toxicity and New Alternative Materials	195		
7.8	Considerations About Silane Coupling Agents	197		
7.9	Adhesion to Tooth Substrates.	198		
7.10	The Influence of Resin Cements on the Adhesion	200		
7.11	Important Things to Know Before Etching and Silanization of			
	Glass–Ceramic Restorations.	201		
7.12	Clinical Implications.	202		
7.13	Final Considerations.	203		
Refer	References			

The longevity of glass–ceramic restorations depends on an effective treatment plan in using the glass–ceramic material according to its appropriate clinical indication and a specific protocol employed for adhesive luting [1]. Due to the particular characteristics of each glass–ceramic material (i.e., differences in chemical composition and microstructure), understanding the correct combination related to restorative material, surface treatment, and cementation strategy will define the clinical success of the ceramic restoration. For that, knowledge of the glass–ceramic properties and material selection will determine which surface conditioning and resin cement must be employed to achieve long-term durability and with that satisfaction of the patients.

A. B. Venturini · C. Prochnow · L. F. Valandro (⊠)

MSciD and PhD Post-Graduation Programs in Oral Science (Prosthodontics Units), Faculty of Dentistry, Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Santa Maria, Rio Grande do Sul State, Brazil

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_7

In this chapter, information regarding some available glass-ceramic materials will be presented, as well as their clinical indications and the best alternative to perform the ceramic pretreatment.

7.1 Glass–Ceramic Materials and Their Acid Sensitivity

Dental ceramics are a composition of two or more entities, in which the matrix is usually a glass lightly or heavily filled with particles (crystalline particles or glass particles that melt at high temperatures) [2]. While the glassy phase is responsible for the esthetics, the crystalline phase is associated with mechanical strength. According to Kelly [2], dental ceramics can be classified into three main categories of composition: predominantly glass, particle-filled glass, and polycrystalline. This chapter deals with adhesion aspects related to predominantly glass (feldspathic) and some particle-filled glass ceramics (leucite enhanced and lithium disilicate based).

Predominantly glass ceramics present high glass content and best mimic the optical properties of enamel and dentin [2]. This glass compound of dental ceramics is mainly derived from a group of mined minerals called feldspar and based on silica (silicon oxide) and alumina (aluminum oxide) [3]. In particle-filled glass ceramics, filler particles are added to the glassy matrix to control optical effects and to improve mechanical properties such as strength, thermal expansion, and contraction behavior [2, 3]. These fillers are usually crystalline or particles of a higher melting glass, which are often dissolved or pulled out during etching to create micromechanical retentive features enabling adhesive bonding [2].

Since the ceramic surface treatment is not standard for all the ceramic systems, it is important to understand the particularities of the glass–ceramic microstructure and composition because surface conditioning that allows better bond strength to resin cement in a specific ceramic may not enable the same outcome in a ceramic material with some different compounds. Therefore, dental ceramic materials have been classified into two groups according to the sensitivity of the surface to be selectively etched (topographical changes) when in contact with hydrofluoric acid: they can be either acid sensitive or acid resistant [4–9].

Structural and topography analyses of etched acid-sensitive (glass or predominantly glass) ceramics have shown that different surface patterns are created according to the ceramic microstructure and composition, being directly related to the concentration, etching time, and type of etching agent employed [10–27]. The adhesion mechanism of silica-based ceramics (i.e., glass-ceramics, herein: feldspathic, leucite enhanced, and lithium disilicate based) to resin cements seems to be well-established in the literature, since the bonding is promoted by hydrofluoric acid etching followed by a silane coupling agent application [18, 25, 28–30]. The presence of silica in the ceramic substrate composition will yield potentially useful information on the clinical success of the bonding procedures, since the silica will be selectively removed by the hydrofluoric acid etchant's action, promoting topographic changes that contribute to micromechanical retention [6, 18, 25] and chemical bonding when using a silane coupling agent and resin cement [7, 12].

literature has shown that applying only one of these methods (hydrofluoric acid etching or silanization) appears to be insufficient to promote high and stable bond strength [6, 12, 31, 32].

7.2 Hydrofluoric Acid Etching: Time and Concentration

In 1983, Horn and Calamia [33, 34] suggested the use of hydrofluoric acid to etch feldspathic laminate veneers to increase bond strength. The hydrofluoric acid mechanism selectively reacts with the ceramic glassy matrix (silica content) and exposes silicon oxides (SiO₂), thereby creating topographic changes (i.e., surface roughness) on the surface [30, 35], which leads to micromechanical retention when combined with a resin cement [6, 18, 25, 36]. The roughness owing to the ceramic surface etching increases the surface area available for bonding and the surface energy prior to application of the silane agent [37–39]. Thus, increasing the area and the surface free energy will reduce the contact angle, facilitate penetration of the bonding agents, and consequently increase the resin cement wettability for enhanced resinceramic bonding [40, 41].

Ceramic etching is a dynamic process, and its impact is dependent on the substrate constitution, surface topography, acid concentration, and etching time [10–12, 26, 40]. Based on this, many in vitro studies have reported different combinations of hydrofluoric acid concentrations and etching duration on the bond strength between glass–ceramics and resin cements [12, 18, 25, 36, 42–46]. However, different glass– ceramics may be more or less sensitive to the hydrofluoric acid etching since they differ in chemical composition and microstructure [20]. Hence, overetching has been reported as deleterious to the glass–ceramic material's flexural strength [10, 11, 22, 27]. Therefore, clinicians should be aware that each bonding procedure needs to be established considering the glass–ceramic type and the exact time/concentration of hydrofluoric acid for better performance. Chairside ceramic etching can be performed with a brief application of 5–10% hydrofluoric acid on the internal surface of the veneer. Table 7.1 presents suggestions for surface treatment and clinical indications of the main glass–ceramics according to the manufacturers.

7.3 Feldspathic Ceramic

Feldspathic ceramics normally present a microstructure based on aluminum-, potassium-, and sodium-based silicate with grains of about 4 μ m [47, 48]. Despite the high aesthetic and good adhesion to resin cements and tooth substrate, feldspathic ceramics have a low flexural strength of about 150 MPa [49].

After evaluating the microstructure of a feldspathic ceramic (Vita Mark II), Belli et al. [50] affirmed that this material presents one glassy phase embedding two distinguished particulate phases, both reaching up to 15 μ m in size: a highly etchable glass and an acid-resistant crystal. The etching pattern obtained in Vitablocs Mark II is due to the dissolution of the high-fusion glass particles by the

Ceramic type	Commercial name (brand)	Clinical indications	Surface treatment
Feldspathic	Vitablocs Mark II (VITA) Vita PM9 (VITA)	Veneers, inlays, onlays, anterior and partial crowns, overlay veneers for multiunit frameworks Layered veneers; overlay veneers for multi-unit frameworks	5% HF ^a for 60 s + silane
Leucite enhanced	IPS Empress Esthetic and IPS Empress CAD (Ivoclar Vivadent)	Veneers, inlays, onlays, anterior and posterior crowns	5% HF ^a for 60 s + silane
Lithium disilicate based	IPS e.max Press and IPS e.max CAD (Ivoclar Vivadent)	Veneers, inlays, onlays, anterior and posterior crowns, anterior and posterior implant abutments; three-unit bridges up to premolars; overlay veneers for multiunit frameworks	5% HF ^a for 20 s + silane
	(GC)	Occlusal veneers, thin veneers, veneers, inlays, onlays, anterior and posterior crowns, crown on top of an implant abutment, three-unit bridges up to the second premolar and placed on top of an implant abutment	5–9% HF ^a for 20 s + silane
Nano-fluorapatite glass-ceramic	IPS e.max Ceram (Ivoclar Vivadent)	Layered veneers, veneering of Y-TZP frameworks and lithium disilicate substructures	5% HF ^a for 20 s + silane
Fluorapatite glass–ceramic	IPS e.max ZirPress (Ivoclar Vivadent)	Veneers, pressing over Y-TZP frameworks	5% HF ^a for 20 s + silane
Zirconia- reinforced lithium silicate ^b	Vita Suprinity (VITA) Celtra DUO (Dentsply)	Veneers, inlays, onlays, anterior and posterior crowns	5% HF ^a for 20 s + silane 5% HF ^a for 30 s + silane
Feldspar ceramic network reinforced by a polymer network ^b	Vita Enamic (VITA)	Minimally invasive reconstructions, non-prep veneer/table top, inlays, onlays, anterior and posterior crowns	5% HF ^a for 60 s + silane

 Table 7.1
 Surface treatment indicated by the manufacturers according to the glass-ceramic (acid-sensitive) composition

^a*HF* hydrofluoric acid

^bNew materials that will be addressed in the next chapter

hydrofluoric acid, while the low-fusion glassy matrix suffers a less selective dissolution [50]. Thus, after hydrofluoric acid etching, the microstructure of feldspathic glass-ceramic presents only one phase and is characterized by a very porous material [48], described in the literature as a honeycombed surface (Fig. 7.1a). According to the manufacturer, good adhesion is achieved by conditioning this ceramic material with ~5% hydrofluoric acid for 1 min (Vita Zahnfabrik).





7.4 Leucite-Enhanced Ceramic

Leucite-enhanced glass–ceramics obtain their strength by finely dispersed leucite crystal reinforcement [11]. The leucite filler is uniformly dispersed throughout the glass as a reinforcing crystalline at a concentration of 35–45 (% in volume). This material (IPS Empress) exhibits a flexural strength of 120–180 MPa (Ivoclar Vivadent; [11]). According to Belli et al. [50], etching of leucite-enhanced ceramics results in well-dispersed round and slightly elongated cavities in a range of $0.5-3 \mu m$, being the shape and size of dissolved crystallites. See Fig. 7.1b.

According to Apel et al. [51], the crystalline content of leucite-enhanced ceramics is not so effective in promoting crack deflection (toughening mechanism), commonly observed in lithium disilicate glass–ceramics [52, 53]. However, the high glass phase content (~60% in volume in IPS Empress CAD) plays an important role for aesthetics and for hydrofluoric acid sensitivity, which enables adhesion [54]. The manufacturer recommends conditioning the leucite-enhanced ceramic with 5% hydrofluoric acid for 1 min to increase the bond between the luting composite and the ceramic restoration (Ivoclar Vivadent).

7.5 Lithium Disilicate-Based Ceramic

The first generation of lithium disilicate glass-ceramic was introduced as IPS Empress 2 (Ivoclar Vivadent) in 1998. Next, a pressable lithium disilicate glass-ceramic (IPS e.max Press, Ivoclar Vivadent) was developed with improved physical properties (flexural strength of about 440 MPa) and high translucency through different firing processes [55]. Also, the same glass-ceramic material has been offered for CAD/CAM processing technology with flexural strength of about 360 MPa (IPS e.max CAD, Ivoclar Vivadent).

The reinforcement of about 70% in volume of lithium disilicate crystals [56, 57] incorporated into the glassy matrix significantly increased the mechanical properties [56]. The lithium disilicate crystals have a needle-like shape of about 0.5 up to 4 μ m [20] and are randomly embedded into a glassy matrix. The randomly disposed crystals act as "crack stoppers" and give higher flexural strength and load-bearing ability under fatigue to lithium disilicate than other glass–ceramic materials [58]. After hydrofluoric acid etching, the glassy matrix surrounding the crystals is removed, and some crystals can be seen pulling out from the surface [17, 20]. The indicated etching for lithium disilicate ceramics is ~5% hydrofluoric acid for only 20 s (Ivoclar Vivadent).

Figure 7.1 (see below) shows the field emission-scanning electron microscope (FE-SEM) analyses of feldspathic (Vita Mark II; Fig. 7.1a), leucite-enhanced (IPS Empress CAD; Fig. 7.1b), and lithium disilicate-based (IPS e.max CAD; Fig. 7.1c) glass–ceramics. In those images, it is possible to observe the topography pattern alteration promoted by hydrofluoric acid etching when compared to polished ceramic surfaces. In the FE-SEM images, the pointers show the formation of micropores that occur due to attack of the matrix glass by etching the ceramic surface with

a honeycombed appearance in feldspathic ceramic and with exposure of the crystalline content in lithium disilicate and leucite ceramics, as well as removal of some crystals. In addition to the type of crystals, the volume and interlocking between crystals are the main differences related to the crystalline content between lithium disilicate and leucite ceramics. As aforementioned, the crystals in the lithium disilicate glass–ceramics are interlocked needle-like without orientation, while the leucite-enhanced glass–ceramic presents a less dense microstructure characterized by a single formation of leucite crystals without interlocking between the crystals [56, 59].

7.6 Adhesion and Fatigue Behavior of Bonded Glass-Ceramic Restorations

Ceramic restorations are constantly under cyclic loads in wet conditions, and their success mainly depends on the quality and durability of adhesive bond besides the mechanical reliability of the ceramic material [60]. Hydrofluoric acid etching modifies the resident flaw population (pores) on the intaglio surface of ceramic restorations to promote micromechanical interlocking [61]. Herewith, these flaws can act as sources of crack initiation propagating until a ceramic bulk fracture [10, 19, 22, 24], since clinical failures start as radial crack from the cementation surface of ceramic restorations [62, 63] (Fig. 7.2), where hydrofluoric acid etching is performed. In this sense, overetching (i.e., higher exposure time and higher acid concentration) could negatively influence the mechanical strength [27] and, consequently, the long-term success of ceramic restorations.

In addition, defects can also be introduced by internal clinical adjustments of fixed dental prostheses. These internal adjustments using diamond burs appear to have a negative effect on the fatigue behavior of bonded glass-ceramic restorations [64]. From this standpoint, it is essential to proceed cautiously with the necessary internal adjustments, as well as with the acid etching time.

Summarily, the pre-cementation procedures should promote maximum chemical and micromechanical bonds, preventing strong topographical alterations of the intaglio surface, in order to optimize the adhesion for fatigue behavior improvements of ceramic restorations [13, 65], without introducing critical defects, which induce radial cracks and failure overtime. Potentially, the one-step bonding agents for ceramic conditioning appear to be taking place for this propose, since this concept scopes minimum topographical changes and maximum chemical bonds. It is a trend!

7.7 Hydrofluoric Acid Toxicity and New Alternative Materials

Although hydrofluoric acid can effectively improve the bond strength between glass-ceramics and resin cements, it is considered a highly toxic material [66], even in low concentrations and/or for short periods of exposure [67, 68]. It is important



Fig. 7.2 Fractographical examination under FE-SEM of simplified-feldspathic ceramic crown (a, b) and lithium disilicate restoration (c, d) that were cemented on a dentin-like material and subjected to cyclical intermittent loading. The yellow arrows indicate the path of crack propagation observed in cementation surface under tensile stresses and flaws promoted by surface treatment, which acted as source of crack initiation (b, d)

to elucidate that clinicians in some countries are not able to buy and use this product inside the office; the laboratory technician, aware of many demands, performs the hydrofluoric acid etching and sends the prosthetic restoration already etched to the clinician [69].

The tissue damage produced by hydrofluoric acid exposure is based on two mechanisms: corrosive burns from free hydrogen ions and chemical burns from tissue penetration of fluoride [70]. In a different way from other acids, the fluoride ion of hydrofluoric acid quickly penetrates the skin, being able to cause destruction of deep tissue layers, including bone. However, pain associated with exposure to hydrofluoric acid solutions (1 up to 50%) may be delayed for 1–24 h [70]. If

hydrofluoric acid is not immediately neutralized and the fluoride ion bound, tissue destruction may continue for days and result in limb loss or death [69]. An ex vivo study reported that the initial extent of hydrofluoric acid burning depends on the concentration, temperature, and the contact time with the acid [67].

Carpena and Ballarin [69] reported that 10% hydrofluoric acid is prohibited in some countries. In their manuscript, they also report the accidental death of a Japanese child after wrongful exposure to hydrofluoric acid. Therefore, Japanese dentists cannot buy hydrofluoric acid to etch ceramics. In Japan and the United States, the dental technician performs hydrofluoric acid etching according to the dentist's instructions [69].

The manipulation of hydrofluoric acid, at a minimum, should be performed using double nitrile gloves or butyl rubber gloves, even for working with small quantities [69]. Also, plastic facial masks should be preferred, and protective glasses should always be mandatory since eye contact with hydrofluoric acid would result in severe damage with concentrations from 0.5%. In addition, it is highly recommended to keep hydrofluoric acid refrigerated and not exposed to sunlight since it is volatile, being in the gel form above 28°C.

The potential damage to health and high toxicity of hydrofluoric acid are factors that have motivated the search for new alternative materials to substitute hydrofluoric acid in dentistry. Previous studies have tested different ceramic surface treatments, such as alumina particle abrasion, laser irradiation, nonthermal plasma treatment, silica (Si) vapor phase deposition, selective infiltration etching, and associated treatments [40, 71–75]. However, those alternative surface treatments were not preferable to hydrofluoric acid etching associated with silane coupling agent application or are poorly supported by the literature, thus requiring more studies.

A recent material introduced into the market is a self-etching ceramic primer (ME&P; Monobond Etch & Prime, Ivoclar Vivadent). This primer is a simplified alternative to the conventional protocol (hydrofluoric acid etching + silane) for treating the glass–ceramic surfaces, since it is less harmful and requires a shorter time due to less application steps (Ivoclar Vivadent). It contains ammonium polyfluoride responsible for creating a rough pattern, replacing the role of hydrofluoric acid, and trimethoxypropyl methacrylate to promote the chemical bond, since it is one compound found in the composition of silane agents [15]. Despite the etching promoted by this primer creating a less pronounced roughness pattern than hydrofluoric acid (Fig. 7.3), recent studies have demonstrated effectiveness for bonding and have shown promising results, but more studies are still needed [15, 21, 65, 76–84].

7.8 Considerations About Silane Coupling Agents

By definition, bifunctional trialkoxy silanes contain two different functional end groups, alkoxy and C–C, which can connect to inorganic and organic materials, respectively. In this sense, silane coupling agents are being employed for adhesive cementation, promoting very effective bonding between silica-based restorative



Fig. 7.3 FE-SEM images (20,000× magnification) of CAD/CAM lithium disilicate glass–ceramic comparing non-etched surface, a self-etching ceramic primer (Monobond Etch & Prime) surface treated according to the manufacturers' recommendations (20 s active application +40 s passive), and 5% hydrofluoric acid etched surface

materials (i.e., resin composite luting cement) to acid-etched glass–ceramic restorations [85]. This effectiveness is based on chemical bonding and improved surface wettability promoted when a silane agent is applied onto ceramic surfaces. The dual reactivity is given by one non-hydrolyzable functional group with a carbon– carbon double bond that will polymerize with resin composite monomers containing double bonds and one hydrolyzable alkoxy group (e.g., methoxy–O–CH₃, ethoxy–O–CH₂CH₃) which will react with a hydroxyl group from the ceramic surface [86].

Silane agents should be deposited in thin films: if the siloxane film is too thick, it may lead to cohesive failure, while a film which is too thin may lead to incomplete coverage of the ceramic surface by the thin silane layer and insufficient contact between the silanized ceramic substrate and the resin cement [86]. In this sense, the low viscosity exhibited by silane agents is imperative to assist wetting, making this material come into close contact with the ceramic substrate [86]. During the drying and reaction period, the silane will form a branched thin siloxane film of about 20–100 nm on the etched surface [86]. The siloxane film thickness is mainly determined by the concentration of the silane solutions, curing time, and temperature [86].

Unfortunately, siloxane links are sensitive to moisture in the interface between resin and ceramic surface: aging methods, water storage, and thermocycling have been described as detrimental for the siloxane–ceramic bonds [87]. As the resin composites are permeable to water, the bond between silane and resin composite has been expected to deteriorate by hydrolysis over time [39]. Studies have shown that when only silane was applied on the ceramic surfaces, the bond strength did not improve because of insufficient mechanical retention [6, 32, 88, 89].

7.9 Adhesion to Tooth Substrates

In addition to the correct ceramic surface treatment, the retention and consequently longevity of indirect restorations also rely on the bond strength of the resin cement to tooth structures [90]. Nowadays, adhesive systems can be divided into two types

depending on the clinical approach of the smear layer produced by the cavity preparation and the adhesion mechanisms. The first system, the total-etching adhesive, basically includes a separate etch and rinse phase, followed by a priming step and the application of adhesive resin (three-step total-etching adhesive), or the one-step application (same bottle) of combining the primer and adhesive resin (two-step total-etching adhesive). The second system involves a self-etching adhesive, which contains a non-rinse acidic monomer to condition and prime the enamel and dentin simultaneously. Most common self-etching adhesives have two application steps, with the self-etching primer followed by an adhesive resin application (two-step self-etching adhesive).

More recently, all-in-one adhesives (universal adhesives) have been developed, which are the next modification of self-etching priming systems that combine etching, priming, and adhesive potentials into one step. The recently introduced self-etching systems enable simplifying restorative procedures, saving time, as well as eliminating the need for acid etching before application, significantly reducing technique sensitivity [91]. However, studies have shown that some all-in-one adhesives exhibited relatively low bond strengths when compared with two-step total-etching systems [92].

Since adhesive luting is a highly sensitive technique, improvements are being made to make this process less technique sensitive and time-consuming. In this sense, self-adhesive universal luting materials have been introduced since the beginning of the twenty-first century [93]. However, an in vitro study showed that cementation with conventional technique had higher survival rates compared to self-adhesive cements [94], showing debonding of the restorations cemented with self-adhesive cement and confirming that enamel etching and primer application are essential for a successful bonding strategy. For all the resin cements tested in that study, significantly higher bond strength values were measured when the enamel etching is an important step, since it significantly improved marginal adaptation in indirect ceramic restorations [95] and increased survival rates for etched enamel in partial crowns over 6.5 years, which were cemented with self-adhesive resin cements [96].

For dentin, the adhesion is generally more susceptible to failure than enamelresin cement or ceramic-resin cement interfaces. The micromechanical bond between resin cement and dentin is obtained by a hybrid layer, on which a lowviscosity resin will penetrate into the collagen fibril network and be polymerized [97]. To achieve a hybrid layer with the total-etching approach, dentin is pretreated with an acidic agent, followed by priming and the application of a low-viscosity resin. Also, the smear layer can only be modified and included into the hybrid layer by using self-etching adhesive systems [98].

Importantly, the effectiveness of bonding to tooth substrate is technique based and should be performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. However, selective etching of enamel is recommended as an additional step for selfadhesive resin cements, since it improves bonding by means of additional micro retentions.

7.10 The Influence of Resin Cements on the Adhesion

The selection of the cement and luting technique affects the clinical success of indirect ceramic restorations since the cement will link the ceramic material to tooth substrate/supporting material. Due to brittleness (low strength to tensile stresses) and limited flexural strength of glass–ceramics, adhesive cementation using composite resins should be performed to increase the fracture resistance of the restoration [99–103]. Silica-based glass–ceramic restorations luted with resin composite exhibited better clinical survival than restorations luted with glass ionomer [104] or zinc phosphate [105].

Resin cements have the same composition as the composite resins, but have a lower amount of inorganic filler, providing low viscosity and the fluidity necessary to the cementing agents. They can be classified according to the activation process and the mechanism of interaction with the dental substrate. According to the interaction method with the substrate, two subgroups of resin cements can be listed: (1) resin cements associated with the use of conventional or self-etching adhesives and (2) self-adhesive cements, which do not require any tooth conditioning before cementation [106]. In relation to the activating process, the luting agents can be auto- (chemical curing), light-, or dual-polymerizing resin cement.

A major advantage of light activation is that it allows longer working time than dual or chemical curing materials [107]. Another advantage of these cements is their superior color stability, which influences the esthetic result of ceramic restorations. A greater color alteration was observed for dual-polymerizing cements than light-polymerizing cements due to the oxidation of aromatic tertiary amines present in the dual cements as accelerators of the auto-polymerizing reaction [108, 109]. Therefore, conventional cements with light polymerization are preferred for luting procedures of glass–ceramic laminate veneers [110].

It is important to elucidate that chemical and physical properties of resin cements are also important for the clinical success of indirect restorations. Ideally, those properties should include the capacity to promote bond durability between the restorative material and the tooth surface, strength to tensile and compression stresses, a satisfactory elastic modulus, biocompatibility, color shade, good viscosity (filler content) to allow an adequate resin cement thickness, and the entire fitting of the restoration [111, 112].

Regarding the resin cement thickness, some studies have reported higher stresses developing in the cementation line as the cement thickness increases [101, 113]. A resin cement layer of less than 50 μ m creates better bond to glass–ceramic materials compared to a layer greater than 50 μ m [114]. Moreover, a cement thickness of 50 μ m was more favorable for the fatigue performance of feldspathic crowns, since these crowns were more resistant than those cemented with 500 μ m thickness [115].

An appropriate resin-bonding protocol will increase the fracture resistance of the dental ceramic and maximize the performance of indirect esthetic restorations [116, 117]. In this sense, the load-bearing ability and the survival probability of ceramic restorations could be improved because resin cements block the progression of

cracks by filling (healing) these cracks and irregularities in the intaglio surface of the restorations [19, 24, 101, 102] and by better transmitting the loads throughout the assembly [13, 101].

The long-term duration of resin-ceramic bonding does not completely rely on a high degree of polymerization and cement mechanical properties [118]. At the same time that a longer and higher intensity of light exposure may enhance the polymerization of the resin cement, it may cause more rapid shrinkage of the material which might be detrimental to the bond due to rapid stress increase [118]. Thus, manufacturers should indicate the radiant exposure required for proper curing in the resin cement instructions for use. In the case of anterior teeth after adhesive bonding, there will probably be little difference as the contact lens becomes more resistant after proper polymerization of resin cement [102]. However, ceramic restorations with thin thicknesses (i.e., laminate veneers) are hyper-fragile prior to cementation, and care must be taken since it is necessary to perform manual pressure in order to overflow any excess of resin cement and place the ceramic piece in proper position [69]. At this time, there is the probability to fracture the ceramic contact lens. Thus, proper pretreatment of the ceramic piece is a determining factor for clinical success as it may influence its mechanical fatigue behavior.

7.11 Important Things to Know Before Etching and Silanization of Glass–Ceramic Restorations

The clinician must be in intimate contact with the dental technician, having knowledge about which kind of glass-ceramic material they will be handling. After hydrofluoric acid etching the glass-ceramic restorations (see the appropriate etching time, Table 7.1), some precipitates and salts are formed on the surface because of the glassy matrix removal. In this sense, the best reported method to remove residues formed by acid etching in feldspathic ceramics is the ultrasonic bath with distilled water [44, 119, 120]. Belli et al. [121] concluded that air/water spray, phosphoric acid etching, phosphoric acid and ultrasonic bath cleaning, and only ultrasonic bath were all similarly good for removing the residue layer and produced good bond strength for leucite and lithium disilicate ceramics. Also, Magalhães et al. [122] found that only air/water spray for 30 s is enough to remove precipitates formed on lithium disilicate surfaces after 20 s of hydrofluoric acid etching.

In addition to the sonic devices, some neutralizing agents have also been employed to clean the ceramic surface after conditioning, removing the reaction precipitates. However, some studies concluded that the acid neutralization step appears to be dispensable, since this procedure did not improve the bond strength or stability between resin cement and glass–ceramics compared to only washing/drying [123, 124]. A universal cleaning paste (Ivoclean, Ivoclar Vivadent) is available on the dental market, aiming to clean an already etched surface or surface contaminated with saliva and/or blood before cementation. This product is based on sodium hydroxide and appears to effectively remove various contaminants from the ceramic surface and provide a clean surface for resin bonding when used before and after etching [125–127]. Another cleaning product is ZirClean (Bisco) that helps to achieve reliable adhesive cementation results by removing the phosphate contamination of zirconia and glass–ceramic surfaces after intraoral try-in.

The silane agent application changes according to the chosen product. For intraoral repair or for the etched ceramic surfaces, the exposed ceramic surface is usually hydrated from the adsorbed water after washing off the hydrofluoric acid. A concern in chairside silanization is to remove the excessive water adsorbed by the ceramic surface. Several methods have been developed for this task, like intensive dry and warm air or application of volatile drying agents prior to silanization, or washing off the ceramic conditioner (acid) with a pre-activated silane with no intermediate air/ water rinsing. Also, silane drying and post-silanization heat treatment have been performed to eliminate solvents and optimize the effect of silane on the resin adhesion to ceramic [128, 129]. However, heat treatment procedures for the prehydrolyzed silane either in a furnace or with hot air application cannot replace the use of hydrofluoric acid etching [130].

7.12 Clinical Implications

Glass-ceramic veneers offer a predictable and successful treatment modality providing dental tissue preservation. Clinical failure rates of ceramic veneers, including loss of retention or fracture, were less than 5% at 5 years [131, 132] and approximately 5.6% after 12 years [133]. Long-term studies reported similar survival rates: 91–93% over 10 years [134–136] and 82.93% at 20 years [134]. However, Beier et al. [134] included patients diagnosed with bruxism (50%) in the study population, and consequently, the main reason for failure reported in their study was ceramic fracture. In this sense, significantly increased failure rates of glass-ceramic veneers are very often associated with bruxism, clenching, and nonvital teeth [134, 135].

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis suggested that the longevity of a tooth-supported ceramic prostheses made by CAD/CAM manufacturing is lower than that of crowns made by the conventional technique [137]. The material type and process (CAD/CAM generations and software limitation) were the most frequent reasons for CAD/CAM failures [137].

In relation to the survival of ceramic veneers made of different materials (feld-spathic, leucite, and lithium disilicate), a systematic review showed very low complication rates and no significant differences in the event rates among the different materials [138]. In this study, the most frequent complication reported was marginal discoloration (9% at 5 years), followed by marginal integrity (3.9–7.7% at 5 years) [138]. Marginal integrity and discoloration are worse when the restoration margin is located within dentin [135].

The fatigue strength of the ceramic material, the prosthetic preparation, the cementation technique (reliable adhesive bonding), and the finishing procedures are considered key factors for the long-term success and esthetical result of the ceramic veneer restorations [139, 140]. Taking into consideration the different degrees of

dentin exposure after preparation design, porcelain laminate veneers present higher survival rates (2 years of follow-up) when bonded only to enamel and to enamel with minimal dentin exposure [141]. Large areas of exposed dentin (more than 50% of the preparation surface) exhibit a significantly increased risk for requiring a clinical intervention such as re-cementations, significantly affecting the clinical performance of heat-pressed ceramic veneers [142, 143].

Some factors related to the preparation design can positively improve the clinical performance and survival rates of porcelain laminate veneers, with intact enamel bordering tissue, proximal chamfer, and supragingival preparation designs with incisal overlapping [144].

7.13 Final Considerations

Taking into account the aforementioned concepts and the clinical evidences, it can be highlighted that:

- Overall, maximum adhesion among substrates plays a crucial role in fatigue behavior and in clinical performance improvements of glass-ceramic restorations.
- Adhesive cementation plays a reinforcement role in glass-ceramic restorations, increasing the survival probability of the restorations, since the resin cement promotes healing the cracks at the intaglio surface of the restorations.
- In addition to washing the etched surface with air/water spray, the removal of precipitates and salts formed on the surface after hydrofluoric acid etching using an ultrasonic bath with distilled water might optimize the adhesion to glass-ceramics.
- The clinicians should implement previous knowledge of the glass-ceramic material that is being used in order to perform the indicated surface treatment with hydrofluoric acid etching and silanization.
- Finally, ceramic materials and cementing strategies are constantly changing, which demands continuous updating by clinicians.

References

- 1. Valenti M, Valenti A. Retrospective survival analysis of 261 lithium disilicate crowns in a private general practice. Quintessence Int. 2009;40(7):573–9.
- 2. Kelly JR. Dental ceramics: what is this stuff any may? J Am Dent Assoc. 2008;139(Suppl 4):4S–7S.
- 3. Kelly JR. Dental ceramics: current thinking and trends. Dent Clin N Am. 2004;48(2): 513–30.
- Amaral R, Ozcan M, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Microtensile bond strength of a resin cement to glass infiltrated zirconia-reinforced ceramic: the effect of surface conditioning. Dent Mater. 2006;22(3):283–90.
- 5. Bottino MA, Valandro LF, Buso L, Scotti R. Effect of surface treatments on the resin bond to zirconium-based ceramic. Int J Prosthodont. 2005;18(1):60–5.

- Brentel AS, Özcan M, Valandro LF, Alarça LG, Amaral R, Bottino MA. Microtensile bond strength of a resin cement to feldspathic ceramic after different etching and silanization regimens in dry and aged conditions. Dent Mater. 2007;23(11):1323–31.
- Ozcan M, Vallittu PK. Effect of surface conditioning methods on the bond strength of luting cement to ceramics. Dent Mater. 2003;19(8):725–31.
- Valandro LF, Della Bona A, Bottino MA, Neisser MP. The effect of ceramic surface treatment on bonding to densely sintered alumina ceramic. J Prosthet Dent. 2005;93(3):253–9.
- Valandro LF, Leite FPP, Scotti R, Bottino MA, Neisser MP. Effect of ceramic surface treatment on the microtensile bond strength between a resin cement and an alumina-based ceramic. J Adhes Dent. 2004;6(4):327–32.
- Addison O, Marquis PM, Fleming GJ. The impact of hydrofluoric acid surface treatments on the performance of a porcelain laminate restorative material. Dent Mater. 2007;23(4):461–8.
- 11. Hooshmand T, Parvizi S, Keshvad A. Effect of surface acid etching on the biaxial flexural strength of two hot-pressed glass ceramics. J Prosthodont. 2008;17(5):415–9.
- 12. Kalavacharla VK, Lawson NC, Ramp LC, Burgess JO. Influence of etching protocol and silane treatment with a universal adhesive on lithium disilicate bond strength. Oper Dent. 2015;40(4):372–8.
- Monteiro JB, Oliani MG, Guilardi LF, Prochnow C, Rocha Pereira GK, Bottino MA, de Melo RM, Valandro LF. Fatigue failure load of zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate glass ceramic cemented to a dentin analogue: effect of etching time and hydrofluoric acid concentration. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2018;77:375–82.
- Neis CA, Albuquerque NLG, Albuquerque IS, Gomes EA, Souza-Filho CB, Feitosa VP, Spazzin AO, Bacchi A. Surface treatments for repair feldspathic, leucite- and lithium disilicate-reinforced glass ceramic using composite resin. Braz Dent J. 2015;26(2):152–5.
- Prado M, Prochnow C, Marchionatti AME, Baldissara P, Valandro LF, Wandscher VF. Ceramic surface treatment with a single-component primer: resin adhesion to glass ceramics. J Adhes Dent. 2018;20(2):99–105.
- Prochnow C, Pereira GKR, Venturini AB, Scherer MM, Rippe MP, Bottino MC, Kleverlaan CJ, Valandro LF. How does hydrofluoric acid etching affect the cyclic load-to-failure of lithium disilicate restorations? J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2018b;87:306–11.
- Prochnow C, Venturini AB, Grasel R, Bottino MC, Valandro LF. Effect of etching with distinct hydrofluoric acid concentrations on the flexural strength of a lithium disilicate-based glass ceramic. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2017;105(4):885–91.
- Prochnow C, Venturini AB, Grasel R, Gündel A, Bottino MC, Valandro LF. Adhesion to a lithium disilicate glass ceramic etched with hydrofluoric acid at distinct concentrations. Braz Dent J. 2018c;29(5):492–9.
- Prochnow C, Venturini AB, Guilardi LF, Pereira GKR, Burgo TAL, Bottino MC, Kleverlaan CJ, Valandro LF. Hydrofluoric acid concentrations: effect on the cyclic load-to-failure of machined lithium disilicate restorations. Dent Mater. 2018a;34(9):e255–63.
- Ramakrishnaiah R, Alkheraif AA, Divakar DD, Matinlinna JP, Vallittu PK. The effect of hydrofluoric acid etching duration on the surface micromorphology, roughness, and wettability of dental ceramics. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(6):1–17.
- Scherer MM, Prochnow C, Venturini AB, Pereira GKR, Burgo TAL, Rippe MP, Valandro LF. Fatigue failure load of an adhesively-cemented lithium disilicate glass-ceramic: conventional ceramic etching vs etch & prime one-step primer. Dent Mater. 2018;34(8):1134–43.
- Venturini AB, Prochnow C, May LG, Bottino MC, Valandro LF. Influence of hydrofluoric acid concentration on the flexural strength of a feldspathic ceramic. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2015b;48:241–8.
- Venturini AB, Prochnow C, May LG, Kleverlaan CJ, Valandro LF. Fatigue failure load of feldspathic ceramic crowns after hydrofluoric acid etching at different concentrations. J Prosthet Dent. 2018b;119(2):278–85.
- Venturini AB, Prochnow C, Pereira GKR, Werner A, Kleverlaan CJ, Valandro LF. The effect of hydrofluoric acid concentration on the fatigue failure load of adhesively cemented feldspathic ceramic discs. Dent Mater. 2018a;34(4):667–75.

- Venturini AB, Prochnow C, Rambo D, Gundel A, Valandro LF. Effect of hydrofluoric acid concentration on resin adhesion to a feldspathic ceramic. J Adhes Dent. 2015a;17(4):313–20.
- 26. Xiaoping L, Dongfeng R, Silikas N. Effect of etching time and resin bond on the flexural strength of IPS e max Press glass ceramic. Dent Mater. 2014;30(12):e330–6.
- Zogheib LV, Bona AD, Kimpara ET, McCabe JF. Effect of hydrofluoric acid etching duration on the roughness and flexural strength of a lithium disilicate-based glass ceramic. Braz Dent J. 2011;22(1):45–50.
- Colares RCR, Neri JR, Souza AMB, Pontes KMF, Mendonça JS, Santiago SL. Effect of surface pretreatments on the microtensile bond strength of lithium-disilicate ceramic repaired with composite resin. Braz Dent J. 2013;24(4):349–52.
- Souza RO, Castilho AA, Fernandes VV, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Durability of microtensile bond to nonetched and etched feldspar ceramic: self-adhesive resin cements vs conventional resin. J Adhes Dent. 2011;13(2):155–62.
- 30. Spohr AM, Sobrinho LC, Consani S, et al. Influence of surface conditions and silane agent on the bond of resin to IPS empress 2 ceramic. Int J Prosthodont. 2003;16(3):277–82.
- Lise DP, Perdigão J, Ende AV, Zidan O, Lopes GC. Microshear bond strength of resin cements to lithium disilicate substrates as a function of surface preparation. Oper Dent. 2015;40(5):524–32.
- Stacey GC. A shear stress analysis of the bonding of porcelain veneers to enamel. J Prosthet Dent. 1993;70(5):395–402.
- Calamia JR. Etched porcelain facial veneers: a new treatment modality based on scientific and clinical evidence. N Y J Dent. 1983;53(6):255–9.
- 34. Horn HR. Porcelain laminate veneers bonded to etched enamel. Dent Clin N Am. 1983;27(4):671-84.
- 35. Guarda GB, Correr AB, Goncalves LS, Costa AR, Borges GA, Sinhoreti MA, Correr-Sobrinho L. Effects of surface treatments, thermocycling, and cyclic loading on the bond strength of a resin cement bonded to a lithium disilicate glass ceramic. Oper Dent. 2013;38(2): 208–17.
- Chen JH, Matsumura H, Atsuta M. Effect of different etching periods on the bond strength of a composite resin to a machinable porcelain. J Dent. 1998;26(1):53–8.
- Della Bona A, Borba M, Benetti P, Pecho OE, Alessandretti R, Mosele JC, Mores RT. Adhesion to dental ceramics. Curr Oral Health Rep. 2014;1(4):232–8.
- Jardel V, Degrange M, Picard B, Derrien G. Surface energy of etched ceramic. Int J Prosthodont. 1999;12(5):415–8.
- Lung CYK, Matinlinna JP. Aspects of silane coupling agents and surface conditioning in dentistry: an overview. Dent Mater. 2012;28(5):467–77.
- Della Bona A, Anusavice KJ, Hood JAA. Effect of ceramic surface treatment on tensile bond strength to resin cement. Int J Prosthodont. 2002;15(3):248–53.
- Phoenix S, Shen C. Characterization of treated porcelain surfaces via dynamic contact angle analysis. Int J Prosthodont. 1995;8(2):187–94.
- 42. Amaral R, Ozcan M, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Resin bonding to a feldspar ceramic after different ceramic surface conditioning methods: evaluation of contact angle, surface pH, and microtensile bond strength durability. J Adhes Dent. 2011;13(6):551–60.
- 43. Barghi N, Fischer DE, Vatani L. Effects of porcelain leucite content, types of etchants, and etching time on porcelain-composite bond. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2006;18(1):47–53.
- Canay S, Hersek N, Ertan A. Effect of different acid treatments on a porcelain surface. J Oral Rehabil. 2001;28(1):95–101.
- 45. Naves LZ, Soares CJ, Moraes RR, Gonçalves LS, Sinhoreti MA, Correr-Sobrinho L. Surface/ interface morphology and bond strength to glass ceramic etched for different periods. Oper Dent. 2010;35(4):420–7.
- 46. Ozcan M, Volpato CA. Surface conditioning protocol for the adhesion of resin-based materials to glassy matrix ceramics: how to condition and why? J Adhes Dent. 2015;17(3):292–3.
- 47. Giordano R. Materials for chairside CAD/CAM-produced restorations. J Am Dent Assoc. 2006;137(Suppl):14S–21S.

- Ramos NC, Campos TMB, de La Paz IS, Machado JPB, Bottino MA, Cesar PF, Melo RM. Microstructure characterization and SCG of newly engineered dental ceramics. Dent Mater. 2016;32(7):870–8.
- Guess PC, Schultheis S, Bonfante EA, Coelho PG, Ferencz JL, Silva NR. All-ceramic systems: laboratory and clinical performance. Dent Clin N Am. 2011;55(2):333–52.
- Belli R, Wendler M, de Ligny D, Cicconi MR, Petschelt A, Peterlik H, Lohbauer U. Chairside CAD/CAM materials. Part 1: measurement of elastic constants and microstructural characterization. Dent Mater. 2017;33(1):84–98.
- Apel E, Bernard A, Höland M, Müller R, Kappert H, Rheinberger V, Höland W. Phenomena and mechanisms of crack propagation in glass-ceramics. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2008;1(4):313–25.
- Belli R, Petschelt A, Hofner B, Hajtó J, Scherrer SS, Lohbauer U. Fracture rates and lifetime estimations of CAD/CAM all-ceramic restorations. J Dent Res. 2016;95(1):67–73.
- Lohbauer U, Müller FA, Petschelt A. Influence of surface roughness on mechanical strength of resin composite versus glass ceramic materials. Dent Mater. 2008;24(2):250–6.
- 54. Ritzberger C, Schweiger M, Höland W. Principles of crystal phase formation in Ivoclar Vivadent glass-ceramics for dental restorations. J Non-Cryst Solids. 2016;432:137–42.
- 55. Chung KH, Liao JH, Duh JG, Chan DCN. The effects of repeated heat-pressing on properties of pressable glass-ceramics. J Oral Rehabil. 2009;36(2):132–41.
- Hölland W, Schweiger M, Frank M, Rheinberger V. A comparison of the microstructure and properties of the IPS Emps2 and the IPS Empresss glass-ceramic. J Biomed Mater Res. 2000;53(4):297–303.
- 57. Sundfeld Neto D, Naves LZ, Costa AR, Correr AB, Consani S, Borges GA, Correr-Sobrinho L. The effect of hydrofluoric acid concentration on the bond strength and morphology of the surface and interface of glass ceramics to a resin cement. Oper Dent. 2015;40(5):470–9.
- Nishioka G, Prochnow C, Firmino A, Amaral M, Bottino MA, Valandro LF, Melo RM. Fatigue strength of several dental ceramics indicated for CAD-CAM monolithic restorations. Braz Oral Res. 2018;32:e53.
- Ilie N, Hickel R. Correlation between ceramics translucency and polymerization efficiency through ceramics. Dent Mater. 2008;24(7):908–14.
- Guess PC, Strub JR, Steinhart N, Wolkewitz M, Stappert CF. All-ceramic partial coverage restorations – midterm results of a 5-year prospective clinical splitmouth study. J Dent. 2009;37(8):627–37.
- Addison O, Fleming GJ. The influence of cement lute, thermocycling, and surface preparation on the strength of a porcelain laminate veneering material. Dent Mater. 2004;20(3): 286–92.
- 62. Kelly JR. Clinically relevant approach to failure testing of all-ceramic restorations. J Prosthet Dent. 1999;81(6):652–61.
- Kelly JR, Giordano R, Pober R, Cima MJ. Fracture surface analysis of dental ceramics: clinically failed restorations. Int J Prosthodont. 1990;3(5):430–40.
- Rodrigues CDS, Guilardi LF, Follak AC, Prochnow C, May LG, Valandro LF. Internal adjustments decrease the fatigue failure load of bonded simplified lithium disilicate restorations. Dent Mater. 2018;34(9):225–35.
- 65. Schestatsky R, Zucuni CP, Venturini AB, de Lima Burgo TA, Bacchi A, Valandro LF, Rocha Pereira GK. CAD-CAM milled versus pressed lithium-disilicate monolithic crowns adhesively cemented after distinct surface treatments: fatigue performance and ceramic surface characteristics. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2019;94:144–54.
- 66. Ozcan M, Allahbeickaraghi A, Dündar M. Possible hazardous effects of hydrofluoric acid and recommendations for treatment approach: a review. Clin Oral Investig. 2012;16(1):15–23.
- Dennerlein K, Kiesewetter F, Kilo S, Jäger T, Göen T, Korinth G, Drexler H. Dermal absorption and skin damage following hydrofluoric acid exposure in an ex vivo human skin model. Toxicol Lett. 2016;248:25–33.
- Derelanko MJ, Gad SC, Gavigan F, Dunn BJ. Acute dermal toxicity of dilute hydrofluoric acid. J Toxicol Cutan Ocul Toxicol. 1985;4(2):73–85.

- Carpena G, Ballarin A. Hydrofluoric acid—simple things you may do not know about something you are so habituated to use. Odovtos Int J Dent Sci. 2014;16:15–23.
- Hatzifotis M, Williams A, Muller M, Pegg S. Hydrofluoric acid burns. Burns. 2004;30(2):156–9.
- Dilber E, Yavuz T, Kara HB, Özturk AN. Comparison of the effects of surface treatments on roughness of two ceramic systems. Photomed Laser Surg. 2012;30(6):308–14.
- 72. Kursoglu P, Motro PF, Yurdaguven H. Shear bond strength of resin cement to an acid etched and a laser irradiated ceramic surface. J Adv Prosthodont. 2013;5(2):98–103.
- Menees TS, Lawson NC, Beck PR, Burgess JO. Influence of particle abrasion or hydrofluoric acid etching on lithium disilicate flexural strength. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;112(5):1164–70.
- Vechiato Filho AJ, dos Santos DM, Goiato MC, de Medeiros RA, Moreno A, Bonatto L. da R, Rangel EC. Surface characterization of lithium disilicate ceramic after nonthermal plasma treatment. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;112(5):1156–63.
- Yavuz T, Dilber E, Kara HB, Tuncdemir AR, Ozturk AN. Effects of different surface treatments on shear bond strength in two different ceramic systems. Lasers Med Sci. 2013;28(5):1233–9.
- 76. Cardenas AFM, Quintero-Calderon AS, Siqueira FSF, Campos VS, Wendlinger M, Pulido-Mora CA, Masson-Palacios MJ, Sarmiento-Delgado ML, Loguercio AD. Do different application modes improve the bonding performance of self-etching ceramic primer to lithium disilicate and feldspathic ceramics? J Adhes Dent. 2019;21(4):319–27.
- Colombo LDA, Murillo-Gómez F, De Goes MF. Bond strength of CAD/CAM restorative materials treated with different surface etching protocols. J Adhes Dent. 2019;21(4):307–17.
- El-Damanhoury HM, Gaintantzopoulou MD. Self-etching ceramic primer versus hydrofluoric acid etching: etching efficacy and bonding performance. J Prosthodont Res. 2018;62(1):75–83.
- Maier E, Bordihn V, Belli R, Taschner M, Petschelt A, Lohbauer U, Zorzin J. New approaches in bonding to glass-ceramic: self-etch glass-ceramic primer and universal adhesives. J Adhes Dent. 2019;21(3):209–17.
- Murillo-Gómez F, Palma-Dibb RG, De Goes MF. Effect of acid etching on tridimensional microstructure of etchable CAD/CAM materials. Dent Mater. 2018;34(6):944–55.
- Murillo-Gómez F, De Goes MF. Bonding effectiveness of tooth-colored materials to resin cement provided by self-etching silane primer after short- and long-term storage. J Prosthet Dent. 2019;121(4):713.e1–8.
- Román-Rodríguez JL, Perez-Barquero JA, Gonzalez-Angulo E, Fons-Font A, Bustos-Salvador JL. Bonding to silicate ceramics: conventional technique compared with a simplified technique. J Clin Exp Dent. 2017;9(3):e384–6.
- Siqueira FS, Alessi RS, Cardenas AF, Kose C, Souza Pinto SC, Bandeca MC, et al. New single-bottle ceramic primer: 6-month case report and laboratory performance. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2016;17(12):1033–9.
- 84. Tribst JPM, Monteiro JB, Venturini AB, Pereira GKR, Bottino MA, Melo RM, Valandro LF. Fatigue failure load of resin-bonded simplified lithium disilicate glass-ceramic restorations: effect of ceramic conditioning methods. J Adhes Dent. 2019;21(4):373–81.
- Matinlinna JP, Lung CYK, Tsoi JKH. Silane adhesion mechanism in dental applications and surface treatments: a review. Dent Mater. 2018;34(1):13–28.
- Matinlinna JP, Vallittu PK. Bonding of resin composites to etchable ceramic surfaces an insight review of the chemical aspects on surface conditioning. J Oral Rehabil. 2007;34(8):622–30.
- Corazza PH, Cavalcanti SCM, Queiroz JRC, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Effect of postsilanization heat treatments of silanized feldspathic ceramic on adhesion to resin cement. J Adhes Dent. 2013;15(5):473–9.
- Matinlinna JP, Lassila LVJ, Özcan M, Yli-Urpo A, Vallittu PK. An introduction to silanes and their clinical applications in dentistry. Int J Prosthodont. 2004;17(2):155–64.
- Shimada Y, Yamaguchi S, Tagami J. Micro-shear bond strength of dual cured resin cement to glass ceramics. Dent Mater. 2002;18(5):380–8.

- Edelhoff D, Ozcan M. To what extent does the longevity of fixed dental prostheses depend on the function of the cement? Working group 4 materials: cementation. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2007;18(3):S193–204.
- Miyazaki M, Onose H, Moore BK. Analysis of the dentin-resin interface by use of laser Raman spectroscopy. Dent Mater. 2002;18(8):576–80.
- 92. Yazici AR, Celik C, Ozgünaltay G, Dayangac B. Bond strength of different adhesive systems to dental hard tissues. Oper Dent. 2007;32(2):166–72.
- 93. Hitz T, Stawarczyk B, Fischer J, Hammerle CH, Sailer I. Are self-adhesive resin cements a valid alternative to conventional resin cements? A laboratory study of the long-term bond strength. Dent Mater. 2012;28(11):1183–90.
- Rohr N, Fischer J. Tooth surface treatment strategies for adhesive cementation. J Adv Prosthodont. 2017;9(2):85–92.
- DeMunck J, Vargas M, Van Landuyt K, Hikita K, Lambrechts P, Van Meerbeek B. Bonding of an auto-adhesive luting material to enamel and dentin. Dent Mater. 2004;20(10):963–71.
- Baader K, Hiller KA, Buchalla GS, Federlin M. Self-adhesive luting of partial ceramic crowns: selective enamel etching leads to higher survival after 6.5 years in vivo. J Adhes Dent. 2016;18(1):69–79.
- Van Meerbeek B, De Munck J, Mattar D, Van Landuyt K, Lambrechts P. Microtensile bond strengths of an etch & rinse and self-etch adhesive to enamel and dentin as a function of surface treatment. Oper Dent. 2003;28(5):647–60.
- Senawongse P, Srihanon A, Muangmingsuk A, Harnirattisai C. Effect of dentine smear layer on the performance of self-etching adhesive systems: a micro-tensile bond strength study. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2010;94(1):212–21.
- Barbon FJ, Moraes RR, Boscato N, Alessandretti R, Spazzin AO. Feldspar ceramic strength and the reinforcing effect by adhesive cementation under accelerated aging. Braz Dent J. 2018;29(2):202–7.
- 100. Coelho NF, Barbon FJ, Machado RG, Boscato N, Moraes RR. Response of composite resins to preheating and the resulting strengthening of luted feldspar ceramic. Dent Mater. 2019;35(10):1430–38.
- 101. May LG, Kelly JR, Bottino MA, Hill T. Effects of cement thickness and bonding on the failure loads of CAD/CAM ceramic crowns: multi-physics FEA modeling and monotonic testing. Dent Mater. 2012;28(8):e99–109.
- 102. Posritong S, Borges AL, Chu TM, Eckert GJ, Bottino MA, Bottino MC. The impact of hydrofluoric acid etching followed by unfilled resin on the biaxial strength of a glass-ceramic. Dent Mater. 2013;29(11):e281–90.
- 103. Spazzin AO, Guarda GB, Oliveira-Ogliari A, Leal FB, Correr-Sobrinho L, Moraes RR. Strengthening of porcelain provided by resin cements and flowable composites. Oper Dent. 2016;41(2):179–88.
- Van Dijken JW, Höglund-Aberg C, Olofsson AL. Fired ceramic inlays: a 6-year follow up. J Dent. 1998;26(3):219–25.
- 105. Malament KA, Socransky SS. Survival of Dicor glass-ceramic dental restorations over 16 years. Part III: effect of luting agent and tooth or tooth-substitute core structure. J Prosthet Dent. 2001;86(5):511–9.
- 106. Rosenstiel SF, Land MF, Crispin BJ. Dental luting agents: a review of the current literature. J Prosthet Dent. 1998;80(3):280–301.
- 107. Hofmann N, Papsthart G, Hugo B, Klaiber B. Comparison of photo-activation versus chemical or dual-curing of resin-based luting cements regarding flexural strength, modulus and surface hardness. J Oral Rehabil. 2001;28(11):1022–8.
- Archegas LR, Freire A, Vieira S, Caldas DB, Souza EM. Colour stability and opacity of resin cements and flowable composites for ceramic veneer luting after accelerated ageing. J Dent. 2011;39(11):804–10.
- 109. Kilinc E, Antonson SA, Hardigan PC, Kesercioglu A. Resin cement color stability and its influence on the final shade of all-ceramics. J Dent. 2011;39:e30–6.

- 110. Scotti N, Comba A, Cadenaro M, Fontanive L, Breschi L, Monaco C, Scotti R. Effect of lithium disilicate veneers of different thickness on the degree of conversion and microhardness of a light-curing and a dual-curing cement. Int J Prosthodont. 2016;29(4):384–8.
- 111. Lopes CCA, Rodrigues RB, Silva AL, Simamoto Júnior PC, Soares CJ, Novais VR. Degree of conversion and mechanical properties of resin cements cured through different all-ceramic systems. Braz Dent J. 2015;26(5):484–9.
- 112. Wang L, D'Alpino PH, Lopes LG, Pereira JC. Mechanical properties of dental restorative materials: relative contribution of laboratory tests. J Appl Oral Sci. 2003;11(3):162–7.
- 113. Cekic-Nagas I, Canay S, Sahin E. Bonding of resin core materials to lithium disilicate ceramics: the effect of resin cement film thickness. Int J Prosthodont. 2010;23(5):469–71.
- 114. Liu HL, Lin CL, Sun MT, Chang YH. Numerical investigation of macro- and micromechanics of a ceramic veneer bonded with various cement thicknesses using the typical and submodeling finite element approaches. J Dent. 2009;37(2):141–8.
- 115. May LG, Kelly JR, Bottino MA, Hill T. Influence of the resin cement thickness on the fatigue failure loads of CAD/CAM feldspathic crowns. Dent Mater. 2015;31(8):895–900.
- Mörmann WH, Bindl A, Lüthy H, Rathke A. Effects of preparation and luting system on allceramic computer-generated crowns. Int J Prosthodont. 1998;11(4):333–9.
- 117. Moro AFV, Ramos AB, Rocha GM, Perez CDR. Effect of prior silane application on the bond strength of a universal adhesive to a lithium disilicate ceramic. J Prosthet Dent. 2017;118(5):666–71.
- 118. Tian T, Tsoi JK, Matinlinna JP, Burrow MF. Aspects of bonding between resin luting cements and glass ceramic materials. Dent Mater. 2014;30(7):e147–62.
- 119. Hooshmand T, Daw R, van Noort R, Short RD. XPS analysis of the surface of leucitereinforced feldspathic ceramics. Dent Mater. 2001;17(1):1–6.
- 120. Leite FPP, Özcan M, Valandro LF, Moreira CHC, Bottino MA, Kimpara ET. Effect of the etching duration and the ultrasonic cleaning on microtensile bond strength between feldspathic ceramic and resin cement. J Adhes. 2013;89(3):159–73.
- Belli R, Guimarães JC, Filho AM, Vieira LC. Post-etching cleaning and resin/ceramic bonding: microtensile bond strength and EDX analysis. J Adhes Dent. 2010;12(4):295–303.
- 122. Magalhães APR, Decurcio RA, Ojeda GPD, Texeira TR, Cardoso PC. Does post-etching cleaning influence bond strength of lithium disilicate laminate veneers? Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2017;38(5):e9–e12.
- 123. Bottino MA, Snellaert A, Bergoli CD, Özcan M, Bottino MC, Valandro LF. Effect of ceramic etching protocols on resin bond strength to a feldspar ceramic. Oper Dent. 2015;40(2): E40–6.
- 124. Saavedra G, Ariki EK, Federico CD, Galhano G, Zamboni S, Baldissara P, Valandro LF. Effect of acid neutralization and mechanical cycling on the microtensile bond strength of glass-ceramic inlays. Oper Dent. 2009;34(2):211–6.
- Angkasith P, Burgess JO, Bottino MC, Lawson NC. Cleaning methods for zirconia following salivary contamination. J Prosthodont. 2016;25(5):375–9.
- 126. Feitosa SA, Patel D, Borges AL, Alshehri EZ, Bottino MA, Özcan M, Valandro LF, Bottino MC. Effect of cleansing methods on saliva-contaminated zirconia—an evaluation of resin bond durability. Oper Dent. 2015;40(2):163–71.
- 127. Samran A, Al-Ammari A, El Bahra S, Halboub E, Wille S, Kern M. Bond strength durability of self-adhesive resin cements to zirconia ceramic: an in vitro study. J Prosthet Dent. 2019;121(3):477–84.
- 128. Dal Piva AMO, Carvalho RLA, Lima AL, Bottino MA, Melo RM, Valandro LF. Silica coating followed by heat-treatment of MDP-primer for resin bond stability to yttria-stabilized zirconia polycrystals. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2019;107(1):104–11.
- 129. de Carvalho RF, Cotes C, Kimpara ET, Leite FP, Özcan M. Heat treatment of pre-hydrolyzed silane increases adhesion of phosphate monomer-based resin cement to glass ceramic. Braz Dent J. 2015;26(1):44–9.

- 130. Cotes C, de Carvalho RF, Kimpara ET, Leite FP, Ozcan M. Can heat treatment procedures of pre-hydrolyzed silane replace hydrofluoric acid in the adhesion of resin cement to feldspathic ceramic? J Adhes Dent. 2013;15(6):569–74.
- 131. Peumans M, Van Meerbeek B, Lambrechts P, Vanherle G. Porcelain veneers: a review of the literature. J Dent. 2000;28(3):163–77.
- 132. Walls AW. The use of adhesively retained all-porcelain veneers during the management of fractured and worn anterior teeth, part II: clinical results after 5 years of follow-up. Br Dent J. 1995;178(9):337–40.
- 133. Fradeani M, Redemagni M, Corrado M. Porcelain laminate veneers: 6- to 12-year clinical evaluation—a retrospective study. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2005;25(1):9–17.
- 134. Beier US, Kapferer I, Burtscher D, Dumfahrt H. Clinical performance of porcelain laminate veneers for up to 20 years. Int J Prosthodont. 2012;25(1):79–85.
- 135. Dumfahrt H, Schäffer H. Porcelain laminate veneers. A retrospective evaluation after 1 to 10 years of service: part II—clinical results. Int J Prosthodont. 2000;13(1):9–18.
- Layton D, Walton. An up to 16-year prospective study of 304 porcelain veneers. Int J Prosthodont. 2007;20(4):389–96.
- 137. Rodrigues SB, Franken P, Celeste RK, Leitune VCB, Collares FM. CAD/CAM or conventional ceramic materials restorations longevity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Prosthodont Res. 2019;63(4):389–95.
- 138. Petridis HP, Zekeridou A, Malliari M, Tortopidis D, Koidis P. Survival of ceramic veneers made of different materials after a minimum follow-up period of five years: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2012;7(2):138–52.
- 139. D'Arcangelo C, De Angelis F, Vadini M, D'Amario M. Clinical evaluation on porcelain laminate veneers bonded with light-cured composite: results up to 7 years. Clin Oral Investig. 2012;16(4):1071–9.
- 140. Guess PC, Stappert C. Midterm results of a 5-year prospective clinical investigation of extended ceramic veneers. Dent Mater. 2008;24(6):804–13.
- 141. Oztürk E, Bolay S. Survival of porcelain laminate veneers with different degrees of dentin exposure: 2-year clinical results. J Adhes Dent. 2014;16(5):481–9.
- 142. Rinke S, Lange K, Ziebolz D. Retrospective study of extensive heat-pressed ceramic veneers after 36 months. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2013;25(1):42–52.
- 143. Rinke S, Pabel AK, Schulz X, Rödiger M, Schmalz G, Ziebolz D. Retrospective evaluation of extended heat-pressed ceramic veneers after a mean observational period of 7 years. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2018;30(4):329–37.
- 144. Cötert HS, Dündar M, Oztürk B. The effect of various preparation designs on the survival of porcelain laminate veneers. J Adhes Dent. 2009;11(5):405–11.



8

New Materials for CAD/CAM Systems: Resin-Based Composites, Polymer-Infiltrated Ceramic Network, Zirconia-Reinforced Lithium Silicate, and High Translucent Zirconia

Gabriel Kalil Rocha Pereira, Marília Pivetta Rippe, and Luiz Felipe Valandro

Contents

8.1	Microstructural Differences and Intrinsic Properties					
8.2	Clinic	al Performance	213			
	8.2.1	Resin-Based Materials	213			
	8.2.2	Polymer-Infiltrated Ceramic Network (PICN)	214			
	8.2.3	Zirconia-Reinforced Lithium Silicate (ZLS).	215			
	8.2.4	High Translucent Zirconia.	216			
8.3	Adhesion					
	8.3.1	Resin-Based Materials and Polymer-Infiltrated Ceramic Network (PICN)	217			
	8.3.2	Zirconia-Reinforced Lithium Silicate (ZLS).	219			
	8.3.3	High Translucent Zirconia.	220			
8.4	Scann	ing Electron Microscopy Observations of Resin-Based Materials, PICN, ZLS,				
	and Translucent Zirconia.					
8.5	Wear Behavior.					
8.6	Final Considerations.					
Refe	References.					

G. K. Rocha Pereira · M. Pivetta Rippe · L. F. Valandro (🖂)

MSciD and PhD Post-Graduation Programs in Oral Science (Prosthodontics Units), Faculty of Dentistry, Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Santa Maria, Rio Grande do Sul State, Brazil e-mail: mariliarippe@mail.ufsm.br

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_8
During the last decade, intense technological advancements in intraoral scanning and processing technologies, enhancements in material properties and the development of new materials [1-6], as well as the consolidation of minimally invasive approaches based on optimized adhesion to tooth substrate and reduced tooth preparations [7-12] have promoted an intense modification in the way restorative treatments are executed.

These developments can be highlighted by the implementation of Computer-Aided Design and Manufacturing (CAD/CAM) processing systems which have expanded material alternatives in comparison to the conventional materials, optimizing the processing time and the cost, resulting in accurate milled restorations (well-fit) with enhanced mechanical properties which mimic the final natural appearance of teeth [13–15]. Therefore, today, for didactic purposes, we may attempt to categorize these new available materials for veneer manufacturing into three major material options for CAD/CAM: resin composites, glass–ceramic materials, and polycrystalline ceramic materials of high translucency [5, 16]. Thus, in this chapter, we aim to discuss the best available evidence regarding the microstructural differences, intrinsic properties, and clinical performance of these different new materials which are currently available.

8.1 Microstructural Differences and Intrinsic Properties

Resin composites consist of a polymeric matrix reinforced by fillers that could be inorganic (ceramics or glass–ceramics or glasses), organic, or composite [17]. Ceramics are defined as crystalline, nonmetallic materials, containing metallic and nonmetallic elements bonded by ionic and/or covalent bonds, while glass shares the same definition but is amorphous [18]. Glass–ceramics are composite-type materials in which the glassy phase acts as the matrix and the ceramic as the reinforcing filler [19]. Polycrystalline ceramics contain no glass; all of the atoms are packed into regular crystalline arrays through which it is much more difficult to propagate a crack (high fracture toughness) than when the atoms are arranged in an irregular network and are less dense, as found in different glasses [20].

The intrinsic properties of materials are usually directly related to their composition and microstructure, more specifically by the strength and type of interaction (bond) between different intrinsic components. Therefore, it is expected that the flexural modulus (E), flexural strength (σ), and hardness of polycrystalline ceramics (E \cong 200 GPa, $\sigma \cong$ 800–1000 MPa, Vickers hardness \cong 10 GPa—[21, 22]; and manufacturer alleged data) are significantly higher than glass–ceramics (E \cong 60–100 GPa, $\sigma \cong$ 100–200 MPa, Vickers hardness \cong 4 GPa—[5, 23, 24]), wherein the properties of these materials are higher than those of resin composites (E \cong 9 to 20 GPa, $\sigma \cong$ 100 MPa, Vickers hardness \cong 0.4 GPa—[5, 17, 25, 26]).

8.2 Clinical Performance

8.2.1 Resin-Based Materials

Conventional resin–composite materials are considered by many dentists as the main material of choice in restorative dentistry [27]. Worldwide manufacturers have been pressuring for the use of new resin-based materials in CAD–CAM technology, whereas many of these new materials are described by the producers only based on in-house laboratory testing and lack objective research and clinical evidence to support their use or their superiority to classical/conventional materials, partly due to their short time on the market [27–29]. Their indication has been alleged to be for manufacturing partial-fixed restorations (inlay, onlays), veneers, and sometimes single crowns (Lava Ultimate was initially indicated for this restorative approach, but the producer removed such an alternative on 12/06/2015 based on a higher than anticipated debonding rate).

It is undeniable that the use of CAD–CAM technology enables great standardization in processing this material and enabling adequate polymerization, packing, and homogeneity, in addition to reducing operator-related variables that potentially result in enhanced mechanical performance [30, 31]. Another argument for supporting the use of these new materials is its ease of fabrication and the possibility of an easier and less visible intraoral repair of minor defects induced by function [5]. Thus, Ruse and Sadoun [5] estimated that a set of CAD/CAM burs, which are relatively expensive (~\$20/bur), could be used to mill 5–10 glass–ceramic/ceramic crowns or well over 100 resin-composite crowns, highlighting its cost-attractiveness, additionally enabling the possibility of easier intraoral repair when chipping or small failures occur in comparison to other material possibilities.

The technique to repair resin composites could be accomplished by preconditioning with air abrasion or bur roughening, followed by placement of a resin composite with very similar mechanical and optical properties [32], while hydrofluoric acid (HF) is applied for glass ceramics, which is highly corrosive and toxic [33, 34] [35–38], and translucent polycrystalline ceramics exhibit an even more challenging scenario which is yet to be explored in the literature.

As disadvantages, the use of resin-based materials returns to the discussion regarding their susceptibility to degradation (water sorption/desorption) when exposed to the oral environment and/or the diet, as well as pH variations [39] and their color stability when also exposed to this medium [40, 41].

In regard to reports of clinical longevity/survival of resin-based CAD–CAM milled composites, to the best of these authors' knowledge, only one report to date exists; Vanoorbeek et al. [42] noticed an 87.9% survival rate and a 55.6% success rate considering 59 single crowns (resin composite GC Gradia, GC) over 3 years of follow-up, where debonding, excessive wear, unacceptable color, and marginal opening appeared as complications. Therefore, they concluded that the material presented an unacceptable performance in comparison to conventional ceramic restorations.

Based on the abovementioned, a lack of studies and clinical evidence to support the predictability of using resin-based materials regarding longevity, failure pattern, and potential to esthetically mimic the characteristics of natural dentition with stability is emphasized, in particular as material for veneer restorations.

8.2.2 Polymer-Infiltrated Ceramic Network (PICN)

Another new material that has been introduced recently is PICN (e.g., Vita Enamic— VITA Zahnfabrik, Bad Säckingen, Germany) [43]. Their indication has been alleged to be for manufacturing partial fixed restorations (inlay, onlays), veneers, and single crowns for both anterior and posterior regions. In the beginning, this class of material was classified as a hybrid ceramic; however, it is mainly a composite material, being singularly composed of multiphase structures which are mutually continuous and interconnected [44].

This tridimensional interconnectivity differs from classical composites, as the latter mainly present singular and discreet fibers and/or reinforced laminated particles. The literature shows that the synthetic development of PICN is guided by the attempt to enhance or personalize characteristics as physical properties of constituent phases, fracture toughness [45], flexural strength [46], contact damage tolerance, as well as endurance to clinical adjustments/grinding during CAD/CAM milling or grinding with diamond burs [43, 47]. In this sense, each constituent is specially selected for enabling a determined microstructural characteristic.

As a result, PICN may represent a new material concept as a blend of ceramic characteristics and composite properties [48]. However, what has been reported is an intermediary performance in comparison to the one observed by typical ceramics and composites [48]. Despite the recent introduction to the dental market of such a material, the concept of PICN is not new; Feng et al. [49] previously characterized the performance of such class of material and stated that perhaps the greatest benefit of using this material is that a similar failure pattern that was seen in high brittle ceramics would not be observed, which is its susceptibility for crack initiation and propagation.

Swain et al. [43] observed a decrease in hardness and elastic modulus, although superior fracture strength and toughness were verified for PICN when comparing it to typical glass–ceramics with similar clinical indication (lithium disilicate, leucite, and feldspathic-based glass–ceramics). Kim et al. [50] also observed a decreased wear rate of the antagonist tooth in similar comparisons. In addition to these aspects, the previously reported advantages for resin-based materials in terms of the use of CAD/CAM would also be valid for this class of material (fast processing, reduced cost, low damage to grinding tools, accuracy of final restoration fit), as reported by Swain et al. [43] and Bottino et al. [47]. At the same time, similar disadvantages to resin-based materials may be reported, such as color instability and degradation when subjected to the clinical environment [40, 41].

In terms of adhesion, PICN requires hydrofluoric acid (HF) etching, followed by the application of primers based on MPS silanes (methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilanes), as the surface treatment which is usually assumed for glass–ceramics. The literature shows adequate performance on bond strength using this approach [51]. Therefore, when considering the potential of intraoral repair, it would perform similarly to glass–ceramics, and in that, a disadvantage in relation to composites exists—the use of a toxic material (HF) under a complex and cautious protocol.

Looking at the clinical longevity/survival of PICN restorations, there are currently three reports which exist to the best of these authors' knowledge: Chirumamilla et al. [52] depicted a complication rate of 4% in 2 years follow-up (a retrospective study of 46 single crowns); Spitznagel et al. [53] observed a 95.6% and 97.4% 3-year survival rate, respectively, in evaluating 58 partial coverage restorations and 45 inlays, wherein fracture was the major complication type; lastly, Lu et al. [54] noticed a 97% survival rate in a follow-up of 3 years considering 47 endocrowns. Thus, taking into account the aforementioned statement for resin-based CAD–CAM materials, research and clinical evidence to support the predictability of using PICN in regard to longevity, failure pattern, and potential to esthetically mimic the characteristics of natural dentition with stability are still lacking, especially as veneer material.

8.2.3 Zirconia-Reinforced Lithium Silicate (ZLS)

Even though this kind of material is somewhat similar to the already-known lithium disilicate glass–ceramics, ZLS glass–ceramics can be considered as a new generation of ceramics, which allegedly combine glass–ceramic esthetic performance and improved mechanical properties due to the presence of metasilicate and zirconia crystals into the glass matrix [55–58]. They are indicated for veneer, posterior and anterior crowns, and implant-supported crowns, as well as for inlay and onlay restorations.

There are currently two different ZLS ceramic materials available for application in restorative dentistry, with both of them essentially being composed of two crystal phases embedded into a glassy matrix. One of the crystalline phases consists of submicrometric lithium metasilicate (Li_2SO_3) crystallites in a round and slightly elongated shape, while the other is a lithium orthophosphate (Li_3PO_4) in a round shape with nanometric size [21].

When compared to the conventional lithium disilicate ceramic (without zirconia reinforcement), ZLS glass-ceramics present a lower percentage of crystal phase content (40–50% in comparison to 70% of a conventional lithium disilicate glass-ceramic) [58, 59]. However, crystals within ZLS materials are smaller, and the glassy matrix is reinforced due to highly dispersed zirconium dioxide (~10% in weight), which is assumed to enhance the strength of the glassy phase [21, 58, 60].

It is important to highlight that the presence of the glassy matrix in their structures enables this class of ceramics (ZLS) to be etched by hydrofluoric acid, even with the presence of zirconium dioxide crystals (etchable material). This allows for the creation of micro-mechanical retention on the cementing surface and resin bond improvement [61].

However, to the best of these authors' knowledge, only one report of clinical performance exists; Saavedra et al. [62] published a case report with a 2-year

follow-up showing promising results regarding esthetical potential in mimicking natural dentition characteristics. Thus, research and clinical findings to support the clinical predictability of using ZLS are still lacking. It is also important to consider that in vitro *studies* have been noticing similar performance of ZLS to the already-known lithium disilicate-based ceramics [21, 22, 63]. The performance of this lithium disilicate glass-ceramic was previously discussed in Chap. 9, and the literature supports survival rates of approximately 95% for single crowns for up to 10 years of follow-up [64–66]; thus, the use for manufacturing both crowns and veneers is well elucidated with predictability for success and high longevity for this material, and there is also no indication that ZLS would behave differently, even though it needs to be investigated more over time.

8.2.4 High Translucent Zirconia

High translucent zirconia consists of a third-generation yttrium-stabilized zirconia (YSZ) ceramic, whereby increasing the percentage of yttrium oxide stabilizer (>3 mol%, which was previously used) created a new kind of zirconia polycrystal material that presented up to 53% of cubic phase in its crystalline microstructure (in addition to the tetragonal phase, which composes the previous YSZ generations). Besides microstructural changes, the optical/esthetic properties were improved (translucency and light transmittance), and the mechanical properties were to some extent reduced by eliminating the toughening mechanism based on the t–m phase transformation [67, 68]. Manufacturers have been expanding typical clinical indications of YSZ with these new materials and pointing to its use as veneer, anterior and posterior crowns, as well as partial coverage restorations (inlays and onlays).

There is one case report published suggesting the use of zirconia veneers for anterior teeth as a potential alternative [69], where they successfully mimic the characteristic of natural dentition and presented results from 1 year of follow-up. Hence, as also already mentioned, research and long-term clinical results to support the clinical predictability of high translucent zirconia are still lacking, especially as veneers.

8.3 Adhesion

Proper bond strength is a must for the longevity of restorations, especially for inlays, onlays, and veneers. In these non-retentive restorations, the bonding between tooth and restorative material depends on the implemented adhesive strategy, since the type of preparation does not enable mechanical retention (very low friction effect). Furthermore, despite the laminate having high survival rates, its debonding still occurs clinically [70–73]. According to Morimoto et al. [73], one of the key principles for laminate survival is the bonding. This principle is not only important for the bond strength itself, but also because it reinforces the ceramic and restores

strength in the tooth [74]. Thus, the type of surface treatment of the restorative material is imperative for the restoration's longevity.

According to Valandro et al. [75], ceramics can be classified based on the existence of topographical alterations of its surface by hydrofluoric acid (HF) etching. Thus, ceramics with high glass content in their composition, such as feldspar-, leucite-, and lithium disilicate-based ceramics, suffer surface changes as a result of the HF action, thereby resulting in micromechanical retention, and are therefore called acid sensitive. The surfaces of ceramics based on glass-infiltrated alumina or zirconia, densely sintered alumina, and yttria-tetragonal zirconia polycrystal (Y-TZP) do not change with HF etching, do not present micromechanical retention or undercuts thereof, and are referred to as acid resistant.

As a result, the most suitable surface treatment of each new material according to these precepts and classification will be discussed further below.

8.3.1 Resin-Based Materials and Polymer-Infiltrated Ceramic Network (PICN)

In relation to the PICNs, which present mixed ceramic characteristics and composite properties [48], according to the manufacturers, the bonding protocol is classified as a sensitive acid material, since they recommend 5% hydrofluoric acid etching for 60 s, followed by silane application. Scanning electron microscopy characterizations showed the specific microstructure of the surface of etched PICNs characterized by dissolution of the glass–ceramic network and the presence of a typical polymer-based honeycomb structure, including microporosities [76] and microchannels [77]. These topographical characteristics take place because a major leucite-based phase of feldspar origin is present in the ceramic matrix of the PICN [48]. Moreover, the bond is improved through the methoxy groups of silanecontaining primer chemically bonding with both the SiO₂ and integrated polymer components of the PICN, polymerizing with the methacrylate groups of the resin composite available in the matrix [78].

Some in vitro studies have investigated alternative ceramic surface treatments. According to Silva et al. [79], surface grinding followed by universal adhesive application promoted higher shear bond strength than the surface treatment recommended by the manufacturer after 48 h and after 6 months of aging. They stated that the alternative treatment appears to be the best method for repairing hybrid ceramics. These authors reported that this treatment creates retentions in the ceramic surface (increase in roughness) and that the interpenetration of the adhesive is optimized in these retentions to form a siloxane bond between the fillers and the polymer matrix. However, the tested surface treatments also did not lead to bond stability after 6 months aging in water, demonstrating that investigations regarding new conditioning methods to promote long-lasting stable adhesion for PICN materials are still necessary.

Another alternative surface treatment that has being explored is the use a selfetching glass-ceramic primer, which results in comparable shear bond strength to the treatment recommended by the manufacturer [77]. According to El-Damanhoury and Gaintantzopoulou [77], the silane system in self-etching glass–ceramic primer (Monobond Etch & Prime—Ivoclar Vivadent—based on trimethoxypropyl methacrylate) leaves a chemically bonded thin layer of silane that remains after a thorough washing with water and drying of the treated surface. Although the action mechanism of self-etching glass-ceramic primer is not very clear, these authors observed (via energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy elemental analysis) the presence of some fluorine (F) residue on the PICN surface after pretreatment with that primer. Thus, they assume that the presence of F ion residue can be attributed to the material reacting with the glassy part, which could have trapped F ions within the silane layer left on the surface of the PICN restoration.

Regarding the new resin-based materials for CAD-CAM technology, these blocks consist of nanoceramic particles embedded in a highly cured resin matrix [80], and the fillers are classically incorporated by mixing them in a matrix composed of dimethacrylates, such as urethane dimethacrylate (UDMA) and triethylene glycol dimethacrylate (TEGDMA), which are polymerized under high temperature (>100 °C) [76]. Hence, this material is neither a composite nor a ceramic, but rather a mixture of both [81]. The manufacturer characterizes Lava Ultimate as a "Resin Nano Ceramic" in their technical product profile and recommends air abrasion with aluminum oxide particles (50 µm in size or lower), followed by the application of a silane-based primer as surface treatment. According to Demirtag and Culhaoglu [82], alternative surface treatments such as femtosecond laser irradiation have been studied, and the action mechanism is based on laser irradiation to release filler silica particles as a result of the removal of the resin structure by ablation, increasing the silane effectiveness. Moreover, this type of surface treatment seems to produce homogeneous roughness without causing structural changes or thermal damage on the material surface by avoiding heat transfer on the surface using ultrashort laser pulses [83]. Additionally, in a recent systematic review and meta-analysis, García-Sanz et al. [84] stated that despite the high heterogeneity noticed in included studies, lasers should be recommended as an alternative technique for treating restorative surfaces prior to bonding composites or resin cements as they led to higher bond strengths compared to non-treated surfaces; however, there were no significant differences in comparison with air-particle abrasion methods.

Despite this, according to a review article, the most common surface treatments reported for this kind of material are aluminum oxide air abrasion, silane treatment, and hydrofluoric acid etching [80]. As reported in this review, self-adhesive cements achieve lower bond strengths in comparison to etch-and-rinse systems, and thermocycling has a greater impact on bonding behavior than water storage. Thus, they conclude that the 50 μ m alumina air–particle abrasion was the most effective method to roughen the surface, independently of the indirect composite used, and additional silane treatment should be applied to enhance the resin bond to laboratory-processed composites. However, Elsaka [78] showed that despite air abrasion having presented higher roughness values than hydrofluoric acid with and without silane, the bond strength was statistically similar for the two groups. According to this author, the stress concentration at the indirect restorative material/luting agent interface

could be increased by airborne-particle abrasion, which creates sharp angles that could hinder complete wetting and produce voids at the interface [85]. Consequently, higher surface roughness will not ensure higher bond strength [86], and the interaction between the achieved topography, roughness, surface wetting, and absence of voids by adequate viscosity of the bonding system seems fundamental to the performance of these systems.

The prolonged air-abrasion effect on the bond durability of dual-cure adhesive resin cement to PICN and resin-based materials has been explored. According to Tekçe et al. [87], the longer the air-abrasion time, the rougher the achieved surface. However, micro-tensile strength values decrease with prolonged air abrasion (over 30 s). As they reported, 60 s of air abrasion disturbs the initial micro-tensile strength values and the adhesion stability of CAD/CAM restoratives to dual-cure adhesive resin cement. Moreover, the bond strength values in such a scenario also significantly decreased after 5000 thermocycles. Therefore, although a rough surface is required to obtain ideal bond strength, excessive air abrasion produces excessive roughness and proved to be deleterious in such an outcome. Hence, it is clinically beneficial to not exceed 30 s of air abrasion for both PICN and resin-based materials (according to that study).

Furthermore, still comparing the performance of resin-based material to PICN regarding bond strength and stability, it is observed that the bond strength for the PICN with dual-curing self-adhesive resin cement system has been statistically higher than that of the resin-based material used with the same cement [78]. This finding can be attributed to the different composition and microstructure between these materials. As reported by Elsaka et al. [78], the PICN microstructure has a significant influence on the mechanical properties such as increased chemical stability, reduced monomer absorption, and greater biocompatibility, different from resin based-materials. These findings corroborate those of Demirtag and Culhaoglu [82], who explored the performance of both materials submitted to different surface treatments (hydrofluoric acid and air abrasion).

8.3.2 Zirconia-Reinforced Lithium Silicate (ZLS)

ZLS microstructure combines the glass–ceramic of metasilicate and zirconia crystals (from 8 to 12% zirconia) embedded into the glass matrix. As a surface treatment, the recommendation is etching with 5% hydrofluoric acid for 20 s, followed by rinsing and silane application for 60 s. Its ceramic matrix is predominantly glass; therefore, this material is considered as acid sensitive and susceptible to hydrofluoric acid etching, being different from polycrystalline ceramics [56, 57, 75, 88]. When a glass–ceramic surface is exposed to HF etching, a selective removal of its vitreous matrix occurs, exposing the crystalline structure [89] and resulting in topography for bond improvements via micromechanical retentions (mechanical bond), thereby increasing the contact area and wettability of the cement [90].

When different acid etching times were considered, it was concluded that etching for 20 or 40 s was equally effective in producing stable resin bonding to ZLS

ceramic [91]; however, according to the authors, it is suggested that the usage time should be decreased whenever possible due to the potential risk of using HF (high toxicity of such material), and in accordance with Sato et al. [91], the time recommended by the manufacturer could be reduced without compromising bond performance. Furthermore, the same authors reported that silica coating (air abrasion for 25 s with 2.5 bar pressure at 15 mm distance) was not effective in achieving long-lasting bond strength. According to Kern and Thompson [92], this is attributable to the fact that the irregularities created by the air abrasion are devoid of microretention. Ataol and Ergun [93] also corroborate that the surface treatment of CAD/CAM ZLS by HF etching is more effective than alumina particle air abrasion and Er,Cr:YSGG laser irradiation.

Moreover, according to Monteiro et al. [56], who evaluated the effect of etching time and hydrofluoric acid (HF) concentration on the fatigue failure load and surface characteristics of ZLS glass ceramic cemented to a dentin-analogue material, when the etching time increases, the interaction region increases as well, and the interaction involves the whole surface. They reported that the defects introduced at shorter etching times appear to be in a dimension and format that make it difficult for the cement to fill in the irregularities, making bonding vulnerable to failure. Conforming with these authors, when the etching duration is longer, the surface becomes more homogeneous due to extensive loss of the glassy matrix and pullout of lithium silicate/zirconia grains, facilitating penetration of the resin cement that leads to optimized bonding, finally improving fatigue performance. Thus, they concluded that the pretreatment with 10% HF acid etching for 60 s up to 90 s, followed by an application of an adhesive that contains silane and MDP (methacryloyloxydecyl-dihydrogen-phosphate), promotes the best fatigue performance of ZLS restorations. Additionally, etching with 5% HF acid, independent of time (30, 60, or 90 s), does not change the fatigue behavior. From these observations, it is clinically relevant to perform ZLS surface treatment which is able to optimize the resin bond strength without damaging the fatigue behavior under cyclic loading for the ZLS restorations (the glass-ceramic clinically fails from the defects/flaw located at resin cement-ceramic interface) [56, 57].

8.3.3 High Translucent Zirconia

As this material has a dense polycrystalline nature, it has to be considered an acidresistant ceramic, and consequently, the surface treatment should be airborne particle abrasion at 0.3–0.4 MPa, followed by primer application (manufacturer's recommendation). At the same time, many studies have evaluated different protocols to improve the resin bond strength to zirconia polycrystal materials, such as air–particle abrasion with aluminum oxide particles [94], tribochemical silica coating and subsequent use of a silane agent [95, 96], application of resin cement containing MDP monomer [97], plasma processing [98], selective infiltration-etching method [99], glaze-on technique [100], and heated silane [101]. Nowadays, the concept of achieving high adhesion between restorative materials and tooth substrate and its importance on the longevity and reinforcement of such restorations is undeniable [56, 57, 102–106]. Resin bonding supports ceramic restorations, and it is necessary for optimizing the performance of onlays, laminate veneers, and metal-free fixed dental prostheses. Thus, to achieve high and long-lasting resin bonding to zirconia, Blatz et al. [107] recommend a three-step approach, which consists of air–particle abrasion at the bonding surface with aluminum oxide, applying special zirconia primer, and finally using dual-cure or self-cure composite resin cement. Based on the results of a systematic review, increased adhesion can be expected after physicochemical conditioning of zirconia and after the use of MDP-based resin cements, which tend to present higher results than those of other cement types when tested using macro- and micro-tensile tests [108].

Phosphate monomers (such as MDP) are components of some resin cements, primers, and adhesives and act as a bifunctional molecule in which one end connects with the ceramic's metal oxides (such as aluminum and zirconium) while the other end copolymerizes with the resin cement matrix [94]. Furthermore, it has been found that MDP monomers promote a water-resistant chemical bond to densely sintered zirconia ceramics [109]. A meta-analysis considering bonding effectiveness to zirconia ceramics also showed that the combination of mechanical and chemical surface pretreatments contributed to the durability of the bond of composite cements to zirconia ceramics; however, the cement choice appeared less critical as long as a composite cement was used for adhesive luting of zirconia ceramics [110].

It also has to be emphasized that there is substantial in vitro data supporting the tribochemical silica-coating treatment to bond conventional 3Y-TZP ceramics leading to similar bond results to the one observed with air abrasion of aluminum oxide followed by MDP-based primers [85, 94, 96, 110]. Thus, it seems that the main guideline is to execute a surface pretreatment to enhance micromechanical interlocking (air abrasion with aluminum oxide or silica-coated aluminum oxide particles), followed by the specific primer to enhance chemical bonding (MDP-based primer or silane, respectively) between Y-TZP ceramics and resin cement [108, 110–113]. Even though these observations have not yet inspected translucent zirconia to the best of authors' knowledge, we expect that the adhesion process and findings will be similar to already-known zirconia polycrystals.

Another current undeniable presupposition is that enhanced adhesion between restorative material and base substrate (tooth or post and core) plays an important role for fatigue improvements in zirconia-based restorations [102–104, 106, 112]. Therefore, as resin cement presents superior properties in all considered aspects, the idea of not using them seems unfounded. So, even for polycrystalline zirconia materials, it is recommended to follow strict cementing protocols to obtain maximum mechanical performance under cyclic loading, minimizing the fatigue effect on restorative setup and any potential subcritical crack growth mechanism.

Despite all the aforementioned presuppositions, it is important to emphasize that recent studies evaluating surface treatments of highly translucent zirconia are still scarce (they mainly consider older generations of zirconia ceramics), and according to Inokoshi et al. [114], air abrasion with aluminum oxide particles did not

significantly increase the surface roughness of some highly translucent Y-PSZ zirconia ceramics (except for Katana UTML, Kuraray Noritake), which may point to different performances of distinct translucent zirconia with different compositions and/or manufacturers. Furthermore, it depicted microstructural alterations throughout the air-abrasion protocol in some ceramic brands (e.g., phase transformation and residual stress introduction). Thus, more in vitro studies are extremely encouraged to clarify this subject, as well as long-term clinical studies.

8.4 Scanning Electron Microscopy Observations of Resin-Based Materials, PICN, ZLS, and Translucent Zirconia

In this section, we describe the topography depicted on each respective class of material inspected under scanning electron microscopy (FEI Inspect F50; FEI) before and after surface treatments from the perspective of adhesion enhancement, taking into consideration each manufacturer's guidelines. To this aim, we selected specific materials that were directly linked to each class of new material discussed in this chapter. The materials used are shown in Table 8.1 and Fig. 8.1, and its topography is in Fig. 8.2.

In the resin-based material, a smooth and homogenous surface with tiny micropores is observed (Fig. 8.2a, e). Under higher magnifications, it is possible to observe that this material has large clusters of filler particles that are roughly a micron in size and are made up of much smaller discrete particles. However, the specimen surface treated by air abrasion shows well-defined micro-sized elevated and depressed areas with crevices and pits, which possibly resulted from the high impact of blasting particles on the material surface (Fig. 8.2i, m). The topographical pattern can also be observed in previously published literature [76, 115].

A surface with irregular micropores is observed in the PICN material, with two continuous interpenetrating networks, namely, the polymer phase (dark gray) and the ceramic phase (light gray), which are evident (Fig. 8.2b, f). In relation to PICN etched by the hydrofluoric acid, it shows a lattice of exposed polymer, since the ceramic phase was partially dissolved and there are many micropores (dark gray), which is suitable for micromechanical bonding (Fig. 8.2j, n). The topographical pattern can also be observed in previously published literature [76].

The untreated ceramic block of zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate shows a smooth surface pattern, presenting scratches from the cut procedure (Fig. 8.2c, g). However, the etched ceramic surface shows strong surface alterations (increase in roughness and surface area) due to the selective HF etching, promoting dissolution of the glassy phase and traces of lithium crystals being removed, revealing the lithium silicate/zirconia grains (Fig. 8.2k, o). It is possible to observe rod-like crystals after etching in higher magnifications. This topographical pattern can also be seen in previously published literature [118].

Ultra-translucent multilayered zirconia presents a polycrystalline-grained structure having no glassy phase (Fig. 8.2d, h) and grain sizes that can reach almost 5 µm

Material	Manufacturer	Clinical indication ^a	Composition ^a	Flexural strength (MPa)	Vickers hardness (VH)	Elastic modulus (GPa)	Poisson's ratio	Fracture toughness KIc (MPa m ^{1/2})
Nano-particulate pre-polymerized resin composite (RC)	Lava Ultimate/3M ESPE	Veneers; inlays; onlays	Silica nanomers (20 nm), zirconia nanomers (4–11 nm), nanocluster particles (0.6–10 nm), silane coupling agent, and resin matrix of Bis-GMA, Bis-EMA, UDMA, and TEGDMA	248.4 ^b	96 ± 6°	16.0 ^b	0.36 ^d	±2.0ª
Polymer- infiltrated reinforced-glass network (PICN)	Enamic/VITA Zahnfabrik	Veneers; inlays; onlays; anterior and posterior crowns	Ceramic: silicon dioxide, 58–63%; aluminum oxide, 20–23%; sodium oxide, 9–11%; potassium oxide, 4–6%; boron trioxide, 0.5–2%; zirconia and calcium oxide. Polymer part (25%): UDMA and TEGDMA	202.1 ^b	200 ± 5°	21.5 ^b	0.23°	0.86 ± 0.27^{f}
Pre-sintered lithium silicate/ phosphate (LSP) glass-ceramic (ZLS)	Suprinity/VITA Zahnfabrik	Veneers; inlays; onlays; anterior and posterior crowns	Zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramic, zirconium oxide, 8–12%; silicon dioxide, 56–64%; lithium oxide, 15–21%; other oxides >10%	230 ^g	632 ± 17°	±106 ^d	0.23 ^f	1.25 ± 0.79^{f}
Ultra- translucent multilayered zirconia (UTML)	Katana UTML/ Kuraray Noritake	Anterior crowns; veneers; inlays; onlays and posterior single crowns	Zirconium oxide, yttrium oxide, and pigments	500-600 ^h		200–210 ^h		2.2-2.7 ^h

Table 8.1 Materials description

 a Clinical indication as given by the manufacturer b Lawson et al. [115]

^bLawson et al. [115] ^cLudovichetti et al. [117] ^dBelli et al. [21] ^cDella Bona et al. [48] ^fRamos et al. [118] ^bFlurtado de Mendonça [116] ^hZhang and Lawn [68] ⁱNot found in the literature



Fig. 8.1 On the left, examples of CAD/CAM block trademarks: base-resin material (Lava Ultimate), polymer-infiltrated ceramic network (Vita Enamic), and zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate (Vita Suprinity). On the right, an example of CAD/CAM disc of ultra-translucent multilay-ered zirconia (Katana Zirconia)

in length [119]. However, the abraded ceramic surface shows an increase in roughness and surface area due to micro-sized elevated and depressed areas with crevices and pits, owing to the high impact of the particles on the ceramic surface (Fig. 8.2l, p). These topographical changes have also been reported in previously published literature [119].

8.5 Wear Behavior

Ceramic materials have been widely used in restorative dentistry; however, there are concerns regarding their clinical performance due to their brittle nature that may lead to catastrophic failure of the restorations and their abrasive character when sliding against antagonist natural teeth, which may result in excessive enamel wear [120, 121]. An atypical loss of dental material may have effects on the chewing ability and dental sensitivity and at the esthetic level [122]. However, the multifactorial nature of wear [123] makes it important to understand the wear potential of the materials based on the composition and microstructural aspects [21] that will determine their properties [124].

According to Ludovichetti et al. [117], who evaluated the wear resistance and abrasiveness of CAD-CAM materials in a two-body wear test setup together with bovine enamel, nanofilled composite resin and polymer-infiltrated ceramic network were the most antagonist-friendly materials when sliding against enamel. They also reported that zirconia only caused damage to enamel substrate, whereas the lithium disilicate and the zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate caused high wear rates of the antagonist (considering both enamel and all previous restorative materials, i.e., nanofilled composite resin, polymer-infiltrated ceramic network, lithium disilicate, zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate, and zirconia). The same authors stated that hardness should be considered in the selection of materials, especially in patients with bruxism (the higher the hardness, the higher the wear rate). Furthermore, Ludovichetti et al. [117] asserted that roughness and the friction coefficient of some materials might change during the wear process. Despite that, Pereira et al. [125]



Fig. 8.2 Micrographic images depicting the surface topography prior to $(\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{h})$ and after $(\mathbf{i}-\mathbf{p})$ specific surface treatments to enhance adhesion following manufacturer's guidelines. *CR* (composite resin)—air abrasion with 45 µm aluminum oxide powders, under pressure of 2.8 bars at a distance of 1 cm, by motion for 10 s, *PICN* (polymer-infiltrated reinforced-glass network)— hydrofluoric acid etching 5% (IPS ceramic etching) for 60 s, *ZLS* (zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate)—hydrofluoric acid etching 5% (IPS ceramic etching) for 20 s, *UTML* (ultra-translucent multi-layered zirconia)—air abrasion with 45 µm with aluminum oxide powders (same aforementioned parameters)

using a three-body wear test showed adequate performance of zirconia-based substrates against enamel and composite resin material.

However, Santos et al. [122] compared the wear performance of a polymerinfiltrated ceramic (PICN), zirconia, leucite, and veneered zirconia tested against natural teeth. They observed that zirconia presented the most suitable tribological behavior, since it led to the lowest wear on both occlusal surfaces, while PICN was the prosthetic material that presented the highest wear rate. Regarding the cusp wear, the highest values were found for both leucite and veneered zirconia. These authors stated that no direct relation could be established between wettability, initial roughness, and hardness of the prosthetic materials with the wear of the tribological systems, while microstructure and toughness revealed to be critical parameters.

These results corroborate the systematic review article published by Hmaidouch and Weigl [126], who addressed some of the material factors related to the wear of opposing enamel and ceramic. They stated that scientific studies have not demonstrated a strong correlation between the hardness of ceramic and the wear rate of human enamel. Thus, the wear process appears to be more closely related to the ceramic microstructure, the roughness of contacting surfaces, and environmental influences (food bolus and pH of the medium, among others) [126, 127]. Furthermore, the main recommendation was to guarantee perfectly polished surfaces of all restorations after any occlusal adjustments [126], strongly emphasizing that maintaining a smooth ceramic surface during clinical use is key to avoid microcracking initiation or progression and for minimizing the abrasion of the opposing teeth.

It is additionally important to remember that irrespective of epidemiological concerns or even etiological factors, tooth wear at an individual level may become severe, and a restorative treatment needs to be considered in many clinical situations because severe tooth wear may result in loss of vertical dimension of occlusion, tooth sensitivity, decreased oral health related to the quality of life, and esthetic complaints [128]. In those cases, selection of the restorative strategy should target evidence-based treatment protocols [129] and be "additive" rather than "subtractive" wherever possible, as the latter involves removing more tooth tissue. In order to protect tooth structure and the pulp, minimum-intervention approaches involving direct, indirect, or hybrid techniques should be favored over approaches comprising very invasive, traditional indirect restorations, which require extensive preparations that can sacrifice sound tooth tissue [130].

8.6 Final Considerations

- Glass-ceramic and porcelain laminate veneers have high survival rates, being that the main types of failures are fracture/chipping, debonding, secondary caries, severe marginal discoloration, and endodontic problems [73].
- One of the main factors affecting the fracture and fatigue behavior of ceramic crowns is the quality of their bonding interfaces, since their bulk fracture originates from the intaglio surface of the restorations [108, 110, 131]. Hence, the pre-cementing treatments of tooth and ceramic play a decisive role for the longterm clinical success of all-ceramic restorations [67].
- The best surface treatment for bond improvements of the polymer-infiltrated ceramic network (PICN) and composite resin-based materials (CR) is hydrofluoric acid etching and alumina particle air abrasion, respectively [76].
- Regarding the new glass-ceramic materials such as zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate (ZLS), hydrofluoric acid etching and silane application are recommended

as the surface treatment, which promotes more stable and durable bond strength with the resin cements [91].

- In terms of optimum adhesion, polycrystalline ceramics should be treated with tribochemical silica-coating and the use of MDP-based primer application [110].
- Studies show that the internal surfaces of the ceramic restorations are the origin of mechanical failures (cracks and fractures) [68]; therefore, the sudden increase of roughness owing to aggressive procedures on the internal surface of the restorations might increase the risk of failure of the restorations [132].
- In order to avoid microcracking initiation/propagation and to minimize the abrasion of the opposing teeth, polishing the surfaces of all restorations after any occlusal adjustments is imperative [126].

References

- Beuer F, Schweiger J, Edelhoff D. Digital dentistry: an overview of recent developments for CAD/CAM generated restorations. Br Dent J. 2008;204(9):505–11.
- Miyazaki T, Hotta Y, Kunii J, Kuriyama S, Tamaki Y. A review of dental CAD/CAM: current status and future perspectives from 20 years of experience. Dent Mater J. 2009;28(1): 44–56.
- Miyazaki T, Hotta Y. CAD/CAM systems available for the fabrication of crown and bridge restorations. Aust Dent J. 2011;56(Suppl 1):97–106.
- 4. Rekow ED. Dental CAD/CAM systems: a 20-year success story. J Am Dent Assoc. 2006;137(Suppl):5S–6S.
- 5. Ruse ND, Sadoun MJ. Resin-composite blocks for dental CAD/CAM applications. J Dent Res. 2014;93(12):1232–4.
- 6. van Noort R. The future of dental devices is digital. Dent Mater. 2012;28(1):3-12.
- Archangelo CM, Romanini JC, Archangelo KC, Hoshino IAE, Anchieta RB. Minimally invasive ceramic restorations: a step-by-step clinical approach. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2018;39(4):e4–8.
- Farias-Neto A, de Medeiros FCD, Vilanova L, Simonetti Chaves M, Freire Batista de Araújo JJ. Tooth preparation for ceramic veneers: when less is more. Int J Esthet Dent. 2019;14(2):156–64.
- Mante FK, Ozer F, Walter R, Atlas AM, Saleh N, Dietschi D, Blatz MB. The current state of adhesive dentistry: a guide for clinical practice. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2013;34 Spec 9:2–8.
- Morita RK, Hayashida MF, Pupo YM, Berger G, Reggiani RD, Betiol EA. Minimally invasive laminate veneers: clinical aspects in treatment planning and cementation procedures. Case Rep Dent. 2016;2016:1839793.
- Oliveira DC, Warren JJ, Levy SM, Kolker J, Qian F, Carey C. Acceptance of minimally invasive dentistry among US dentists in public health practices. Oral Health Prev Dent. 2016;14(6):501–8.
- Spitznagel FA, Scholz KJ, Strub JR, Vach K, Gierthmuehlen PC. Polymer-infiltrated ceramic CAD/CAM inlays and partial coverage restorations: 3-year results of a prospective clinical study over 5 years. Clin Oral Investig. 2018a;22(5):1973–83.
- Bindl A, Lüthy H, Mörmann WH. Strength and fracture pattern of monolithic CAD/CAMgenerated posterior crowns. Dent Mater. 2006;22(1):29–36.
- Bindl A, Mörmann WH. Survival rate of mono-ceramic and ceramic-core CAD/CAMgenerated anterior crowns over 2-5 years. Eur J Oral Sci. 2004;112(2):197–204.

- 15. Kamada K, Yoshida K, Atsuta M. Effect of ceramic surface treatments on the bond of four resin luting agents to a ceramic material. J Prosthet Dent. 1998;79(5):508–13.
- 16. Denry I, Kelly JR. Emerging ceramic-based materials for dentistry. J Dent Res. 2014;93(12):1235–42.
- 17. Ferracane JL. Resin composite-state of the art. Dent Mater. 2011;27(1):29-38.
- Smith WF. Principles of materials science and engineering, Series in Materials Science and Engineering. 3rd ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; 1996.
- Höland W. Biocompatible and bioactive glass-ceramics-state of the art and new directions. J Non-Cryst Sol. 1997;219:192–7.
- 20. Kelly JR. Dental ceramics: what is this stuff anyway? J Am Dent Assoc. 2008;139(Suppl): 4S–7S.
- Belli R, Wendler M, de Ligny D, Cicconi MR, Petschelt A, Peterlik H, Lohbauer U. Chairside CAD/CAM materials. Part 1: measurement of elastic constants and microstructural characterization. Dent Mater. 2017;33(1):84–98.
- 22. Wendler M, Belli R, Petschelt A, Mevec D, Harrer W, Lube T, Danzer R, Lohbauer U. Chairside CAD/CAM materials. Part 2: flexural strength testing. Dent Mater. 2017;33(1):99–109.
- Conrad HJ, Seong WJ, Pesun IJ. Current ceramic materials and systems with clinical recommendations: a systematic review. J Prosthet Dent. 2007;98(5):389–404.
- Seghi RR, Denry IL, Rosenstiel SF. Relative fracture toughness and hardness of new dental ceramics. J Prosthet Dent. 1995;74(2):145–50.
- 25. Nguyen JF, Migonney V, Ruse ND, Sadoun M. Resin composite blocks via high-pressure high-temperature polymerization. Dent Mater. 2012;28(5):529–34.
- Quinn JB, Quinn GD. Material properties and fractography of an indirect dental resin composite. Dent Mater. 2010;26(6):589–99.
- 27. Hussain B, Thieu MKL, Johnsen GF, Reseland JE, Haugen HJ. Can CAD/CAM resin blocks be considered as substitute for conventional resins? Dent Mater. 2017;33(12):1362–70.
- Rodrigues SB, Franken P, Celeste RK, Leitune VCB, Collares FM. CAD/CAM or conventional ceramic materials restorations longevity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Prosthodont Res. 2019;63(4):389–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpor.2018.11.006.
- Sonmez N, Gultekin P, Turp V, Akgungor G, Sen D, Mijiritsky E. Evaluation of five CAD/ CAM materials by microstructural characterization and mechanical tests: a comparative in vitro study. BMC Oral Health. 2018;18(1):5.
- Nguyen JF, Ruse D, Phan AC, Sadoun MJ. High-temperature-pressure polymerized resininfiltrated ceramic networks. J Dent Res. 2014;93(1):62–7.
- Phan AC, Tang ML, Nguyen JF, Ruse ND, Sadoun M. High-temperature high-pressure polymerized urethane dimethacrylate-mechanical properties and monomer release. Dent Mater. 2014;30(3):350–6.
- 32. Tsitrou EA, Northeast SE, van Noort R. Brittleness index of machinable dental materials and its relation to the marginal chipping factor. J Dent. 2007;35(12):897–902.
- Carpena G, Ballarin A. Hydrofluoric acid—simple things you may do not know about something you are so habituated to use. Odovtos Int J Dent Sci. 2015;(16):15–23.
- Ozcan M, Allahbeickaraghi A, Dündar M. Possible hazardous effects of hydrofluoric acid and recommendations for treatment approach: a review. Clin Oral Investig. 2012;16(1):15–23.
- Brum R, Mazur R, Almeida J, Borges G, Caldas D. The influence of surface standardization of lithium disilicate glass ceramic on bond strength to a dual resin cement. Oper Dent. 2011;36(5):478–85.
- 36. Guarda GB, Correr AB, Gonçalves LS, Costa AR, Borges GA, Sinhoreti MA, Correr-Sobrinho L. Effects of surface treatments, thermocycling, and cyclic loading on the bond strength of a resin cement bonded to a lithium disilicate glass ceramic. Oper Dent. 2013;38(2):208–17.
- Pisani-Proenca J, Erhardt MC, Valandro LF, Gutierrez-Aceves G, Bolanos-Carmona MV, Del Castillo-Salmeron R, Bottino MA. Influence of ceramic surface conditioning and resin cements on microtensile bond strength to a glass ceramic. J Prosthet Dent. 2006;96(6): 412–7.

- Ramakrishnaiah R, Alkheraif AA, Divakar DD, Matinlinna JP, Vallittu PK. The effect of hydrofluoric acid etching duration on the surface micromorphology, roughness, and wettability of dental ceramics. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(6):822.
- Nambu T, Watanabe C, Tani Y. Influence of water on the transverse strength of posterior composite resins. Dent Mater J. 1991;10(2):138–48.
- Acar O, Yilmaz B, Altintas SH, Chandrasekaran I, Johnston WM. Color stainability of CAD/ CAM and nanocomposite resin materials. J Prosthet Dent. 2016;115(1):71–5.
- 41. Bagheri R, Burrow MF, Tyas M. Influence of food-simulating solutions and surface finish on susceptibility to staining of aesthetic restorative materials. J Dent. 2005;33(5):389–98.
- Vanoorbeek S, Vandamme K, Lijnen I, Naert I. Computer-aided designed/computer-assisted manufactured composite resin versus ceramic single-tooth restorations: a 3-year clinical study. Int J Prosthodont. 2010;23(3):223–30.
- Swain MV, Coldea A, Bilkhair A, Guess PC. Interpenetrating network ceramic-resin composite dental restorative materials. Dent Mater. 2016;32(1):34–42.
- 44. Harris JJ, Marquis PM. Comparison of the deformation and failure characteristics of morphologically distinct metal-glass interpenetrating phase composites. J Mater Sci. 2002;37(13):2801–10.
- O'Brien DJ, Parquette B. Polymer toughness transfer in a transparent interpenetrating glasspolymer composite. Compos Sci Technol. 2012;73:57–63.
- Chen H, Dong X, Zeng T, Zhou Z, Yang H. The mechanical and electric properties of infiltrated PZT/polymer composites. Ceram Int. 2007;33(7):1369–74.
- 47. Bottino MA, Campos F, Ramos NC, Rippe MP, Valandro LF, Melo RM. Inlays made from a hybrid material: adaptation and bond strengths. Oper Dent. 2015;40(3):E83–91.
- Della Bona A, Corazza PH, Zhang Y. Characterization of a polymer-infiltrated ceramicnetwork material. Dent Mater. 2014;30(5):564–9.
- Feng XQ, Mai YW, Qin QH. A micromechanical model for interpenetrating multiphase composites. Comput Mater Sci. 2003;28(3–4):486–93.
- Kim JE, Kim JH, Shim JS, Roh BD, Shin Y. Effect of air-particle pressures on the surface topography and bond strengths of resin cement to hybrid ceramics. Dent Mater J. 2017;36(4):454–60.
- Campos F, Almeida CS, Rippe MP, de Melo RM, Valandro LF, Bottino MA. Resin bonding to a hybrid ceramic: effects of surface treatments and aging. Oper Dent. 2016;41(2):171–8.
- Chirumamilla G, Goldstein CE, Lawson NC. A 2-year retrospective clinical study of enamic crowns performed in a private practice setting. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2016;28(4):231–7.
- Spitznagel FA, Boldt J, Gierthmuehlen PC. CAD/CAM Ceramic Restorative Materials for Natural Teeth. J Dent Res. 2018b Sep;97(10):1082–91.
- 54. Lu T, Peng L, Xiong F, Lin XY, Zhang P, Lin ZT, Wu BL. A 3-year clinical evaluation of endodontically treated posterior teeth restored with two different materials using the CEREC AC chair-side system. J Prosthet Dent. 2018;119(3):363–8.
- 55. Awad D, Stawarczyk B, Liebermann A, Ilie N. Translucency of esthetic dental restorative CAD/CAM materials and composite resins with respect to thickness and surface roughness. J Prosthet Dent. 2015;113(6):534–40.
- 56. Monteiro JB, Oliani MG, Guilardi LF, Prochnow C, Rocha Pereira GK, Bottino MA, de Melo RM, Valandro LF. Fatigue failure load of zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate glass ceramic cemented to a dentin analogue: effect of etching time and hydrofluoric acid concentration. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2018a;77:375–82.
- Monteiro JB, Riquieri H, Prochnow C, Guilardi LF, Pereira GKR, Borges ALS, de Melo RM, Valandro LF. Fatigue failure load of two resin-bonded zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate glass-ceramics: effect of ceramic thickness. Dent Mater. 2018b;34(6):891–900.
- Schwindling FS, Rues S, Schmitter M. Fracture resistance of glazed, full-contour ZLS incisor crowns. J Prosthodont Res. 2017;61(3):344–9.
- Aboushelib MN, Sleem D. Microtensile bond strength of lithium disilicate ceramics to resin adhesives. J Adhes Dent. 2014;16(6):547–52.

- Elsaka SE, Elnaghy AM. Mechanical properties of zirconia reinforced lithium silicate glassceramic. Dent Mater. 2016;32(7):908–14.
- Peumans M, Valjakova EB, De Munck J, Mishevska CB, Van Meerbeek B. Bonding effectiveness of luting composites to different CAD/CAM materials. J Adhes Dent. 2016;18(4):289–302.
- Saavedra GSFA, Rodrigues FP, Bottino MA. Zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramic a 2-year follow-up of a clinical experience with anterior crowns. Eur J Prosthodont Restor Dent. 2017;25(1):57–63.
- Wendler M, Belli R, Valladares D, Petschelt A, Lohbauer U. Chairside CAD/CAM materials. Part 3: cyclic fatigue parameters and lifetime predictions. Dent Mater. 2018;34(6):910–21.
- 64. Gehrt M, Wolfart S, Rafai N, Reich S, Edelhoff D. Clinical results of lithium-disilicate crowns after up to 9 years of service. Clin Oral Investig. 2013;17(1):275–84.
- 65. Kassardjian V, Varma S, Andiappan M, Creugers NH, Bartlett D. A systematic review and meta analysis of the longevity of anterior and posterior all-ceramic crowns. J Dent. 2016;55:1–6.
- 66. Pieger S, Salman A, Bidra AS. Clinical outcomes of lithium disilicate single crowns and partial fixed dental prostheses: a systematic review. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;112(1):22–30.
- Stawarczyk B, Keul C, Eichberger M, Figge D, Edelhoff D, Lümkemann N. Three generations of zirconia: from veneered to monolithic. Part I. Quintessence Int. 2017;48(5):369–80.
- 68. Zhang Y, Lawn BR. Novel zirconia materials in dentistry. J Dent Res. 2018;97(2):140-7.
- Souza R, Barbosa F, Araújo G, Miyashita E, Bottino MA, Melo R, Zhang Y. Ultrathin monolithic zirconia veneers: reality or future? Report of a clinical case and one-year follow-up. Oper Dent. 2018;43(1):3–11.
- Arif R, Dennison JB, Garcia D, Yaman P. Retrospective evaluation of the clinical performance and longevity of porcelain laminate veneers 7 to 14 years after cementation. J Prosthet Dent. 2019;122(1):31–7.
- Aslan YU, Uludamar A, Özkan Y. Clinical performance of pressable glass-ceramic veneers after 5, 10, 15, and 20 years: a retrospective case series study. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2019;31(5):415–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jerd.12496.
- Gresnigt MMM, Cune MS, Jansen K, van der Made SAM, Özcan M. Randomized clinical trial on indirect resin composite and ceramic laminate veneers: up to 10-year findings. J Dent. 2019;86:102–9.
- Morimoto S, Albanesi RB, Sesma N, Agra CM, Braga MM. Main clinical outcomes of feldspathic porcelain and glass-ceramic laminate veneers: a systematic review and meta-analysis of survival and complication rates. Int J Prosthodont. 2016;29(1):38–49.
- Gresnigt MM, Kalk W, Özcan M. Clinical longevity of ceramic laminate veneers bonded to teeth with and without existing composite restorations up to 40 months. Clin Oral Investig. 2013;17(3):823–32.
- Valandro LF, Della Bona A, Antonio Bottino M, Neisser MP. The effect of ceramic surface treatment on bonding to densely sintered alumina ceramic. J Prosthet Dent. 2005;93(3): 253–9.
- Eldafrawy M, Ebroin MG, Gailly PA, Nguyen JF, Sadoun MJ, Mainjot AK. Bonding to CAD-CAM composites: an interfacial fracture toughness approach. J Dent Res. 2018;97(1):60–7.
- El-Damanhoury HM, Gaintantzopoulou MD. Self-etching ceramic primer versus hydrofluoric acid etching: etching efficacy and bonding performance. J Prosthodont Res. 2018;62(1):75–83.
- Elsaka SE. Repair bond strength of resin composite to a novel CAD/CAM hybrid ceramic using different repair systems. Dent Mater J. 2015;34(2):161–7.
- 79. Silva PNFD, Martinelli-Lobo CM, Bottino MA, Melo RM, Valandro LF. Bond strength between a polymer-infiltrated ceramic network and a composite for repair: effect of several ceramic surface treatments. Braz Oral Res. 2018;32:e28.
- Spitznagel FA, Horvath SD, Guess PC, Blatz MB. Resin bond to indirect composite and new ceramic/polymer materials: a review of the literature. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2014;26(6):382–93.

- 3M/ESPE. Lava ultimate CAD/CAM restorative technical product profile. St.Paul, MN: 3M Espe Dental Products; 2011.
- Demirtag Z, Culhaoglu AK. Surface roughness of ceramic-resin composites after femtosecond laser irradiation, sandblasting or acid etching and their bond strength with and without silanization to a resin cement. Oper Dent. 2019;44(2):156–67. https://doi.org/10.2341/17-391-L.
- Fiedler S, Irsig R, Tiggesbäumker J, Schuster C, Merschjann C, Rothe N, Lochbrunner S, Vehse M, Seitz H, Klinkenberg ED, Meiwes-Broer KH. Machining of biocompatible ceramics with femtosecond laser pulses. Biomed Tech (Berl). 2013. pii: /j/bmte.2013.58.issues1-C/bmt-2013-4093/bmt-2013-4093.xml
- 84. García-Sanz V, Paredes-Gallardo V, Mendoza-Yero O, Carbonell-Leal M, Albaladejo A, Montiel-Company JM, Bellot-Arcís C. The effects of lasers on bond strength to ceramic materials: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2018;13(1):e0190736.
- Amaral R, Ozcan M, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Microtensile bond strength of a resin cement to glass infiltrated zirconia-reinforced ceramic: the effect of surface conditioning. Dent Mater. 2006;22(3):283–90.
- Chen C, Kleverlaan CJ, Feilzer AJ. Effect of an experimental zirconia-silica coating technique on micro tensile bond strength of zirconia in different priming conditions. Dent Mater. 2012;28(8):e127–34.
- Tekçe N, Tuncer S, Demirci M. The effect of sandblasting duration on the bond durability of dual-cure adhesive cement to CAD/CAM resin restoratives. J Adv Prosthodont. 2018;10(3):211–7.
- Scherer MM, Prochnow C, Venturini AB, Pereira GKR, Burgo TAL, Rippe MP, Valandro LF. Fatigue failure load of an adhesively-cemented lithium disilicate glass-ceramic: conventional ceramic etching vs etch & prime one-step primer. Dent Mater. 2018;34(8):1134–43.
- Chen JH, Matsumura H, Atsuta M. Effect of etchant, etching period, and silane priming on bond strength to porcelain of composite resin. Oper Dent. 1998;23(5):250–7.
- Della Bona A, Shen C, Anusavice KJ. Work of adhesion of resin on treated lithia disilicatebased ceramic. Dent Mater. 2004;20(4):338–44.
- Sato TP, Anami LC, Melo RM, Valandro LF, Bottino MA. Effects of surface treatments on the bond strength between resin cement and a new zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate ceramic. Oper Dent. 2016;41(3):284–92.
- Kern M, Thompson VP. Sandblasting and silica coating of a glass-infiltrated alumina ceramic: volume loss, morphology, and changes in the surface composition. J Prosthet Dent. 1994;71(5):453–61.
- 93. Ataol AS, Ergun G. Effects of surface treatments on repair bond strength of a new CAD/ CAM ZLS glass ceramic and two different types of CAD/CAM ceramics. J Oral Sci. 2018;60(2):201–11.
- 94. Grasel R, Santos MJ, Rêgo HC, Rippe MP, Valandro LF. Effect of resin luting systems and alumina particle air abrasion on bond strength to zirconia. Oper Dent. 2018;43(3):282–90.
- Dal Piva AMO, Carvalho RLA, Lima AL, Bottino MA, Melo RM, Valandro LF. Silica coating followed by heat-treatment of MDP-primer for resin bond stability to yttria-stabilized zirconia polycrystals. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2019;107(1):104–11. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.34100.
- May LG, Passos SP, Capelli DB, Ozcan M, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Effect of silica coating combined to a MDP-based primer on the resin bond to Y-TZP ceramic. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2010;95(1):69–74.
- Amaral R, Rippe M, Oliveira BG, Cesar PF, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Evaluation of tensile retention of Y-TZP crowns after long-term aging: effect of the core substrate and crown surface conditioning. Oper Dent. 2014;39(6):619–26.
- Queiroz JRC, Duarte DA, Souza ROA, et al. Deposition of SiOx thin films on Y-TZP by reactive magnetron sputtering: influence of plasma parameters on the adhesion properties between YTZP and resin cement for application in dental prosthesis. Mat Res. 2011;14(2):212–6.

- Aboushelib MN, Kleverlaan CJ, Feilzer AJ. Selective infiltration-etching technique for a strong and durable bond of resin cements to zirconia-based materials. J Prosthet Dent. 2007;98(5):379–88.
- Vanderlei A, Bottino MA, Valandro LF. Evaluation of resin bond strength to yttria-stabilized tetragonal zirconia and framework marginal fit: comparison of different surface conditionings. Oper Dent. 2014;39(1):50–63.
- Melo RM, Souza RO, Dursun E, Monteiro EB, Valandro LF, Bottino MA. Surface treatments of zirconia to enhance bonding durability. Oper Dent. 2015;40(6):636–43.
- 102. Anami LC, Lima JM, Valandro LF, Kleverlaan CJ, Feilzer AJ, Bottino MA. Fatigue resistance of Y-TZP/porcelain crowns is not influenced by the conditioning of the intaglio surface. Oper Dent. 2016;41(1):E1–12.
- 103. Campos F, Valandro LF, Feitosa SA, Kleverlaan CJ, Feilzer AJ, de Jager N, Bottino MA. Adhesive cementation promotes higher fatigue resistance to zirconia crowns. Oper Dent. 2017;42(2):215–24.
- 104. Fraga S, de Jager N, Campos F, Valandro LF, Kleverlaan CJ. Does luting strategy affect the fatigue behavior of bonded Y-TZP ceramic? J Adhes Dent. 2018;20(4):307–15.
- 105. Venturini AB, Prochnow C, Pereira GKR, Segala RD, Kleverlaan CJ, Valandro LF. Fatigue performance of adhesively cemented glass-, hybrid- and resin-ceramic materials for CAD/ CAM monolithic restorations. Dent Mater. 2019;35(4):534–42.
- 106. Zucuni CP, Venturini AB, Prochnow C, Rocha Pereira GK, Valandro LF. Load-bearing capacity under fatigue and survival rates of adhesively cemented yttrium-stabilized zirconia polycrystal monolithic simplified restorations. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2019;90: 673–80.
- 107. Blatz MB, Alvarez M, Sawyer K, Brindis M. How to bond zirconia: the APC concept. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2016;37(9):611–7; quiz 618
- 108. Özcan M, Bernasconi M. Adhesion to zirconia used for dental restorations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Adhes Dent. 2015;17(1):7–26.
- 109. Kern M, Wegner SM. Bonding to zirconia ceramic: adhesion methods and their durability. Dent Mater. 1998;14(1):64–71.
- Inokoshi M, De Munck J, Minakuchi S, Van Meerbeek B. Meta-analysis of bonding effectiveness to zirconia ceramics. J Dent Res. 2014;93(4):329–34.
- 111. Cadore-Rodrigues AC, Prochnow C, Rippe MP, Oliveira JS, Jahn SL, Foletto EL, Pereira GKR, Valandro LF. Air-abrasion using new silica-alumina powders containing different silica concentrations: effect on the microstructural characteristics and fatigue behavior of a Y-TZP ceramic. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2019;98:11–9.
- 112. Guilardi LF, Pereira GKR, Giordani JC, Kleverlaan CJ, Valandro LF, Rippe MP. Effect of zirconia surface treatment, resin cement and aging on the load-bearing capacity under fatigue of thin simplified full-contour Y-TZP restorations. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2019;97:21–9.
- 113. Rippe MP, Amaral R, Oliveira FS, Cesar PF, Scotti R, Valandro LF, Bottino MA. Evaluation of tensile retention of Y-TZP crowns cemented on resin composite cores: effect of the cement and Y-TZP surface conditioning. Oper Dent. 2015;40(1):E1–E10.
- 114. Inokoshi M, Shimizu H, Nozaki K, Takagaki T, Yoshihara K, Nagaoka N, Zhang F, Vleugels J, Van Meerbeek B, Minakuchi S. Crystallographic and morphological analysis of sand-blasted highly translucent dental zirconia. Dent Mater. 2018;34(3):508–18.
- 115. Lawson NC, Bansal R, Burgess JO. Wear, strength, modulus and hardness of CAD/CAM restorative materials. Dent Mater. 2016;32(11):e275–83.
- 116. Furtado de Mendonca A, Shahmoradi M, Gouvêa CVD, De Souza GM, Ellakwa A. Microstructural and mechanical characterization of CAD/CAM materials for monolithic dental restorations. J Prosthodont. 2019;28(2):e587–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopr.12964.
- 117. Ludovichetti FS, Trindade FZ, Werner A, Kleverlaan CJ, Fonseca RG. Wear resistance and abrasiveness of CAD-CAM monolithic materials. J Prosthet Dent. 2018;120(2):318.e1–8.
- 118. Ramos NC, Campos TM, Paz IS, Machado JP, Bottino MA, Cesar PF, Melo RM. Microstructure characterization and SCG of newly engineered dental ceramics. Dent Mater. 2016;32(7):870–8.

- 119. Pereira GKR, Guilardi LF, Dapieve KS, Kleverlaan CJ, Rippe MP, Valandro LF. Mechanical reliability, fatigue strength and survival analysis of new polycrystalline translucent zirconia ceramics for monolithic restorations. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2018;85:57–65.
- 120. Arsecularatne JA, Dingeldein JP, Hoffman M. An in vitro study of the wear mechanism of a leucite glass dental ceramic. Biosurf Biotribol. 2015;1(1):50–61.
- 121. Daou E. Recent esthetic restorations: reliability and impact on antagonists. Br J Med Med Res. 2016;12(4):1–15.
- 122. Santos F, Branco A, Polido M, Serro AP, Figueiredo-Pina CG. Comparative study of the wear of the pair human teeth/Vita Enamic[®] vs commonly used dental ceramics through chewing simulation. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2018;88:251–60.
- 123. Freddo RA, Kapczinski MP, Kinast EJ, de Souza Junior OB, Rivaldo EG, da Fontoura Frasca LC. Wear potential of dental ceramics and its relationship with microhardness and coefficient of friction. J Prosthodont. 2016;25(7):557–62.
- 124. Galvão Ribeiro BR, Galvão Rabelo Caldas MR, Almeida AA Jr, Fonseca RG, Adabo GL. Effect of surface treatments on repair with composite resin of a partially monoclinic phase transformed yttrium-stabilized tetragonal zirconia. J Prosthet Dent. 2018;119(2):286–91.
- 125. Pereira GKR, Dutra DM, Werner A, Prochnow C, Valandro LF, Kleverlaan CJ. Effect of zirconia polycrystal and stainless steel on the wear of resin composites, dentin and enamel. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2019;91:287–93.
- Hmaidouch R, Weigl P. Tooth wear against ceramic crowns in posterior region: a systematic literature review. Int J Oral Sci. 2013;5(4):183–90.
- 127. Oh WS, Delong R, Anusavice KJ. Factors affecting enamel and ceramic wear: a literature review. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;87(4):451–9.
- Johansson A, Johansson AK, Omar R, Carlsson GE. Rehabilitation of the worn dentition. J Oral Rehabil. 2008;35(7):548–66.
- 129. Mesko ME, Sarkis-Onofre R, Cenci MS, Opdam NJ, Loomans B, Pereira-Cenci T. Rehabilitation of severely worn teeth: a systematic review. J Dent. 2016;48:9–15.
- 130. Loomans B, Opdam N, Attin T, Bartlett D, Edelhoff D, Frankenberger R, Benic G, Ramseyer S, Wetselaar P, Sterenborg B, Hickel R, Pallesen U, Mehta S, Banerji S, Lussi A, Wilson N. Severe tooth wear: european consensus statement on management guidelines. J Adhes Dent. 2017;19(2):111–9.
- 131. Luthra R, Kaur P. An insight into current concepts and techniques in resin bonding to high strength ceramics. Aust Dent J. 2016;61(2):163–73.
- 132. Rodrigues CDS, Guilardi LF, Follak AC, Prochnow C, May LG, Valandro LF. Internal adjustments decrease the fatigue failure load of bonded simplified lithium disilicate restorations. Dent Mater. 2018;34(9):e225–35.



The Artificial Intelligence-Based 3D Smile Design: REBEL

Galip Gurel

Contents

9.1 The Workflow	238
9.2 Visualizing the Final Result at the Beginning/The Mock-Up	238
9.3 The Aesthetic Pre-evaluative Temporaries (APT)	239
9.4 Tooth Preparation Through the APT	240
9.5 Finalizing the Case.	240
9.6 Morphopsychology	241
9.7 Patient's Personal Identity	242
9.8 The Fifth Dimension of the Smile.	243
9.9 Archetypical Symbols	243
9.10 Visual Language	243
9.11 Human Temperaments.	245
9.12 Visagism.	245
9.13 Visual Identity of the Smile (VIS)	246
9.14 The New Concept	248
9.15 The REBEL	248
9.16 The Virtual Lab	249
9.17 The Ideal Treatment.	249
9.18 The Case	250
9.19 Aesthetic Analysis and REBEL	251
9.20 The REBEL Workflow	251
9.20.1 The Single Central Mock-Up and Intra-oral Digital Scanning	251
9.20.2 The Full-Face Photography Protocol.	252
9.20.3 Questionnaire.	254
9.21 REBEL Digital Laboratory	255
9.22 Back to Chair Side/3D Printing	256
9.23 Tooth Preparation Through the APT	260
9.24 Finalizing the Case.	260
9.25 Conclusion.	261
References	262

G. Gurel (🖂)

Private practice in Istanbul, Istanbul, Turkey

Department of Prosthodontics, College of Dentistry, New York University, New York, USA

Department of Prosthodontics, University of Marseille, Marseille, France e-mail: galipgurel@galipgurel.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_9

When it comes to maximum aesthetic results with minimally invasive approaches, porcelain laminate veneers have become the aesthetic alternative of choice [1, 2]. Among indirect techniques, porcelain laminate veneers represent a well-documented, effective and predictable treatment option [3-8].

An indirect technique may be considered the first treatment choice when an adequate amount of residual sound tissue exists. Achieving optimal and predictable results with the use of veneers cannot be taken for granted [9, 10]. Success comes from correct planning and accuracy in performing every single step of the treatment (Fig. 9.1).

Smiles can be transformed painlessly, conservatively and quickly with dramatic, long-lasting results with the successful use of the porcelain laminate veneers [11, 12].

Porcelain veneers are now the restorative choice for aesthetics in numerous clinical circumstances that would have resulted in the use of full crowns in the past. Tissue response is excellent, and the finished surface is very similar to the natural tooth. Veneers exhibit natural fluorescence and absorb, reflect and transmit light exactly as does the natural tooth structure. Patients are highly enthusiastic about these restorations that represent a conservative treatment that enhances patient self-image.

Innovative preparation designs for porcelain laminate veneers are much less invasive than conventional complete-coverage crown preparations. It has been



Fig. 9.1 A well-designed and treatment-planned case always comes out successful quantified, with a gravimetric analysis, the amount of tooth structure removed during these preparations: Porcelain laminate veneers required approximately onequarter to one-half the amount of tooth reduction of conventional complete coverage crowns [13–15].

And this will be even less if we can create an additive approach on the new smile design and make the preparation of the natural teeth through the aesthetic preevaluative temporaries (APT) [16, 17].

Several porcelain materials can be used for the fabrication of veneers, and they can be classified into five groups: castable glass–ceramic; heat-pressed ceramic; computer-aided manufacturing (CAD/CAM) processed factory produced ingots; feldspathic porcelain baked in the traditional water-slurry method; and feldspathic porcelain over foil matrix with refractory die technique. Each system has its own advantages and disadvantages (Fig. 9.2).

The finalization was obtained by means of state-of-the-art adhesive techniques and ceramic laminate veneers. The correct use of modern materials, in combination with rigorous adhesive procedures [18–22], allows for a minimally invasive and highly aesthetic treatment, with adequate function and a perfect integration that is in harmony with the patient's face [23, 24].



Fig. 9.2 There are differences between the types, properties, microstructures and handling of porcelain materials



Fig. 9.3 The most creative part of the workflow is the design part. This is the heart of any aesthetic treatment that will differentiate a more committed dentist from an average one. The final aesthetic smile design and treatment planning should as well be based on this mock-up, that should fulfil the expectations of the patient

9.1 The Workflow

Regardless of the complexity of any dental procedure, there should be a workflow of which either the dentist or the whole team need to follow and work together. Basically a workflow for an aesthetic case starts with the collection of the data, history of the patient, clinical findings, making X-rays, models, photos and maybe videos. Then one of the most important parts of the whole journey is to start communicating with the patient regarding their expectations from this aesthetic treatment.

The treatment planning then should base on final expectations of the patient. And the treatment should be sequenced and executed accordingly.

The most **creative** part of the workflow is the **design** part; however, at this stage, verbal communication will never be enough. Any aesthetic procedure is very subjective, and without materializing the aesthetic smile design, it will not be possible for the dentist to explain what he/she would want to deliver to the patient at the end of the treatment.

Therefore, the final design should somehow be created even before the treatment plan is done and shared with the patient (Fig. 9.3).

9.2 Visualizing the Final Result at the Beginning/ The Mock-Up

Visualization of the new smile design will create a great impact on the patients understanding about the rest of the treatment. It is much more powerful than just verbally explaining what will be done. Prior to initiating any treatment, it is necessary to visualize the desired outcomes. It then becomes possible to formulate the steps required to achieve this result. In restorative dentistry, the mock-up is a diagnostic technique that allows for the intra-oral try-in of a prosthetic rehabilitation [16, 25]. Mock-ups facilitate significant improvement in communication with patients by showing them the potential final outcome of the treatment and allowing an easy comparison of the pre- and post-operative situations and permit the clinician to check the functional aspects [25].



Fig. 9.4 Either a direct mock-up or a wax-up should be placed into the patient's mouth in order to visualize the final design before even the case is treatment planned. (a) Direct mock-up should first start by placing the composite over the two centrals, defining the incisal edge position, (b) and gradually continued over the laterals, canines and premolars, (c) and evaluated with the lips and (d) the face

There are different ways to make the mock-up. It can be directly created in the patients' mouth or indirectly either through a wax-up or by digital ways.

The direct mock-up is the fastest way of starting the communication with the patient. A composite can be placed on the teeth with free hand carving without the need of any bonding material over the existing teeth. Ideally, the first step to execute the direct mock-up should be to start morphing the composite on the two maxillary centrals. Technically, it will be the ideal if the final incisal edge position of the centrals is decided just after the composites on two centrals are placed, before further adding the composites on the remaining teeth (Fig. 9.4a–d).

This step is extremely important, since the design of a smile and the following treatment planning would purely be based on the incisal edge location of the two maxillary central incisors. And this should be done by sitting the patient upright on the dental chair and when the dentist and the patient are standing face to face to each other. There will be a lot of factors that will be influential on the decision making of this procedure, such as the relationship of the centrals primarily to the upper lip line, then the lower lip line, their proportions, age and sex of the patient. Upon this decision, then the mock-up can be done on the rest of the teeth.

9.3 The Aesthetic Pre-evaluative Temporaries (APT)

Once this preliminary design on the direct mock-up is approved by the dentist and the patient, the case can now be sent to the laboratory, for a wax-up. When the wax-up is sent back to the dental office, a silicone impression is made from the wax-up. This silicone impression is filled with a flowable resin and placed in the mouth before the patient is anaesthetized, and the teeth are prepped. This is named as the aesthetic pre-evaluative temporaries (APT) (Fig. 9.5a–d).



Fig. 9.5 (**a**, **b**) Initial situation. (**c**) Over the natural teeth, a direct mock-up is created. (**d**) This mock-up design is converted to a delicate wax-up in the laboratory. In order to copy this wax-up, a silicone impression is made through the wax-up model and transferred into the mouth with the help of a bis-acryl resin provisional material, i.e. Luxatemp. This is named as the APT (aesthetic pre-evaluative temporaries) by the author

The dentist can benefit from the application of the APT at this stage in two extremely important ways. The first benefit is to be able to visualize the final aesthetic outcome, check the function and phonetics and get the approval of the patient. This will be very realistic, since the APT is being tested in 3D in the patient's mouth and the lips have not been anaesthetized yet.

9.4 Tooth Preparation Through the APT

The second amazing benefit is the tooth preparation technique. Tooth preparation is an important step because it tries to consider obtaining an adequate thickness of ceramic and tooth structure wear. This can be done with almost a 100% precision with the prep through the aesthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique, which takes the final volume of the restoration into consideration. Using the depth cutter through the very solid reference, which will be the facial contour of the APT, will guide the dentist to prepare the exact amount of teeth, being thoroughly minimally invasive and yet creating the maximum amount of volume for the porcelain laminate veneer to be fabricated [16].

The tooth structure will undergo only the minimal necessary preparation or even no preparation in certain areas using depth cutter burs through the APT restoration according to the pre-established goals. Use of the APT technique, step by step, may guide the clinician from the time of diagnosis, communication and preparation through the final result, making the treatment predictable (Fig. 9.6a, b).

9.5 Finalizing the Case

After the tooth preparation, impression making and the provisionalization [16], the case will be sent to the laboratory, and the porcelain laminate veneers will be produced. These PLVs will then be bonded on the patient's teeth [26].



Fig. 9.6 Preparation through the APT. During the beginning of the preparation, since the APT will be left on the tooth as a very solid reference for the depth cutter, the dentist will always be very precise with his/her preparations. (**a**) The depth cutter will be used to create the horizontal depths, and a fissure diamond bur will be used for the vertical incisal reduction. The groves are painted with a pencil in order facilitate the final preparation. (**b**) Then the remaining parts of the APT are removed, and the tooth surfaces are prepared until the pencil lines disappear, and the margins are refined. The final minimally invasive preparations



Fig. 9.7 (a, b) Even though a new smile design is created by using all the necessary aesthetic rules and looks very nice in an intra-orally taken photo, its harmony with the facial appearance of the patient may not be the ideal or may not arouse the pleasant feelings that the patient should have had experienced at the end of the treatment, and the patient can have a feeling like the smile does not belong to her

9.6 Morphopsychology

Aesthetics had become one of the most important outcomes of daily dental treatments. Regardless of the complexity of the cases, the patients are seeking for the better-looking smiles.

However, often, the final aesthetic results may fail to meet the patient's expectations due to disharmony between the smile design and the patient's identity [16].

The patient's demands and the level of information has driven the profession to a certain questioning respecting the customization of the new smile design, according to the individual psychological characteristics of each patient, that if ignored, may lead to aesthetic dissatisfaction, even though all the aesthetic principles and rules which tend to establish standards were incorporated.

Even though the new created smile design may look picture perfect when we take pictures of it with the lips retracted, the patient may feel that the restored teeth do not really "belong" to him or her [27] (Fig. 9.7a, b). Without the proper knowledge, the origin of this disharmony can be difficult to identify. In earlier times, the idea of a smile design was to align teeth in a perfect manner, keep them as bright as possible and wish for a rock-solid structure. Today's world requires a novel approach that places the patient's needs in the centre. Sometimes, patients may recognize what is lacking in their smile, but in most cases, they could not verbalize their needs simply because they do not know how to. Also, there are certain

restrictions and technical limitations from which the dentists suffer such as not being able to visualize the final result in detail before starting the procedure. Sometimes, everything looks just fine and functional, but it just does not "feel right" [28].

9.7 Patient's Personal Identity

Incorporating into the smile design elements that visually translate each patient's personal identity may help the dentists to do restorations that correspond not only to the aesthetic but also to the psychological features of the created image which affects the emotions, behaviour and confidence of the patient. On the other hand, these factors affect the way the patients react to the definite treatment positively.

At the end of the treatments, the patients need to feel happy. If one can trigger these senses with a new smile design, then both the dentist and the patient will be feeling very different than receiving a standard nicely aligned teeth.

The growth of personalization in all areas is being rightly welcomed as a liberation from more than a century of globalized repetition and imitation, in other words brand images that look almost exactly like each other. What everyone really wants is diversity and differentiation, something that has often been easier to achieve for smaller, individual concerns who invest in tailor-made solutions to help them stand out in the crowd. Senses like touching, smelling and tasting are all individual personalized feelings that every other person experiences in a different way (Fig. 9.8).

Fig. 9.8 Senses like touching, smelling, tasting and hearing are all individual personalized feelings that differ from one person to another



9.8 The Fifth Dimension of the Smile

The smile design in dentistry so far till the recent years has been based on four dimensions: biology, structure, function and aesthetics. And the aesthetic parameters were basically dependent on the age, gender and sex.

The reality is that in neither of these parameters personality of the patient was considered. However, perfect smile design should reflect the patient's personality, adding the fifth dimension of a smile!

The aim of this chapter is to reflect the results of our researches that we have been working on in the past 11 years evaluating the new smile designs that we had been working on which created amazing differences in the acceptance of our patients, just because their personalities are reflected into it by means of applying the visual language into the designs. It is about the fifth dimension of a smile which also incorporates the personality and the emotional needs of a patient which is quite different than the traditional approaches. Translation of these feelings and reflecting the personality into the new smile design can happen by using the visual language.

9.9 Archetypical Symbols

It goes all the way back to Carl Jung (1875–1961), who was a Swiss psychiatrist and psychotherapist who founded analytical psychology, and his widely accepted studies about the "symbols"—that talks the same language—for most of the people around the world, regardless of their geographic locations, cultures, religions, lifestyles, etc. [29]. In the last years of Jung's life, he observed that certain symbols and images have been used in all cultures with the same meaning. That is about some universal symbols in all cultures, from all times, regardless of their backgrounds, ethnical belongings, religions, geographic locations and cultures, always used with the same meaning.

Vertical lines represent strength and power, horizontal lines represent stability, inclined lines represent dynamism, and rounded lines represent suavity and delicacy (Fig. 9.9a–d).

9.10 Visual Language

Each type of line or shape has a specific emotional meaning.

Lines represent the most basic elements of visual language. **Horizontal** lines, because they conform to gravity, express stability, passivity and calmness, while **vertical** lines represent the movement of the point against gravity, expressing strength and power, just as **inclined** lines arouse the sensation of instability, tendency to movement and dynamism. **Curved** lines are associated with delicacy, sensuality and feminine gender [30].

The combination of lines generates the most basic forms, transferring to them their own expressions. Thus, the vertical rectangle expresses strength by the



Fig. 9.9 Some universal symbols in all cultures, from all times, regardless of their backgrounds, ethnical belongings, religions, geographic locations and cultures, always used with the same meaning (**a**) Vertical lines representing strength and power, (**b**) horizontal lines representing stability, (**c**) inclined lines representing dynamism and (**d**) rounded lines representing suavity and delicacy



Fig. 9.10 (a) Vertical rectangle expresses strength by the predominance of the vertical element on the horizontal, (b) the triangle dynamism, (c) the oval delicacy, (d) the square/rounded circle stability and immobility by the balance between its vertical element and the horizontal one

predominance of the vertical element on the horizontal, the triangle dynamism, the oval delicacy, the square stability and immobility by the balance between its vertical element and the horizontal one (Fig. 9.10a–d). These basic shapes can be observed in the facial contour as well as in the shapes of the incisors and three-dimensional configuration of the dental arrangement, thus the incisal silhouette.

9.11 Human Temperaments

According to Hippocrates (460–370 BC), who is considered the father of Western medicine, each human being is an odd mixture of characteristics of four distinct temperamental types, in which each person can identify one or two more predominant temperaments. Below are the main behavioural psycho-characteristics of each temperament:

- **Choleric (strong):** dominant, determined, objective, explosive, intense, leader, passionate
- **Sanguine** (**dynamic**): extroverted, communicative, enthusiastic, dynamic, surrounding
- Melancholic (delicate): introverted, organized, perfectionist, artistic, abstractive, timid
- **Phlegmatic** (calm): diplomatic, pacific, mystic, spiritualized, conformist, discreet, tending to submission

9.12 Visagism

The word visage is derived from French, meaning face, and the term "visagism" describes the study of the face as to its constituent traits, the aesthetic relation among its elements and its visual expression. The visagism concept was defined by the plastic artist Philip Hallawell as the art of creating a customized personal image that expresses a person's sense of identity [31].

His work had as its main focus the painting of human figures, and he studied the visual language on face to create paintings with more realistic expressions. He gave a great boost to the development of visagism, with the association of visual expression of the facial traits, given by lines, shapes and colours, to the archetype theory coined by Carl Jung.

Such association suggests that the **facial traits are unconsciously noticed by the observer generating sensations which influence the way a person is perceived,** or being quick the observation of a face, which creates a remarkable first impression [32].

9.13 Visual Identity of the Smile (VIS)

This idea is the basis of the fifth dimension. Every human being is unique and special, and their smile reflects their personalities. Shape, texture, colour and combination of teeth convey direct messages, and when it comes to creating new smile designs, dentists must consider the "unity of the whole" idea, which is about bringing the biology, structure, function and aesthetics, together with a fifth element, the **personality**. The personality is literally the quintessential part here because the former is traditionally laid to balance it like a keystone.

In our research, we also realize the same effects while we are designing the new smiles. Using the visual language created by lines and circles, we tried to deliver a new smile design to the person which will be accompanied with his personality. A calm person would not like to have a smile design with an aggressive look, for example dominant centrals straight and sharp canines, but instead a design with more rounded and softer designed tooth shapes.

The visual language knowledge applied to the main expressive elements of smile design such as dental shapes, incisal edge, interdental ratio or dominance and 3D positioning of the teeth in the arch determined four smile design types with primary expression:

- **Strong:** composed mainly of rectangular dental shapes, strong dominance of centrals and canines on lateral incisors (radial symmetry), as well as plane incisal edge and rectilinear 3D dental positioning on the arch on an occlusal view.
- **Dynamic:** triangular or trapezoidal dental shapes, standard dominance, inclined incisal edge and angled 3D dental positioning on the arch.
- Delicate: oval dental shapes, medium dominance, curved incisal edge, and standard 3D dental positioning.
- **Calm or stable:** smoothly rounded square dental shapes, weak dominance (current symmetry), horizontal incisal edge and 3D rectilinear or standard dental positioning on the arch (Fig. 9.11).



Fig. 9.11 The visual language knowledge applied to the main expressive elements of smile design such as dental shapes, incisal edge, interdental ratio or dominance and 3D positioning of the teeth in the arch determined four smile design types with primary expression, from top to bottom: strong, dynamic, delicate and calm

9.14 The New Concept

Complex cases with high aesthetic needs represent a challenge for clinicians. An interdisciplinary approach is vital to achieve the planned result. New technological devices are needed to facilitate the collaboration between the clinical team members and to develop a fluent and effective diagnostic and therapeutic pathway [33].

Through the large number of smile design's elements, as incisal edge, dominance, dental axis and shapes as sub-elements, such as morphological details of each tooth, it is possible to establish, based on the dental scientific literature, which ones should be determined by the facial typology and which could visually represent the unique personality of each patient, beyond their personal preferences and expression's will.

Thus, for a standard practice, reproducible and accessible to all professionals, a concept for smile design customization was elaborated by Paolucci et al. [29, 34, 35].

It came from the association of different knowledge as aesthetic and functional dental fundamentals, artistic visual language, facial recognition and still personality typology, being denominated "Visual Identity of the Smile" (VIS). For the objective application of this concept, a software was developed, which is called **REBEL**.

This holds true when the dentist first evaluates a new patient with aesthetic concerns; many critical factors may be overlooked. The VERBAL information exchange should be translated into a VISUAL perception in order to get the patient and the dentist understands what exactly the final expectations should be at the end of the treatment. The basic means of this communication starts with a 3D preview of the design in the patient's mouth (APT) even before the rest of the treatment is planned. At the end of the day no matter what clinical difficulties a dentist would face, how technically these problems would be solved, if the patient would not like the final aesthetic outcome, the treatment will be considered as a failure.

9.15 The REBEL

The fifth dimension including the personality traits on top of the previous aesthetic rules makes a world of a difference when properly introduced to the algorithm. It's an algorithm which REBEL is built on. The computational mind of REBEL is now fuelled not only by the biological, structural, functional and aesthetic parameters but also the variables related with the personality. This chunk of information is gathered from two sources: the Dellinger and Eysenck Personality Test and Controlled Interviews with the patients, and then simply fed to the algorithm by the dentist [36].

REBEL software is able to perform facial reading, personality assessment and personal preference evaluation of each patient and convert that information into mathematical language. Through pre-programmed algorithms, initially, a twodimensional smile design is created. The software is capable of transforming
automatically this 2D smile design into a 3D customized model. The model generation is performed by custom 3D library, developed specifically for REBEL Simplicity. Every model is personalized according to the proposed teeth configuration.

9.16 The Virtual Lab

The REBEL system is actually a virtual lab that converts the 2D design into 3D and creates a digital wax-up immediately. The 2D is created by relating the facial perception and the personality of the patient to the smile design by applying algorithms for computing the optimal combination of the incisal silhouette, tooth axis, dominance of the centrals and the combination of individual tooth shapes out of thousands of possibilities. It may sound complicated; however, it is the simplest way of getting one of the best 3D digital wax-ups possible.

REBEL has a very sophisticated artificial intelligence-based software behind; however, it provides a great simplicity to the end users, the dentists and dental technicians.

9.17 The Ideal Treatment

The ideal treatment can be mono-professional approach or better an interdisciplinary approach. The best aesthetic results largely depend on the ability of the members of the interdisciplinary team to work together [30]. Efficient communication between team members can present a challenge due to the requirement for continuous communication between the different specialists. Prosthodontist, orthodontist, periodontist and dental technician need to work together because understanding the various phases of the treatment is fundamental to achieving the desired result [37].

Today, the use of new technologies such as REBEL can improve the communication process between specialists. The previsualization of the final result can be a motivational key, not only to start the treatment but also to keep the patient involved throughout the process.

The aim of this chapter is to present a clinical case demonstrating an accurate operative protocol for the realization of porcelain laminate veneers with an interdisciplinary approach on the basis of the most recent clinical and scientific evidence.

3D real pre is going to be prepared through the rebel software. This will then be converted to a clinical previsualization by 365 means of a mock-up or aesthetic preevaluative temporaries (APTs), based on a 366 diagnostic wax-up. With the use of the prep through the APT technique, will end up with the most Minimally invasive preparation, driven by both the mock-up and 367 the silicone keys made from the 3D printed digital wax-up. After the tooth preparation and impression, the porcelain veneers will be manufactured and bonded under rubber-dam isolation.



Fig. 9.12 Her chief complaints are the small size of her teeth, chipping at the incisal edges and irregularities at the incisal silhouette



Fig. 9.13 (a–f) The patient has a very stable bite, no TMJ problems and needs no alterations in her bite

9.18 The Case

A patient feel discomfort with the look of her smile. Her chief complaints are the small size of her teeth, chipping at the incisal edges and irregularities at the incisal silhouette. Aesthetic analysis, based on fundamental objective and subjective aesthetic criteria, highlighted disharmony and a lack of balance of dento-labial, dental layout. From a periodontal perspective, the patient showed good oral hygiene habits (Fig. 9.12).

She was not happy with the white calcification spots on her teeth. The teeth suffered from a loss of buccal volume and surface texture; their colour was characterized by low value and moderate chromacity. She wanted to have brighter looking teeth, compared to her existing colour, but never the whitest colour (Fig. 9.13a–f).

9.19 Aesthetic Analysis and REBEL

REBEL is a recent digital previsualization technique that allows the clinician to efficiently design the new smile, improve the communication between the dental team members involved in the treatment, obtain better communication and achieve better patient motivation and visualizing the final aesthetic result even before case has started. Within the same token, REBEL will enhance the predictability of the whole treatment which will guide the actual clinical treatment. This approach allows for the sharing of the treatment plan among team members and for creating a 3D visual perception of the case in the patient's mouth. It means that the digital project will be tested and approved even before starting the actual treatment. And accordingly, it will allow the dentist to present the treatment solutions.

9.20 The REBEL Workflow

Probably, REBEL has one of the simplistic steps for transferring all the necessary information to the REBEL digital laboratory. These are the three mandatory simple steps to be followed:

- 1. Single mock-up on a central to be digitally scanned
- 2. A full-face photography protocol
- 3. A simple questionnaire

9.20.1 The Single Central Mock-Up and Intra-oral Digital Scanning

A composite mock-up is placed on one (or two) of the centrals, in order to identify the incisal edge position vertically and the position of the facial surface bucco-lingually (Fig. 9.14a, b). This will be no different than making any direct mock-up; however, the greatest advantage of creating this mock-up for REBEL is that the dentist should not worry about the perfect design of this mock-up. It means that he/ she does not need to try to choose the shape of the tooth (square, triangular, rounded, etc.), the angulation of their axis, surface texture, etc. These details of the new smile design will be given by the **REBEL artificial intelligence-based software** according to the facial perception and the personality of the patient. Therefore, this will allow any dentist at any level to start working with mock-ups and end up with high level wax-ups.

If the dentist does not want to make any mock-up, then he/she can as well write down the additional length that would need to be added on the centrals vertically and the volume on the facial side (i.e. 0.3 mm thicker facially). In that case, the dentist can easily relate the existing length of the teeth to the upper lip position with the help of a periodontal probe. This information should be written down (the additional length that needed to be added on the centrals vertically and the volume on



Fig. 9.14 (**a**, **b**) Treatment of every aesthetic case should start by defining the incisal edge position of the maxillary central incisors. A composite mock-up on one (or two) of the central incisors identifies the incisal edge position (vertically) and the position of the facial surface (bucco-lingually). This simple mock-up is digitally scanned together with the full maxillary arch

the facial side (i.e. 0.3 mm thicker facially)) and added to the file that will be sent to REBEL.

9.20.1.1 Intra-oral Digital Scanning

Once the mock up on the central(s) are completed, then this should be digitally scanned. (Fig. 9.14b) It can be scanned with any intra oral scanner that can create a STL file. Most of the intra oral scanners already convert the 3D scanning in to an STL file automatically.

9.20.1.2 Analog Impression

If the dentist does not have an intra-oral scanner in the dental practice, the following can easily be done; an analog impression of the upper jaw (preferably with the direct mock-up done on the centrals) is made; then this analog impression can be sent to the nearest dental lab which has lab scanner (each lab which has CAD/CAM machine has a digital scanner), and the dental technician can digitalize this impression for the dentist and will upload the "STL" file into REBEL to complete your order through the provided link.

9.20.2 The Full-Face Photography Protocol

The software needs to have a five full-face photography protocol in order to get the facial recognition of the patient and relate the 3D intra-oral digital scan into the facial features. The mandatory five full-face pictures are the following (Fig. 9.15a, b1-b5).

9.20.2.1 Full-Face Rest Position

This photo is for the automatic facial recognition part of the software, and part of the new REBEL smile design will be based on this facial perception of the patient. Technically, it is very important that the forehead and the ears of the patient are visible. If the patient has long hair, please keep it away from the face. It is crucial to keep the head upright (NOT tilted to the right, left or up and down), preferably position the eyes parallel to the horizon, and keep the lips apart.



Fig. 9.15 (a) The full-face photography protocol. (b1, b2, b3, b4, b5); Five mandatory photos need to be taken: (1 smiling; (2) lips at rest; (3) 12 o'clock position; (4) retracted mouth open; (5) retracted mouth closed

The software automatically checks the required full pace picture, and if it is not according to the rules, the dentist will receive an immediate message to replace it.

9.20.2.2 Full-Face Smiling

Keep the patient in the same position with the eyes open and parallel to the horizon and keep the head upright (NOT tilted to the right, left, up or down). This time ask the patient to keep the lips apart with a soft smile (if possible, show the incisal edges of the maxillary incisors).

9.20.2.3 Face 12 O' Clock Position

There are two simple ways of taking this specific photo.

First and easy choice will be to keep the patient in the same position and ask him/ her to bend the face 45° forward while having a full smile and take the photo that will show the relationship to the upper centrals and the displayed arch position to the lower lip line.

Or the dentist can lay down the patient into a supine position on the dental chair and moves him/herself to 12 o'clock position and ask for the full smile and take a photo from 45° .

9.20.2.4 Full-Face Retracted Close Mouth

The patient should be asked to hold the full mouth retractors, again keeping the position of the eyes parallel to the horizon, keeping the head upright (NOT tilted to the right, left or up and down) and keeping the teeth closed and the occlusal plane parallel to the horizon.

	ERVIE	N								
My favorite geometric shape is: * Crosse only one figure				My	friends consider me	e for: *				
	\cap	/	_			uncommunicative		non-confrontational		passive
	()	4				pessimistic	v	optimistic		techy
	\smile					helpful		quiet		communicative
						initiative		talkative	*	active
< fragile	~	caring	*	cheerful	v	carefree		worrisome		cautious
	10000									
fragle	۲	caring reflective	* *	cheerful sensitive	*	carefree mutable		worrisome balanced		cautious impulsive
<pre>/ fragile / caim / reliable</pre>	*	caring reflective benevolent	2	cheerful sensitive open	*	carefree mutable peaceable		worrisome balanced reserved		cautious impulsive restless
✓ fragie	~	caring	*	cheerful.	*	carefree		worrisome		cautious
fragle caim relable available	*	caring reflective benevolent	2 2	cheerful sensitive open	~	carefree mutable peaceable rigid	*	warrisome balanced reserved moody		Cautious Impulsive restless aggressive
fragile caim reliable available	e ready wit	caring reflective benevolent	2 2	cheenful sensitive open	v Sen	carefree musable peaceable rigid	v	warrisome balanced reserved moody		cautious impulsive restless aggressive
fragle caim reliable available so you think you an course	e ready wit	caring reflective benevolent	× ×	cheerful sensitive open	Sen	carefree mutable peaceable rigid	unt.	worrisome balanced reserved moody		cautious imputsive restress aggressive
traple traple cain reliable available	e ready wit	caring reflective benevolent th this stage?	v	cheerdu senstrue open	Sen	carefree musable precessite rigid	ent .	worksome balanced reserved moody		cautious impulsive restriess aggressive

Fig. 9.16 Based on the data from the interview, the software algorithm automatically calculates the temperament (personality), the way the patient wants to be perceived. The temperament is a combination of strong, dynamic, delicate and calm

9.20.2.5 Full-Face Retracted Open Mouth

The same protocol above should be repeated, however this time with the teeth (upper jaw and lower jaw) separated.

9.20.3 Questionnaire

Then the interview that will indicate the character and the personality of the patient will be completed again in less than a minute through a questionnaire in the software and give you the primary and the complimentary character of the patient.

The temperamental type of each individual is defined by a unique combination of diverse characteristics of the four main temperaments, and therefore, for a precise and practical evaluation of it, it is necessary to apply a specific questionnaire (Fig. 9.16).

The optimal tooth shape is determined with the help of the interview. The questionnaire is based on popular psychological tests for personal self-assessment. The first question is an adapted test by Dellinger, and the other three questions concern personality traits based on the theory and questionnaire by Eysenck [38].

The questionnaire is checked by a computer algorithm to classify the patients' personalities. Based on the data from the interview, a software algorithm automatically calculates the temperament, as perceived by the patient. The temperament is a combination of "strong, dynamic, delicate and calm." After this procedure is done, the dentist and/or the technician will have the full idea of the facial perception and the personality of the patient.

DESCRIPTION Descripti Descripti Description Description Descripti	
	Vewpic
lease discuss with the patient the following details:	Please discuss with the patient the following details:
✓ flat Inclined	open the arch narrow the arch
rounded	✓ keep existing
	Please write your comments:
Incisal embrasures	
rounded	
Surface texture	
almost smooth 🖌 idealised	
strong	
SPECIAL REQUESTS MOCK UP TUTORIAL	CONTINUE

Fig. 9.17 REBEL digital lab allows the dentist to provide additional information regarding details such as the final design of the incisal embrasures, surface texture and expected appearance of the buccal corridors, which will then be calculated and designed by the REBEL software

As the dentist is about to send all these three mandatory files, he/she will also be asked to inform the REBEL digital laboratory with the description of the clinical case regarding any specific designs, such as the buccal corridors, perfect imperfections, the intensity of the surface texture, etc., or choose some of the optional features provided if needed (Fig. 9.17).

9.21 REBEL Digital Laboratory

It has a very sophisticated simplicity, in the way that there is a very complex software behind, which enables the dentist to do the most simplistic but the most predictable and personalized 3D wax-up.

The next step is to convert the two-dimensional (2D) digital project into a 3D mock-up. The REBEL system is actually a digital lab that converts the 2D design into 3D and creates a digital wax-up immediately. The 2D is created by the VisagiSMile concept that relates the facial perception and the personality of the patient to the smile design by applying algorithms for computing the optimal combination of the **incisal silhouette**, tooth axis, dominance of the centrals and the combination of individual tooth shapes out of thousands of possibilities (Fig. 9.18). It may sound complicated; however, it is the simplest way of getting one of the worlds' most realistic 3D digital wax-ups possible.

Once all this information is sent to the REBEL digital laboratory, the software will immediately create the new REBEL smile design by first converting it to the 2D VisagiSMile format and into the 3D REBEL design. While doing this, the artificial intelligence-based REBEL software will decide on the main elements of the new



Fig. 9.18 The outcomes of the *facial recognition and the personality* test both correspond to a blend of *strong/dynamic* design. REBEL is now ready to convert these mathematical readings into a visual 3D digital wax-up

smile design, such as the incisal silhouette, the dominance of the centrals, the tooth axis and the arch form and in addition choose the ideal individual tooth shape that would be most natural for that specific patient relative to their facial perception and the personality that they wanted to be perceived.

REBEL has a very large digital tooth library, composed of the ideal forms of natural teeth and wax-up designs of the top dental technicians (Fig. 9.19).

Even though these individual teeth shapes of digital library are great, the amazing part of the design procedure is that the software selects the two main shapes (i.e. from rectangular, triangular, ovoid, square) that will be matching with patient's facial perception and personality, and depending on the percentages, it blends and moulds the selected two main shapes into the ideal forms. For example, if the overall perception of the face and personality is a combination of 70% dynamic and 30% delicate, it selects the ideal triangular and ovoid shapes and blends them into each other with a combination of these percentages, main silhouette of the teeth being triangular but with the saddle appearance of ovoid as well.

Once this design is automatically placed over the digitally scanned original upper jaw of the patient and rendered, an immediate STL file of this new REBEL digital wax-up is formed.

9.22 Back to Chair Side/3D Printing

This STL file is then sent to the dentist via email, ready to be 3D printed. After the STL file is 3D printed, the dentist can easily transfer this design into the patient's mouth by making a silicone impression of the digital wax-up. The harder this



Fig. 9.19 Since the size of the frontal facial aspect of teeth on the photos does not correspond to the actual size of the teeth in the mouth, a smile design can lead to errors in the information provided to the laboratory and to final restorations of inadequate volume and dimensions. A mathematical model allows the parameters measured in 2D to be recalculated and determines the real 3D dimensions of the teeth to provide accurate parameters for the digital wax-up. The digital planning software that REBEL uses provides dentists and technicians with a 2D preview of the final design that relates the facial perception and the personality of the patient within a second. The REBEL Simplicity software is also capable of recalculating and recreating personalized 3D models of the teeth by morphing the individual tooth shapes from its 3D library. Every model is generated according to the proposed 2D teeth configuration. Users can visualize the 3D model in their browsers and can also download the models for use in a dental laboratory



Fig. 9.19 (continued)

silicone transfer impression, the more precise this transfer will be, in order to duplicate all the details such as the line angles that give the ideal shape of the teeth and surface texture (Fig. 9.20).

This transfer should be done prior to everything. The dentist should evaluate the new design well before starting the tooth preparation, as the APT (or as the final mock-up). This way not only the ideal 3D smile design but a great 3D communication chance will be given to the dentist and the patient at this moment. And the final aesthetic design should be approved at this period (Fig. 9.21a–c). REBEL also has another feature, i.e. designing the smile in a respective way. That means if some of the original teeth positions are remaining outside of the final smile design regardless of these teeth.

This will create two major advantages:

- The first one is that the dentist will be able to place the silicone impression and thus create the APT in the patient's mouth, without the need of cutting (aesthetic pre-recontouring (APR)) the protruded parts of the original teeth.
- And the second advantage is that it will allow both the dentist and the patient to realize the final new smile design relative to their original teeth through this APT. This will be a great tool for sharing this information and create a platform to both parties regarding the treatment planning. The dentist can now solidly debate with the patient, for example, the need of an adjunctional ortho treatment in order better position these teeth for minimally invasive approaches instead of an extensive tooth preparation of these teeth remaining outside of the new smile design.



Fig. 9.20 After the STL file is received from the REBEL digital lab via email, it can be 3D printed (Form 2, Formlabs). When the 3D printed model is created, the dentist can easily transfer this design to the patient's mouth by making a silicone impression of the digital wax-up and using a provisional material of choice (i.e. Luxatemp, DMG)



Fig. 9.21 (**a**–**c**) The visualization of the APT in the mouth and its relation to the facial appearance. REBEL design according to the facial perception and personality of the patient, the design is created with the rectangular shape of the individual tooth shapes, straight tooth axis, dominant centrals and flat to triangular incisal silhouette



Fig. 9.22 (a, b) After the approval of the aesthetic outcome of the APT (from the REBEL 3D digital wax-up), the dentist can start preparing the teeth through the APT for the most aesthetic and minimally invasive preparations (note the minor soft tissue touch-up correction on the centrals, to define the zenith points)

9.23 Tooth Preparation Through the APT

Once the final design is approved by the dentist and the patient, the dentist can anaesthetize the patient and start preparing the teeth through the APT (Fig. 9.22a, b).

9.24 Finalizing the Case

As soon as the teeth are prepared, it is then the choice of the dentist to further continue the case digitally by making an intra-oral digital scan or continue with the conventional analog way.



Fig. 9.23 (**a**–**c**) The final result: monolithic e.max porcelain laminate veneers with a minor cutback technique applied over the incisal edges in place. The smile flows with the facial appearance and the personality of the patient. She is extremely happy with the new smile design, expressing her feelings by saying that "even though a major change had been done with my smile, no body hardly ever understand that I had been treated with veneers"

In the same way, the lab can produce these veneers digitally by milling or using pressable ceramics or utilizing feldspathic veneers. In this case, the material of choice is the e.max pressable ceramics, with a one-third incisal cut back and feld-spathic porcelain applied on top with the micro-layering technique (Fig. 9.23a–c).

9.25 Conclusion

The combination of the basic rules of aesthetics together with the reflection of the facial analysis and the personality of the patient on the "new smile design" creates more natural and personalized smiles (Fig. 9.18).

This principle presumes the harmony between the smile design and the patient's personality. However, in the dental practice, its application has been limited due to the lack of an objective method for assessing personality and incorporating their meaning into the smile design.

Current aesthetic software VisagiSMile/REBEL can help the clinicians to provide new smile design that affects patient's emotions, sense of identity, behaviour and self-esteem. Combining the modern digital technologies with the classic treatment rules can be used to achieve predictable aesthetic results.

The VisagiSMile/REBEL concept which can be applied very easily and fast can help the dentist\ceramist to achieve this goal in its most simplistic, practical and personalized way.

The author's clinical experience shows a minimum of 80% success in the acceptance of the final smile design.

And finally before any further investigation and research is done, if the result by applying this technique does not satisfy the patient due to the subjectivity of the matter, the dentist can always make minor alterations in order to adopt this design according to the patient's desires.

References

- 1. Magne P, Besler UC. Bonded porcelain restorations in the anterior dentition: a biomimetic approach. Chicago: Quintessence; 2002.
- 2. Spear F, Holloway J. Which all-ceramic system is optimal for anterior esthetics? J Am Dent Assoc. 2008;139(Suppl):19S–24S.
- 3. Fradeani M, Redemagni M, Corrado M. Porcelain laminate veneers: 6- to 12-year clinical evaluation—a retrospective study. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2005;25:9–17.
- Burke FJ. Survival rates for porcelain laminate veneers with special reference to the effect of preparation in dentin: a literature review. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2012;24:257–65.
- 5. Friedman MJ. A 15-year review of porcelain veneer failure—a clinician's observations. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 1998;19:625–30.
- Dumfahrt H, Schäffer H. Porcelain laminate veneers. A retrospective evaluation after 1 to 10 years of service: Part II—Clinical results. Int J Prosthodont. 2000;13:9–18.
- 7. Swift EJ Jr, Friedman MJ. Porcelain veneer outcomes, part I. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2006;18:54–7.
- Calamia JR, Calamia CS. Porcelain laminate veneers: reasons for 25 years of success. Dent Clin N Am. 2007;51:399–417.
- Davis LG, Ashworth PD, Springs LS. Psychological effects of aesthetic dental treatment. J Dent. 1998;26(7):547–54.
- 10. Rhodes G. The evolutionary psychology of facial beauty. Annu Rev Psychol. 2006;57:199–226.
- Bazos P, Magne P. Bioemulation: biomimetically emulating nature utilizing a histo-anatomic approach; structural analysis. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2011;6:8–19.
- 12. Land MF, Hopp CD. Survival rates of all-ceramic systems differ by clinical indication and fabrication method. J Evid Based Dent Pract. 2010;10:37–8.
- Edelhoff D, Sorensen JA. Tooth structure removal associated with various preparation designs for anterior teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;87:503–9.
- Schmidt KK, Chiayabutr Y, Phillips KM, Kois JC. Influence of preparation design and existing condition of tooth structure on load to failure of ceramic laminate veneers. J Prosthet Dent. 2011;105:374–82.
- Cötert HS, Dündar M, Öztürk B. The effect of various preparation designs on the survival of porcelain laminate veneers. J Adhes Dent. 2009;11:405–11.
- Gurel G, Morimoto S, Calamita MA, Coachman C, Sesma N. Clinical performance of porcelain laminate veneers: outcomes of the aesthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2012;32:625–35.
- 17. Gurel G. The science and art of porcelain laminate veneers. Chicago: Quintessence Pub; 2003.
- 18. Pashley DH, Tay FR, Breschi L, et al. State of the art etch-and-rinse adhesives. Dent Mater. 2011;27:1–16.
- Van Meerbeek B, Yosihara K, Yoshida Y, Mine A, De Munck J, Van Landuyt KL. State of the art of self- etch adhesives. Dent Mater. 2011;27:17–28.
- Spreafico RC. Composite resin rehabilitation of eroded dentition in a bulimic patient: a case report. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2010;5:28–48.
- Sheets CG, Taniguchi T. A multidie technique for the fabrication of porcelain laminate veneers. J Prosthet Dent. 1993;70:291–5.

- 22. Kramer N, Lohbauer U, Frankenberger R. Adhesive luting of indirect restorations. Am J Dent 2000;13(Spec No):60D–76D
- 23. LeDoux J. The emotional brain: the mysterious underpinnings of emotional life. New York: Simon and Schuster; 1998.
- Mc Crae RR, Costa PT Jr. A contemplated revision of the NEO Five-Factor Inventory. Pers Indiv Differ. 2004;36:587–96.
- Coachman C, Calamita M. Digital Smile Design: a tool for treatment planning and communication in esthetic dentistry. Quintessence Dent Technol. 2012;35:101–9.
- 26. Mclaren EA, Cao PT. Smile analysis and esthetic design: "In the zone". Inside Dent. 5:44-8.
- Mitrani R, Phillips K, Escudero F. Provisional restoration of teeth prepared for porcelain laminate veneers: an alternative technique. Pract Proced Aesthetic Dent. 2003;15:441–5.
- Magne P. Immediate dentin sealing: a fundamental procedure for indirect bonded restorations. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2005;17:144–54.
- 29. Willis J, Todorov A. First impressions: making up your mind after 100ms exposure to a face. Psychol Sci. 2006;17:592–8.
- Paolucci B. Visagismo e odontologia. In: Hallawell P, editor. Visagismo Integrado: Identidade, Estilo, Beleza. São Paulo: Senac; 2009. p. 243–50.
- Paolucci B, Calamita M, Coachman C, Gurel G, Schayder A, Hallawell PH. Visagism: The art of dental composition. Quintessence Dent Technol. 2012;
- Jung CG, von Franz M-L, Henderson JL, Jacobi J, Jaffe A. Man and his symbols. Doubleday: Anchor Press; 1968.
- 33. Arnheim R. Visual thinking. Berkeley: University of California Press; 1969.
- 34. Hallawell P. Visagismo: Harmonia e Estética. São Paulo: Senac; 2003.
- 35. Hallawell P. Visagismo Integrado: identidade, estilo e beleza. Senac: São Paulo; 2009.
- 36. Kois JC. Diagnostically driven interdisciplinary treatment planning. In: Cohen M, editor. Interdisciplinary treatment planning: principles, design, implementation. Chicago: Quintessence Publishing; 2008. p. 193.
- Paolucci B, Gürel G, Coachman C, et al. Visagismo: A Arte de Personalizar o Desenho do Sorriso. Vm Cultural: São Paulo; 2011.
- 38. Yankov B, Iliev G, Filtchev D, Gurel G, Paolucci B, Schayder A, Misheva I. Software application for smile design automation using the Visagism theory. In: Proceedings of the 17th international conference on computer systems and technologies, CompSysTech'16, June 23–24, Palermo, Italy, ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Vol. 1164, ACM Inc., NY, USA, p. 237–244.



Contact Lens Veneers with Pressed Ceramic

10

Ivan Ronald Huanca and Anabella Oquendo

Contents

10.1	Introduction	265
10.2	Case Report	266
10.3	Initial Focus.	266
10.4	Phase 1 Clinical Procedures.	270
10.5	Laboratory Procedures Using Ink and Glue	271
10.6	Phase 2 Clinical Procedures.	275
10.7	Conclusion	280
Refere	ences	283

10.1 Introduction

Prior to the advent of adhesive dentistry, for decades, dentists sacrificed healthy dental structures to suit the materials available at that time. Amalgam restorations required a retentive preparation, and the metallo-ceramic crowns need a mandatory complete preparation of the entire tooth for retention. With the advent of adhesive dentistry [1, 2], a new horizon in dental preparations was created. As an example, today we treat carious disease strictly where there is affected tissue, just as prosthetic crowns have in many cases been replaced by veneers. This is how the concept of minimally invasive dentistry emerged, which seeks to preserve dental tissues as much as possible by reconstitution, repair, or restoration of the dental organ. The current concept requires the material to adapt to the preparation, and the preparation

I. R. Huanca

Private Practice, São Paulo, SP, Brazil

A. Oquendo (⊠) New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: ao726@nyu.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_10

no longer must adapt to the material [3, 4]. Based on this principle, the preparations for ceramic veneers have followed the same path reaching the point that in some cases there is no preparation, which has led to the creation of ceramic veneers with a thickness reaching from 0.1 to 0. 3 mm (contact lens).

The main characteristic to name a case as contact lenses [5–7] is in the final thickness of the ceramic that ends below 0.3 mm [6]. Basically two methods can be used, the feldspathic ceramics on refractory or on platinum sheets and the injected ceramics reinforced by lithium disilicate. Another way would be to use the CAD/CAM systems, but the high cost of the materials (CAD blocks) involved makes this procedure less utilized. The feldspathic ceramics have excellent optical characteristics and good adhesion to the tooth structure, but the fracture index in the preparation and cementation phase is greater when compared to the ceramics such as lithium disilicate. Another positive point of the pressed systems is the reduction in fractures when there is increased occlusal contact (bruxers).

This article describes a technique to more accurately perform contact lens cases using vitreous disilicate glass ceramics (CVDL).

10.2 Case Report

The patient, a 29-year-old female, sought assistance in the clinic dissatisfied with her smile (Fig. 10.3). The patient previously had an esthetic treatment completed with composite resins and a history of fractures and recurrent staining and showed interest in having the same work replaced with ceramics.

10.3 Initial Focus

First, radiographs were taken to evaluate the periodontal condition. We verified her periodontal status was good, no endodontic treatment was required, and there is absence of caries. Four veneers of composite resin had been used to restore the four anterior teeth and in addition fill small cavities and slightly increase the incisal edge. A photographic protocol was developed to evaluate esthetic principles related to hard and soft tissues, consisting of facial photography (Fig. 10.1), photos of the lip at rest (Fig. 10.2), smile (Fig. 10.3), right lateral smile and left lateral smile (Figs. 10.4a and 10.4b), and photos with retraction (Figs. 10.5a, 10.5b, 10.5c, 10.5d) [8]. Examination of the photographs demonstrated a favorable incisal edge rest position, which is usually from 2 to 4 mm for women [9]. There was a normal gingival architecture, with existing papillae, central incisors zenith oriented distally [10], absence of black triangles, and correct gingival margin position which eliminated any need for gingivoplasty [11]. The shape and dimensions of the dentition were proportional, and the dental coloration was pleasant, which ruled out the treatment with whitening. In order to balance the difference of inclination of the left canine in relation to the right side, contact lens veneers for 7-11 were indicated.

Fig. 10.1 Full face



Fig. 10.2 Lip at rest



Fig. 10.3 Smile



Fig. 10.4a Right lateral smile



Fig. 10.4b Left lateral smile



Fig. 10.5a Retracted teeth in occlusion



Fig. 10.5b Retracted right lateral view



Fig. 10.5c Retracted anterior view



Fig. 10.5d Retracted left lateral view



10.4 Phase 1 Clinical Procedures

Initially impressions were taken with high-quality materials of addition or condensation silicones, to produce an accurate model of the patient's arch. Next, a type IV gypsum model was produced to perform the diagnostic waxing (Fig. 10.6). In this phase knowledge of dental anatomy, esthetic principles, and perception of the patient's personality define the final aspect of the work. The smile desired by the patient must be guided by the professional, who becomes a modifier between what the patient wants and what can be accomplished. Next a mock-up trial (Fig. 10.7) was done, to enable the patient to visualize how their expectations coincide with a prospective new smile. A silicone copy of the wax-up is fabricated and filled with bis-acryl resin of teeth to be modified and inserted into the patient's mouth. After polymerizing the acrylic, the silicone is removed. The resin remains intimately attached to the involved teeth, making it possible to visualize the esthetic potential of the work by the patient and professional. After deciding that the potential esthetic treatment would satisfy the patient's expectation, the preparations were initiated. The preparations can be made in two ways, by using silicone guides made on the diagnostic waxing or depth cuts with the mock-up in position or both simultaneously [12].

The two techniques produced suitable preparations for making the contact lens restorations.

Once the preparation is finished, an impression with addition silicone must be made using the double-cord technique [13]. In this procedure either the two-step or single-step impression technique can be chosen, depending on the experience of the professional with one or another technique. After the impression is obtained, a detailed inspection must be made, as any possible defects in the impression can lead to inadequate laboratory work and consequently clinical deficiencies. If tears, drags, pulls, bubbles, or lack of accuracy is seen when the two-step technique is used, a new impression must be made [14]. After the impression is obtained, a bite registration

Fig. 10.6 Diagnostic waxing



Fig. 10.7 Mock-up



and impression of the antagonist are made. In a similar manner to the mock-up, but with an application of phosphoric acid (spot etch) on the prepared teeth, the provisional is made with bis-acryl. After instructions are provided regarding the maintenance of the provisionals and surrounding soft tissues, the patient can be released.

10.5 Laboratory Procedures Using Ink and Glue

Initially a meticulous inspection is made to evaluate if there is a defect in the impression that could create inaccuracies in the working model. Once the optimum quality of the impression is verified, the preparation of the models begins. Two models will be necessary, a die model and a rigid model, both made with type IV stone following the manufacturer's recommendations. The die-cut model (has no finishing line and preparation supragingival) is duly isolated, and the waxing is carried out guided by the previous planning (Fig. 10.8). For this technique, the use of a wax with a color different from that of the model is essential to locate where the work restorations are very thin, as this would make the pressing of the ceramic difficult. In these places, the wax must be thickened to a thickness of approximately 0.3 mm to guarantee adequate pressing of the ceramic.

Once the waxing is finished, they are sprued, invested, pressed using the selected ingots, and finally divested of the restorations from the ring. All these procedures must be done according to the manufacturer's guidelines. Once the restorations were adapted to each die (Figs. 10.9a, 10.9b, and 10.9c), a dark-colored permanent



Fig. 10.8 The use of wax other than plaster color is essential for fabrication thicknesses less than 3 mm which should be thickened to ensure the injection of the ceramic. Finish and texture will be made in the ceramic

Fig. 10.9a Wax pattern ready to inject individual die



Fig. 10.9b Individual die







marker is painted on the inside of the ceramic (Fig. 10.10a-d). This will help to visualize the minimum thickness that we want to reach, especially in cervical and proximal regions when there is no finish line. It also facilitates the handling of the ceramic pieces because they are very thin structures (0.1-0.2 mm).

Once the paintings are done, we place the pieces on the dies with a glue based on water (white glue) (Figs. 10.11a, 10.11b, 10.11c, 10.11d, and 10.11e). This union initiates a foundation on the plaster die and makes possible the manipulation of the ceramic to finish and polish, imitating what happens with the ceramics on refractory, without the fear that the ceramic restoration will break or initiate cracks.

Ink and glue can also be used for restorations produced by the CAD/CAM system independent of the material to be used. At the end of the finishing and polishing processes (Figs. 10.12a and 10.12b), we submerge the dies in a container with hot water. The stone model quickly absorbs the hot water that will facilitate the removal



Fig. 10.10 (a–d) With the permanent markers the restorations are painted on the inside



Fig. 10.11a Permanent markers

Fig. 10.11b White glue



Fig. 10.11c Injected veneer, faithfully adapted to the die and internally painted with the overhead marker



of the restorations with thicknesses 0.1–0.2 (Fig. 10.13a). With the contact lens restorations removed, we submerge the pieces again in another container now with monomer (acrylic liquid) or acetone, to remove the ink (Fig. 10.14). The finished restorations will be tried on the rigid model observing points of contact and occlusion. With the pieces adapted to the rigid model, we finished the restorations by applying tints and final glaze (Figs. 10.15a, b and 10.15c).





Fig. 10.11e Glue the veneer on the plaster cast, imitating a foundation to the tooth



For restorations in lithium disilicate, if cracks occur during the finishing and polishing phases, it can be repaired by making a new crystallization, whose program is as follows:

- Initial temperature of 450° with vacuum
- Cooking speed of 60° per minute
- Final temperature of 900°/1 min without vacuum.

10.6 Phase 2 Clinical Procedures [15]

Once the laboratory work is received, the restorations are first tested using try-in paste with the color like the adhesive cement. With contact lens cases, the color of the cement should approximate the teeth. Because it is a minimal thickness ceramic restoration, there is no way to alter the color of the shade by increasing or decreasing



Fig. 10.12a The restorations are adhered to the plaster dies imitating a foundation

the chroma of the cement. With the restorations in position, we checked the adaptation, contact points, and esthetics (Figs. 10.16a, 10.16b, and 10.16c). The work is evaluated by the patient and by the professional, and if it meets their expectations, they proceed with final cementation. The patient was anesthetized, and the use of a modified absolute isolation is necessary for the control of the moisture, labial lip retraction, and protection of the patient. Prior to isolation a dental cleaning is done with Robinson's brush and pumice.

The insertion of the restorations can be made together or individually depending on the experience and preference of the operator. Following the try-in, the ceramic is prepared with 10% hydrofluoric acid for 20 s, followed by the removal of the acid with a water jet for 20 s. Phosphoric acid is applied on the tooth with a light scrubbing with microbrush for 20 s and removal with water spray for 20 s. Then silane is applied following the manufacturer's recommendations on the veneers.



Fig. 10.12b The knowledge of the dental morphology is very important for the final finish of the ceramic, with a minimum thickness of 0.3 mm or less



Fig. 10.14 The restorations are submerged in monomer or acetone



Fig. 10.15a,b Makeup procedures and final glaze

Fig. 10.15c Finished restorations



Fig. 10.16a Dry restoration test



Fig. 10.16b Very thin cervical contour reaching 0.1 mm







With the ceramics ready for cementation, we start the dental conditioning that must be done according to the adhesive system that is going to be used. In this case, a conventional three-step adhesive system (OptibondTM FL, Kerr, Orange, CA). Teflon tape is placed on adjacent teeth for separation followed by the application of phosphoric acid for 30 s on the enamel region. There was no dentin exposure. The teeth were dried, and application of adhesive is applied without polymerization.

When the teeth are ready, we return to the silanized ceramics and apply adhesive in the restoration without polymerization. The cement is inserted in the restoration, and then they are inserted into its position on the tooth. Then excess cement is removed with an instrument of preference, proximal removal with dental floss, and finalization with photo polymerization. The same process is followed for each tooth. At the end of the procedure, dental floss and scalpel blade are used to verify all excess cement was removed. With the contact lens restorations cemented, adjust the occlusion and check the excursions.

Final photographs are taken (Figs. 10.17a, 10.17b, 10.17c, 10.17d, and 10.17e).

10.7 Conclusion

The use of ink and glue is an effective way to fabricate contact lens-type restorations, which can be used in the conventional way by waxing and pressing ceramics or by making the ceramic using any CAD/CAM system. The result of this procedure was ceramics as thin as using ceramics on refractory. Greater safety was verified in the clinical part in the face of fitting and cementation. On the other hand, in the laboratory, it was verified the ease of finishing and polishing the lithium disilicate ceramics independent of the dies that were made either analog or digital. It also allowed the fabrication of extremely thin restorations when compared to ceramics on refractory dies.

Fig. 10.17a Full face photograph



Fig. 10.17b Resting lip position







Fig. 10.17d Right lateral view of smile



Fig. 10.17e Left lateral view of smile



References

- 1. Buonocore MG. J Dent Res. 1955;34(6):849-53.
- 2. Bowen RL. Properties of a silica-reinforced polymer for dental restorations. J Am Dent Assoc. 1963;66:57–64.
- 3. Miyahita E, Oliveira G. Dentistry aesthetics—challenges of the daily clinic. Nova Odessa, São Paulo: Napoleon Editora Ltd; 2014.
- Dietschi D, Dietschi JM. Current developments in composite materials and techniques. Pract Periodontics Aesthet Dent. 1996;8(7):603–13.
- 5. Friedman MJ. Multiple potentials of etched porcelain laminate veneers. J Am Dent Assoc. 1987;Spec No:83E–87E.
- 6. Friedman MJ. Augmenting restorative dentistry with porcelain veneers. J Am Dent Assoc. 1991;122:29–34.
- 7. Mastrerdomini D, Friedman M. The contact lens effect: enhancing porcelain veneers esthetics. J Esthet Dent. 1995;7(3):95–103.
- Fradeani M. Evaluation of dentolabial parameters as part of a comprehensive esthetic analysis. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2006;1(1):62–9.
- 9. Vig RG, Brundo CG. The kinetics of anterior tooth display. J Prosthet Dent. 1978;39(5):502-4.
- Chu SJ, Tan JH, Stappert CF, Tarnow DP. Gingival zenith positions and levels of the maxillary anterior dentition. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2009;21(2):113–20.
- Chu SJ, Tan JH, Stappert CF, Tarnow DP. Papilla proportions in the maxillary anterior dentition. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2009;29(4):385–93.
- Gürel G, Bichacho N. Permanent diagnostic provisional restorations for predictable results when redesigning the smile. Pract Proced Aesthet Dent. 2006;18(5):281–6.
- Einarsdottir ER, Lang NP, Aspelund T, Pjetursson BE. A multicenter randomized, controlled clinical trial comparing the use of displacement cords, an aluminum chloride paste, and a combination of paste and cords for tissue displacement. J Prosthet Dent. 2018;119(1):82–8.
- Thongthammachat S, Moore BK, Barco MT 2nd, Hovijitra S, Brown DT, Andres CJ. Dimensional accuracy of dental casts: influence of tray material, impression material, and time. J Prosthodont. 2002;11(2):98–108.
- 15. Magne P, Belser U. Bonded porcelain restorations in the anterior dentition: a biomimetic approach. São Paulo: Quintessence Publishing; 2003.



11

Minimally Invasive CAD/CAM Veneers

Stefano Patroni

Contents

11.1	Introduction	285
11.2	Tooth Preservation and Biomimetic	289
11.3	The Digital Evolution and the CAD/CAM Techniques	289
11.4	The Rationale of the CAD/CAM Choice and Possible Indications	290
11.5	Step-by-Step Procedures	295
	11.5.1 Setup and DSD.	295
11.6	The Mock-Up-Driven Preparation.	308
11.7	The Optical Impression.	323
11.8	The CAD (Computer-Aided Design) Phase	324
11.9	The CAM Phase: Milling	325
11.10	The Printed Model and the Final Restoration	325
11.11	The Try-In Phase	326
11.12	The Luting Step	326
11.13	Final Considerations	328
Bibliog	graphy	330

11.1 Introduction

Thanks to the increasing awareness in Western world population about the etiologic factors causing dental diseases, dental caries incidence is fortunately declining [1].

Conversely the incidence of erosive pathologies such as tooth wear is, without any doubt, increasing every day [2]; this clinical phenomenon is particularly evident in children and adolescents [3, 4] achieving a prevalence up to 30% [5, 6].

Severe tooth wear, on the other hand, has been reported having a prevalence ranging from 3% in a 20-year-old population, 15% in 70-year-old patients [7], and up to 25% in a 15-year-old adolescents' population [8] (Fig. 11.1).

University of Parma, Parma, Italy Piacenza, Italy

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_11

S. Patroni (🖂)

The wear etiology is usually multifactorial and recognizes as possible causes erosion, abrasion (Fig. 11.2), abfraction and attrition (Fig. 11.3), factors which are frequently combined [9-11].

On the other hand, some other pathologies like the general (Fig. 11.4) or localized microdontia (Figs. 11.5, 11.6, 11.7, 11.8a, b) and congenital agenesis involve tooth substance lack or teeth absence congenitally determined.

In the first case, it is necessary to increase the tooth size and reshape the correct tooth form; in the latter, there is the need to adjunct absent teeth (e.g., by means of a Maryland bridge in childhood and an implant-supported crown in adulthood)

Fig. 11.1 An example of serious erosive pathology in a 16-year-old young patient: the enamel has quite completely disappeared on the central and lateral incisors



Fig. 11.2 One more example of tooth wear: it is evident the enamel and dentin loss in the cervical area (non-carious cervical lesions) combined with gingival recessions



Fig. 11.3 A clinical example of severe tooth wear caused by attrition. The occlusal surfaces are severely compromised due to the parafunctional patient habits


Fig. 11.4 A case of general congenital microdontia. The "early" increase of the tooth size reshaping the correct tooth form before the orthodontic treatment with the veneers will make their alignment faster, easier, and more predictable

Fig. 11.5 One of the main indications for laminate veneers: the conoid teeth morphologic modification. This is the pre-restorative view at the end of the orthodontic treatment





Fig. 11.6 The rubber dam is in place and the field insulated: all is ready to adhesively lute the no-prep ceramic laminate veneers



Fig. 11.7 The final result achieved "only" by adding a "new ceramic skin"





Fig. 11.8 (a, b) The initial smile (left) and the final result (right)



Fig. 11.9 A case of congenital agenesis (missing maxillary right lateral, tooth 12) combined with lateral microdontia on the opposing side (second quadrant tooth 22). After the orthodontic treatment, it is possible to bond a Maryland bridge to replace the tooth 12 and a ceramic laminate veneer on the tooth 22 to reestablish the ideal shape

(Figs. 11.9 and 11.10) or, when the treatment plan forecasts the spaces closure, substituting the laterals with the canines and the canines with the first premolars to correct the tooth shape and dimensions in the attempt of solving the residual spacing problems (Figs. 11.64, 11.65, 11.66, 11.67, 11.68, 11.69, 11.70, 11.71, 11.72, and 11.73).

With this in mind, it is mandatory to carry out the restorative procedures following the most conservative possible way avoiding unnecessary further sound tooth substance removal, respecting what the European Expert Consensus stated about



Fig. 11.10 The case at 2 months' follow-up. The Maryland bridge (tooth 12) and the ceramic laminate veneer (tooth 22) have been adhesively luted and the soft tissues surgically modified. The edentulous ridge (tooth 12) was thickened with a connective tissue graft, and the marginal periodontal tissues were apically shifted with a crown lengthening flap combined with osseous surgery: this last to uncover the anatomical crown recreating the zenith on the gingival margins of the central incisors

the management of severe tooth wear in 2017: "...there is a shift in restorative treatment protocols for the management of tooth wear towards minimum-intervention approaches" [11].

11.2 Tooth Preservation and Biomimetic

In microdontia, as in erosive cases, reintegration of the already-absent or lost enamel by adding the artificial one without any further sacrifice represents a "must" to be followed in the attempt to preserve at its best mechanical tooth strength [12, 13] fulfilling the biomimetic principle [14, 15].

As a matter of fact, every unnecessary enamel removal implies an increase of coronal flexibility and strains as in the case of conventional prosthetic preparations.

For these reasons, all the partial bonded restorations and the no-prep additive techniques [16–19] are actually more and more indicated both in solving eroded and worn dentition and also in cases of young teenagers suffering from dimension anomalies [20] and realized in place of the complete conventional crowns; in this "adhesive world," the veneering anterior bonded restorations play a role of paramount importance.

11.3 The Digital Evolution and the CAD/CAM Techniques

As already mentioned, one of the possible ways to be followed in realizing the veneers is represented by the CAD/CAM path (CAD means computer-aided design and CAM means computer-aided manufacturing).



Fig. 11.11 An example of digital impression

The first step in realizing an indirect restoration is represented by the impression: the scanner is able, in many situations, to replace the intraoral conventional impression usually performed using an elastomeric material (silicon or polyether) ensuring an optimal precision of the poured cast.

The digital impression transforms the dental arches in a file on the computer screen ready to be processed, converting an object into a digital image (Fig. 11.11).

There are two possible ways to follow in taking a digital impression: **extra-orally** and **intra-orally**.

In the first case, the dentist takes a conventional impression, and in the lab, the technician, once poured a stone model, takes an optical impression by means of a scanner of this in order to start the digital work.

In the second case, conversely, the dentist takes straightway intra-orally the scan, alias the digital/optical impression, in place of using the silicons or polyether materials; in this last situation, the analogical model of the dental arches does not exist, and all the procedures are mostly performed in a virtual world. Sometime it is suitable for the dental technician to handle and finish the restoration positioned on the model; in the case of intraoral scan, there is no model, and so it would be appropriate to print, with a digital 3D printer, a resin model on which it is possible to position the restoration in order to finalize the work (Figs. 11.12-13a-13b).

11.4 The Rationale of the CAD/CAM Choice and Possible Indications

There are two main reasons and advantages, among others, in following a CAD/ CAM path especially using an intraoral scanner: first of all is the access to new materials with improved characteristics that are mainly processed in a digital way.

Figs. 11.12-13a-13b

Some examples of 3D printed models starting from an intraoral digital impression. It is possible to place the opposing arches in maximal intercuspation and to realize the removable dies (13a–13b)



The second reason is that, with an intraoral optical impression, it is possible to realize and finish in a "single appointment" an indirect restoration; this is usually called the "chair-side" approach. This kind of procedure can be finalized either by the dentist (**"chair-side"**) or by the cooperation of the technician in the dental office (the so-called **assisted chair-side**). It is easy to understand that, with the small



Fig. 11.14 The digital impression on the inLab software; it is obvious that there is a learning period to be considered to use the scanner and the program to design the restorations



Fig. 11.15 In this clinical case, for example, a Maryland framework project is represented: on the buccal side, it is present the space for a composite CAD/CAM veneer to be luted

amount of time usually at disposal to the patients, the opportunity to finish in only one appointment an indirect restoration represents a great and innovative alternative.

There are obviously some negative aspects to consider in relation to this procedure. The first one is the cost of the device that is not negligible and needs to be used and time to be financially amortized in relation to the dental office budget.

The other one concern the learning curve needed to learn to use both the scanner and the program to design the restorations (Figs. 11.14, 11.15, 11.16, 11.17, 11.18, 11.19, and 11.20).



Fig. 11.16 The six anterior CAD/CAM veneers project: on the buccal side, it is evident the superimposed wax-up. To obtain a good and harmonious result, it is foreseen to carry out six veneers made with the same material. One of them will be luted on the zirconia Maryland bridge



Fig. 11.17 The copy lines (white) are drawn on the wax-up digital impression and matched with the abutment teeth

Without any doubt, the chair-side digital workflow actually represents a very good treatment option, especially in the molar and premolar area [21] taking progressively the place of various intraoral and extraoral techniques [22–24]: the long-term success rate is very high ranging from 84.4% [25] to 89% [26] until 95.5% [27] and reaching 96.5% [28].



Fig. 11.18 The achieved final result after a "manual" correction of the initial proposed restoration. The tooth 21 has been made transparent, and it is possible to see the underlying palatal Maryland bridge supporting the missing lateral (tooth 22)



Fig. 11.19 The buccolingual section of a veneer

Nevertheless, recently, more and more clinical interest is upraising in the anterior CAD/CAM veneers as a possible chair-side alternative approach to the conventional porcelain laminate veneers [29–32].

In realizing the CAD/CAM restorations, both in the anterior and in the posterior area, we can choose between two main categories of materials: the ceramic and the polymers blocks.



Fig. 11.20 The final result before the individual milling phase

The use of ceramic ingots in comparison to the CAD/CAM polymers means more time and a less efficient milling, more possible marginal chipping, more difficult to handle, easier to fracture, and more final thickness [30, 33–40].

The CAD/CAM resin matrix ceramic materials represent a good alternative and can have, in our opinion, a specific indication, especially in the anterior area in treating tooth dimension anomalies and congenital agenesis-related problems in young patients.

Moreover, the porcelain analogical realized laminate veneers are indicated too in that particular case, but they are, on average, rather expensive.

The CAD/CAM indirect veneers represent, in our opinion, the first "ideal" option especially for teenagers before or after a scheduled ortho treatment in comparison to both the direct composites for the best and easier predictable results and to the classical porcelain laminate veneers for the reduced costs.

Nevertheless, the accuracy in handling and the delicate luting technique are the same to be followed by the dentist as in case of the conventional one laminate.

We consider this restoration as "**ad interim**" in view of the definitive solution to be carried out once the patient reaches adulthood and the end of the growth achieved together with the marginal periodontal tissue stability [29].

11.5 Step-by-Step Procedures

11.5.1 Setup and DSD

The treatment of young patients with general microdontia and/or congenital agenesis frequently needs an interdisciplinary approach involving from the beginning the orthodontist and the restorative dentist. In planning the orthodontic treatment, it is immediately taken into consideration the ideal alignment and position of the reshaped teeth; these dimensionally impaired teeth are restored and placed to their adequate position and correct size.

The cooperation between the orthodontist and the restorative dentist is easier following the digital preview that makes possible the following three main steps:

- First of all, the case study starts with a three-dimensional (3D) virtual digital setup that pre-visualizes the final result (Figs. 11.21, 11.22a, and 11.22b).
- In the second step, the digital scans of the arches at the beginning or during the treatment and in the previewed final position are superimposed making a 3D check possible (Fig. 11.23).
- CAD/CAM realization of the restorations that creates the shape of the final teeth is already established in the virtual setup.

Three are available options to manage cases of general microdontia with spaces to close in one or both arches and congenital single (e.g., missing maxillary laterals) or multiple agenesis:

- To restore the "small teeth" to the ideal dimensions in a wrong position before every ortho procedure (Fig. 11.4) and then to carry out the orthodontic treatment straight to the end bonding the brackets to the laminates.
- To restore the "small teeth" to the ideal dimensions during the ortho procedure once they have achieved a position near to the ideal just before the end of the ortho therapy (Fig. 11.21).
- To restore the "small teeth" to the ideal dimensions at the end of the ortho treatment (Figs. 11.64, 11.65, 11.66, 11.67, 11.68, 11.69, 11.70, 11.71, 11.72, and 11.73).

In the first two cases, the correct sized teeth make faster, easier, and more predictable their alignment and the whole orthodontic treatment.

Fig. 11.21 A clinical case of a young patient with microdontia during the orthodontic treatment



Fig. 11.22 (a, b) The orthodontic upper jaw setup: the initial situation (a) above and the six anteriors new sized teeth before the orthodontic treatment below (b) (Courtesy of orthodontist Dott. Cocconi Renato)



Fig. 11.23 The preorthodontic setup of the upper jaw with the final teeth position (green) superimposed to the initial situation (brown) (Courtesy of orthodontist Dott. Cocconi Renato)



Reshaping the genetically impaired anterior teeth, closing the abnormal spaces, and replacing the congenitally absent teeth, the orthodontist and the restorative dentist together ensure an optimal esthetics and, probably, a more stable result creating the interproximal contacts.

Treating young teenager, it is fundamental to improve as much as possible the esthetic appearance given the vulnerability from a social and psychological point of view during this delicate life moment.

When the teeth are almost or already in the final desired position, before the restorations (cases 2 and 3 listed above), it is very useful to make a Digital Smile Design in order to visualize on the computer screen the final result allowing a simpler path to follow with the further lab wax-up realization and clinical mock-up try-in.

In reality this last procedure is followed in every case during the diagnostic preliminary phase before any ortho movement to proceed with a DSD that cooperates and drives the digital setup particularly if the teeth dimensions are to be corrected. Moreover, before the refinement orthodontic phase, a further DSD will be recommended pre-visualizing the ultimate final result as cited before.

The diagnostic DSD begins with a set of full-face high-definition photographs taken in some standard preestablished positions: with the lips at rest, with a wide smile, and with a moderate, teeth apart, smile [41–43] (Figs. 11.24, 11.25, 11.26, 11.27, 11.28, 11.29, 11.30, 11.31, and 11.32).

This important phase allows to check, only by taking some pictures, the possible result and to show this to the patient having his opinion and his approval; in case of unsatisfactory result or/and patient disagreement, we can obviously choose to drive a new DSD with the suggested corrections.



Fig. 11.24 The three main frontal pictures needed to realize a Digital Smile Design (DSD): serious, moderate smile and wide smile



Fig. 11.25 The superimposition of the "cross" (identifying the horizontal and vertical reference planes) and the lip in the different positions (moderate and wide smile)

Fig. 11.26 First of all a virtual ruler is "calibrated" measuring the intraoral mesio-distal teeth dimensions in comparison to the size of the same teeth reproduced in the photograph. The actual teeth outline is designed and transferred the lip position lines previously recorded

Fig. 11.27 The width– height actual proportion of the central incisors is measured and the tooth inscribed in a corresponding rectangle







Fig. 11.29 The new "ideal" teeth shapes are drawn following the same procedure for the whole upper jaw

Fig. 11.28 A rectangle with the "ideal" widthheight ratio is placed over the central incisors to compare the initial dimensions to the "ideal" ones



Fig. 11.30 If necessary also the gingival scallop is reshaped according to the superimposed lip lines to obtain a "natural" teeth display



Thanks to the digital preview, it is possible to mimic a modification of the gingival scaffold if necessary like in cases of gingival scallop disharmony (recessions, altered passive eruption of the gingival margins, etc.) or gummy smile showing the final result of the periodontal surgery [44] (Figs. 11.55, 11.56, 11.57, 11.58, 11.59, 11.60, 11.61, 11.62).

However, we are convinced that this approach does not replace the analogical way but somewhat represents the preliminary stage in order to address with more accuracy the mandatory wax-up and the following mock-up [45, 46].

Fig. 11.31 The final teeth outline (yellow) compared to the initial one (white). This step allows to measure in millimeters the differences existing from the beginning and the final foreseen result





Fig. 11.32 The new sized virtual teeth inserted in the whole face: the initial wide smile (left) and the corresponding virtual designed (right)

Actually, there are many possible options to follow in realizing both the wax-up and the resulting mock-up more or less conventionally or digitally realized as listed below:

- Fully analogical: pictures and models + DSD and wax-up + mock-up printed by means of silicon index.
- Mixed: pictures, DSD, intraoral scan, printed models, handmade wax-up realized on the printed models (Fig. 11.63), and mock-up printed intra-orally by means of a silicon index.

- Digital: pictures, DSD, intraoral scan, digital project/digital wax-up, and printed model of the digital wax-up, silicon index realized on this model, and mock-up printed intra-orally by means of this last.
- Digital: pictures, DSD, intraoral scan, digital project/digital wax-up, and 3D printed indirect mock-up to be positioned in the mouth.

Nowadays the most followed alternative is the fully analogical one but, in the near future, with the technological improvements, the others, second and third especially, will be probably followed more frequently than today.

Traditionally the wax-up is realized by the technician on the poured plaster casts following the average teeth proportions [47], and it is three-dimensionally inserted in the gingival scaffold, in the lip frame, and finally in the whole patient face.

It is well-known that the teeth dimensions as length and width primarily vary depending on the patient sex: the width/length proportions play an important role indeed and are reestablished, thanks to the wax-up.

Creating the new harmonious teeth shape has to take in great consideration their positioning in relation to the face horizontal and vertical esthetic reference lines on the basis of the information suggested by the DSD shared with the patient.

To obtain a good project integration on the whole facial frame, the marks graved on the model surface, representing the facial landmarks, are of paramount importance as, principally, the vertical midline (middle face line) and the horizontal (interpupillary and commissural lines) (Figs. 11.33 and 11.34); about this there is also a tool (Ditramax) [48] that carries out this task easily establishing on the patient and in transferring, to the stone cast, the frontal and sagittal reference lines.

Similar to the DSD, the wax-up can modify the gingival scallop overlapping the marginal tissues on the stone if suitable in cases of inappropriate gingival positions as in the gummy smile cases, for example.



Fig. 11.33 The differences measured in the teeth shape and size obtained, thanks to the DSD, can easily drive the following wax-up



Fig. 11.34 The intraoral printed mock-up obtained, thanks to the silicon matrix derived from the wax-up

This procedure will allow to mimic the results of a periodontal surgical repositioning with the following intraoral mock-up (Figs. 11.55 and 11.56).

Once completed, it is created a silicon matrix of the wax-up (Figs. 11.34 and 11.63); thanks to this silicon key, it is possible to mold directly in the patient mouth an acrylic template using a self-curing resin (Protemp 4 3 M ESPE Temporization Material, Germany): **the intraoral mock-up** [49–51] (Figs. 11.33, 11.34, 11.35a, 11.35b, 11.35c, 11.56, 11.65, 11.66a, 11.66b).

It is very important that the silicon matrix is realized using a rigid material with a Shore A hardness of 80–85 (Platinum 85, Zhermack) in order to make easy his intraoral handling avoiding any possible distortions.

To improve the detail reproduction, it is recommended to place the silicon matrix under 2 atm pressure during its setup [52].

In an attempt to ensure a stable and correct intraoral positioning, the silicon matrix should overlap almost two distal unwaxed teeth: this will allow the realization of an undistorted resin mock-up.

Once hardened, the resin excess is removed either with a bur or with a blade: in case of a weekly try-in, the facial enamel is spot etched for few seconds (10–15 s) and placed a thin layer of bonding light cured after the complete resin setting to secure a better mock-up retention.

It is of course possible to improve the result, as usually the restorative dentist do with the temporaries, performing some small modifications of the molded mock-up intra-orally; in this case it is strongly suitable to take its impression, no matter if



Fig. 11.35 (**a**–**c**) The face's photographs of the printed mock-up. The diagnostic phase is completed with the clinical try-in of the foreseen result

Fig. 11.36 In this particular clinical case, no tooth preparation is needed. The digital impression is taken with a scanner of the natural healthy teeth once a retraction cord is inserted into the sulcus





Fig. 11.37 Once the digital impression is taken, it is possible to check on the screen the occlusal contacts of the opposing teeth



Fig. 11.38 First of all it is necessary to set the model axis inscribing in a virtual template the corresponding arches



Fig. 11.39 The virtual "margin" (blue line) is drawn on the abutment teeth. In this "no-prep" case, no margin exists at all! The designer has to establish where to place the end of the restorations on the sound hard tissues



Fig. 11.40 The copy lines (white) are drawn on the wax-up digital impression matched to the abutment teeth. Making the wax-up (gray in the picture) partially transparent, it is possible to see the underlying matched abutments

digital or conventional, to transfer to the technician this valuable information in view of the final veneers.

The mock-up is obviously tested intra-orally as it concerns the phonetics and the esthetic points of view [53, 54].



Fig. 11.41 In the following step, the insertion axis of every restorations is set. This last greatly depends on the presence of possible undercuts (green areas)



Fig. 11.42 The restoration parameters as the virtual spacer, the veneer and the margin thickness, the interproximal contact strength etc. are set

Also the gingival display is considered with great attention in view of an eventual periodontal surgical phase to attain the best teeth dimensions in accordance with the average width/length ratio [44, 47, 52].



Fig. 11.43 The restorations are proposed from the software respecting all the parameters previously set, according to the drawn margins and the copied wax-up acting as a reference



Fig. 11.44 It is possible to make the restorations, one by one, more or less transparent and therefore to see the underlying abutments. The interproximal red spots means too strong interproximal contacts not in accordance with the parameters previously set

11.6 The Mock-Up-Driven Preparation

In order to respect, as much as possible, the sound tissues but, at the same time, to create the correct space for the adhesive restoration, it is mandatory to use the mockup as a guide for the minimally invasive prosthetic preparation, making calibrated depth cuts directly on the added resin [45, 46, 55, 56].



Fig. 11.45 The gray areas represent the wax-up superimposed to the restorations proposed by the software. Many are the tools that can be used to change this project improving the final result



Fig. 11.46-47 The achieved final result after a "manual" correction of the initial designed restoration



Fig. 11.48 The six additive CAD/CAM milled veneers realized with a resin matrix ceramic material (Cerasmart GC): a chair-side path assisted by the technician was chosen. We are ready for the luting step

Fig. 11.49 The "abutments" (i.e., the natural untouched "small" teeth) ready for the luting step



Fig. 11.50 Since the a-prismatic enamel (no bur was used) is still present, it is mandatory to sandblast it for 5 s. with an aluminum oxide 50 μ m powder before its etching. The rubber dam is used on every single tooth and kept in place with the fingers to avoid any possible marginal tissue damage



Fig. 11.51 The "abutments" after the sandblasting and immediately before the field insulation: notice the two small buccal spots on the upper right lateral and cuspid not well treated. It is necessary a quick correction





Fig. 11.53 The veneers are luted in place; the patient can be finally orthodontically treated cementing the brackets on their buccal surface



Fig. 11.52 The restoration's intaglio surface etching with a 5% hydrofluoric acid for 60 s

Fig. 11.54 The patient with the brackets cemented on the laminate veneers; the orthodontic phase can be carried out faster and easier (Courtesy of orthodontist Dott. Cocconi Renato)



Fig. 11.55 A further clinical case. The new "ideal" teeth outline (yellow) superimposed to the actual one; it is evident the microdontia and the gingival scallop to be corrected

Fig. 11.56 The printed mock-up overlaps the marginal periodontal tissues guiding the surgery





Fig. 11.57 The upper jaw before the surgery. The gingival scallop has to be modified



Fig. 11.58 The full-partial thickness flap raised



Fig. 11.59 The mattress sutures at the end of the surgery



Fig. 11.60 The edentulous ridge thickened, thanks to a connective tissue graft inserted buccally



The extent of tooth reduction (TR) is represented by the difference between the extra added volume (EV) and the laminate veneer thickness (LT): TR = EV - LT.10 [57].

The tooth preparation is carefully guided by calibrated horizontal depth grooves: a straight one in the middle crown third and a scalloped one in the cervical one. We usually perform the depth grooves by using two different round diamond burs, assuring a 0.3–0.5 mm space in the cervical third and a 0.5–0.7 mm space in the middle third.

In the incisal margin, the minimal recommended clearance to be created is 1.5 mm [45, 58].



Figs. 11.61-62 The 3 months' healing follow-up





Every attention must be taken to avoid any dentinal exposure keeping the preparation inside the enamel thickness!

It is well-known how thin the enamel is at the level of the dentin–enamel junction [59]; every attempt is performed to preserve this thin enamel layer in order to achieve the best adhesive result and to assure a high fracture toughness [60].

Especially when there are residual spaces and/or microdontia, it is necessary to wrap with the laminates the mesio-distal tooth surfaces.

Fig. 11.64 One more clinical case. The frontal view of a young patient at the end of the orthodontic treatment (upper lateral agenesis); the two upper cuspids are positioned in place of the laterals and the two upper premolars in place of the cuspids



Fig. 11.65 The wax-up (guided by the DSD) impression made by a stiff silicon material to be placed in the mouth as mold for the mock-up resin





Fig. 11.66 (a, b) The wide smile with the printed mock-up

Fig. 11.67 The teeth after the bleaching right before a minimally invasive surgical phase



Fig. 11.68 Based on the DSD and the following mock-up, a flap was raised in the cuspid area to shift apically the gingival scallop after a minimal amount of bone surgery



If, in this particular case, interproximal undercuts are present, interfering with the laminate insertion (also in case of horizontal insertion path) during the luting, we are given two possible solutions:

- Undercut removal.
- Undercut filling (before or after the veneer cementation).

The first, more aggressive, option can be followed in case of limited undercuts; in that case, it is important to foresee the end of the preparation with the enamel still present.

The second, more conservative, option consists in the filling of the undercuts with composite recreating a "new artificial apically positioned dentin–enamel junction" modifying the interproximal tooth shape from a triangular one in a squarer form, in a similar way as proposed in view of closing multiple diastema [61–66].

This procedure can be carried out either before the tooth preparation or after the veneer cementation; in this latter case, the cemented veneer could act as "guide" in the composite buildup, being the palatal side of more difficult access.

In the first case, when the procedure has been carried out before the tooth preparation, conversely, the newly created composite emergence profile has to be prepared by the bur likewise the natural enamel before taking the impression, making a new artificial margin (composed by the buildup restoration) in the horizontal (buccolingual) dimension similar to that proposed by Dietschi and Spreafico with the so-called deep margin elevation in the vertical one (apico-coronal) direction [67, 68].



Fig. 11.69 (a–f) Screenshots from Cerec SW 4.4.4. The finishing lines



Fig. 11.69 (continued)



Fig. 11.69 (continued)



Fig. 11.70 (a-c) Screenshots from Cerec SW 4.4.4.: the copy lines on the diagnostic wax-up



Fig. 11.70 (continued)

Fig. 11.71 The frontal view at the end of the whole treatment; the six anteriors reshaped with CAD/CAM ultrathin no-prep veneers



One negative consequence of the interproximal composite buildup is related to the negative influence due to the thermal stress induced by his contact with the porcelain laminate [69].

If none of the previous procedures, preparation and undercut elimination or undercut filling, were carried out, the interproximal area will present an unnatural shape with a palatal niche inducing impossible plaque removal and therefore interproximal plaque accumulation with periodontal inflammation and increased caries risk.



Fig. 11.72 (a, b) The smile surrounded by the lip frame: before (left) and after (right)



Fig. 11.73 The 1-year follow-up

In some cases, the restorations are entirely additive, and, obviously, all the previous steps and the considerations about the tooth preparation become unnecessary and vain in order to only add a new "skin" to the present untouched enamel! (Figs. 11.21, 11.22, 11.23, 11.24, 11.25, 11.26, 11.27, 11.28, 11.29, 11.30, 11.31, 11.32, 11.33, 11.34, 11.35, 11.36, 11.37, 11.38, 11.39, 11.40, 11.41, 11.42, 11.43, 11.44, 11.45, 11.46, 11.47, 11.48, 11.49, 11.50, 11.51, 11.52, 11.53, 11.64, 11.65, 11.66, 11.67, 11.68, 11.69, 11.70, 11.71, 11.72, and 11.73)
We should take into account, before the impression and the luting steps, the possibility to perform a vital bleaching in case of a too intense chroma and low value (Figs. 11.64 and 11.67).

This eventual treatment has to be ended almost 1 month before the adhesive ultimate step to avoid any possible interference with the adhesion [70].

11.7 The Optical Impression

Once the teeth are prepared or already suitable for the impression, in case of completely additive no-prep veneers, we retract the marginal healthy soft tissues inserting a retraction cord into the sulcus (Fig. 11.36).

This is to highlight the margins or the dentin–enamel junction apically to the future restoration finish line in case of no-prep veneers.

In case of a deeper sulcus (between 1 and 3 mm), it is advisable also to deflect for few minutes the soft tissues by means of a second continuous cord impregnated with aluminum chloride not completely inserted but quite floating in the marginal area in order to displace the marginal tissues away from the area to be reproduced by the optical scanner.

The field insulation is of great importance! The teeth are to be dry, the tongue and the cheeks are to be away, the dental unit light is to be apart, and the scanner is to be cleaned and pre-warmed (to avoid the "fog" formation on the glass).

Frequently the metal surfaces of previous old restorations, if present particularly in the palatal/lingual and interproximal areas, can interfere with the reading process reflecting too much light; if necessary, it is advisable to make these opaque using a special powder to hamper the light reflection.

We start the procedure from the most distolingual corner coming in mesial direction and afterward following the same path on the buccal surface creating a kind of "scaffold" in which to lay the occlusal surface taken last.

The scanner should be kept as much as possible parallel to the reading surfaces and gently moved at constant speed without jumps.

To catch the "in-shadow" surfaces (as the interproximal areas), it is better to "wave" the camera in order to follow the tooth surface inclination catching the smallest details and avoiding black holes.

When the interproximal areas are devoided of papillae, it could be better to fill these empty spaces with any material (OpalDam Green Light Cured Gingival Barrier Ultradent, teflon, cotton pellets, etc.) avoiding the black holes in the virtual model.

The teeth are to be well cleaned from any stain; this problem is particularly present in case of smoking patients. In fact, tar dark stains are misinterpreted by the scanner as holes and not correctly reproduced on the digital model.

The most difficult areas to be read from the scanner are, of course, the zones where the light beams cannot reach the undercuts as the distal and the interproximal areas. This last problem is due to the camera size that impinges to the adjacent teeth and oral tissues (tongue, cheeks, etc.) and becomes unable of the adequate inclination to lighten the hidden areas.

In order to overcome this difficulty, it is very important to spend enough time in moving and tilting the scanner in many directions trying to catch the last hidden detail with different mouth width openings to relax the perioral muscles allowing the optical camera to attain the magical corner.

In correspondence of the abutments, great care has to be taken to read every surface in detail "rolling" slowly and firmly the camera from the palatal to the buccal.

Finally it is mandatory to take the impression of the two arches in occlusion (maximal intercuspation) to give to the software all the functional informations about the occlusion.

We always also take a digital impression of the tested and eventually modified (with the patient approval) mock-up to match it with the working digital model in order to design the final veneers copying the tried mock-up without losing any previous precious information (Figs. 11.17, 11.40, 11.45, 11.70a, 11.70b, 11.70c).

11.8 The CAD (Computer-Aided Design) Phase

The usual first step to manage the "digital model," greatly varying depending on the different softwares, is its space orientation in relation to some preformed templates.

Whereupon similar to the conventional laboratory steps, it is necessary to section the digital model in blocks to create the individual dies and to identify the restoration margins.

On the window reproducing the wax-up or the mock-up, it is to be identified the copy lines to be matched with the abutments and their margins (Figs. 11.17, 11.40, 11.70a, 11.70b, 11.70c).

The restoration insertion axis has to be determined too (Fig. 11.41). Moreover, all the setting parameters such as the minimal restoration thickness, the virtual spacing, the marginal precision, the emergence profile angle and the margin's thickness must be verified in advance (Figs. 11.19 and 11.42).

Once all these features have been carried out, the computer begins to work ending with its proposal; on the screen it will be evident the wax-up and, in transparency, the superimposed suggested project (Fig. 11.45).

At this point the "digital designer" can, if it is the case, carry out some customizations, changing the project by using the different available tools (Figs. 11.18, 11.46, and 11.47).

In the project phase, when setting the parameters, it is important to consider that the porcelain veneer thickness must be at least three times that of the luting composite cement; this to avoid the formation of possible cracks inside the laminate veneers [71].

It is also of meaningful importance the precision at the marginal area: the restoration fitting has to be at least less than $100 \,\mu m$ [72].

Once the project is considered to be satisfactory, we go to the last step: the milling phase otherwise named the CAM (computer-aided manufacturing) phase.

At this point, the restoration is spatially oriented into the ceramic/resin matrix ceramic ingot by the software, optimizing the time necessary for the milling procedure.

11.9 The CAM Phase: Milling

The first obvious step is represented by the chosen material ingot insertion in the milling unit fixing it firmly.

The process can be performed by different milling units, and every one of these has its own specific features; some works following on four and other following on five spatial axis.

In the most performing units, the burs are changed automatically depending on which phase is the process ongoing: these burs are different in shape, dimension, and coarseness.

During the initial steps, the most aggressive and coarse burs are used, whereas in the final steps, the finest one takes the place producing a smoother and more defined surface of the restoration.

During the CAD step, it is possible to set in different ways the operating restoration parameters: it is possible to set a fine or extra-fine grinding obtaining a different surface quality, for example, and depending on those factors, the milling step will take more or less time obviously.

Most materials require a wet milling with the exception of the monolithic zirconia that conversely needs a dry milling process.

The minimal restoration advisable thickness usually is 0.5 mm, otherwise it is very frequent the formation of cracks into the material.

11.10 The Printed Model and the Final Restoration

Usually the technician prefers to have a master model to work with and where to try the restorations during their finalization.

Following a complete digital path, it does not exist at all, but it is possible today to print it with a 3D printer.

Once the project is completed with the dedicated software, it is converted in STL open file and inserted in the 3D printer connected software where it is further processed by starting with the model printing on a metal plate where the sintering resin powder will be applied progressively shaping the master model, the pertinent holder, and the removable dies.

The model base can be realized either empty or solid according to the project; during its buildup, the resin powder is pre-polymerized by a LED into the 3D printer. Once the process is finished, the model is cleaned twice in an ultrasound bath for 5 min, air-dried, and then inserted in a LED lamp for two more minutes to achieve the final surface polymerization.

The technician, at this point, can finalize the restoration having to do with more conventional procedures and a master cast where to place and check the restoration (Figs. 11.12, 11.13a-11.13b).

In this phase, depending on the different materials used, the restorations are superficially colored, sintered if necessary, and then polished. If we use lithium disilicate or zirconia-reinforced lithium silicate, the veneers are firstly manually refined, colored with the suitable colors, and then placed in the oven for the final sintering.

The CAD/CAM hybrid composites or resin matrix ceramics (polymers) are, on the other hand, to be sandblasted with 50 μ m silica dioxide powder, superficially stained, and ultimately finished by using glossy diamond pastes (Fig. 11.48).

One more possible option to improve the esthetic result is to create a bilaminar restoration as suggested by Pascal Magne [30]. This technique contemplates an inciso-proximal cutback of the buccal surface on the CAD/CAM veneer in the incisal third; this is for an extension of about 0,7 mm. In this "cavity" it is applied, after airborne particle abrasion, ultrasonic cleaning, silane application and heat drying, a direct composite skin with inner incisal stains.

11.11 The Try-In Phase

As usual, the first step is represented by the one-by-one laminate try-in to attain an optimal fitting and marginal adaptation; for this we generally use a vinyl polyether silicon material (Fit Checker Advanced Blue GC) that highlights the interferences to be gently removed by the bur. In the second step the interproximal contacts are checked: if too tight, they are one more time gently touched. During the third step, all the laminates are placed together on the abutments verifying their shape, color, and the final result according to the previous diagnostic steps (DSD-mock-up); for that, it is advisable the use of a glycerin gel (Airblock Gel Dentsply Sirona) that helps in keeping in place the veneers.

The final check is carried out by means of dedicated try-in pastes with similar color as the corresponding composite cement (Variolink Esthetic try-in paste Ivoclar Vivadent); this kind of procedure can optimize the final esthetic result.

11.12 The Luting Step

The field is so far isolated by means of rubber dam avoiding any possible contamination from the oral fluids in view of the delicate adhesive cementation procedures (Fig. 11.6).

To obtain a wide and comfortable operating field, the rubber dam extends from premolar to premolar; since the laminate veneers are one by one luted, a supplementary clamp is placed on every single tooth to keep the rubber dam away from the restoration margin and retract the marginal soft tissues.

Once the individual clamp is in place, we one more time try-in the corresponding veneer to check any possible hindrance to its complete fitting eventually offered by the clamp.

The veneers are luted always starting from the central incisors and ending with the canines.

The intaglio laminate surfaces are treated following the manufacturer's instructions and depending on the chosen material (Table 11.1) and then ultrasonically cleaned for 5 min in an alcohol bath.

The following step is the silane application and heating for 1–3 min at 100°C in the oven; the silane allows an optimal joining between the composite cement and the silica ceramic's particles.

The dental surface is conventionally treated as follows:

- Enamel cleaning by using rubber cups or soft brushes and pumice powder mixed with water or 2% chlorhexidine solution.
- Airflow with glycine powder protecting the neighboring teeth with a matrix.
- Enamel acid etching for 30 s. With 35% orthophosphoric acid and its rinsing for 20 s and drying.

In case of dentin exposure, before the bonding application and after the etch rinsing, a chlorhexidine digluconate 20% solution is applied and gently scrubbed for 20 s. and eventually, once removed the excess with suction, the primer is applied and once again dried with suction and air blown.

In case of no-prep additive veneers, it is present a layer of untouched a-prismatic enamel; in this case it is mandatory to sandblast this enamel for 5 s. with aluminum oxide 50 μ m powder before its etching [73, 74] (Fig. 11.52).

i abie i iii ii	mer minnate	veneer treati	nom				
Feldspathic ceramic	90 s etching with 9% hydrofluoric acid (HF)	Careful 1 min rinse	5 min in alcohol bath Ultrasonic cleaning	Silane application	1–3 min 100 °C oven heating	Bonding application	
Lithium Di-silicate or lithium silicate zirconia reinforced	20 s etching with 5.5% hydrofluoric acid (HF)	Careful 1 min rinse	5 min in alcohol bath Ultrasonic cleaning	Silane application	1–3 min 100 °C oven heating	Bonding application	
Hybrid composites or Resin Matrix Ceramics (Cerasmart GC, Enamic Vita, Lava 3M etc.)	Sandblasting	60 s etching with 5.5% hydrofluoric acid (HF)	Careful 1 min rinse	5 min in alcohol bath Ultrasonic cleaning	Silane application	1–3 min 100 °C oven heating	Bonding application

Table 11.1 Inner laminate veneer treatment

In this latter case, it is very important to protect the adjacent teeth from the sandblasting with a steel matrix or isolating one by one the involved abutment with the rubber dam (Figs. 11.50 and 11.51).

The last step is the application of a thin unpolymerized bonding layer spread with the air blow both on the dental and on the intaglio laminate veneer surface carefully preventing them from light exposure.

As luting material it is possible to employ both a previously heated microhybrid light curing composite restorative material and a light curing resin cement.

This latter could be recommended if the laminates are very thin avoiding any possible fracture or tension during their seating in the luting phase.

Each restoration is placed on the tooth with a carrier (Stick-n-Place Directa) (Fig. 11.48), and once completely seated, the composite excess is removed with a probe and with a tape in the interproximal areas.

The cement is then exposed to the curing light for 60 s. palatally and buccally; a further polymerization is carried out after covering the margins with an air-block gel (Airblock Gel Dentsply Sirona) in the absence of oxygen to avoid its inhibition effect on the superficial cement layer.

In case light curing resin cement is used, the flowable excess is mostly removed by means of a brush and then pre-polymerized for 2–3 s. to allow a better cleaning once their consistency increased before the final complete polymerization step.

It is strongly advisable to protect, during the luting phase, the neighboring teeth with a thin matrix or with a wraparound teflon cover.

The final slight cement excess removal can be performed utilizing a scalpel blade and a thin curette; in the interproximal area, it could be useful to use a thin separating strip able to remove the bonding excess and preserve the contact point unlike the interproximal strips (separating strip Komet Germany).

The final margin polishing can be carried out with fine diamond burs on the handpiece and with sonic instrumentation (SFD2F-SFM2F Komet) followed by silicon points and brushes with diamond paste.

Once the rubber dam is removed, the occlusion has to be checked with fine articulating papers both in maximal intercuspation and in the protrusive/lateral lower jaw positions to avoid any possible interference.

11.13 Final Considerations

Nowadays the CAD/CAM laminate veneers certainly represent a good alternative to the conventionally baked or heat-pressed ones.

One main advantage, in comparison to the other techniques, is the possibility to be realized faster and also finalized in one clinical session with the chair-side or assisted chair-side approach.

This actually represents a great improvement considering the time lost and wasted in average by the patients to be treated and to attain the dental office especially in case of considerable distance between the dental office and home or in large metropolitan areas.

On the other side, one problem can be the thickness they can be milled; in fact the feldspathic and the heat-pressed laminates can be immediately realized of a very minimal thickness, till or up to 0.3 mm, whereas the CAD/CAM can be milled "only" to 0.5 mm; otherwise it is frequent their fracture.

This is a consequence of the different way they are realized indeed; the milling procedure can easily induce tensions into the materials particularly at minimal thickness.

This problem could be probably solved in the future if the CAM procedure in place of milling will shift in a layering and sintering manufacturing as in case of 3D printing.

Actually the 0.3 mm thickness can be achieved only manually once the milling ended.

The other main limit concerning this kind of restorations is linked to the fact that the shades and colors are to be placed on the surface as in the heat-pressed lithium disilicates differently from the feldspathic baked veneers that can be esthetically customized starting from the inner layers.

One of the most suitable indications is the anterior laminate veneers in case of young patients before or at the end of an orthodontic treatment in case of microdontia also if combined with a congenital agenesis.

In these particular situations, it is possible to obtain a good functional and esthetic result especially utilizing the new CAD/CAM resin matrix ceramics that can be more easily handled in obtaining minimal thickness restorations in comparison to the whole ceramic materials due to their greater flexibility.

On the surface of these materials, it is easy to bond the orthodontic brackets if veneers were cemented before or during the orthodontic treatment making it faster and more predictable in case of localized or generalized microdontia.

It is important to keep in mind that this kind of restoration is realized in a life period in complete evolution with great changes concerning the teeth eruption not completely achieved.

Therefore, the economical aspect plays a meaningful role in the choice of the procedure to be followed, and the CAD/CAM restorations can help us in this task; we prefer to consider, in this particular case, this kind of restoration as **"long-term temporary"** restorations frequently completely no-prep additive way realized keeping intact all the sound enamel.

In this case the minimal thickness can emphasize the possibility of chipping during the delicate luting procedures; for this reason, as aforementioned, it is more indicated the use of flowable composite cements.

Despite the possible indications of the CAD/CAM veneers, we consider, in the adulthood, as gold standard for the best esthetic result still today the feldspathic baked laminate veneers.

Once conversely are indicated veneers that assure a greater strength besides the heat-pressed, the CAD/CAM laminates can represent an optimal further option. Nevertheless, it must be taken into account that a longer follow-up is needed to validate their mechanical strength and performance over time, especially for ultra-thin restorations.

Acknowledgments We would like to thank Dr. Renato Cocconi for the orthodontic treatments carried out to the patients shown in this chapter, Drs. Cristina and Andrea Fava, and the dental technicians F. Pozzi, A. Quintavalla, M. Svanetti, M. Rosati, M. Pisa, and Gianluca Dallatana for the cooperation in assisting with the laboratory steps.

Bibliography

- 1. Steiner M, Menghini G, Marthaler TM, Imfeld T. Changes in dental caries in Zurich schoolchildren over a period of 45 years. Schweiz Monatsschr Zahnmed. 2010;120:1084–104.
- 2. Lussi A. Dental erosion clinical diagnosis and case history taking. Eur J Oral Sci. 1996;104:191–8.
- Carvalho TS, Lussi A, Jaeggi T, Gambon DL. Erosive tooth wear in children. Monogr Oral Sci. 2014;25:262–78.
- Randall RC, Vrijhoef MMA, Wilson NHF. Current trends in restorative dentistry in the UK: a Delphi approach. J Dent. 2002;30:177–87.
- Bartlett DW, Lussi A, West NX, Bouchard P, Sanz M, Bourgeois D. Prevalence of tooth wear on buccal and lingual surfaces and possible risk factors in young European adults. J Dent. 2013;41:1007–13.
- Salas MM, Nascimento GG, Huysmans MC, Demarco FF. Estimated prevalence of erosive tooth wear in permanent teeth of children and adolescents: an epidemiological systematic review and meta-regression analysis. J Dent. 2015;43:42–50.
- Van 't Spijker A, Rodriguez JM, Kreulen CM, Bronkhorst EM, Bartlett DW, Creugers NH. Prevalence of tooth wear in adults. Int J Prosthodont. 2009;22:35–42.
- El Aidi H, Bronkhorst EM, Huysmans MC, Truin GJ. Dynamics of tooth erosion in adolescents: a 3-year longitudinal study. J Dent. 2010;38:131–7.
- 9. Lussi A, Carvalho TS. Erosive tooth wear: a multifactorial condition of growing concern and increasing knowledge. Monogr Oral Sci. 2014;25:1–15.
- Shellis RP, Addy M. The interactions between attrition, abrasion and erosion in tooth wear. Monogr Oral Sci. 2014;25:32–45.
- 11. Loomans B, Opdam N, Attin T, Bartlett D, Edelhoff D, Frankenberger R, Benic G, Ramseyer S, Wetselaar P, Sterenborg B, Hickel R, Pallesen U, Mehta S, Banerji S, Lussi A, Wilson N. Severe tooth wear: European consensus statement on management guidelines. J Adhes Dent. 2017;19:111–9. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a38102.
- 12. Edelhoff D, Sorensen JA. Tooth structure removal associated with various preparation designs for posterior teeth. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2002;22(3):241–9.
- 13. Edelhoff D, Sorensen JA. Tooth structure removal associated with various preparation designs for anterior teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;87:503–9.
- 14. Magne P, Belser U. Bonded porcelain restorations in the anterior dentition: a biomimetic approach. Chicago: Quintessence; 2002. p. 23–55.
- Torbjörner A, Fransson B. Biomechanical aspects of prosthetic treatment of structurally compromised teeth. Int J Prosthodont. 2004;17:135–41.
- 16. Vailati F, Belser UC. Full-mouth adhesive rehabilitation of a severely eroded dentition: the three-step technique. Part 1. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2008;3:30–44.
- 17. Vailati F, Belser UC. Full-mouth adhesive rehabilitation of a severely eroded dentition: the three-step technique. Part 2. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2008;3:128–46.
- 18. Vailati F, Belser UC. Full-mouth adhesive rehabilitation of a severely eroded dentition: the three-step technique. Part 3. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2008;3:236–57.
- Lussi A, Hellwig E, Ganss C, Jaeggi T. Buonocore Memorial Lecture. Dental erosion. Oper Dent. 2009;34:251–62.
- Savi A, Crescini A, Tinti C, Manfredi M. Ultra-thin veneers without tooth preparation in extensive Oligodontia. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2015;35:e97–e103.

- Mormann WH, Brandestini M, Lutz F, Barbakow F, Gotsch T. CAD-CAM ceramic inlays and onlays: a case report after 3 years in place. J Am Dent Assoc. 1990;120:517–20.
- Blankenau RJ, Kelsey WP 3rd, Cavel WT. A direct posterior restorative resin inlay technique. Quintessence Int Dent Dig. 1984;15:515–6.
- Magne P, Dietschi D, Holz J. Esthetic restorations for posterior teeth: practical and clinical considerations. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1996;16:104–19.
- 24. Spreafico R. Direct and semi-direct posterior composite restorations. Pract Periodontics Aesthet Dent. 1996;8:703–12.
- Reiss B. Clinical results of Cerec inlays in a dental practice over a period of 18 years. Int J Comput Dent. 2006;9(1):11–22.
- Sjögren G, Molin M, van Dijken JW. A 10-year prospective evaluation of CAD/CAMmanufactured (Cerec) ceramic inlays cemented with a chemically cured or dual-cured resin composite. Int J Prosthodont. 2004;17(2):241–6.
- Posselt A, Kerschbaum T. Longevity of 2328 chairside Cerec inlays and onlays. Int J Comput Dent. 2003;6(3):231–48.
- Arnetzl GV, Arnetzl G. Reliability of non-retentive all-ceramic CAD/CAM overlays. Int J Comput Dent. 2012;15(3):185–97.
- Patroni S, Cocconi R. From orthodontic treatment plan to ultrathin no-prep CAD/CAM temporary veneers. Int J Esthet Dent. 2017;12:504–22.
- Magne P. Noninvasive bilaminar CAD/CAM composite resin veneers: a semi-(in)direct approach. Int J Esthet Dent. 2017;12:134–54.
- Salameh Z, Tehini G, Ziadeh N, Ragab HA, Berberi A, Aboushelib MN. Influence of ceramic color and translucency on shade match of CAD/CAM porcelain veneers. Int J Esthet Dent. 2014;9:90–7.
- Ojeda GD, Gutiérrez IH, Marusic ÁG,Rosales AB, Tisi Lanchares JP. A step-by-step conservative approach for CAD-CAM laminate veneers. Case Rep Dent. 2017;2017:3801419, 6 p. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3801419
- Kunzelmann KH, Jelen B, Mehl A, Hickel R. Wear evaluation of MZ100 compared to ceramic CAD/CAM materials. Int J Comput Dent. 2001;4:171–84.
- Fasbinder DJ. Restorative material options for CAD/ CAM restorations. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2002;23:911–6.
- Tsitrou EA, Northeast SE, van Noort R. Evaluation of the marginal fit of three margin designs of resin composite crowns using CAD/CAM. J Dent. 2007;35:68–73.
- 36. Tsitrou EA, van Noort R. Minimal preparation designs for single posterior indirect prostheses with the use of the Cerec system. Int J Comput Dent. 2008;11:227–40.
- Magne P, Knezevic A. Simulated fatigue resistance of composite resin versus porcelain CAD/ CAM overlay restorations on endodontically treated molars. Quintessence Int. 2009;40:125–33.
- Magne P, Schlichting LH. Fatigue resistance of CAD/CAM composite resin and ceramic posterior occlusal veneers. J Prosthet Dent. 2010;104:149–57.
- Magne P, Schlichting LH, Paranhos MP. Risk of onlay fracture during pre-cementation functional occlusal tapping. Dent Mater. 2011;27:942–7.
- Awada A, Nathanson D. Mechanical properties of resin-ceramic CAD/CAM restorative materials. J Prosthet Dent. 2015;114:587–93.
- 41. Coachman C, Van Dooren E, Gürel G, Landsberg CJ, Calamita MA, Bichacho N. Smile design: from digital treatment planning to clinical reality. In: Cohen M, editor. Interdisciplinary treatment planning. Vol II: Comprehensive case studies. Chicago: Quintessence; 2012. p. 119–74.
- Coachman C, Calamita M. Digital smile design—a tool for treatment planning and communication in esthetic dentistry. Quintessence Dent Technol. 2012;35:103–11.
- Coachman C, Calamita MA. Virtual esthetic smile design driving the restorative plan. J Cosmetic Dent. 2014;29(4):102–16.
- 44. Trushkowsky R, Montalvo Arias D, David S. Digital Smile Design concept delineates the final potential result of crown lengthening and porcelain veneers to correct a gummy smile. Int J Esthet Dent. 2016;11:338–54.

- 45. Magne P, Belser UC. Novel porcelain laminate preparation approach driven by a diagnostic mock-up. J Esthet Restorative Dent. 2004;16:7–16.
- 46. Magne P, Magne M. Use of additive wax-up and direct intraoral mock-up for enamel preservation with porcelain laminate veneers. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2006;1:10–9.
- Sterrett JD, Oliver T, Robinson F, Fortson W, Knaak B, Russell CM. Width/length ratios of normal clinical crowns of the maxillary anterior dentition in man. J Clin Periodontol. 1999;26:153–7.
- Koubi S, Gurel G, Margossian P, Massihi R, Tassery H. A simplified approach for restoration of worn dentition using the full mock-up concept: clinical case reports. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2018;38:189–97. https://doi.org/10.11607/prd.3186.
- Magne P, Magne M. Use of additive wax up and direct intra oral mock-up for enamel preservation with porcelain laminate veneers. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2006;1:10–9.
- 50. Magne P, Magne M, Belser U. The diagnostic template: a key element to the comprehensive esthetic treatment concept. Int J Periodontic Retorative Dent. 1996;16:560–9.
- Mintrone F, Kataoka S. Pre-visualization: a useful system for truly informed consent to esthetic treatment and an aid in conservative dental preparation. Quintessence Dent Technol. 2010;33:189–98.
- 52. Gurrea J, Bruguera A. Wax-up and mock-up. A guide for anterior periodontal and restorative treatments. Int J Esthet Dent. 2014;9:146–62.
- 53. Fradeani M. Esthetic rehabilitation in fixed prosthodontics, Esthetic analysis: a systematic approach to prosthetic treatment, vol. 1. Chicago: Quintessence; 2004. p. 117–30.
- 54. Magne P, Belser U. Bonded porcelain restorations in the anterior dentition: a biomimetic approach. Chicago: Quintessence; 2002. p. 57–96.
- Magne P, Perroud R, Hodges JS, Belser UC. Clinical performance of novel-design porcelain veneers for the recovery of coronal volume and length. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2000;20:441–57.
- Veneziani M. Ceramic laminate veneers: clinical procedures with a multidisciplinary approach. Int J Esthet Dent. 2017;12:426–48.
- Gurel G, Morimoto S, Calamita MA, Coachman C, Sesma N. Clinical performance of porcelain laminate veneers: outcomes of the aesthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2012;32:625–35.
- 58. Magne P, Hanna J, Magne M. The case for moderate "guided prep" indirect porcelain veneers in the anterior dentition. The pendulum of porcelain veneer preparations: from almost no-prep to over-prep to no-prep. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2013;8:376–88.
- Ferrari M, Patroni S, Balleri P. Measurement of enamel thickness in relation to reduction for etched laminate veneers. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1992;12:407–13.
- Lin CP, Douglas WH. Structure-property relations and crack resistance at the bovine dentinenamel junction. J Dent Res. 1994;73:1072–8.
- 61. Saratti CM, Krejci I, Rocca GT. Multiple diastema closure in periodontally compromised teeth: how to achieve an enamel-like emergence profile. J Prosthet Dent. 2016;116:642–6.
- Lenhard M. Closing diastemas with resin composite restorations. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2008;3:258–68.
- 63. De Araujo EM Jr, Fortkamp S, Baratieri LN. Closure of diastema and gingival recontouring using direct adhesive restorations: a case report. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2009;21:229–40.
- Wolff D, Kraus T, Schach C, et al. Recontouring teeth and closing diastemas with direct composite buildups: a clinical evaluation of survival and quality parameters. J Dent. 2010;38:1001–9.
- Frese C, Schiller P, Staehle HJ, Wolff D. Recontouring teeth and closing diastemas with direct composite buildups: a 5-year follow-up. J Dent. 2013;41(11):979–85.
- Ricci A, Ferraris F. A minimally invasive approach to restore function and esthetics in periodontally involved teeth. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2011;6:34–49.
- 67. Dietschi D, Spreafico R. Current clinical concepts for adhesive cementation of tooth-colored posterior restorations. Pract Periodontics Aesthet Dent. 1998;10:47–54.
- 68. Magne P, Spreafico CR. Deep margin elevation: a paradigm shift. Am J Esthet Dent. 2012;2:86–96.

- 69. Magne P, Douglas WH. Interdental design of porcelain veneers in the presence of composite fillings: finite elements analysis of composite shrinkage and thermal stress. Int J Prosthodont. 2000;13:117–24.
- Da Silva Machado J, Cândido MS, Sundfeld RH, De Alexandre RS, Cardoso JD, Sundefeld ML. The influence of time interval between bleaching and enamel bonding. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2007;19(2):111–8; discussion 119
- 71. Magne P, Kwon KR, Belser UC, Hodges JS, Douglas WH. Crack propensity of porcelain laminate veneers: a simulated operatory evaluation. J Prosthet Dent. 1999;81:327–34.
- Schmidt KK, Chiayabutr Y, Phillips KM, Kois JC. Influence of preparation design and existing condition of tooth structure on load to failure of ceramic laminate veneers. J Prosthet Dent. 2011;105:374–82.
- Patcas R, Zinelis S, Eliades G, Eliades T. Surface and interfacial analysis of sandblasted and acid- etched enamel for bonding orthodontic adhesives. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2015;147(4 Suppl):S64–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajodo.2015.01.014.
- Robles-Ruíz JJ, Arana-Chavez VE, Ciamponi AL, Abrão J, Kanashiro LK. Effects of sandblasting before orthophosphoric acid etching on lingual enamel: in-vitro roughness assessment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2015;147(4 Suppl):S76–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajodo.2014.11.023.



Aesthetic and Functional Rehabilitation 12 of Worn Teeth with Veneer Materials

Mutlu Özcan, Claudia Angela Maziero Volpato, and Luis Gustavo D' Altoé Garbelotto

Contents

12.1	Introduction	335
12.2	Attrition, Abrasion, Erosion and Abfraction.	336
12.3	Signs and Symptoms of Pathological Dental Wear	339
12.4	Treatment Modalities for Worn Teeth.	341
12.5	Minimally Invasive Indirect Restorations.	343
12.6	Conclusions	357
Refere	ences	358

12.1 Introduction

Physiological dental wear is a natural process that occurs with human ageing. It can be conceptualized as the loss of mineralized dental tissues during oral function [1]. However, when a more evident degree of dental destruction is present, mainly associated with functional and aesthetic problems, dental wear is considered a pathological phenomenon [2]. Progressive and irreversible dental tissue losses result from the action and/or combination of several aetiological factors, responsible for the

M. Özcan (🖂)

Division of Dental Biomaterials, Center for Dental and Oral Medicine, Clinic for Reconstructive Dentistry, University of Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland

C. A. M. Volpato Department of Dentistry, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil

L. G. D. Garbelotto Zenith Specialized Teaching, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_12

significant advance of dental wear in the adult population [3]. Furthermore, a considerable increase in the incidence of early dental wear in young and young adults has been observed in recent decades, representing a very worrying problem for future generations [4, 5].

Regardless of the aetiology, pathological dental wear can be conceptualized as a multifactorial and cumulative dental tissue loss process that involves the destruction of hard tissues and which can then affect the survival of the teeth and quality of life [6]. Wear modifies the anatomy and size of the teeth increasing the risk of sensitivity, as well as leading to endodontic and/or aesthetic problems [7, 8]. Radiographic images may show signs of sclerosis of the root canals and pulp chambers, secondary dentin deposition or formation of hypercementosis [9]. The diagnosis of tooth wear is very important for clinicians since it defines the treatment protocol. As dental wear increases, signs and symptoms such as occlusal instability, muscle pain and pulpal conditions can be observed [10, 11]. Depending on the amount and location of the dental wear, a considerable loss of the vertical dimension may be present [12].

The main causes of pathological dental wear are related to parafunctional habits, inadequate diet, stress, excessive force used during oral hygiene practices, use of abrasive dentifrices, systemic problems, eating disorders or unstable occlusal pattern [1, 7, 13]. The multifactorial aetiology is responsible for the different types or mechanisms of tooth wear currently known as abrasion, erosion, attrition and abfraction [7, 13, 14]. When the causes of pathological wear are identified and controlled, direct and/or indirect reconstructive procedures should be carefully performed with the objective of restoring occlusal balance, as well as function and aesthetics while preserving tooth vitality with the minimally invasive options.

12.2 Attrition, Abrasion, Erosion and Abfraction

Dental attrition is characterized by the loss of hard tissues caused by intense contact (friction) between the teeth during occlusal function and mastication [15] (Fig. 12.1). A loss of enamel of about $30-50 \mu m$ per year has been described in the literature as the amount of physiological dental loss [16, 17]. On the other hand, dental attrition

Fig. 12.1 Dental attrition in maxillary central incisors. Note the evident wear at the incisal edge



resulting from abnormal and intense loading accelerates the destruction of sound dental tissues, and in such cases, tooth wear often occurs much faster than physiological compensation mechanisms [2]. The resulting lesions are flat and shiny and have distinct margins. Dentinal exposure and colour change are also commonly observed. The occlusal, palatal and incisal edges are the most affected dental areas in this type of lesion.

While attrition type of wear becomes more severe during bruxism, with the evidence of rapid and advanced dental loss [15], abrasion is known as the loss of dental tissues resulting from the repeated mechanical action of an external agent (Figs. 12.2 and 12.3). Toothbrushing, performed vigorously in the horizontal direction or with abrasive dentifrices, parafunctional habits such as onychophagy (habit of nail biting), use of tobacco pipes and placement of objects in the mouth are the main predisposing factors of the abrasion [14, 15]. Depending on the aetiologic factor, abrasion may occur at the incisal edges or in the cervical area of the most prominent teeth of the arch (upper canines and premolars). The lesions have an indefinite contour where the enamel is smooth and shiny and the dentin appears highly polished. Dentinal sensitivity may also be present due to exposed dentin especially in the

Figs. 12.2 and 12.3 Dental abrasion resulting from intense horizontal dental brushing





Figs. 12.4 and 12.5 Dental erosion on the palatal and occlusal surfaces

cervical areas. Patients with removable partial dentures retained by clasps may also have cervical lesions, especially when metal clasps exhibit misfit.

Erosion is the loss of tooth structure due to a chemical process leading to the dissolution of mineralized dental tissues [1, 18] (Figs. 12.4 and 12.5). In this category, the teeth are usually exposed to acid and/or chelating agents, resulting in erosive lesions. Also, known as corrosion, erosion is considered the most complex category among all types of dental wear due to multiple aetiologies [15]. Extrinsic aetiological factors, such as excessive consumption of citrus fruits, acidic juices, soft drinks, alcohol and medications based on acetylsalicylic acid and ascorbic acid, are directly related to dental erosion [18]. In addition, environmental factors related to the profession (chemical, pharmaceutical and wine industries), involuntary regurgitation (vomiting, esophagitis, hiatal hernia) and voluntary regurgitation (bulimia) have also been correlated with erosion [19]. Erosive facets could be localized both in the buccal, occlusal and palatal/lingual surfaces. Dental wear occurs slowly and progressively, resulting in erosion lesions with rounded and irregular shapes. On the occlusal surfaces, small depressions can be easily observed.

In abfraction, pathological dental loss occurs due to biomechanical forces that cause dental flexion and, consequently, fatigue of dental tissues (enamel, dentin and cement) at a location distant from the point of occlusal loading [20, 21] (Fig. 12.6). The premolars are the most affected teeth, with cervical lesions usually seen on the

```
Fig. 12.6 Dental abfraction
```



buccal surface. The lesions are wedge-shaped, located at the cementoenamel junction, with very evident internal and external angles. Dentin sensitivity is quite frequent, indicating that restoration of the area should be performed after adequate occlusal analysis.

Dental wear mechanisms can act independently or in combination. Combinations of attrition/abfraction, abrasion/abfraction, erosion/abfraction, attrition/erosion or abrasion/erosion also frequently require efficient follow-up protocol.

12.3 Signs and Symptoms of Pathological Dental Wear

The clinical evidence and treatment of dental wear depend directly on the location and size of the lesions. Cervical lesions, most frequently observed in cases of abrasion and abfraction, are usually small or medium and are located on the buccal surfaces, being very sensitive when dentin is exposed. Typically, wedge-shaped defects are observed, with smooth and shiny enamel and dentin, especially if the lesions result from abrasion. Dental abrasions associated with attrition and erosion are responsible for the greatest wear of dental tissues. The wear usually begins on the palatal/lingual surfaces, going to the incisal/occlusal and buccal surfaces. In addition to dental wear, loss of vertical dimension of occlusion may also be present in such cases.

The loss of vertical dimension is the most commonly observed clinical sign after tooth wear which is at the same time the most complex problem to be solved [22, 23]. The progressive loss of dental tissues may result in functional, phonetic, postural and aesthetic problems that pose negative impact to the patient's quality of life. In patients who lost vertical dimension, phonetic space is usually increased with overload to the periodontal tissues and the temporomandibular joint [12]. In more severe cases, the face appears short due to the decrease in height in the lower third, excessive lip contact and angular cheilitis [24]. Loss of vertical dimension may occur either quickly or slowly. Bruxism is a classic example of rapid dental wear [15, 22]. In cases of slow wear, physiological dental compensation is usually present [1, 22].

The amount of tooth wear is studied in the literature through various quantitative and qualitative indices [11, 25–28] that are proposed to classify the severity of wear. Quantitative indices are typically based on objective measures, such as the size of the wear area, height of the dental crown and degree of dental mobility, whereas qualitative methods employ subjective descriptions and depend on operator training and calibration. Both methods employ classification or scoring systems that identify the amount of dental wear and the progression of the problem. The best-known and commonly practiced index is the "Tooth Wear Index" (TWI) that evaluates the loss of dental tissues with scores ranging from 0 to 4, regardless of considering the reasons (Table 12.1) [4, 25]. In addition to this index, more recently, simplified and

Score	Surface	Criteria		
0	B/L/O/I/C	No loss of enamel surface characteristics		
	С	No loss of contour		
1	B/L/O/I/C	Loss of enamel surface characteristics		
	С	Minimal loss of contour		
2	B/L/O/I/C	Loss of enamel exposing dentine for less than one third of surface		
	С	Loss of enamel just exposing dentine		
		Defect less than 1 mm deep		
3	B/L/O/I/C	Loss of enamel exposing dentine for more than one third of surface		
	С	Loss of enamel and substantial loss of dentine		
		Defect less than 1–2 mm deep		
4	B/L/O/I/C	Complete enamel loss, pulp exposure, secondary		
		dentin exposure		
	С	Pulp exposure or exposure of secondary dentine		
		Defect more than 2 mm deep, pulp exposure,		
		secondary dentine exposure		

Table 12.1 Classical Tooth Wear Index (TWI) proposed by Smith and Knight, 1984 [25]



Fig. 12.7 Tooth wear severity: (1) Minimal wear, enamel only; (2) facets parallel to normal planes of contour, enamel only; (3) noticeable flattening of cusp or incisal edges, enamel only; (4) total loss of contour and dentin exposure; (5) total loss of contour, dentin exposure over half of former crown of tooth. Adapted from Pullinger and Seligman [12] and John et al. [27]

visual analysis methods have also been suggested in the literature and employed especially for consideration in epidemiological studies [25–27] (Fig. 12.7).

12.4 Treatment Modalities for Worn Teeth

The treatment of dental wear is closely related to the aetiology of the lesions [1, 23]. Whenever necessary, the restorative approach should be performed only after identification and control of aetiological factors. As the aetiology of the lesions is multifactorial, the evaluation of the wear status should include complete oral examination, medical history, intraoral radiographs, and, if necessary, photographs [22, 29]. The restorative intervention of the lesions should be performed when they are active due to the fact that the structural integrity of the tooth is in question, masticatory efficiency is reduced, dentin sensitivity and risk of pulpal exposure or carious lesions are associated, and/or the defect created by the lesion could generate an aesthetic problem [13].

The location and amount of lost dental tissues dictate which restorative intervention should be performed. Lesions resulting from abrasion and abfraction are usually located in the cervical area and can be easily restored directly using resin composite, after controlling the parafunctional habits, presence of incorrect brushing, use of abrasives or an object or occlusal adjustment [1]. In cases of abrasion, it is essential that the patient is provided with professional advice on the aetiology of the lesions, adequate brushing techniques and increasing awareness on the importance of controlling the parafunctional habits [15]. Moreover, erosion and attrition cases present much more pronounced dental wear, which could not be always adequately solved by direct restorations. Such patients usually have functional problems related to loss of vertical dimension. Aesthetic compromises are also observed, especially when the wear pattern involves the anterior teeth [13, 18, 29–31].

Most of the time, the patient seeks dental care for an aesthetic resolution, being completely unaware of the general condition and the severity of the problem. In such cases, restorative treatment should always be considered, aiming at restoring the quality of life of the patient. However, since the aetiology of these lesions is multifactorial and complex, there is greater difficulty in controlling aetiological factors. In some cases, the patient may experience recurrences after treatment, compromising the oral rehabilitation performed. Multidisciplinary approaches are essential for the success of such cases [1]. The professional should elucidate the causes of the dental wear in question; perform the control and intense monitoring of the use of soft drinks, juices and acidic fruits; and, when other causes have been involved, refer the patient to specialized professionals (i.e., bulimia, continuous medicines, alcohol, esophagitis or gastric reflux). In cases of severe attrition, occlusal splints could also be indicated for the protection of the reconstructions [24].

Oral rehabilitation of patients with worn teeth could be performed by direct or indirect restorations or a combination of both. Direct restorations are employed mainly in cases of small wear as short- to medium-term resolutions or for young patients [32]. They are made directly in the mouth, with or without the use of guides, dispensing with the laboratory steps necessary to make indirect restorations. When restorations are performed manually employing freehand technique, without the use of guides, it is essential that the professional is familiar with dental anatomy and proportions [33]. When many restorations need to be performed, the use of transparent guides (index technique) obtained from waxing diagnosis could reduce acquired skills and chairside time [34]. This technique is indicated for clinical cases where there is minimal or moderate dental loss and to modify dental volume [33]. Direct restorations are more economical, conservative and reversible through which structural integrity could be quickly recovered with low financial and biological costs. However, their success depends highly on the knowledge on adhesive dentistry and the manual skills of the professional. Direct resin composites require excellent polishing of the restorations in order to ensure a greater longevity of the restorations, as they are more prone to staining and wear compared to those of indirect ones. Nevertheless, the maintenance protocols for resin composites are simple through repolishing or direct repair protocols [30].

The long-term longevity of direct resin composite restorations in patients with extensive dental abrasions due to attrition lesions or bruxism is still uncertain as there are a limited number of studies [5, 32]. Severe dental wear cases are best solved by indirect restorations made of ceramics, laboratory resin composites or hybrid materials. This approach includes longer treatment sessions associated with higher costs. After informing the patient with both direct and indirect options, the best combination of cost–benefit analysis, longevity of restorations and health of the remaining dentition should yield to the final decision for the restoration type [1]. It has to be however

emphasized that whenever possible, a minimally invasive restorative approach should be considered which today possible with employing adhesive technologies.

In the majority of the cases, the worn dentition does not present carious lesions. In that respect, classical preparations could be considered more aggressive since sound dental tissues need to be removed in order to construct prosthetic restorations with greater thickness for better resistance to masticatory forces [22, 35, 36]. Traditional full-coverage prostheses require sacrifice of three to four times more healthy tissues with the possibility of loss of dental vitality when compared to additive techniques using resin composite or other minimally invasive restorations [22, 36]. Minimally invasive preparations maintain more viable dental tissues for durable adhesion [35]. In this technique, the professional must achieve a balance between the space obtained after dental preparation and the minimum thickness required for the selected restorative material [35, 36]. The interdental space existing after the increase of the vertical dimension becomes determinant for the selection of restorative material since the thickness of the material influences the functional performance of the adhesive restoration [37].

12.5 Minimally Invasive Indirect Restorations

Minimally invasive restorations are currently possible due to advances in adhesive luting cements, restorative materials and computer-aided design and computer-aided manufacturing (CAD/CAM) technologies. More resistant materials, such as lithium disilicate-based ceramics and high-performance hybrid resin/ceramic composites, allow for fabrication of ultrafine restorations using CAD/CAM systems and are successfully employed in the treatment of worn teeth.

The first step in minimally invasive rehabilitation is to check the available space between the teeth by increasing the vertical dimension of occlusion. This strategy makes it possible to take advantage of the existing space available as a consequence of wear yielding to removal of less amounts of healthy dental tissues during dental preparation and enables small corrections of anatomy, shape and position. After an adequate clinical examination, gypsum models should be mounted in an articulator in order to perform diagnostic waxing in the proposed new vertical dimension. Waxing will define the tooth shape, identify how much space is present between the teeth and how much tooth preparation should be performed. Thereafter, silicone guides are made on diagnostic waxing in order to obtain mock-ups, provisional restorations or guides for tooth preparations. The mock-up should be fabricated prior to preparation as it allows the patient to check the result in the mouth before the restorations are made. In addition, the mock-up helps the professional effectively visualize the amount of dental wear present. Sufficient time and effort should be given at this stage of treatment. If the mock-up does not present well-accepted results for the patient and the professional, the diagnostic waxing should be corrected for a new mock-up.

Only after diagnostic waxing and mock-up result in satisfactory outcome, it is possible to define which restorative material will be used in the fabrication of indirect restorations and, consequently, the design of the tooth preparations. Depending on the amount of dental tissues present, direct and indirect restorations can be employed in the same clinical case. If the interocclusal space is sufficient, the tooth preparations for indirect adhesive restorations should involve only rounding the sharp angles, especially if the teeth do not present old restorations. In the presence of restorations, it is important to confirm the quality of the existing restorations prior to preparation. On the contrary, when the interocclusal space is limited, it is important to consider the possibility of restoring the teeth with direct restorations, before opting for more aggressive preparations just for the sake of obtaining space. Subsequent steps involve the fabrication of provisional prostheses, impression, working casts and indirect restorations. Such restorations are delicate pieces due to their low thickness and therefore should be handled carefully during clinical trials and adhesive procedures.

During luting of these restorations, the colour of the cement is selected with the aid of try-in cements, and after clinical trial, the restorations must be cleaned ultrasonically [38]. Adhesive resin cementation is the most critical step since it has many steps and is sensitive to moisture. Whenever possible, adequate absolute isolation should be achieved. Then, the intaglio surface of the indirect restorations should be conditioned with respect to the protocol for each material type. Accordingly, vitreous ceramic restorations should be conditioned with hydrofluoric acid (HF) gel (feldspathic ceramics, 9.6% HF for 2-3 min; leucite-reinforced ceramics, 5% HF for 1 min; lithium-disilicate-reinforced ceramics, 5% HF for 20 s) and then washed and dried [39]. A layer of silane coupling agent is then applied to the etched intaglio surface of the ceramic restorations, and the solvent is dried with oil-free air. A layer of adhesive resin is then applied on the intaglio surfaces and air-thinned with oilfree air but should not be photo-polymerized in order not to increase the cement film thickness. The adhesive resin applied on the tooth preparation however should ideally be photo-polymerized for stability of the hybrid layer. Thereafter, resin-based luting cement is placed inside the restoration, and this is positioned on the prepared tooth. Excess cement should be removed before photopolymerization, so that they do not remain in places difficult to reach or break during their removal after complete polymerization. Since, most of the time, such restorations are thin and translucent, photopolymerization could be performed through the ceramic restoration, orienting the tip of the polymerization device from occlusal, mesial, lingual and buccal directions with 2 mm distance to the surface [38] (Figs. 12.8-12.10, 12.11-12.13, 12.14–12.16, 12.17, 12.18, 12.19, 12.20, 12.21–12.23, 12.24, 12.25–12.27, 12.28, 12.29, 12.30 and 12.31, 12.32–12.34, 12.35, 12.36, 12.37, 12.38, 12.39 and 12.40, 12.41–12.45, 12.46 and 12.47, 12.48, 12.49, 12.50).

Restorations made of indirect resin composite or nanocomposite resins should be conditioned according to the manufacturers' instructions. The surface of these materials typically needs to be initially air-abraded prior to the application of the adhesive resin in order to increase roughness and provide both micromechanical interlocking and chemical adhesion of the resin cement [40]. Nanocomposite materials could show slight resistance to HF acid etching, without proper dissolution of the inorganic fillers [41]. The universal bonding agent should be then applied to the

Figs. 12.8–12.10 Young patient with minimal dental wear on posterior teeth and moderate wear on anterior teeth





Figs. 12.11–12.13 Digital and physical diagnostic waxing, recovering the worn dental area and vertical dimension **Figs. 12.14–12.16** Maxillary and mandibular mock-ups made of bis-acryl composite resin (Protemp, 3 M ESPE, USA). The resin is positioned within the silicone guide obtained from diagnostic waxing which is then removed from unprepared teeth





Fig. 12.17 Resin composite restorations made in the laboratory on the plaster model

Figs. 12.18 Absolute isolation achieved using rubber dam to keep the area dry and allow for reliable adhesive procedures



Fig. 12.19 Sharp angles present after dental wear are rounded with a diamond bur to allow better adaptation of the restorations



Fig. 12.20 Cleaning tooth surfaces with air abrasion



Figs. 12.21–12.23

Conditioning of the teeth and situation after washing and drying



Figs. 12.21–12.23 (continued)



Fig. 12.24 Application of adhesive resin on dentin with a disposable microbrush



Figs. 12.25–12.27 Air abrasion, cleaning and adhesive resin application to the intaglio surfaces of indirect restorations



Figs. 12.25–12.27 (continued)



Fig. 12.28 Excess cement removal with rubber tips and brushes



Fig. 12.29 Photopolymerization from the occlusal, buccal and lingual surfaces



Figs. 12.30 and

12.31 Finishing and polishing of restorations with finishing disks and rubber tips



Figs. 12.32–12.34 Indirect posterior restorations in situ after adhesive cementation



Fig. 12.35 After bonding posterior restorations, anterior teeth were prepared to receive ceramic veneers



Fig. 12.36 Feldspar porcelain veneers on the plaster model



Fig. 12.37 Clinical trial of the veneers, selection of the shade of the resinbased luting cement



Fig. 12.38 Acid etching of the tooth surface



Figs. 12.39 and 12.40 Adhesive resin application with a disposable brush and suction of the excess resin





Figs. 12.41–12.45 Air abrasion of the intaglio of the veneers, conditioning with hydrofluoric acid, and application of silane coupling agent and adhesive resin

Figs. 12.41–12.45 (continued)



Figs. 12.46 and 12.47 Excess cement removal with rubber tips and fine brushes



Fig. 12.48 Photopolymerization from palatal, incisal and labial surfaces





cementation surfaces with a microbrush for 20 s, and the adhesive cementation should be performed in the same manner as described for ceramic restorations.

12.6 Conclusions

Pathological tooth wear is a multifactorial and cumulative process that involves the destruction of dental hard tissues and compromises the patient's oral health. Regardless of the type of tooth wear present, the professional must diagnose the problem, inform the patient about the aetiological factors and then perform the appropriate treatment accordingly. Both direct and indirect minimally invasive restoration types could be considered depending on the amount of worn dental tissues, loss of vertical dimension, aesthetic and phonetic compromise and cost–benefit analysis. The presence of aetiological factors and clinical performance of the restorations must be monitored regularly, and maintenance protocols (i.e., repolishing or repair) should be practiced where needed.

Acknowledgments The authors thank the TDP Alexandre Santos, Studio Dental Atelier, Curitiba, Brazil, for the excellent work delivered for solving aesthetic cases.

References

- 1. Mesko ME, Sarkis-Onofre R, Cenci MS, Opdam NJ, Loomans B, Pereira-Cenci TP. Rehabilitation of severely worn teeth: a systematic review. J Dent. 2016;48:9–15.
- Russell MD. The distinction between physiological and pathological attrition: a review. J Ir Dent Assoc. 1987;33:23–31.
- 3. Van't Spijker A, Rodriguez JM, Kreulen CM, Bronkhorst EM, Bartlett DW, Creugers NH. Prevalence of tooth wear in adults. Int J Prosthodont. 2009;22:35–42.
- Bartlett DW, Lussi A, West NX, Bouchard P, Sanz M, Bourgeois D. Prevalence of tooth wear on buccal and lingual surfaces and possible risk factors in young European adults. J Dent. 2013;41:1007–13.
- Salas MMS, Nascimento GG, Huysmans MC, Demarco FF. Estimated prevalence of erosive tooth wear in permanent teeth of children and adolescents: an epidemiological systematic review and meta-regression analysis. J Dent. 2015;43:42–50.
- Al-Omiri K, Lamey PJ, Clifford T. Impact of tooth wear on daily living. Int J Prosthodont. 2006;19:601–5.
- 7. Barbour ME, Rees GD. The role of erosion, abrasion and attrition in tooth wear. J Clin Dent. 2006;17:88–93.
- Meyers I. Minimum intervention dentistry and the management of tooth wear in general practice. Aust Dent J. 2013;58:60–5.
- Mair L, Stolarski T, Vowles R, Lloyd C. Wear: mechanisms, manifestations and measurement. Report a workshop. J Dent. 1996;24:141–8.
- 10. Eccles JD. Tooth surface loss from abrasion, attrition and erosion. Dent Update. 1982;9:373-81.
- 11. Schierz O, Dommel S, Hirsch C, Reissmann DR. Occlusal tooth wear in the general population of Germany: effects of age, sex, and location of teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;112:465–71.
- 12. Pullinger AG, Seligman DA. The degree to which attrition characterizes differentiated patient groups of temporomandibular disorders. J Orofac Pain. 1993;7:196–208.
- Huysmans MC, Chew HP, Ellwood RP. Clinical studies of dental erosion and erosive wear. Caries Res. 2011;45:60–8.
- Shellis RP, Addy M. The interactions between attrition, abrasion and erosion in tooth wear. Monogr Oral Sci. 2014;25:32–45.
- Grippo JO, Simring M, Schreinder S. Attrition, abrasion, corrosion and abfraction revisited: a new perspective on tooth surface lesions. J Am Dent Assoc. 2004;135:1109–18.
- 16. Teaford MF, Tylenda CA. A new approach to the study of tooth wear. J Dent Res. 1991;70:204-7.
- 17. Christensen GJ. Destruction of human teeth. J Am Dent Assoc. 1999;130:1229-30.
- Carvalho TS, Colon P, Ganss C, Huysmans MC, Lussi A, Schlueter N, Schmalz G, Shellis RP, Tveit AB, Wiegand A. Consensus report of the European Federation of Conservative Dentistry: erosive tooth wear-diagnosis and management. Clin Oral Investig. 2015;19:1557–61.
- Aranha AC, Eduardo CP, Cordás TA. Eating disorders. Part I: Psychiatric diagnosis and dental implications. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2008;9:73–81.
- Vasudeva G, Bogra P. The effect of occlusal restoration and loading on the development of abfraction lesions: a finite element study. J Conserv Dent. 2008;11:117–20.
- 21. Bernhardt O, Gesch D, Schwahn C, Mack F, Meyer G, John U, Kocher T. Epidemiological evaluation of the multifactorial aetiology of abfractions. J Oral Rehabil. 2006;33:17–25.
- 22. Vailati F, Belser UC. Full-mouth adhesive rehabilitation of a severely eroded dentition: the three-step technique. Part 2. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2008;3:128–46.
- Muts EJ, van Pelt H, Edelhoff D, Krejci I, Cune M. Tooth wear: a systematic review of treatment options. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;112:752–9.
- Abduo J, Lyons K. Clinical considerations for increasing occlusal vertical dimension: a review. Aust Dent J. 2012;57:2–10.
- 25. Smith BG, Knight JK. An index for measuring the wear of teeth. Br Dent J. 1984;156:435-8.
- John MT, Frank H, Lobbezoo F, Drangsholt M, Dette KE. No association between incisal tooth wear and temporomandibular disorders. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;87:197–203.

- Bardsley PF, Taylor S, Milosevic A. Epidemiological studies of tooth wear and dental erosion in 14-year old children in North West England. Part 1: The relationship with water fluoridation and social deprivation. Br Dent J. 2004;197:413–6.
- López-Frías FJ, Castellanos-Cosano L, Martín-González J, Llamas-Carreras JM, Segura-Egea JJ. Tooth wear indices. J Clin Exp Dent. 2012;4:48–53.
- 29. Hamburger JT, Opdam NJM, Bronkhorst EM, Huysmans MCDNJM. Indirect restorations for severe tooth wear: fracture risk and layer thickness. J Dent. 2014;42:413–8.
- Redman CD, Hemmings KW, Good JA. The survival and clinical performance of resin-based composite restorations used to treat localized anterior tooth wear. Br Dent J. 2003;194:566–72.
- 31. Rees JS, Somi S. A guide to the clinical management of attrition. Br Dent J. 2018;224:319–23.
- 32. Milosevic A, Burnside G. The survival of direct composite restorations in the management of severe tooth wear including attrition and erosion: a prospective 8-year study. J Dent. 2016;44:13–9.
- 33. Mehta SB, Banerji S, Millar BJ, Suarez-Feito JM. Current concepts on the management of tooth wear: Part 1. Assessment, treatment planning and strategies for the prevention and the passive management of tooth wear. Br Dent J. 2012;13:17–27.
- Ammannato R, Ferraris F, Marchesi G. The "index technique" in worn dentition: a new and conservative approach. Int J Esthet Dent. 2014;9:2–33.
- Fradeani M, Barducci G, Bacherini L. Esthetic rehabilitation of a worn dentition with a minimally invasive prosthetic procedure (MIPP). Int J Esthet Dent. 2016;11:16–35.
- Ernst O, Müller P, Özcan M. Load bearing capacity of minimal invasive direct and indirect veneers bonded to maxillary incisors with severe wear: effect of preparation design and material type. J Adhes Sci Technol. 2018;32:1151–64.
- Schlichting LH, Resende TH, Reis KR, Magne P. Simplified treatment of severe dental erosion with ultrathin CAD-CAM composite occlusal veneers and anterior bilaminar veneers. J Prosthet Dent. 2016;116:474–82.
- Özcan M, Volpato CAM. Surface conditioning protocol for the adhesion of resin-based materials to glassy matrix ceramics: how to condition and why? J Adhes Dent. 2015;17:292–3.
- Matinlinna JP, Vallittu PK. Bonding of resin composites to etchable ceramic surfaces—an insight review of the chemical aspects on surface conditioning. J Oral Rehabil. 2007;34:622–30.
- Özcan M, Volpato CAM. Surface conditioning and bonding protocol for nanocomposite indirect restorations: how and why? J Adhes Dent. 2016;18:82.
- Elsaka E. Bond strength of novel CAD/CAM restorative materials to self-adhesive resin cement: the effect of surface treatments. J Adhes Dent. 2014;16:531–40.


13

Transforming Discolored Anterior Teeth

Richard D. Trushkowsky, Ylva Khatau, Abdullah Alnahdi, and Prachi Shah

Contents

13.1	Introduction	362			
13.2	Fluorosis	362			
13.3	Drug-Induced Intrinsic Tooth Discoloration Tetracycline	363			
13.4	Case Report 1: Treating Fluorosis Lesions with Bleaching and Icon	363			
13.5	Case Report 2: Treating Fluorosis with Porcelain Veneers	366			
13.6	Case Report 3: Treatment of Moderately Stained Tetracycline Teeth Using				
	Feldspathic Veneers	373			
13.7	Discussion	382			
13.8	Conclusion	385			
References					

Y. Khatau Cabinet Dentaire Khatau-Fischer, Lutry, Switzerland e-mail: yk1881@nyu.edu

A. Alnahdi Dentistry Administration, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia e-mail: aaa855@nyu.edu

P. Shah Private Practice, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: phs291@nyu.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_13

R. D. Trushkowsky (⊠) College of Dentistry, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: rt587@nyu.edu

13.1 Introduction

A smile is extremely important in business and social interaction. During the past decade, the interest in conservative esthetic dentistry has grown extensively. Tooth discoloration is often found clinically and is identified with clinical and esthetic problems. Even the slightest form of tooth discoloration is cosmetically not acceptable, and it is a cause of concern for an affected person psychologically. A variety of etiology, appearance, composition, location, severity, may be exhibited. There are two types of tooth discolorations: those caused by extrinsic factors and those caused by intrinsic congenital or systemic influence. Extrinsic discoloration is present on the outer surface of teeth and is caused by tea, coffee, and tobacco smoking. This type of staining can be removed by scaling and polishing of teeth. In intrinsic discoloration, stains are placed within the enamel or dentin during the development of tooth (e.g., tetracycline stains). Discoloration can also be classified as metallic or nonmetallic stains and based on the chemistry of staining [1]. The intensity of stains may be aggravated if there are enamel defects. Tooth discoloration demonstrates two major challenges to the dental clinician. The first challenge is to ascertain the cause of the stain; the second is its management. A detailed clinical examination is required to elucidate the cause and derive appropriate treatment. The patient's oral hygiene, diet, history of trauma, medications and where they live are important considerations as possible causes. Drugs, mouth rinses, physical agents, or common environmental chemicals can unfavorably affect human teeth during their embryonic development and after their eruption into the oral cavity. The permanent dentition starts to form in utero and mineralization is usually complete by the age of 4 or 5 years and root development by 2-3 years after eruption. Teeth are more susceptible to growth disturbances during mineralization stage of tooth development, and permanent dentition is more susceptible to disturbances in mineralization by drugs and environmental toxicants than the primary dentition [2].

13.2 Fluorosis

Dental fluorosis is a hypoplasia of the dental enamel resulting from exposure to ingested fluoride during tooth development causing outer hypermineralization and subsurface hypomineralization [3]. Fluoride has been shown to affect principally the development stage of enamel formation, and the hypomineralization increases with the fluoride exposure, reflecting in dissimilar degrees of severity, with growing clinical effects in the esthetic appearance of the teeth. This hypomineralized enamel appears to be directly connected to interruption in the removal of amelogenin at the early maturation stage of enamel formation. Dental fluorosis is a dose-dependent disorder, and the higher the level of exposure during tooth development, the more severe the fluorosis [4]. Milder forms of fluorosis-induced enamel changes appear as thin white lines following the perikymata, cuspal snowcapping, and a snowflaking presence without defined borders [5, 6]. The treatment choices for fluorosis are limited. For the mildest forms of fluorosis, bleaching has been suggested [7, 8].

Clinical modalities for modest dental fluorosis include enamel microabrasion, in which the outer affected layer of enamel is abraded from the tooth surface in an acidic environment. Severe spots require composite restorations alone or combined with enamel microabrasion [9, 10]. Porcelain veneers may also be needed, and in more severe cases, crowns might be required.

13.3 Drug-Induced Intrinsic Tooth Discoloration Tetracycline

The exact means of tetracycline discoloration is not fully understood. However, several clinical studies have indicated that tetracycline becomes permanently bound to calcified tooth structures if taken during calcification stage of tooth development [11]. It is acknowledged that staining is thought to be a photoinitiated reaction [12]. Tetracyclines are thought to cause tooth discoloration taken during second or third trimester of pregnancy. Jordan and Boskman classified tetracycline discoloration into three groups according to severity: first degree, light yellow gray or brown without banding; second degree, darker and more extensive yellow or gray staining without banding; and third degree (severe staining), dark gray or blue discoloration with horizontal banding [13]. The degree of staining may vary contingent on the type of tetracycline, doses, duration of intake, and patient's age at the time of administration [14]. Minocycline, a semisynthetic derivative of tetracycline, is used as an adjunct in the treatment of periodontal diseases. Minocycline has also been shown to cause tooth discoloration. Minocycline can cause generalized intrinsic tooth staining post-eruption which differs from tetracycline. The precise mechanism by which minocycline causes tooth discoloration has not been established [15].

Three case reports will illustrate treatment depending on the age and severity of the discoloration. Diagnosis and selection of the least invasive treatment that will accomplish the results the patient desires should be selected. Sometimes additional factors other than discoloration may be present requiring more aggressive treatment such as veneers or crowns that are required to meet patient esthetic expectations.

13.4 Case Report 1: Treating Fluorosis Lesions with Bleaching and Icon

Ylva Khatau

A young female patient C. C., born in 1992, presented to the Esthetic Department at NYU College of Dentistry, having been told she needed veneers for her dental condition.

Her chief concerns were white and brown lesions on her maxillary teeth, especially visible from canine to canine.

Medical history revealed no significant findings.

Dental history: C. C. suffered from periodontitis a few years ago. She had scaling, and root planning performed, and since then she has had pocket depth within normal limits. She is currently on a 3-month recall schedule with her family dentist.



Fig. 13.1 Initial picture of patient with fluorosis against a black background

Dental history specific to the enamel lesions. During her childhood, the lesions appeared only as white chalky spots, and they only started turning progressively brown during her teens (Fig. 13.1).

Family history revealed that her older brother and younger sister also suffer from the same type of lesions. C. C. spent the first 7 years of her life living in Far Rockaway, NY, with her siblings. Their parents do not have these sorts of lesions.

The patient currently lives in Manhattan, NY.

Extraoral (EO) and intraoral (IO) examinations were performed. EO and IO photos and videos were taken for diagnostic purposes. Periodontal health was assessed. Full mouth X-ray series was taken. No pathology was found besides the white and brown lesions.

Upon examination and with the dental history in mind, the lesions seemed to be severe fluorosis lesions, presenting white and brown stains as well as some enamel pitting.

Fluorosis is a qualitative and/or quantitative defect of enamel depending on its severity. Fluorosis is due to an excessive amount of fluoride intake during enamel formation of permanent teeth during early childhood. Fluorosis may appear under different forms ranging from white spots and white streaks to broader white patches and brown stains. Patients can present with various severities of lesions from mild (white spot) to severe (brown and/or pitted enamel).

Based on dental history of progressive appearance of the brown color, we decided to first do an in-office bleaching with "Opalescence Boost" 40% hydrogen peroxide (HP) (Ultradent, South Jordan, UT, USA).

The patient was informed of the treatment's unpredictability and that the results could range from only partial improvement to almost total disappearance of the stains.

The patient was then given Opalescence 15% HP for home use with bleaching trays with reservoirs on the four upper incisors. She wore them for 45 min twice a day (mornings and evenings) for 2 weeks. After 2 weeks, it was decided to continue a whitening for 1 more week as the patient was not experiencing any sensitivity and wanted to get the best possible result.

Photos were taken after 3 weeks of bleaching (Fig. 13.2). Improvement was noted but still did not meet the patient's requirements. Resin infiltration of the lesions was suggested and approved by the patient. As the resin infiltration relies on bonding to enamel, one must wait at least 2 weeks after the last bleaching day









before applying Icon (DMG, Hamburg, Germany). This is because bleaching interferes with bonding [16].

In this case, we decided to wait 3 weeks due to patient's availability.

Icon was applied according to manufacturer's instructions:

 3×2 min Icon-Etch (a third etch application was necessary in this case, as the white spot on tooth #9 was still visible after the two first etching applications) followed by 1×3 min Icon-Infiltrate and light curing, followed by another application of 1×1 min Icon-Infiltrate and light curing, final polishing (Fig. 13.3).

Patient came for a follow-up 3 weeks later. She had experienced no sensitivity whatsoever and demonstrated a vast improvement of the esthetic appearance of her teeth. This satisfied her esthetic expectations, and she required no further treatment at this time (Fig. 13.4).

Fig. 13.4 Patient final picture of smile after bleaching and Icon treatment demonstrates the possibility of minimally invasive treatment

Fig. 13.5 Retracted intraoral front view: a wide front overview of upper and lower dentition to evaluate existing esthetic concerns and permit dental and soft tissue microesthetic analysis



13.5 Case Report 2: Treating Fluorosis with Porcelain Veneers

Abdullah A. Alnahdi

A 23-year-old female patient presented to the Esthetic Department at New York University College of Dentistry. She was not happy with the look of her smile as her teeth were discolored and small. She wanted to improve the way her teeth looked so she could smile more confidently.

Patient was not aware of any medical problems. Data collection was initiated to establish an esthetic analysis (facial, dentofacial, and dental aspects) which included full-mouth radiographs, periodontal charting, dental charting, extra- and intraoral photographs, functional occlusion analysis, patient interview, and high-definition impressions of the mandible and maxilla.

Upon clinic examination, the patient demonstrated severe fluorosis of her upper and lower teeth due to high-fluoride exposure during her early development (Figs. 13.5, 13.6, 13.7, and 13.8). Patient was born and raised in Quetta, Pakistan, which found to be an area of high level of water fluoride concentration at a level of 0.91 ppm with 65% fluorosis among 12-year-old schoolchildren [17]. Khan et al. in 2004 compared the recommended level which is 0.35 ppm for maximum reduction of dental caries and mild degree of fluorosis at 10% [18]. **Fig. 13.6** Extraoral initial front smile: facial and dental facial overview. Lips in relation to teeth and amount of soft tissue displayed when patient smiles

Fig. 13.7 Right lateral smiling view: To evaluate incisal edge position of upper anterior teeth in relation to lower lip and how many teeth are displayed



Fig. 13.8 Left lateral smiling view: To evaluate incisal edge position of upper anterior teeth in relation to lower lip and how many teeth are displayed



Patient claims that most of her family have a similar teeth condition. There was no display of her maxillary incisors in the rest position (Fig. 13.9).

Initial impressions were taken by regular body polyvinyl siloxane impression material (Reprosil[®], Dentsply Sirona), and stone models were obtained. These were then mounted on a semi-adjustable arcon dental articulator (Artex[®] Type CP Articulator) in centric relation (CR) and centric occlusion (CO) for functional occlusion analysis. Based on the data collected, a diagnostic wax-up was initiated to restore function and patient esthetics. All possible changes were transferred to patient mouth by means of intraoral mock-up which was fabricated using a putty index loaded with bis-acryl Luxatemp Automix Plus (DMG) to reproduce proposed

Fig. 13.9 Rest position: The amount of exposure of the maxillary incisors with the patient in the rest position will help determine the incisal edge position and initiate the determination of the correct anterior teeth proportions



Fig. 13.10 Esthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique. Mock-up in rest position to evaluate prospective esthetic incisal edge position



Fig. 13.11 Esthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique. Mock-up while smiling to evaluate new teeth positions and proportions relative to lower lip and assess the amount of soft tissue exposure



modifications of the patient dentition including increased incisal edge position, minimizing gingival display, correcting gingival contours, and creating ideal tooth and tooth-tooth proportions (Figs. 13.10, 13.11, and 13.12). This technique was helpful to better communicate and educate the patient while presenting possible treatment modalities.

In this case, phonetics and functional occlusion were important aspects to test preoperatively especially with the new incisal edge position. Fig. 13.12 Retracted intraoral view of APT to appraise the proposed esthetic changes in relation to gingival symmetry, tooth, and tooth-tooth proportions



Fig. 13.13 Crown lengthening procedure. Based on the APT, osseous crown lengthening was performed using the APT as a surgical guide for a more predictable outcome



Patient accepted and approved proposed treatment plan as follows:

- Osseous crown lengthening for upper premolars and anterior teeth #4-13.
- Bonded ceramic *IPS e.max lithium disilicate* (Ivoclar Vivadent, Amherst, NY) veneers to restore upper premolars and anterior teeth #4–13.
- Combined in-office and home bleaching for her lower teeth.

Diagnostic wax-up was finalized and used to fabricate an intraoral surgical guide to follow during surgical osseous crown lengthening procedure for predictable ideal gingival contour and symmetry. Under local anesthesia, guided osseous crown lengthening was performed to reposition gingival margin and expose 1.5 mm of tooth structure as planned (Figs. 13.13 and 13.14). Postsurgical instructions were given to patient, and oral hygiene instructions were reinforced during follow-up visits over 12 weeks of healing time.

While waiting for periodontal tissues to heal, the bleaching process for lower teeth was started with two in-office bleaching cycles, 15 min each (Fig. 13.15). Chemically activated 40% hydrogen peroxide gel (Opalescence Boost, Ultradent) was used to achieve teeth whitening from shade A2 to shade B1 (VITA North



Fig. 13.14 Pre and post crown lengthening procedure demonstrates improved gingival contour and exposed clinical crowns before restorative phase

Fig. 13.15 Bleaching lowers dentition with chemically activated 40% hydrogen peroxide after proper gingival isolation



America, Yorba Linda, CA). This was followed by at-home whitening to maintain and stabilize results over 2 weeks of time by using 10% carbamide peroxide (Opalesence boost).

To control a conservative teeth preparation, the esthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique was used and verified with incisal and buccal preparation guides (Figs. 13.16 and 13.17). Single Ultrapak (Ultradent) retraction cord size #00 was used to achieve proper gingival retraction. Final impressions were taken with light and heavy bodies' polyvinyl siloxane impression material (Reprosil). Bite registration, facebow relation, and stump shade were recorded.

The prepared teeth were spot etched, and bonding agent (ScotchbondTM Universal Adhesive, 3M, St Paul MN) was applied covering all preparation surfaces. Silicone index made from the final wax-up was used to fabricate provisionals with self-cured bis-acryl (Luxatemp) shade B1. Light curing was done over each tooth for 20 s to aid bonding of provisional to tooth structure (Fig. 13.18).

E.max veneers made by master ceramist Mr. Peter Pizzi CDT, MDT, were returned for the try-in phase. Transparent try-in paste (Variolink II, Ivoclar Vivadent) was used intra-orally. The fit and esthetics were approved by the patient prior proceeding to final cementation. Under optimum isolation, teeth were etched with 35% phosphoric acid gel (Ultra-Etch, Ultradent) for 15 s and then rinsed thoroughly with water for 30 s and dried with high volume suction. Final cementation was performed with dual-cure resin cement (Variolink II) transparent shade. Excess cement was removed with microbrushes and dental floss before light curing. Manufacturer recommendations were considered and followed during cementation step.

Fig. 13.16 APT. Minimally invasive technique to control a conservative tooth preparation



Fig. 13.17 Final teeth preparations. Incisal reduction guide to verify amount of preparation for prospective restorations



Fig. 13.18 Intraoral view of provisional restorations demonstrates ideal tooth proportions and masking of discolorations



Fig. 13.19 Intraoral view of final ceramic veneers

Fig. 13.20 Rest position. Incisal edge position re-established to show more tooth structure at the rest position and reflect a more youthful appearance



Fig. 13.21 Left lateral view showing veneers in relation to the upper and lower lip



Post cementation X-rays were taken to verify accurate seating and removal of all excess resin cement. The patient's occlusion was checked, and required adjustment was made followed by finishing and polishing of touched porcelain surfaces. The results demonstrated the effect the patient was trying to achieve as the size and esthetics of the teeth were vastly improved (Figs. 13.19, 13.20, 13.21, and 13.22).

Fig. 13.22 Extraoral front view of smile postoperatively demonstrates achievement of treatment objectives: improved esthetics and meeting patient's expectations



13.6 Case Report 3: Treatment of Moderately Stained Tetracycline Teeth Using Feldspathic Veneers

Prachi Shah

The patient, a Caucasian working female in her mid-40s, presented to the clinic to replace her old discolored composite veneers in her upper front teeth (Figs. 13.23, 13.24, 13.25, and 13.26). She wanted to get rid of her tetracycline stained teeth and desired natural looking white teeth. A medical history was taken, and a comprehensive extraoral and intraoral examination was conducted. Patient's previous dental history consisted of composite veneers placed on the upper front teeth almost 15 years ago. Patient also had a few alloy restorations and endodontically treated posterior teeth which were treated more than 10 years previously and currently appeared to be in good condition. Patient recently underwent 2 years of invisalign treatment to correct minor rotations in the upper and lower arch.

A series of clinical extraoral and intraoral photographs and radiographs were made.

Dental history:

- 1. Veneers in the upper anterior teeth #6-11.
- 2. Orthodontic alignment for upper arch.
- 3. Amalgam restorations in posterior teeth.
- 4. Root canal treatment on #5, 18, 19, and 32.
- 5. PFM crowns on #5, 18, and 31.

Oral hygiene habits: Good oral hygiene, brushes once daily, uses mouth rinse, and flosses regularly.

Smile analysis was performed using the NYUCD Esthetic Evaluation Form. Face height is usually measured by dividing the face into thirds. The upper third may fluctuate due to the variability of the hairline. The middle and lower thirds are





Fig. 13.24 Retracted view of discolored composite veneers in occlusion



Fig. 13.25 Right retracted view of discolored composite veneers



Fig. 13.26 Left retracted view of discolored composite veneers



more involved in esthetic perception. The midface is measured from the glabella to the subnasale (the most protruding area on the forehead between the eyebrows and the point directly under the nose). The lower face is measured from the subnasale to the soft tissue menton. Nasolabial angle was maintained between 90° and 110° to maintain an esthetic profile. At rest, young women usually display 3–4 mm of the maxillary central incisors, and young men display an average of 2 mm or less [19–21]. Curve of Spee was analyzed prior to wax-up and treatment planning. Phonetics was checked. Periodontal probing and bone sounding were done to verify the soft and hard tissue. Upper and lower polyvinyl siloxane impressions were made, and stone models were poured and mounted in centric relation using a facebow transfer.

The following problem list was created for this patient:

- Moderately stained teeth and discolored old composite veneers.
- Uneven gingival zenith in the upper front teeth.
- Missing crown on root canal treated #19.

• The objective of this treatment was to follow a minimally invasive protocol for restoration of moderately stained tetracycline teeth, understanding the requisites for material selection to completely mask the stains and knowing the preparation techniques to obtain the ideal result.

Full arch diagnostic wax-up was done on both the arches increasing the incisal edge by 1.5 mm. Anatomical detail was added, and teeth #3–14 and #19–29 were given ideal proportioning. A diagnostic wax-up, in conjunction with an intraoral mock-up, would also allow the patient to visualize the outcome of the proposed treatment. Intraoral mock-up was done using silicone putty matrix (Lab Putty, Coltène Whaledent) and bis-acryl (Luxatemp Ultra, DMG). The incisal edge position and parallelism to the horizontal reference line were verified. The proposed restorations were checked for phonetics and esthetics.

A few minor intraoral modifications were carried out, and an impression of the mock-up was made. The final wax-up was created on the newly poured models. Indices fabricated from this new wax-up were used as the surgical and preparation guides (Fig. 13.27).

The patient's approval to proceed with the treatment was based on her viewing the potential outcome via the photos of her chair-side mock-up.

Gingival zenith correction: Crown lengthening was carried out on #11, and simple gingival recontouring was performed from #6 to 11 using a 15C scalpel. Minimal surgical correction was needed; hence, there was no need to provisionalize the teeth. Healing time of about 2–4 weeks was expected.

Prior to beginning the surgical procedure, communication with the lab was of significant importance. Feldspathic porcelain was the material of choice for the veneers, and monolithic zirconia was selected for the full-coverage crowns in this case. Feldspathic veneers are more esthetic, provide better color control, and require lesser tooth reduction.

Using the esthetic pre-evaluative temporary (APT) technique with the aid of silicon reduction guides (Figs. 13.28 and 13.29), tooth reduction of 0.9 mm was done for veneer preparation on #3, 4, 6–14, and 20–29 and full-coverage preparation on #5 and #19. Margins were mostly kept equigingival for all teeth. Maxillary teeth

Fig. 13.27 Indices fabricated from this new wax-up were used as the surgical and preparation guides











preparations needed slightly aggressive reduction and subgingival margins. This was done to allow complete removal of the pre-existing composite veneer restorations and to allow restorative margins to finish on natural tooth structure for better retention (Figs. 13.28 and 13.29).

Retraction cords of 00 and 000 (Ultrapak, Ultradent) were packed, and a polyvinyl siloxane impression material (Aquasil, Dentsply Caulk) was used to make the master impression. Maximum intercuspation (centric occlusion) bites were recorded (Blu-Bite HP, Henry Schein).

Stump shade was selected (Fig. 13.30). The patient, lab technicians, and the treating surgeons had a mutual agreement of changing the existing stump shade of A3 to a final shade of B1. Temporary crowns and veneers were made with the desired final shade B1. Spot etch and bond technique was used with silicone putty matrix (Lab Putty, Coltène Whaledent) and bis-acryl (Luxatemp Ultra, DMG). The approved provisionals are a blueprint for the ceramist to fabricate the final restorations.

Lab communication: The working lab was given specific instructions and provided with the final impression of both arches, bite registration, stump shade,

Fig. 13.30 Stump shade was selected



Fig. 13.31 Willi Geller dies







desired final shade, close-up smile, and dentofacial pictures. The final wax-up models were mounted in centric relation on a semi-adjustable articulator with a facebow transfer (Artex[®] Articulator System, Amann Girrbach).

Final feldspathic veneers and monolithic zirconia crowns were fabricated on Willi Geller dies (Fig. 13.31). These were then analyzed and inspected for conformity to the final wax-up (Figs. 13.32, 13.33, 13.34, 13.35, and 13.36). They were tried into the patient's mouth using transparent shade try-in gel (Variolink II, Ivoclar Vivadent). Try-in photos were taken, and phonetics and function were checked (Fig. 13.37). Patient was able to visualize the restorations in her mouth using a face

Fig. 13.33 Restorations on model facial view



Fig. 13.34 Restorations on model. Right side



Fig. 13.35 Restorations on model. Left side



mirror and the clinical try-in photos. Patient approval and consent were obtained prior to preparation for cementation.

The restorations were taken out of the patient's mouth. The internal surfaces of the restorations were scrubbed for 15 s with a 35% phosphoric acid solution (Ultra-Etch, Ultradent) and ultrasonically cleaned in alcohol for 1 min. Silane primer (Ultradent) was placed on the internal surface of the veneers and allowed to air-dry. Bonding agent (Prime & Bond NT, Dentsply) was applied, allowing 30 s for the

Fig. 13.36 Translucency of incisal edges



Fig. 13.37 Try-in of veneers



Fig. 13.38 Veneers against black background



solvent to evaporate. The veneered teeth were etched with Ultra-Etch for 15 s and then rinsed with water for 30 s. Prime & Bond NT bonding agent was applied to the internal surface of the veneers. The restorations were then loaded with the base shade (Variolink II cement transparent) and seated on the teeth. A small brush as well as floss was used to remove the excess cement before light curing for 40 s. All of the above procedures were carried out with single tooth rubber dam isolation and a custom modified #2 stainless steel clamp.

A final check of the occlusion was made with articulating paper (AccuFilm, Parkell), and minor adjustments were performed. Esthetic evaluation was done posttreatment. Post-op photos were taken, and 1-week recall was performed (Figs. 13.38, 13.39, 13.40, and 13.41).

Fig. 13.39 Improved esthetics of smile



Fig. 13.40 Retracted view of restorations





Fig. 13.41 Full-face view with highly esthetic restoration replacing the previous composite veneers

13.7 Discussion

As the cognizance of dental esthetics intensifies, an increasing number of people are seeking treatment for discolored teeth. However, prior to treatment, the cause and the amount of discoloration need to be determined. Although the increased esthetic awareness among patients has made porcelain veneers popular, minimally invasive treatment that will satisfy the patients' esthetic goals should be attempted first especially for the younger patient [22]. If porcelain veneers are selected, the challenge is to mask the discoloration yet remove minimal tooth structure during preparation [23]. Dental fluorosis (DF) is a developmental disturbance of enamel caused by excessive fluoride on ameloblasts during enamel formation [24]. The treatment plan for DF depends on the severity of disease [10]. Moderate dental fluorosis may be treated with enamel microabrasion, in which the surface affected layer of enamel is scraped from the tooth surface in an acidic setting [25]. Minor forms of fluorosis may also be managed with bleaching [9]. Moderate fluorosis spots may also be treated by the infiltration of low-viscosity resin-based material (Icon, DMG). This technique, which might constitute an alternative to white-masking of fluorosis spots, demonstrated optimal esthetic results as shown in the first case report [26, 27]. The use of resin infiltration was a different approach compared with previous DF treatments. The rationale for this selection was based on the structure of fluorosed enamel and the properties of resin infiltration. Fluorosed enamel includes areas of diffuse hypomineralization and porosities in the subsurface enamel. The resin infiltrate demonstrates a very low viscosity, low contact angles to enamel, and high surface tensions, so that it penetrates the porosities. Due to the similar refractive indices of resin and enamel, resin infiltration would improve the white opaque appearance of pores and reduce the original contrast between pores and enamel caused by light scattering [28].

Dealing with teeth that have been discolored by tetracycline-based medications presents a problem. The degree of staining is contingent on many factors, including the stage of calcification of the teeth at the time of tetracycline administration. When the enamel layer of these teeth is prepared for PLV restorations, the ensuing tooth color is often yellowish, gray-brown, or brown. Producing a porcelain veneer for a discolored anterior tooth can be extremely challenging for both the dentist and the technician. The staining of the prepared teeth for PLV restoration has been classified into four colors; orange, brown, blue-purple, and reddish gray. Yamada has suggested using complementary colors to rectify this problem [29]. This theory prescribes the use of a porcelain color that neutralizes (complements) the shade of the prepared teeth. The shades are not actually complementing but act for that use in ceramics [29]. The complimentary porcelain color is used as the base layer for the restoration and acts as a subtractive color mixture. This creates a gray mixture to which a white modifier is added to increase the value. The use of a thick masking porcelain to block the discolored tooth tends to produce a reflective, white color that does not look natural, but some patients prefer this compared to a more natural appearance.

The dental technician must be aware of the shade of the tooth prior to and after preparation. Adequate preparation needs to be discussed with the technician before preparing the tooth so that it will be prepared as ideally as possible depending on the material and technique the technician will utilize. Some ceramic restorations can be very translucent. The shade of the prepared tooth, the type of ceramic material, the thickness of the restoration, and the color of the luting agent will affect the esthetic result with such restorations [30]. The opacity of porcelain can be estimated by calculating the contrast ratio (CR), which is defined as the ratio of illuminance of the test material when it is placed over a black background to the illuminance of the same material when it is placed over a white background. A high CR represents low transmittance of light through the material. The clinician has to evaluate how much tooth structure needs to be removed in order to create a restoration with adequate masking of the discolored tooth structure wet still maintain a vital appearance (not too opaque). More tooth structure may need to be removed to provide more space for a thicker veneer that may need to be fabricated and to avoid over contouring of

the restoration. However, the removal may expose dentin and the bonding to dentin is not as reliable as the bond to enamel [31]. The concealing capacity of an allceramic restoration can be determined by measuring the color difference ($\Delta E*$) when it is placed over different backgrounds [32, 33]. Vichi et al. examined the camouflaging ability of ceramic restorations of various thicknesses (1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 mm) of a leucite-reinforced ceramic material (IPS Empress; Ivoclar Vivadent, Schaan, Liechtenstein) over a variety of opaque posts and stated that full masking or acceptable $\Delta E*$ was achieved only with the 2-mm-thick ceramic material [34]. While it is accepted that augmented opacity after additional ceramic thickness could be more effective in concealing the underlying background, the increased amount of tooth reduction required can jeopardize pulpal health. The opacity can also be increased by the addition of an opaque modifier but with unpredictable results [35]. The shade of the cement appears to effect the final shade of the restoration to a small degree [36].

For color match, the color of a restoration is acceptable visually if the $\Delta E*$ is less than or equal to 3.3 when compared with that of the adjacent control [37]. The typical layered porcelain veneer is limited by the ability of the ceramist to adjust the opacification required to successfully hide the discolored tooth but still retain an acceptable optical result. Some studies have suggested removing additional tooth structure allowing the placement of an opacifying resin material [38, 39]. Others have suggested bleaching [40]. The parallel stratification masking technique mitigates the unnecessary elimination of tooth structure by the application of fluorescent porcelains [41]. These porcelains are originally placed and evaluated as a thin wash on the dentin porcelain stump shade guide and then later placed on the refractory die before the stratification in the laboratory. This concept may be used with the alveolar model which comprises a dentogingival alveolar base with removable and interchangeable dies that aid in the fabrication of porcelain veneers [42]. The steps in this process are as follows:

- Photographs of the tooth after preparation and before the impression with shade guides adjacent to the preparation.
- 2. The laboratory fabricates an alveolar model and then a modified chromatic dentin tab out of porcelain similar to the most discolored tooth. This is used to check the masking effect of the fluorescent porcelain.
- 3. Masking layers are then applied as a thin wash and fired until the wanted shade is accomplished. The technician uses the information acquired to start the stratification process.
- 4. The initial masking layer hides the discolored area. The second layer is applied over a broader area to hide the transition zone between the masking layer and natural tooth. This is usually the technique used for typical tetracycline banding. Sometimes an opaque modifier powder is needed to block very dark teeth, but too high a concentration can cause cracks to occur. Many studies have confirmed acceptable esthetic results in cases of moderate to severe fluorosis where restoration with porcelain veneers was achieved [9].

13.8 Conclusion

In the past, layered porcelain veneers have been limited in their ability to mask severely discolored teeth. This is due to the difficulty the ceramist may have in regulating the degree of opacity needed to adequately hide the discolored tooth but still provide a good optical result. Too opaque renders the restoration monochromatic and too little opacity reduces the ability to mask the substrate. Most tetracyclinestained teeth are unable to absorb and reflect light like a normal tooth. There are three things that are possible when light hits an object. A transparent object will allow all the light to pass through. On the other hand, an opaque object will not allow any light to pass through, i.e., it will absorb all the light [43]. The heavier the tetracycline staining, the less light can pass through, making the tooth less transparent or more opaque [44]. Wax-up and the creation of an APT [45] allow only necessary reduction of tooth structure to meet the technician's requirements. The technician requires adequate photographic documentation to create a masking map to be able to block the discolored areas yet create a restoration that provides effective color matching and translucency. Maintenance of as much enamel as possible is also important to minimize staining or debonding [46].

References

- Suresh Chandra B, Gopi Krishna V, editors. Grossman's endodontic practice. 12th ed. New Delhi: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2010. p. 342–60.
- 2. Billings RJ, Berkowitz RJ, Watson G. Teeth Pediatr. 2004;113(4 Suppl):1120-7.
- 3. Den Bestan PK. Dental fluorosis: its use as a biomarker. Adv Dent Res. 1994;8(1):105-10.
- 4. Den-Besten PK. Mechanism and timing of fluoride effects on developing enamel. J Public Health Dent. 1999;59:247–51.
- Thylstrup A, Andreasen JO. The influence of traumatic intrusion of primary teeth on their permanent successors in monkeys: a macroscopic, polarized light and scanning electron microscopic study. J Oral Pathol. 1977;6(5):296–306.
- Aoba T, Fejerskov O. Dental fluorosis: chemistry and biology. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med. 2002;13(2):155–70.
- 7. Den Besten P, Giambro N. Treatment of fluorosed and white-spot human enamel with calcium sucrose phosphate in vitro. Pediatr Dent. 1995;17(5):340–5.
- 8. Thylstrup A, Fejerskov O, Mosha HJ. A polarized light and microradiographic study of enamel in human primary teeth from a high fluoride area. Arch Oral Biol. 1978;23(5):373–80.
- 9. Sherwood IA. Fluorosis varied treatment options. J Conserv Dent. 2010;13(1):47-53.
- Ardu S, Stavridakis M, Krejci I. A minimally invasive treatment of severe dental fluorosis. Quintessence Int. 2007;38(6):455–8.
- 11. Guggenheimer J. Tetracyclines and the human dentition. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 1984;5:245–54.
- Sheets CG, Paguette JM. Tooth whitening modulates for pulpless and discoloured tooth. In: Cohen S, Burns RC, editors. Pathways of the pulp. 8th ed. St. Louis: Mosby; 2002. p. 749–64.
- Jordan RE, Boskman L. Conservative vital bleaching treatment of discoloured dentition. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 1984;5:803–5.
- Driscoll MA, Rothe MJ, Abrahamian L, Grant-Kels JM. Long term antibiotics for acne: is laboratory monitoring necessary? J Am Acad Dermatol. 1993;28:595–602.

- Shokouhinejad N, Khoshkhounejad M, Alikhasi M, Bagheri P, Camilleri J. Prevention of coronal discoloration induced by regenerative endodontic treatment in an ex vivo model. Clin Oral Investig. 2018;22(4):1725–31.
- Cavalli V, Reis AF, Giannini M, Ambrosano GM. The effect of elapsed time following bleaching on enamel bond strength of resin composite. Oper Dent. 2001;26(6):597–602.
- Erum S, Tippanart V, Pratana S. Caries with dental fluorosis and Oral health behaviour among 12-year school children in moderate-fluoride drinking water community in Quetta, Pakistan. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2016;26:744–7.
- Khan A, Whelton H, O'Mullane D. Determining the optimal concentration of fluoride in drinking water in Pakistan. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2004;32:166–72.
- Chou JC, Nelson A, Katwal D, Elathamna EN, Durski MT. Effect of smile index and incisal edge position on perception of attractiveness in different age groups. J Oral Rehabil. 2016;43(11):855–62.
- 20. Al Wazzan KA. The visible portion of anterior teeth at rest. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2004;15(5):53–62.
- 21. Vig RG, Brundo GC. The kinetics of anterior tooth display. J Prosthet Dent. 1978;39:502-4.
- 22. Chu FC. Clinical considerations in managing severe tooth discoloration with porcelain veneers. J Am Dent Assoc. 2009 Apr;140(4):442–6.
- Skyllouriotis AL, Yamamoto HL, Nathanson D. Masking properties of ceramics for veneer restorations. J Prosthet Dent. 2017;118(4):517–23.
- Alvarez JA, Rezende KM, Marocho SM, Alves FB, Celiberti P, Ciamponi AL. Dental fluorosis: exposure, prevention and management. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2009;14(2):E103–7.
- Limeback H, Vieira AP, Lawrence H. Improving esthetically objectionable human enamel fluorosis with a simple microabrasion technique. Eur J Oral Sci. 2006;114(Suppl. 1):123–6.
- 26. Cocco AR, Lund RG, Torre E, Martos J. Treatment of fluorosis spots using a resin infiltration technique: 14-month follow-up. Oper Dent. 2016;41(4):357–62.
- 27. Wang Y, Sa Y, Liang S, Jiang T. Minimally invasive treatment for esthetic management of severe dental fluorosis: a case report. Oper Dent. 2013;38(4):358–62.
- Paris S, Meyer-Lueckel H. Masking of labial enamel white spot lesions by resin infiltration—a clinical report. Quintessence Int. 2009;40(9):713–8.
- Yamada K. Porcelain laminate veneers for discolored teeth using complementary colors. Int J Prosthodont. 1993;6(3):242–7.
- Matani JD, Kheur MG, Lakha TA, Jain V. Replicating a discolored tooth preparation: a technique for effective laboratory communication. J Prosthet Dent. 2018;120(3):335–7.
- Krifka S, Börzsönyi A, Koch A, Hiller KA, Schmalz G, Friedl KH. Bond strength of adhesive systems to dentin and enamel—human vs. bovine primary teeth in vitro. Dent Mater. 2008;24(7):888–94.
- 32. International Commission on Illumination. Colorimetry: Official Recommendations of the International Commission on Illumination. Paris: Bureau Central de la CIE 1971. Publication commission Internationale de l'Eclairage 15 (E-1,3.1)
- Hunter RS, Harold RW. The measurement of appearance. 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1987. p. 162–93.
- Vichi A, Ferrari M, Davidson CL. Influence of ceramic and cement thickness on the masking of various types of opaque posts. J Prosthet Dent. 2000;83:412–7.
- 35. Yaman P, Qazi SR, Dennison JB, Razzoog ME. Effect of adding opaque porcelain on the final color of porcelain laminates. J Prosthet Dent. 1997;77:36–40.
- 36. Turgut S, Bagis B. Effect of resin cement and ceramic thickness on final color of laminate veneers: an in vitro study. J Prosthet Dent. 2013;109(3):179–86.
- Johnston WM, Kao EC. Assessment of appearance match by visual observation and clinical colorimetry. J Dent Res. 1989;68(5):819–22.
- Okuda WH. Using a modified subopaquing technique to treat highly discolored dentition. J Am Dent Assoc. 2000;131:945–050.

- Faus-Matoses V, Faus-Matoses I, Ruiz-Bell E, Faus-Llácer VJ. Severe tetracycline dental discoloration: Restoration with conventional feldspathic ceramic veneers. A clinical report. J Clin Exp Dent. 2017;9(11):e1379–82.
- Sadan A, Lemon RR. Combining treatment modalities for tetracycline-discolored teeth. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1998;18:564–71.
- 41. Magne M, Magne I, Bazos P, Paranhos MP. The parallel stratification masking technique: an analytical approach to predictably mask discolored dental substrate. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2010;5(4):330–9.
- 42. Magne M, Bazos P, Magne P. The alveolar model. Quintessence Dent Technol. 2009;32:39-46.
- 43. Chu SJ, Devigus A, Mieleszko AJ. Fundamentals of color: shade matching and communication in esthetic dentistry. Hanover Park: Quintessence Publishing; 2004.
- 44. Gurel G. The science and art of porcelain laminate veneers. Hanover Park, IL: Quintessence Publishing; 2003.
- 45. Gurel G. Predictable tooth preparation for porcelain laminate veneers in complicated cases. Quint Dent Tech. 2003;26:99–111.
- 46. Krifka S, Börzsönyi A, Koch A, Hiller KA, Schmalz G, Friedl KH. Bond strength of adhesive systems to dentin and enamel—human vs. bovine primary teeth in vitro. Dent Mater. 2008 Jul;24(7):888–94.



14

Occlusal Considerations for Esthetic Rehabilitation

Mary Kang and Farhad Vahidi

Contents

14.1	Introduction						
14.2	Diagnosis for the Worn Dentition.	391					
14.3	Etiology of Tooth Wear						
14.4	Harmonious Occlusion-Based Esthetic Dentistry						
14.5	Clinical Procedures to Restoring the Worn Dentition	396					
	14.5.1 Phase I: Prosthodontic/Restorative Assessment	397					
	14.5.2 Phase II: Auxiliary Preparation.	402					
	14.5.3 Phase III: Definitive Prosthetic Treatment	405					
	14.5.4 Phase IV: Maintenance.	405					
14.6	Conclusion	408					
Refere	ences	409					

14.1 Introduction

Form follows function. This is an architectural principle coined in 1896 by American architect, Louis Henry Sullivan [1]. As the father of skyscrapers, Sullivan believed that the shapes of buildings should be related to its function. In essence, by building for functionality, the esthetics would follow naturally.

Similarly in esthetic dentistry, this very principle holds true: "Dental esthetics (form) follows proper occlusion (function)" [2]. It is evident that beautiful teeth and

M. Kang (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

Ashman Department of Periodontology and Implant Dentistry, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: marykang@nyu.edu

F. Vahidi Department of Prosthodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: fv1@nyu.edu

R. D. Trushkowsky (ed.), *Esthetic Oral Rehabilitation with Veneers*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41091-9_14

occlusion are interrelated [2–5]. However, patients interested in getting esthetic restorations are commonly unaware of their underlying functional issue that has contributed to the compromised appearance. A study conducted by Wazani et al. showed that the most prevalent symptom among a group of wear patients was their esthetic appearance [3]. Fifty-nine percent of the wear patients were dissatisfied with their appearance, which is what prompted their visit to the dentist for treatment [3]. Only 17% sought treatment for having functional problems related to their tooth wear [3].

Patients often seek dental treatment focusing on the appearance of their maxillary anterior teeth, also known as the "social six" [4]. However, prior to restoring the "social six" with laminates, the dentist must evaluate the overall existing tooth wear which have been contributing to the compromised appearance of the anteriors. It would be prudent to reconstruct the posterior occlusion in conjunction with the esthetic appearance of the maxillary incisors for long-term success. Figures 14.1a–c

Fig. 14.1 (a–c) Patient presents to the dental office seeking treatment for the shortened and discolored appearance of the maxillary anterior teeth. Patient would like longer, more "esthetic" looking teeth. Existing conditions of the maxillary and mandibular arches. Worn down posterior occlusal surfaces along with anterior tooth wear. Patient is unaware of the current status of tooth wear that has contributed to the compromised esthetics of the maxillary anteriors. A comprehensive treatment must be provided for long-term success with esthetic restorations. (a) Patient in maximum intercuspation of existing condition. (b) Maxillary arch of existing condition. (c) Mandibular arch of existing condition



demonstrate a common example of a wear patient that presents to the dental office seeking for esthetic treatment of only the maxillary anterior teeth. The patient is unaware of the current wear condition at hand and is focused on restoring the short, discolored teeth of only the "social six" teeth. It is the dental provider's responsibility to diagnose and determine the cause of wear to provide a comprehensive treatment for the patient [6].

Esthetics and function are achieved by having the jaw and teeth work harmoniously together to prevent further breakdown of the teeth. If proper occlusal principles are followed and maintained, the esthetics will follow, and the treatment delivered will have a favorable prognosis. Numerous studies have shown that teeth need to be restored with anterior guidance and mutually protected occlusion for long-term success [5–10].

Advances made in dental technology and the dental materials available today allow for new techniques, such as minimally invasive procedures [5, 11–14]. Adhesive dentistry also permits for the preservation of natural tooth structure. Yet, despite the introduction of new materials and methods, the fundamentals and principles of occlusion related to conventional fixed prosthodontics remain the same.

The longevity of the restorations also relies on several factors: proper diagnosis for the proposed treatment, understanding the etiology of a worn dentition, evaluating the patient's risk factors, selecting the appropriate occlusal scheme, and having the patient placed on a maintenance protocol.

Preservation of tooth structure is vital as people are living longer today than before [3, 15, 16]. Delivering beautiful, esthetic restorations is more easily achievable with the advent of technology. However, in order to have long-term success of these esthetic restorations, a concerted effort must be made to achieve a harmonious and stable occlusion.

14.2 Diagnosis for the Worn Dentition

Tooth wear can be attributed to either a physiologic process or pathologic response [17]. It is common to expect generalized wear among the older population. As people live longer, their teeth will eventually wear [15]. It is part of the natural aging process. Spijker found that the prevalence of tooth wear in adults increased from 3% at the age of 20–17% by the age of 70 [16]. There was a clear association with increased age to increase in tooth wear.

Surprisingly, there is profound, new evidence demonstrating an incidence of a worn dentition being commonly found among the younger generations [17–20]. The prevalence of severe wear among 16–24 year olds was 4 and 12% for 25–34 year olds [3]. However, the wear observed in the younger generation is not due to a physiologic attribute but rather a pathologic effect [3, 18, 19]. It was found that 63% of the wear seen among 14–24 year olds was due to erosion [3] (Fig. 14.2). Tooth wear is no longer a disease observed in adults only. Children as young as teenagers are exhibiting signs of tooth wear, albeit due to pathologic adversities. Pathologic tooth wear occurs when rate of wear is greater than the natural progression of physiologic wear.



Fig. 14.2 Young patient with pathologic wear due to erosion. Patient has a history of bulimia which has caused loss of tooth structure by a chemical process along palatal and occlusal surfaces of the teeth. Premature wear in need of comprehensive treatment, preservation of tooth structure with minimally invasive preparations, adhesive dentistry, and harmonious anterior-guided occlusion for long-term success

In the past, oral rehabilitation for worn dentition patients involved preparation of teeth for parallelism, retention, and resistance forms in efforts to cement on full-coverage restorations to restore the worn dentition [21, 22]. As younger patients are being treated to restore their missing tooth structure, it is now even more prudent to preserve as much of the natural tooth structure for as long as possible. Hence, minimally invasive preparations and adhesive dentistry can benefit all patients by maintaining the integrity of the remaining tooth structure. However, anterior-guided and mutually protected occlusal principles must be respected for the longevity of the restorations to survive and succeed.

In 1984, Turner and Missirlian differentiated the types of occlusal wear that were prevalent into three categories [23]:

- Category no. 1—Excessive wear with loss of occlusal vertical dimension (OVD)
- Category no. 2—Excessive wear without loss of OVD, but space available
- · Category no. 3-Excessive wear without loss of OVD, but with limited space

The misconception of this article, however, was that it related the patient's occlusal vertical dimension to the patient's postural rest position. According to the Glossary of Prosthodontic Terms (GPT-9), occlusal vertical dimension (OVD) is defined as "the distance between two selected anatomic or marked points (usually one on the tip of the nose and the other on the chin) when in maximal intercuspal position" [24]. Multiple studies have shown that patient's muscles of mastication are able to adapt to an occlusal vertical dimension beyond their freeway space [25– 29]. Abduo has shown that the OVD could safely and predictably be increased definitively up to 5 mm without any detrimental effects [25, 26]. Certain parameters and guidelines, however, must be adhered to for a predictable outcome. For instance, prior to irreversibly increasing a patient's OVD, a thorough medical and dental history must be completed in efforts to determine the etiology of tooth wear and to prevent the further destruction of teeth [30].

14.3 Etiology of Tooth Wear

Patients with tooth wear can appear to exhibit similar clinical presentations. However, the root cause contributing to the breakdown of tooth structure can be variable. When rehabilitating patients with a worn dentition, it is essential to correctly diagnose the etiology of wear to prevent further destruction of the teeth postreconstruction. This may be difficult to discern at times, as the etiology can be multifactorial (Fig. 14.3).

Wear can be caused by *mechanical* factors, *chemical* factors, or a *combination* of factors [17, 21]. When interviewing patients, gathering as much information related to their habits, dental history, and their signs and symptoms is critical in correctly determining the etiology and contributing factors to prevent the further break down of teeth.

Loss of tooth structure can be attributed to four types [17] (Fig. 14.4a-d):

- 1. Attrition: "the *mechanical* wear resulting from mastication or parafunction, limited to contacting surfaces of the teeth" [31].
- 2. Abrasion: "an abnormal (*mechanical* process) wearing away of the tooth substance by causes other than mastication" [31], i.e., toothbrush.
- 3. Erosion: "the progressive loss of tooth substance by *chemical* processes that do not involve bacterial action, producing defects that are wedge-shaped depressions often in occlusal, facial and cervical areas" [32].
- 4. Abfraction: "the pathologic loss of hard tooth substance caused by *biomechanical* loading forces; such loss is thought to be the result of *flexure* and *chemical* fatigue degradation of enamel and/or dentin at some location distant from the actual point of loading" [33].

Mechanical wear and chemical wear may appear to be similar but can be differentiated by a few distinct clinical presentations. Patients with mechanical deterioration may have a parafunctional habit, and the rate of wear will be consistent around

Fig. 14.3 Multifactorial etiology of tooth wear. A combination of abfraction and abrasion along the cervical aspects of the facial surfaces of teeth (Photo courtesy of Dr. Takanori Suzuki, DDS, PhD)





Fig. 14.4 (a) Attrition. Worn down dentition due to a natural physiologic process of mastication and parafunction. (b) Abrasion. Abnormal mechanical wear of teeth from pen cap chewing habit. (c) Erosion. Chemical degradation of occlusal tooth structures from the acids produced by GERD. (d) Abfraction. Biomechanical loading forces causing flexure and chemical degradation of enamel and/or dentin

the area of focus. The wear facets have sharp, defined borders that are congruent with the opposing arch when articulating the casts. Patients are usually asymptomatic and lack sensitivity to their teeth [17].

Chemical erosions, on the other hand, create rounded margins with cupping surfaces on the teeth due to the prolonged exposure to acidic solutions [17]. The wear patterns are irregular and are often difficult to articulate to the opposing arch, as the eroded surfaces do not correlate. Restorations tend to appear as "islands" elevating off the surfaces of the teeth. Patients with chemically erosive lesions are generally symptomatic with sensitivity to their teeth. Dental erosion can be attributed to dietary habits (i.e., citrus), gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), or bulimia. Dependent on the location of the erosion and a thorough patient interview, the causative factor for tooth erosion can be determined [17].

Diagnosing the etiology and root cause for tooth wear is essential prior to rehabilitating a worn dentition patient with restorations. It has been found that severe tooth wear is predominant in men compared to women [3, 17]. This may be attributed to the increased bite force that men have as they masticate [17, 34]. Age used to be a factor, but it has now become common to find younger patients exhibiting severe signs of wear. Whether the patient has parafunctional habits, aggressive toothbrush habits, or dietary habits, these tendencies must be resolved prior to delivering any restorations definitively. By identifying the contributing factors causing wear, one can focus on eliminating the sources needed to possibly rehabilitate the oral health of the patient back to function and esthetics (Table 14.1).

Abfraction	Pathologic	 Biomechanical (loading forces) 	 Flexure and chemical fatigue degradation 		SymptomaticAsymptomatic		 Wedge-shaped defects in the cervical area (enamel and/or dentin)
Erosion	Pathologic	 Chemical (non-bacterial) 	 Prolonged exposure to acidic solutions (i.e.: internal, dietary, 	environmental)	• Hyper-sensitivity		 Smooth depressions (occlusal, cervical) Rounded margins Cupping surfaces "Irregular" islands elevating off surfaces of teeth
Abrasion	Pathologic	 Mechanical 	Abnormal habits with foreign objects i.e.: toothbrush, nail	biting, pen chewing.	• Sensitivity		 Abnormal wear Localized to source of cause
Attrition	Physiologic	 Mechanical 	 Contacting tooth surfaces Mastication 	Parafunction	 Asymptomatic 		 Wear facets Sharp, defined borders congruent with opposing arch
	Process	Wear type	Cause		Symptoms	Clinical presentation	Clinical descriptions

 Table 14.1
 Categories of wear and diagnostic factors

14.4 Harmonious Occlusion-Based Esthetic Dentistry

During the 19th century, American architect Sullivan first coined the phrase, "form follows function" [1]. This philosophy holds true when restoring the worn dentition. There is compelling evidence to suggest that in order to achieve long-term esthetic success, a harmonious occlusion must be established with mutually protected articulation [5-10]. According to the GPT-9, a mutually protected articulation is "an occlusal scheme in which the posterior teeth prevent excessive contact of the anterior teeth in maximal inter-cuspal position, and the anterior teeth disengage the posterior teeth in all mandibular excursive movements" [35].

The patients must be restored in centric occlusion (CO) at the proper occlusal vertical dimension (OVD) with even posterior contacts in maximum intercuspation (MI). As the mandible functions in excursive movements, the anterior teeth must guide the posterior teeth away from contacting to prevent damage to the system. This occlusal scheme will help to minimize tooth wear and to maintain the longevity of the esthetic restorations [5–10].

The appropriate occlusal vertical dimension for the patient can be determined with either a removable or fixed prosthesis during the transitional adaptation period. Studies have shown that fixed prostheses had more favorable adaptive responses compared to removable prostheses [25]. Abduo also concluded that the OVD could safely be increased up to 5 mm predictably without any harmful effects [25, 26].

Once the patient is able to function at the new OVD and the esthetics is acceptable, the operator can move forward with the definitive esthetic restorations for the patient. Esthetic restorative options include resins or ceramics. Composite resins have shown favorable results as an interim restorative material [36]. However, for long-term stability, glass ceramics, such as lithium disilicate, is preferred.

Numerous studies have shown that the fatigue of composite materials contributes to its wear making it an inferior material of choice to use for posterior teeth [36, 37]. Furthermore, composites have shown to undergo hygroscopic expansion compromising the integrity of the material as a long-term restoration [38]. Glass ceramics and feldspathic porcelains, on the other hand, have superior esthetics and are more wear resistant [39]. It has been demonstrated that lithium disilicates have an estimated survival rate of 92–95% at 5 years and 91% at 10 years [39].

With the appropriate occlusal scheme and proper dental material selected, the worn dentition patient can be rehabilitated predictably and successfully. Esthetic form follows occlusal function, and if the harmonious occlusion is maintained, minimal pathologic wear can be expected in the patient's future.

14.5 Clinical Procedures to Restoring the Worn Dentition

When rehabilitating the worn dentition patient, proper assessment and treatment planning are critical for long-term success. It is advantageous to follow the "5P Rule" when restoring complex treatments: "Proper Planning Prevent Poor Prosthetics." By planning the esthetics in conjunction with occlusal function, future catastrophes can be avoided, such as porcelain fractures or, worse, temporoman-dibular disorder (TMD) issues.

Prosthetic rehabilitation can be successfully managed by dividing the treatment into four phases:

- Phase I—Prosthodontic/restorative assessment
- Phase II—Auxiliary preparation
- · Phase III—Definitive prosthodontic treatment delivery
- Phase IV—Maintenance

14.5.1 Phase I: Prosthodontic/Restorative Assessment

14.5.1.1 Chief Complaint and History of Present Illness

Prior to embarking on any irreversible dentistry, it is important to initially assess the patient for the appropriate treatment. The patient's chief complaint must be addressed, and a thorough dental history must be investigated to evaluate any contributing factors to the patient's current dental status. With the information provided, the dentist can enlist a set of possible differential diagnosis and deduce the etiology, or etiologies, for the diagnosis in efforts to prevent further progression of the contributing risk factors [40].

14.5.1.2 Comprehensive Examination and Pretreatment Photographs

A comprehensive oral examination and a thorough medical, dental, and social history should be completed with pretreatment clinical photographs taken (Figs. 14.5a, 14.5b, 14.5c, 14.5d, 14.5e, 14.5f, and 14.5g). Tooth wear has been shown to be associated with multiple medical conditions, such as GERD, eating disorders, and xerostomia. By diagnosing tooth wear and its etiology, the treating dentist can not

Fig. 14.5a Pretreatment frontal view in repose



Fig. 14.5b Pretreatment frontal view in smile


Fig. 14.5c Pretreatment profile in repose



Fig. 14.5d Pretreatment profiles in smile



Fig. 14.5e Pretreatment maxillary occlusal







Fig. 14.5g Pretreatment profile in maximum intercuspation



only help with the patient's oral condition but also aid the patient in seeking professional medical attention for their overall health [40, 41].

14.5.1.3 Extraoral and Intraoral Examination

Extraoral and intraoral examinations must be completed. Identifying any muscle and/or temporomandibular joints issues must be addressed prior to starting any treatment. If the patient is symptomatic with muscle or joint pains, these are contraindications to starting any type of dental treatment. Oral rehabilitation can only begin once the patient is free from joint and muscle issues.

The patient's occlusal vertical dimension (OVD) must also be evaluated with their esthetic and phonetics tested to help determine the proper OVD [42]. While examining the patient's occlusion in maximum intercuspation and in centric relation, it would be prudent to study the patient's mandibular movements as they protrude and function into lateral excursive movements. If any working or nonworking interferences exist, it should be noted, and efforts must made to avoid the same interferences with the definitive restorations.

14.5.1.4 Periodontal and Radiographic Assessments

A comprehensive periodontal charting along with a full-mouth radiographic assessment should be completed to determine the integrity of each tooth. Any teeth that have unfavorable crown/root ratios or have large pathologies with guarded prognoses should not be subjected to partake in the oral rehabilitation. Rather, these unfavorable teeth need to be referred for extractions during the auxiliary preparation phase of the treatment. Phase II. The foundation and bone support of each tooth being restored must be favorable in order to receive a definitive restoration.

14.5.1.5 Articulated Diagnostic Casts for Diagnostic Wax-Up

After gathering all of the patient's history and data, two sets of diagnostic casts need to be articulated on a semi-adjustable or fully adjustable articulator with a facebow record. The casts will be cross-articulated to one another in centric relation. The first set of diagnostic casts will remain untouched throughout the treatment as the initial record for the patient (Fig. 14.6). The second set of diagnostic casts will be utilized for the diagnostic wax-up. The diagnostic wax-up will be completed at the new increased OVD with mutually protected occlusion from which the bonded interim prosthesis with bis-acryl composite resin will be fabricated (Figs. 14.7a, 14.7b, and 14.7c).

Fig. 14.6 The first set of diagnostic casts articulated with a facebow record. Casts remain untouched throughout the treatment



Fig. 14.7a Second set of diagnostic casts. Crossarticulated with initial set of casts in centric relation and minimally invasive wax-up completed with mutually protected occlusion. Protrusive movement







Fig. 14.7c Left laterotrusion with mutually protected occlusion



14.5.1.6 Hygiene Instructions

During this initial phase of treatment, the patient should complete a hygiene visit and be instructed on good oral hygiene practices. If the patient is a high-caries-risk patient, preventative measures must be taken from the initial visit. Educating the patient of lifestyle changes and dietary habits and prescribing high-fluoride toothpaste and mouth rinses are all ways in which the caries risk can be minimized. Prevention is essential when rehabilitating a worn dentition patient with multiple bonded restorations. Wear patients must demonstrate that they will be able to maintain good oral hygiene habits prior to investing in such an extensive treatment.

14.5.2 Phase II: Auxiliary Preparation

14.5.2.1 Caries Control

When the worn dentition patient first presents for treatment, any active caries that is present must be treated. The etiology of the caries must also be addressed to prevent future reoccurrences. The caries rate must remain under control for patients undergoing comprehensive oral rehabilitation with adhesive dentistry.

14.5.2.2 Interdisciplinary Specialty Referral

Should the patient require any adjunct services (i.e., crown lengthening, extraction, root canal therapy, orthodontic treatment), this is the time to refer patients to the appropriate specialty for treatment.

14.5.2.3 Transitional Prosthetic Treatment

During phase I treatment, preliminary impressions were made of the patient, and a diagnostic wax-up was completed in centric relation at the new occlusal vertical dimension (OVD) with mutually protected occlusion. Studies have shown that increasing the OVD with fixed provisional restorations has more predictable outcomes than with removable appliances [25, 26]. Hence, it is recommended to transition patients undergoing oral rehabilitation with a fixed interim prosthesis (Figs. 14.8a, 14.8b, and 14.8c).

The interim prostheses are used to test the patient functioning with the new OVD. During this transition period, the patient's muscles of mastication have time to adapt as it lengthens and relaxes over time [27]. Studies have shown that the muscles are amenable to increases in the OVD within a 1-month timeframe [25–28]. Hence, if the patient is asymptomatic with the new OVD after a period of 1-month, the operator may proceed with the definitive esthetic restorations (Figs. 14.9a, 14.9b, 14.9c, 14.9d, and 14.9e).



Fig. 14.8a Bis-acryl composite resin interim prosthesis at the new increased OVD. One week post interim prosthesis delivery. Patient exhibited good oral hygiene habits and was asymptomatic to the new OVD. Patient demonstrates a good prognosis for definitive treatment. Frontal view in new centric relation position

Fig. 14.8b Right view in new centric relation position







Fig. 14.9a Patient initial presentation of the worn dentition on the maxillary arch





Fig. 14.9b Diagnostic wax-up at the new occlusal vertical dimension



Fig. 14.9c Definitive preparations of the maxillary arch. Fullcoverage preparations on the anteriors with minimally invasive preparations on the posterior teeth

Fig. 14.9d Definitive restorations fabricated based on the diagnostic wax-up





Fig. 14.9e Definitive restorations delivered utilizing adhesive dentistry and following anteriorguided occlusion principles

14.5.3 Phase III: Definitive Prosthetic Treatment.

Once the patient has demonstrated that they are able to function at the new, increased occlusal vertical dimension (OVD) and is happy with the esthetics, the patient is ready for the definitive ceramic restorations. With the advent of technology and new materials, the teeth can now be prepared with minimally invasive procedures utilizing adhesive dentistry at the time of delivery [5, 11, 12]. The goal is to preserve as much tooth structure as possible versus over preparation of teeth relying on retention and resistance forms while maintaining the fundamentals of occlusion [5–12, 22]. Teeth are minimally prepared, and the definitive restorations are to solely replace the worn dentition portions of the teeth with sufficient room for the restorative material (Figs. 14.10a, 14.10b, 14.10c, and 14.10d).

Once the restorations have been definitively cemented, new diagnostic records must be made in order to fabricate an occlusal guard. The occlusal guard will help protect the newly delivered restorations and preserve them for longevity.

14.5.4 Phase IV: Maintenance

14.5.4.1 Occlusal Guard

The patient has invested a tremendous amount of time and finances at this point to rehabilitate their worn dentition. Hence, an occlusal guard must be fabricated to help protect the integrity of the restorations, particularly for bruxers [41] (Fig. 14.11).

A maxillary occlusal splint fabricated with a hard, acrylic outer shell and soft intaglio lining is recommended. The soft inner surface helps to protect the porcelain from any damages, while the hard outer shell helps to maintain the harmonious balanced occlusion (Figs. 14.12a, 14.12b, and 14.12c). The occlusal guard must follow the same principles of occlusion: even posterior centric stops with anterior guidance during excursive movements. As the mandible functions in excursive movements,

Fig. 14.10a Minimally invasive preparations of worn posterior dentition



Fig. 14.10b Master cast of worn posterior dentition from definitive impression



Fig. 14.10c Definitive lithium disilicate restorations



Fig. 14.10d Delivery of the posterior esthetic restorations maintaining ideal occlusion



Fig. 14.11 Maxillary hard outer and soft inner occlusal guard with anterior guidance



Fig. 14.12a Occlusal guard following anteriorguided occlusion. The posterior teeth dis-occlude as the mandible functions in excursive movements. Right laterotrusion with occlusal guard in place



Fig. 14.12b Protrusive movement with occlusal guard in place



Fig. 14.12c Left laterotrusion with occlusal guard in place



the anterior teeth must guide the posterior teeth away from working and nonworking interferences. By following the same occlusal philosophies with the maxillary guards, the definitive restorations can be maintained for long-term success.

14.5.4.2 Recall Visits

The patient must see the dentist regularly for recall appointments, at least every 6 months unless otherwise indicated. During these appointments, the patient will have a thorough cleaning and an overall oral and head and neck examination. Radiographs can be taken, as warranted, and existing restorations will be evaluated for any chips, fractures, and marginal integrity.

14.5.4.3 Occlusal Equilibration

During each consequent visit, the occlusion must be examined. The restorative dentist must check for even posterior contacts and evaluate the patient's excursive movements for any interferences. If there are any discrepancies with regard to the centric stops and excursive movements, an occlusal equilibration must be completed chairside until harmonious occlusion is once again achieved.

Patients must also be advised to bring their occlusal guards with them to every recall visit. The longevity of the guards depends on how it is maintained; however, if there are signs of wear or cracks on the appliances, it is a sign that it is time for it to be replaced.

In the meanwhile, the occlusion on the night guards must be equilibrated just as it is done so on the patient's dentition. The guards must have even posterior contacts in centric and mutually protected occlusion in all excursive movements. If there are any interferences that are present, they must be eliminated for the longevity and integrity of the restorations.

14.6 Conclusion

With the advent of dental technology and the production of modern dental materials, new techniques are continually being introduced in the field of dentistry. Minimally invasive procedures utilizing adhesive dentistry have become extremely beneficial for the worn dentition patients, particularly the youth, to help preserve natural tooth structure [5, 11, 12, 14]. However, learning techniques only makes the dentists good technicians. As healthcare providers, dentists must not only be skillful at delivering the treatment but also need to be able to discern the need and proper treatment of care.

When treating the worn dentition patients, the restorative dentist must comprehend gnathology [6]. Gnathology is the "study of biology of the masticatory mechanisms and the kinematic recording of mandibular position" [43]. Care must be taken to follow the patient's condylar movements and to provide proper anterior guidance to achieve a harmonious occlusion. When restoring the worn dentition, it is imperative to stay within the confines of the envelope of function in efforts to prevent chipping or fractures of the restorations.

Patients tend to seek dental treatment when the esthetics of their "social six" is compromised and are unaware of the contributing risk factors [3, 4]. However, in order to achieve both functional and esthetic success, sufficient space must be made available for the restorations to be placed as to not interfere with the functional mandibular movements. Restoring worn down dentition with ceramic restorations will only last so long if the proper diagnosis is not made and the functional issues are not addressed accordingly [44]. As a healthcare provider, it is the duty of the dentist to diagnose and eliminate the recurrence of the disease. It is also the goals of the dentist to select appropriate dental materials and deliver appropriate treatment planned to minimize long-term risks.

Like the American architect Louis Henry Sullivan stated in 1896, "form follows function" [1]. The mandibular movements of the patient must be understood and applied appropriately to provide a mutually protected occlusion. Esthetic form follows occlusal function. Regardless of new technology or new materials being introduced, the fundamentals and principles of a harmonious occlusion remain the same in the field of dentistry. Ultimately, the goal of the dentist is to restore occlusion, esthetics, and function for long-term success with the worn dentition patients.

Acknowledgment A very special thank you to Dr. Takanori Suzuki, DDS, PhD, for sharing his beautiful photographs and to Emma Bjuhr at Smiles of NY for her wonderful lab work.

References

- 1. Sullivan LH. The tall office building artistically considered. Lippincott's Magazine. 1896;March:403–9.
- 2. Schlott WJ. Form follows function. JADA. 1999;130:1556-7.
- 3. Wazani BE, Dodd MN, Milosevic A. The signs and symptoms of tooth wear in a referred group of patients. Br Dent J. 2012;213(6):E10.
- 4. Brugnami F, Caiazzo A, Dibart S. Lingual orthodontics: accelerated realignment of the "social six" with piezocision. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2013;34(8):608–10.
- 5. Vahidi F. Minimally invasive treatment of an adult with severe pseudo class III malocclusion. J Prosthodont. 2019;28(7):737–42.
- McCollum BB. Considering the mouth as a functioning unit as the basis of a dental diagnosis. J South Cali State Dent Assoc. 1938;5(8):268–76.

- 7. Thornton LJ. Anterior guidance: group function/canine guidance. A literature review. J Prosthet Dent. 1990;64(4):479–82.
- Rinchuse DJ, Kandasamy S, Sciote J. A contemporary and evidence-based view of canineprotected occlusion. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2007;132(1):90–102.
- 9. Alani A, Patel M. Clinical issues in occlusion-Part I. Singapore Dent J. 2014;35:31-8.
- Mcintyre F. Restoring esthetics and anterior guidance in worn anterior teeth—a conservative multidisciplinary approach. JADA. 2000;131:1279–83.
- Grutter L, Vailati F. Full-mouth adhesive rehabilitation in case of severe dental erosion, a minimally invasive approach following the 3-step technique. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2013;8(3):358–75.
- Fradeani M, Barducci G, Bacherini L. Esthetic rehabilitation of a worn dentition with a minimally invasive prosthetic procedure (MIPP). Int J Esthet Dent. 2016;11(1):16–35.
- 13. Spear F, Holloway J. Which all-ceramic system is optimal for anterior esthetics? JADA. 2008;139:19S-24S.
- Dietschi D, Argent A. A comprehensive and conservative approach for the restoration of abrasion and erosion. Part II: Clinical procedures and case report. Eur J Esthet Dent. 2011;6(2):142–59.
- Lutz W, Qiang R. Determinants of human population growth. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2002;357(1425):1197–210.
- Spijker AV, Rodrigues JM, Kruelen CM, Bronkhorst EM, Bartlett DW, Creugers NH. Prevalence of tooth wear in adults. Int J Prosthodont. 2009;22(1):35–42.
- 17. Verrett R. Analyzing the etiology of an extremely worn dentition. J Prosthodont. 2001;10(4):224–33.
- Jaeggi T, Lussi A. Prevalence, incidence and distribution of erosion. Monogr Oral Sci. 2006;20:44–65.
- Milosevic A, Brodie DA, Slade PD. Dental erosion, oral hygiene, and nutrition in eating disorders. Int J Eat Disord. 1997;21(2):195–9.
- 20. Shaw L, Smith AJ. Dental erosion—the problem and some practical solutions. Br Dent J. 1999;186(3):115–8.
- Rivera-Morales W, Mohl N. Restoration of the vertical dimension of occlusion in severely worn dentition. Dent Clin N Amer. 1992;36(3):651–64.
- Shillingburg H. Principles of tooth preparations. In: Fundamentals of fixed prosthodontics. 3rd ed. Chicago: Quintessence; 1997. p. 119–37.
- 23. Turner KA, Missirlian DM. Restoration of the extremely worn dentition. J Prosthet Dent. 1984;52(4):467–74.
- The Academy of Prosthodontics Foundation. The glossary of prosthodontic terms ninth edition (GPT-9). J Prosthet Dent. 2017;117(5S):e1–e105.
- 25. Abduo J. Safety of increasing vertical dimension of occlusion: a systematic review. Quintessence Int. 2012;43(5):369–80.
- Abduo J, Lyons K. Clinical considerations for increasing occlusal vertical dimension: a review. Aust Dent J. 2012;57:2–10.
- Carlsson GE, Ingervall B, Kocak G. Effect of increasing vertical dimension on the masticatory system in subjects with natural teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 1979;41:284–9.
- 28. Gross MD, Ormianer Z. A preliminary study on the effect of occlusal vertical dimension increase on the mandibular postural rest position. Int J Prosthodont. 1994;7:216–26.
- Ormianer Z, Gross M. A 2-year follow-up of mandibular posture following an increase in occlusal vertical dimension beyond the clinical rest position with fixed restorations. J Oral Rehabil. 1998;25:877–83.
- 30. Christensen G. Destruction of human teeth. JADA. 1999;130:1229-30.
- The Academy of Prosthodontics Foundation. The glossary of prosthodontic terms ninth edition (GPT-9). J Prosthet Dent. 2017;117(5S):e15.
- 32. The Academy of Prosthodontics Foundation. The glossary of prosthodontic terms ninth edition (GPT-9). J Prosthet Dent. 2017;117(5S):e37.
- The Academy of Prosthodontics Foundation. The glossary of prosthodontic terms ninth edition (GPT-9). J Prosthet Dent. 2017;117(5S):e6.

- 34. Koc D, Dogan A, Bek B. Effect of gender, facial dimensions, body mass index and type of functional occlusion on bite force. J Appl Oral Sci. 2011;19:274–9.
- 35. The Academy of Prosthodontics Foundation. The glossary of prosthodontic terms ninth edition (GPT-9). J Prosthet Dent. 2017;117(5S):e59.
- Muts EJ, Pelt H, Edelhoff D, Krejci I, Cune M. Tooth wear: a systematic review of treatment options. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;112(4):752–9.
- Suzuki S, Nagai E, Taira Y, Minesaki Y. In vitro wear of indirect composite restoratives. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;88:431–6.
- Göhring TN, Besek MJ, Schmidlin PR. Attritional wear and abrasive surface alterations of composite resin materials in vitro. J Dent. 2002;30(2–3):119–27.
- Morimoto S, de Sampaio FBW R, Braga MM, Sesma N, Ozcan M. Survival rate of resin and ceramic inlays, onlays, and overlays: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Dent Res. 2016;95(9):985–94.
- O'Toole S, Khan M, Patel A, Patel NJ, Shah N, Bartlett D, Movahedi S. Tooth wear risk assessment and care-planning in general dental practice. Br Dent J. 2018;224(5):358–61.
- 41. Mehta SB, Banerji S, Millar BJ, Suarez-Feito JM. Current concepts on the management of tooth wear: Part 1. Assessment, treatment planning and strategies for the prevention and the passive management of tooth wear. Br Dent J. 2012;212(1):17–27.
- 42. Pound E. Let /S/ be your guide. J Prosthet Dent. 1977;38(5):482-9.
- The Academy of Prosthodontics Foundation. The glossary of prosthodontic terms ninth edition (GPT-9). J Prosthet Dent. 2017;117(5S):e43.
- Baran G, Boberick K, McCool J. Fatigue of restorative materials. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med. 2001;12(4):350–60.